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In the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds will be exempt from personal income taxes imposed by the
State of New York or any political subdivision thereof, including the City. Assuming continuing compliance with the
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, as-described herein, interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds
will not be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for Federal income tax purposes. Interest on the Taxable
Bonds will be includable in gross income for Federal income tax purposes. See “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—
Tax Exemption” herein for further information. ' ,
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$132,165,000 General Obligation Bonds, Fiscal 1996 Series H

$86,205,000 $45,960,000
Tax-Exempt Bonds Taxable Bonds
Principal Interest Price or  Principal Interest Price or
March 15 Amount Rate Yield Amount Rate Yield
1996(1) $10,860,000 5.65% 100%
1997 3,545,000 5.67 100
1998 3,740,000 5.84 100
1999 3,955,000 6.07 100
2000 4,205,000 6.26 100
2001 4,455,000 6.40 100
2002 4,750,000 6.54 100
2003 5,055,000 6.66 100
2004 5,395,000 6.74 100
2005 $ 5,755,000 6%5% 5.675%
2006 6,125,000 6% 5.80
2007 6,520,000 5% 5.90
2008 6,900,000 5% 6.00
2009 7,295,000 5% 6.05
2010 7,720,000 ¥ 6.10
2011 8,165,000 5% 6.15
2012 8,640,000 5% 6.175
2013 9,150,000 5% 6.175
2014 9,680,000 5% 6.20
2015 10,255,000 5% 6.20

(1) Maturity date is May 15, 1996.

$519,455,000 General Obligation Bonds, Fiscal 1996 Series 1

$405,545,000 $113,910,000
Tax-Exempt Bonds Taxable Bonds
Principal Interest Price or  Principal Interest  Price or
March 15 Amount Rate Yield Amount Rate Yield
1997 . $15,985,000 5.67% 100%
1998 16,890,000 5.84 100
1999 $ 2,070,000 4.60% 100% 15,805,000 6.07 100
2000 2,370,000 4.85 100 16,570,000 6.26 100
2001 200,000 5.10 100 19,895,000 6.40 100
2002 21,375,000 6.54 100
2003 14,045,000 5.40 100 6,670,000 6.66 100
2004 19,420,000 6 5.525 720,000 6.74 100
2005 21,345,000 6% 5.675
2006 22,735,000 6% 5.80
2007 24,215,000 5% 5.90
2008 25,610,000 5% 6.00
2009 27,080,000 5% 6.05
2010 . 28,640,000 5% 6.10
2011 30,290,000 5% 6.15
2012 32,070,000 5% 6.175
2013 33,955,000 5% 6.175
2014 25,650,000 5% 6.20
2015
2016
2017
2018 89,885,000 5% 6.25
2019
2020
2021

2022 5,965,000 5.90 6.25




$600,000,000 General Obligation Bonds, Fiscal 1996 Series J

. $190,000,000 Adjustable Rate Bonds
$410,000,000 Fixed Rate Bonds, Subseries J-1(1) Subserles J-2(2) Subseries J-3(3)
_ Principal Interest Price or Principal Principal
February 15 Amount Rate * Yield Amount Amount
1998 $11,460,000 4.20% 100%
. 1999 11,945,000 4.60 100
2000 12,490,000 4.85 100
2001 15,250,000 5.10 100
2002 16,045,000 5.30 100
2003 - 16,895,000 5.40 . 100
2004 17,795,000 6 5525
2005 18,845,000 6 4.85(4
2006 19,980,000 5% 4.95(4
2007 21,180,000 5 5.05(4
2008 155,000 5.10 5.15(4
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016 $95,000,000 $95,000,000
2017
2018
2019 60,105,000 5% 6.25
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024 126,455,000 6 6.275
2025
2026 61,400,000 5% 6.18
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Accrued interest to be added.

Tax-Exempt Adjustable Rate Bonds not offered hereby.
Tax-Exempt Adjustable Rate Bonds not offered hereby.
EA Insurance Corporation.

Insured by MB



No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the City or the Underwriters to
give any information or to make any representations in connection with the Bonds or the matters described
herein, other than those contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or
representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City or the Underwriters. This
Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be
any sale of the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such
offer, solicitation or sale. The information and expressions of opinion contained herein are subject to change
without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement, nor any sale made hereunder, shall, under
any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the matters described herein since
the date hereof, This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the Bonds referred to
herein and may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose. The Underwriters may
offer and sell Bonds to certain dealers and others at prices lower than the offering prices stated on the Cover
Page hereof. The offering prices may be changed from time to time by the Underwriters. No representations
are made or implied by the City as to any offering by the Underwriters or others of any derivative instruments.

The factors affecting the City’s financial condition are complex. This Official Statement should be
considered in its entirety and no one factor considered less important than any other by reason of its location
herein. Where agreements, reports or other documents are referred to herein, reference should be made to
such agreements, reports or other documents for more complete information regarding the rights and
obligations of parties thereto, facts and opinions contained therein and the subject matter thereof.
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IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN MARKET PRICES OF THE BONDS AT
LEVELS ABOVE THOSE WHICH MIGHET OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH
STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN EXAMINA-
TION OF THE ISSUER AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS
P OLVED. THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE
ECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING
S HORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF
A IS DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.



OFFICIAL STATEMENT
OF
THE CITY OF NEW YORK

This Official Statement provides certain information concerning The City of New York (the “City”) in
connection with the sale of the fixed rate portion (the “Bonds”) of the City’s General Obligation Bonds,
Fiscal 1996 Series H, I and J, which portion consists of $901,750,000 of tax-exempt bonds (the “Tax-Exempt
Bonds”) and $159,870,000 of taxable bonds (the “Taxable Bonds™). The $132,165,000 Bonds of Fiscal 1996
Series H are herein called the “Series H Bonds,” the $519,455,000 Bonds of Fiscal 1996 Series I are herein
called the “Series I Bonds” and the $410,000,000 fixed rate Bonds of Fiscal 1996 Series J, together with
$190,000,000 adjustable rate bonds of Fiscal 1996 Seri¢s J not offered hereby, are herein called the “Series J

Bonds.”

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

The Bonds will be general obligations of the City for the payment of which the City will pledge its faith
and credit. All real property subject to taxation by the City will be subject to the levy of ad valorem taxes,
without limitation as to rate or amount, to pay the principal of, applicable redemption premium, if any, and

interest on the Bonds.

The City, with a population of approximately 7.3 million, is an international center of business and
culture. Its non-manufacturing economy is broadly based, with the banking and securities, life insurance,
communications, publishing, fashion design, retailing and construction industries accounting for a significant
portion of the City’s total employment earnings. Additionally, the City is the nation’s leading tourist
destination. Manufacturing activity in the City is conducted primarily in apparel and printing,

The national economic downturn which began in July 1990 adversely affected the local economy, which
had been declining since late 1989. As a result, the City experienced job losses in 1990 and 1991 and real
Gross City Product (“GCP”) fell in those two years. Beginning in calendar year 1992, the improvement in the
national economy helped stabilize conditions in the City. Employment losses moderated toward year-end
and real GCP increased, boosted by strong wage gains. However, after noticeable improvements in the City’s
economy during calendar year 1994, economic growth slowed in calendar year 1995, and the City’s current
four-year financial plan assumes that economic growth will continue to slow in calendar year 1996, with local

employment increasing modestly.

For each of the 1981 through 1995 fiscal years, the City achieved balanced operating results as reported
in accordance with then applicable generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). See “SECTION VI:
FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—1991-1995 Statement of Operations”. The City was required to close substantial
budget gaps in recent years in order to ma}intain balanced operating results. For fiscal year 1995, the City
adopted a budget which halted the trend in recent years of substantial increases in City-funded spending
from one year to the next. There can be 1o assurance that the City will continue to maintain a balanced
budget as required by State law without additional tax or other revenue increases or additional reductions in

City services or entitlement programs, which could adversely affect the City’s economic base.

Pursuant to the laws of the State, the City prepares a four-year annual financial plan, which is reviewed and
revised on a quarterly basis and which incll}des th.e City’s capital, revenue and expense projections and outlines
proposed gap-closing programs for years with projected budget gaps. The City’s current four-year financial plan
projects substantial budget gaps for c?ach 9f the 1997 thrpugh _1999 fiscal years, before implementation of the
proposed gap-closing program contained in the current“fmanmal plan. For information regarding the current
financial plan, as well as subsequent developments, see SECI_ION I: RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS” and
“SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN". The City is required to submit its financial plans to review bodies,
including the New York State Financial C_ontrol Board' (“Control Board™). For further information regarding the
Control Board and State laws which provide for oversight and, under certain circumstances, control of the City’s
financial and management practices, see “SECI‘{ON II.I: GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL CONTRO ity Finan.
cial Management, Budgeting and Controls—Financial Emergency Act”. Ls—C
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The City depends on State aid both to enable the City to balance its budget and to meet its cash
requirements. The State’s 1995-96 Financial Plan projects a balanced General Fund. There can be no
assurance that there will not be reductions in State aid to the City from amounts currently projected or that
State budgets in future fiscal years will be adopted by the April 1 statutory deadline or that any such
reductions or delays will not have adverse effects on the City’s cash flow or expenditures. See “SECTION I:
RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS—The State”. In addition, the Federal budget negotiation process
could result in a reduction in or a delay in the receipt of Federal grants in the City’s 1996 fiscal year which
could have additional adverse effects on the City’s cash flow or revenues. See “Section VII: 1996-1999
Financial Plan—Assumptions.”

The Mayor is responsible for preparing the City’s four-year financial plan, including the City’s current
financial plan for the 1996 through 1999 fiscal years (the “1996-1999 Financial Plan” or “Financial Plan”). The
City’s projections set forth in the Financial Plan are based on various assumptions and contingencies which are
uncertain and which may not materialize. Changes in major assumptions could significantly affect the City’s
ability to balance its budget as required by State law and to meet its annual cash flow and financing requirements
Such assumptions and contingencies are described throughout this Official Statement and include the conditiori
of the regional andilocal economies, the impact on real estate tax revenues of the real estate market, wage
increases for City employees consistent with those assumed in the Financial Plan, employment growth the,ability
to implement proposed reductions in City personnel and other cost reduction initiatives, which may’ require in
certain cases the cooperation of the City’s municipal unions, the ability of the New York City Health and
Hospitals Corporation (“HHC”) and the Board of Education (“BOE”) to take actions to offset reduced
revenues, the ability to complete revenue generating transactions, provision of State and Federal aid and
mandate relief and the impact on City revenues of proposals for Federal and State welfare reform. See
“SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN".

Implementation of the Financial Plan is also dependent upon the City’s ability to market its securities
successfully. The City’s financing program for fiscal years 1996 through 1999 contemplates the issuance of
$11.8 billion of general obligation bonds primarily to reconstruct and rehabilitate the City’s infrastructure and
physical assets and to make other capital investments. In addition, the City issues revenue and tax anticipation
notes to finance its seasonal working capital requirements. The success of projected public sales of City bonds
and notes will be subject to prevailing market conditions, and no assurance can be given that such sales will be
completed. If the City were unable to sell its general obligation bonds and notes, it would be prevented from
meeting its planned capital and operating expenditures. Future developments concerning the City and public
discussion of such developments, as well as prevailing market conditions, may affect the market for outstanding
City general obligation bonds and notes.

The City Comptroller and other agencies and public officials have issued reports and made public state-
ments which, among other things, state that projected revenues and expenditures may be different from those
forecast in the City’s financial plans. It is reasonable to expect that such reports and statements will continue to be
issued and to engender public comment. See “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Certain Reports”. For
information concerning the City’s credit rating, sce “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Ratings”, .

The factors affecting the City’s financial condition and the Bonds described throughout this Official
Statement are complex and are not intended to be summarized in this Introductory Statement. This Official
Statement should be read in its entirety.




SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS

On January 31, 1996, the City published the Financial Plan for the 1996-1999 fiscal years, which is a
modification to a financial plan submitted to the Control Board on July 11, 1995 (the “July Financial Plan”)
and which relates to the City, BOE and the City University of New York (“CUNY”). The Financial Plan sets
forth proposed actions by the City for the 1996 fiscal year to close substantial projected budget gaps resulting
from lower than projected tax receipts and other revenues and greater than projected expenditures. In
addition to substantial proposed agency expenditure reductions, the Financial Plan reflects a strategy to
substantially reduce spending for entitlements for the 1996 and subsequent fiscal years, and to decrease the
City’s costs for Medicaid'in the 1997 fiscal year and thereafter by increasing the Federal share of Medicaid
costs otherwise paid by the City. This strategy is the subject of substantial debate, and implementation of this
strategy will be significantly affected by State and Federal budget proposals currently being considered. The
Financial Plan, which is consistent with the City’s preliminary budget for the 1997 fiscal year, may be changed
significantly by the time the budget for the 1997 fiscal year is adopted. :

1996 Fiscal Year

 The July Financial Plan set forth proposed actions to close a previously projected gap of approximately
$3.1 billion for the 1996 fiscal year. The propased actions in the July Financial Plan for the 1996 fiscal year
included (i) a reduction in spending of $400 million, primarily affecting public assistance and Medicaid
payments by the City; (ii)-agency reduction programs, totaling $1.2 billion; (iii) transitional labor savings,
totaling $600 million; and (iv) the phase-in of the increased annual pension funding cost due to revisions
resulting from an actuarial audit of the City pension systems, which would reduce such costs in the 1996 fiscal
year. A modification to the July Financial Plan published on November 29, 1995 (the “November Financial
Plan”) included savings from a proposed refunding of outstanding debt and other expenditure reductions to
offset a $129 million increase in projected expenditures. :

The 1996-1999 Financial Plan published on January 31, 1996 reflects actual receipts and expenditures
and changes in forecast revenues and expenditures since the November Financial Plan, and projects
revenues and expenditures for the 1996 fiscal year balanced in accordance with GAAP. For the 1996 fiscal
year, the Financial Plan includes actions to offset an additional $759 million budget 8ap resulting primarily
from (i) the failure of the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey (the “Port Authority”) to pay disputed
back rent for the City’s airpqrts in the amount included in the November Financial Plan, (ii) shortfalls in
Federal and State aid included in the November Financial Plan, (jii) shortfalls in revenues and in amounts to
be saved through gap-closing actions at BOE, (iv) shortfalls in projected savings from cost containment
initiatives proposed in the July Financial Plan affecting public assistance and Medicaid, and (v) the failure of
the City and its labor unions to identify assumed savings in the City’s health benefits system. The gap-closing
measures for the 1996 fiscal year set forth in the Financial Plan include (i) additional proposed agency
actions aggregating $207 million, (ii) the receipt of $150 million from the Municipal Assistance Corporation
for the City of New York (“MAC?”), and (iii) the receipt of $120 million from the proposed sale of mortgages
$75 million from increased revenues from the proposed sale of City tax liens on real property and $207,
million from the proposed sale of the City’s television station.

.- The receipt of funds from MAC is subject to approval of MAC, the sale of the tax liens requires
adoption of a local law by the City Council and the proposed sale of the City’s television station is subject to
Federal regulatory approval. In addition, the Federal budget negotiation process for the 1996 Federal fiscal
year could result in a reduction in, or a delay in the receipt of, Federal grants in the City’s 1996 fiscal year. If
such approvals are not received on a timely basis, the City may be required to identify alternative measures
to balance its 1996 fiscal year budget. For additional information concerning changes since the J uly Financial

Plan, which are reflected in the Financial Plan, see “SECTION VI: FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—Forecast of 1996
Results”, ’ .

1997-1999 Fiscal Years

The Financial Plan also sets forth projections for the 1997 through 1999 fiscal years and outlines a
proposed gap-closing progtam to eliminate a projgc?ed gap of $2.0 billion for the 1997 fiscal year, and to
reduce projected gaps of $3.3 billion and $4.1 billion for the 1998 and 1999 figca] years, feSp:‘.Ctively
assuming successful implementation of the gap-closing program for the 1996 fisca| year. The projected gaps’
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for the 1997 through 1999 fiscal years have increased from the gaps projected in the November Financial
Plan to reflect (i) reductions in projected property taxes of $177 million, $294 million and $421 million in the
1997, 1998 and 1999 fiscal years, respectively, due to a lower than forecast increase in the tentative
assessment roll published by the New York City Department of Finance, (ii) reductions in other forecast tax
revenues of $114 million, $216 million and $261 million in the 1997, 1998 and 1999 fiscal years, respectively,
(iii) reductions in tax revenues of $79 million, $224 million and $341 million in the 1997, 1998 and 1999 fiscal
years, respectively, as a result of new tax reduction initiatives, including a proposed sales tax exemption on
clothing items under $500, and (iv) increased agency expenditures.

The proposed gap-closing actions for the 1997 through 1999 fiscal years include (i) additional agency
actions, totalling between $643 million and $691 million in each of the 1997 through 1999 fiscal years;
(ii) additional savings resulting from State and Federal aid and cost containment in entitlement programs to
reduce City expenditures and increase revenues by $650 million in the 1997 fiscal year and by $727 million in
each of the 1998 and 1999 fiscal years; (iii) additional proposed Federal aid of $50 million in the 1997 fiscal
year and State aid of $100 million in each of the 1997 through 1999 fiscal years; (iv) the receipt of $300
million in the 1997 fiscal year from privatization or other initiatives, including the sale of the City’s parking
meters and associated revenues, which may require legislative action by the City Council, or the sale of other
assets; and (v) the assumed receipt of revenues relating to rent payments for the City’s airports, totaling $244
million, $226 million and $70 million in the 1997 through 1999 fiscal years, respectively, which are currently
the subject of a dispute with the Port Authority and the collection of which may depend on the successful
completion of negotiations with the Port Authority or the enforcement of the City’s remedies under the
leases through pending legal actions. The City is also preparing an additional contingency gap-closing
program for the 1997 fiscal year to be comprised of $200 million in additional agency actions.

The Governor has released the 1996-1997 Executive Budget, which will be considered for adoption by
the State Legislature. The City estimates that the 1996-1997 Executive Budget provides the City with $173
million of savings from Medicaid cost containment proposals and $127 million of savings from proposed
reductions in welfare spending in the 1997 fiscal year. The Financial Plan assumes that the remaining $350
million of the $650 million of entitlement reform benefits included in the Financial Plan for the 1997 fiscal
year will be generated by the State providing the City with a portion of the additional funds received by the
State as a result of the increased Federal share of Medicaid costs proposed in the State Executive Budget.
However, the State Exccutive Budget does not currently contemplate sharing such funds with the City. In
addition, the President and Congress are currently considering budget proposals for the 1996 Federal fiscal
year. The Federal budget or other factors may cause substantial amendments to the State Executive Budget.

The Federal and State budgets, when adopted, may result in substantial reductions in revenues for the
City, aswell asa reduction in projected expenditures in entitlement programs, including Medicare, Medicaid
and welfare programs. The Federal and State aid projected in the Financial Plan, and the substantial savings
assumed from cost containment in entitlement programs included in the Financial Plan gap-closing program
for the 1997 through 1999 fiscal years, will be significantly affected both by the outcome of the current
Federal budget negotiations and by the State budget proposals made by the Governor and to be considered
by the State Legislature. The nature and extent of the impact on the City of the Federal and State budgets,
when adopted, is uncertain, and no assurance can be given that Federal or State actions included in the
Federal and State adopted budgets may not have a significant adverse impact on the City’s budget and its
Financial Plan. See “SECTION VIL: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions—Revenue Assumptions—

6. Federal and State Categorical Grants”.

The projections for the 1996 through 1999 fiscal years reflect the costs of the proposed settlement with
the United Federation of Teachers (“UFT”) and the recent settlement with a coalition of unions headed by
District Council 37 of the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees (“District
Council 37”), and assume that the City will reach agreement with its remaining municipal unions under
terms which are generally consistent with such settlements. For further information concerning the labor
settlements, including the rejection by certain UFT members of the tentative settlement, see “SECTION I:
RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS—Collective Bargaining Agreements”. The projections for the 1996



through 1999 fiscal years also assume that BOE will be able to identify actions to offset possible substantial
shortfalls in Federal, State and City revenues. See “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Certain

Reports.”

The City’s financial plans have been the subject of extensive public comment and criticism. The City
Comptroller has issued a report identifying risks ranging between $408 million and $528 million in the 1996
fiscal year before taking into account the availability of $160 million in the General Reserve, and between
$2.05 billion and $2.15 billion in the 1997 fiscal year after implementation of the City’s proposed gap-closing
actions. In addition, the staff of the State Deputy Comptroller for the City of New York (“OSDC?” or “State
Deputy Comptroller”) has issued a report on the Financial Plan, and it is expected that a report on the
Financial Plan will be issued by the staff of the Control Board in the near future. See “SEC-
TION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Certain Reports”.

Collective Bargaining Agreements

Contracts with all of the City’s municipal unions expired in the 1995 and 1996 fiscal years. In November
1995 the City announced a tentative settlement with the UFT and a coalition of unions headed by District
Council 37 which represent approximately two-thirds of the City’s workforce. The settlement provides for a
wage freeze in the first two years, followed by a cumulative effective wage increase of 11% by the end of the
five year period covered by the proposed agreements, ending in fiscal years 2000 and 2001, Additional
benefit increases would raise the total cumulative effective increase to 13% above present costs. The
Financial Plan reflects the costs associated with the settlements, and assumes similar increases for all other
City-funded employees, which total $49 million, $459 million and $1.2 billion in the 1997, 1998 and 1999
fiscal years, respectively. Such increases exceed $2 billion in each fiscal year after the 1999 fisca] year. District
Council 37 and Local 237, representing approximately 90,000 full-time employees, have ratified the pro-
posed settlement. On December 7, 1995, the members of the UFT voted on the proposed settlement with the
UFT. Six chapters of the UFT, representing approximately 18,000 full-time employees, including teaching
paraprofessionals, voted to ratify the proposed settlement, which will apply to those chapters if approved by
BOE. Five chapters, representing approximately 76,000 full-time employees, including teachers, voted not to
ratify the proposed settlement. A portion of the transitional labor savings contained in the Financial Plan is
dependent upon conclusion of collective bargaining agreements with the City’s workforce. There can be no
assurance that the City will reach an agreement with the unions that have not yet reached a settlement with
the City on the terms contained in the Financial Plan. For a discussion of the transitional labor savings, see
“SECTION VIL: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions—1. Personal Service Costs.”

In the event of a collective bargaining impasse, the terms of wage settlements could be determined
through statutory impasse procedures, which can impose a binding settlement except in the case of collective
bargaining with the UFT, which may be subject to non-binding arbitration. On January 23, 1996, the City
requested the Office of Collective Bargaining to declare an impasse against the Patrolmen’s Benevolent
Association (“PBA”) and the United Firefighters Association (“UFA”),

The State

The budget for the State’s 1996 fiscal year commencing April 1, 1995 enacted on June 7, 1995, is
balanced on a cash-basis. Prior to adoption of the budget the State had projected a potential budget gap’ of
approximately $5 billion. This gap is projected to be closed in the 1995-1996 State Financial Plan based on
the enacted budget, through a series of actions, mainly spending reductions and cost containment measures
and certain reestimates that are expected to be recurring, but also through the use of one-time solutions. The
State Financial Plan projects (i) nearly $1.6 billion in savings from cost containment, disbursement re.:csti-
mates, and other savings in social welfare programs, including Medicaid, income maintenance and various
child and family care programs; (ii) $2.2 billion in savings from State agency actions to reduce spending on
the State workforce, SUNY and CUNY, mental hygiene programs, capital projects, the prison system and
fringe benefits; (iii) $300 million in savings from local assistance reforms, including actions affecting school
aid and revenue sharing while proposing program legislation to provide relief from certain mandates that
increase local spending; (iv) over $400 million in revenue measures, including a new Quick Draw Lotte
game, changes to tax payment schedules, and the sale of assets; and (v) $300 milliop from reestimates g

receipts.



The Governor presented his 1996-1997 Executive Budget to the Legislature on December 15, 1995. The
Governor’s Executive Budget projects balance on a cash basis in the General Fund. It reflects a continuing
strategy of substantially reduced State spending, including program restructurings, reductions in social
welfare spending, and efficiency and productivity initiatives. The Legislature and the State Comptroller will
review the Governor’s Executive Budget and are expected to comment on it. There can be no assurance that
the Legislature will enact the Executive Budget into law, or that the State’s adopted budget projections will
not differ materially and adversely from the projections set forth in the Executive Budget.

The 1996-1997 Executive Budget seeks to lessen the effect of the proposed spending reductions on
localities by granting mandate relief, including Medicaid cost containment and welfare reform, to permit
them to exercise greater flexibility in allocating their resources. However, no assurance can be given as to the
amount of savings which the City might realize from any of the Medicaid cost containment or welfare reform
measures proposed in the Executive Budget or the size of any reductions in State aid to the City. Depending
upon the amount of such savings or the size of any such reductions in State aid, the City might be required to
make substantial additional changes in the Financial Plan. For further information concerning the State,
including the State’s credit ratings, see “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—ASssumptions” and
«SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS—1996-1999 Financial Plan”.



SECTION II: THE BONDS

General ,
The Bonds will be general obligations of the City issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the
State and the New York City Charter (the “City Charter”) and in accordance with a certificate of the Deputy
Comptroller for Finance. The Bonds will mature and bear interest as described on the inside cover page of
this Official Statement and will contain a pledge of the City’s faith and credit for the payment of the principal
of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds. All real property subject to taxation by the City
will be subject to the levy of ad valorem taxes, without limitation as to rate or amount, to pay the principal of,
redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.

The terms of the Bonds provide for their defeasarice prior to maturity by the deposit in trust with abank
or trust company of sufficient cash or cash equivalents to pay when due all principal of, applicable redemp-
tion premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds to be defeased.

Fixed Rate Bonds _
The Bonds will bear interest at the rates shown on the inside cover page and may be purchased in
denominations of $5,000 and any integral multiple thereof.

Adjustable Rate Bonds ,
Certain of the Series J Bonds are being issued as adjustable rate bonds under a separate Official
Statement and are not offered hereby. _

Payment Mechanism .

Pursuant to the New York State Financial Emergency Act for the City of New York (the “Financial
Emergency Act” or the “Act”), a general debt service fund (the “General Debt Service Fund” or the “Fund”)
has been established for City bonds and certain City notes. Pursuant to the Act, payments of the city real
estate tax must be deposited upon receipt in the Fund, and retained under a statutory formula, for the
payment of debt service (with exceptions for debt servige, such as principal of seasonal borrowings, that is set
aside under other procedures). The statutory formula has recently resulted in retention of sufficient real
estate taxes to comply with the City Covenants (as defined in “SECTION II: THE BONDS—Certain Covenants
and Agreements”). If the statutory formula does not result in retention of sufficient real estate taxes to
comply with the City Covenants, the City will comply with the City Covenants either by providing for early
retention of real estate taxes or by making cash payments into the Fund. The principal of and interest on the
Bonds will be paid from the Fund until the Act expires on July 1, 2008, and thereafter from a separate fund
maintained in accordance with the City Covenants. Since its inception in 1978, the Fund has been fully
funded at the beginning of each payment period.

If the Control Board determines that retentions i1;1 the Fund are likely to be insufficient to provide for
the debt service payable therefrom, it must require that additional real estate tax revenues be retained or
other cash resources of the City be paid into the Fund. In addition, the Control Board is required to take
such action as it determines to be necessary so that the money in the Fund is adequate to meet debt service
requirements. '

The rights of the owners of Bonds to receive interest, principal and redemption premium, if any, from
the City could be adversely affected by a restructuring of the City’s debt under Chapter 9 of, the Ft’aderal
Bankruptcy Code. No assurance can be given that any priority of holders of City securities (including the
Bonds) to payment from money retained in the Fund orfrom other sources would be recognized if a petgition
were filed by or on behalf of the City under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or pursuant to other subsequentl
enacted laws relating to creditors’ rights; such money might then be available for the payment of all Ci y
creditors generally. Judicial enforcement of the City’s obligation to make payments into the Fund of thtg
obligation to retain certain money in the Fund, of the rights of holders of bonds and notes of the,City to
money in the Fund, of the obligations of the City under the City Covenants and of the State under the State
Pledge and Agreement and the State Covenant (in each case, as defined in “SecTION II: THE BONDS—
Certain Covenants and Agreements”) may be within the discretion of a court. For further informatidn
concerning rights of owners of Bonds against the City, see “SEcTiON VIII: INDEBT‘EbNESS—City

Indebtedness”.



Enforceability of City Obligations

As required by the State Constitution and applicable law, the City pledges its faith and credit for the
payment of the principal of and interest on all City indebtedness. Holders of City debt obligations have a
contractual right to full payment of principal and interest at maturity. If the City fails to pay principal or

.interest, the holder has the right to sue and is entitled to the full amount due, including interest to maturity at
the stated rate and at the rate authorized by law thereafter until payment. Under the General Municipal
Law, if the City fails to pay any money judgment, it is the duty of the City to assess, levy and cause to be
collected amounts sufficient to pay the judgment. Decisions indicate that judicial enforcement of statutes
such as this provision in the General Municipal Law is within the discretion of a court. Other judicial
decisions also indicate that a money judgment against a municipality may not be enforceable against
municipal property devoted to public use.

Certain Covenants and Agreements

The City will covenant that: (i) a separate fund or funds for the purpose of paying principal of and
interest on bonds and interest on notes of the City (including required payments into, but not from, City
sinking funds) shall be maintained by an officer or agency of the State or by a bank or trust company; and
(ii) not later than the last day of each month, there shall be on deposit in a separate fund or funds an amount
sufficient to pay principal of and interest on bonds and interest on notes of the City due and payable in the
next succeeding month. The City currently uses the debt service payment mechanism described above to
perform these covenants. The City will further covenant in the Bonds to limit its issuance of bond anticipa-
tion notes as required by the Act, as in effect from time to time, and in the Series J Bonds to comply with the
financial reporting requirements of the Act, as in effect from time to time.

The State pledges and agrees in the Financial Emergency Act that the State will not take any action that
will impair the power of the City to comply with the covenants described in the preceding paragraph (the
“City Covenants”) or any right or remedy of any owner of the Bonds to enforce the City Covenants (the
“State Pledge and Agreement”). The City will include in the Bonds of Series J the covenant of the State (the
«State Covenant”) to the effect, among other things, that the State will not substantially impair the authority
of the Control Board in specified respects. The City will covenant to make continuing disclosure (the
«Undertaking”) as summarized below under “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Continuing Disclosure
Undertaking”. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the enforceability of the City Covenants, the Undertaking,
the State Pledge and Agreement and the State Covenant may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorgani-
zation, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or hereafter enacted and
may also be subject to the exercise of the State’s police powers and of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.

Use of Proceeds

The proceeds from the sale of the Series H and I Bonds will be used for refunding purposes including
certain expenses of the City incurred in connection with the issuance and sale of the Series H and I Bonds.
The proceeds from the sale of the Series H and I Bonds are expected to be used to refund the bonds
identified in Appendix C hereto by providing for the payment of the principal of and interest and redemp-
tion premium, if any, on such bonds to the extent and to the payment dates shown. The proposed refunding
is subject to the delivery of the Series H and I Bonds.

The Tax-Exempt Series H and I Bonds are being issued in part to refund bonds used to finance housing
facilities (the “Projects”) operated by voluntary organizations that are described in Section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), herein called “Organizations.”

The proceeds from the sale of the Series J Bonds will be used for various municipal capital purposes.
For further information concerning the City’s capital projects, see “SECTION V: CITY SERVICES AND
EXPENDITURES—Capital Expenditures” and “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Long-Term Capi-
tal and Financing Program”. Certain expenses of the City inf:urred in connection with the issuance and sale
of the Bonds, preliminary costs of surveys, maps, plans, estimates a}nd hearings in connection with capital
improvements and costs incidental to such improvements may be included in the above purposes.




Redemption 7

Thirty days’ notice shall be given to the holders of Bonds to be redeemed prior to maturity, The City
may select amounts and maturities of Bonds for redemption in its sole discretion. On and after any
redemption date, interest will cease to accrue on the Bonds called for redemption.

Optional Redemption _

The Series H and Series I Bonds will be subject. to redemption at the option of the City on or after
March 15, 2006, in whole or in part, by lot within each maturity, on any date, at the following redemption
prices, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption:

Redemption Dates a:{e P::glegttk)gne l(:;"lf’zr
March 15, 2006 through March 14,2007  ................... 101%:%
March 15, 2007 through March 14,2008  ................... 100%
- March 15, 2008 and thereafter =~ ... ... ... ... 100

The Subseries J-1 Bonds will be subject to redemption at the option of the City on or after February 15,
2006, in whole or in part, by lot within each maturity, on any date, at the following redemption prices, plus
accrued interest to the date of redemption: '

Redemption Dates - : a:le Pz:znelx)n?:gl:a I;;Ilc;r
February 15, 2006 through February 14, 2007 ................... 101%:%
February 15, 2007 through February 14, 2008 ................... 100%4
February 15, 2008 and thereafter i, 100
The Taxable Bonds will not be subject to redemption prior to maturity,
Mandatory Redemption '

The Bonds identified below are Term Bonds subject to mandatory redemption, by lot within each stated
maturity, on each date at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest
without premium, in the amounts set forth below: ‘ ’

Principal Amount:to be Redeemed (In Thousands)

Series I (March 15) Subseries J-1 (February 15)
Year Mi?&fity Mz‘t):fity ' M:‘t’:glty Mi‘t)f:uy' Mﬁ?ﬁfity
2015 $ 27,155
2016 - 28,365
2017 16,690 $ 18,900
2018 17,675* 20,015
2019 $ 1,550 21,190*
2020 1,640 _ - $ 22,435
2021 ' 1,600 © 23,780
2022 “1,175* ' 25,205
2023 26,715
2024 - 28,320
2025 ' $ 29,880
2026 _ 31,520*

* Stated Maturity 7
At the option of the City, there shall be applied to or credited against any of the required amounts the
principal amount of any such Term Bonds that have! been defeased, purchased or redeemed and not
previously so applied or credited. : = : .
Defeased Term Bonds shall at the option of the City no longer be entitled, but may be bi
provisions thereof for mandatory redemption. ‘ : ay be subject, to the



Bond Insurance

The following information pertaining to MBIA Insurance Corporation (“MBIA”) has been supplied by
MBIA. The City makes no representation as to the accuracy or adequacy of such information or as to the
absence of material adverse changes in such information subsequent to the dates indicated. Summaries of or
references to the insurance policy to be issued by MBIA are made subject to all the detailed provisions
thereof to which reference is hereby made for further information and do not purport to be complete
statements of any or all of such provisions. See “APPENDIX E — SPECIMEN INSURANCE POLICY”.

The fixed rate Series J Bonds due in 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 will be insured by MBIA (the “MBIA
Insured Bonds”). The following information has been furnished by MBIA for use in this Official Statement.
Reference is made to Appendix E for a specimen of the MBIA policy.

The MBIA policy unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the full and complete payment required
to be made by or on behalf of the City to the City’s Fiscal Agent or its successor of an amount equal to (i) the
principal of (cither at the stated maturity or by an advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking
fund payment) and interest on, the MBIA Insured Bonds as such payments shall become due but shall not be
so paid (except that in the event of any acceleration of the due date of such principal by reason of
advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed by the
MBIA policy shall be made in such amounts and at such times as such payments of principal would have
been due had there not been any such acceleration); and (ii) the reimbursement of any such payment which
is subsequently recovered from any owner of the MBIA Insured Bonds pursuant to a final judgment by a
court of competent jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable preference to such owner within
the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law (a “Preference”).

The MBIA policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment premium which may at any time be
payable with respect to any MBIA Insured Bond. The MBIA policy does not, under any circumstance, insure
against loss relating to: (i) optional or mandatory redemptions (other than mandatory sinking fund redemp-
tions); (ii) any payments to be made on an accelerated basis; (iii) payments of the purchase price of MBIA
Insured Bonds upon tender by an owner thereof; or (iv) any Preference relating to (i) through (iii) above.
The MBIA policy also does not insure against nonpayment of principal or or interest on the MBIA Insured
Bonds resulting from the insolvency, negligence or any other act or omission of the City’s Fiscal Agent or any
other paying agent for the MBIA Insured Bonds.

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by
registered or certified mail, or upon receipt of written notice by registered or certified mail, by MBIA from
the City’s Fiscal Agent or any owner of a MBIA Insured Bond the payment of an insured amount for which is
then due, that such required payment has not been made, MBIA on the due date of such payment or within
one business day after receipt of notice of such nonpayment, whichever is later, will make a deposit of funds,
in an account with State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A,, in New York, New York, or its successor,
sufficient for the payment of any such insured amounts which are then due. Upon presentment and
surrender of such MBIA Insured Bonds or presentment of such other proof of ownership of the MBIA
Insured Bonds, together with any appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence the assignment of the
insured amounts due on the MBIA Insured Bonds as are paid by MBIA, and appropriate instruments to
effect the appointment of MBIA as agent for such owners of the MBIA Insured Bonds in any legal
proceeding related to payment of insured amounts on the Insured MBIA Bonds, such instruments being in a
form satisfactory to State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A.
shall disburse to such owners or the City’s Fiscal Agent payment of the insured amounts due on such MBIA
Insured Bonds, less any amount held by the City’s Fiscal Agent for the payment of such insured amounts and

legally available therefor. 7

MBIA, formerly known as Municipal Bond Investors Assurance Corporation, is the principal operating
subsidiary of MBIA Inc., a New York Stock Exchange listed company. MBIA Inc. is not obligated to pay the
debts of or claims against MBIA. MBIA is domiciled in the State of New York and licensed to do busines in
all 50 states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Commonwealth of the
Northern Mariana Islands, the Virgin Islands of the United States and the Territory of Guam. MBIA has one
European branch in the Republic of France.
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As of September 30, 1995, MBIA had admitted assets of $3.7 billion (unaudited), total liabilities of $2.5
billion (unaudited), and total capital and surplus of $1.2 billion (unaudited) determined in accordance with
statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory authorities. As of Decem-
ber 31, 1994, MBIA had admitted assets of $3.4-billion (audited), total liabilities of $2.3 billion (audited), and
total capital and surplus of $1.1 billion (audited) determined in accordance with statutory accounting
practices prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory authorities. All information regarding MBIA, a
wholly owned subsidiary of MBIA Inc., including the financial statements of MBIA for the year ended
December 31, 1994, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles described in the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of MBIA Inc. for the year ended December 31, 1994 is hereby incorporated by
reference into this Official Statement and shall be deemed to be a part hereof. Any statement contained in a
document incorporated by reference herein shall be modified or superceded for purposes of this Official
Statement to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document
which also is incorporated by reference herein modifies or supercedes such statement. Any statement sc;
modified or superceded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superceded, to constitute a part of this

Official Statement.

Furthermore, copies of MBIAs year end financial statements prepared in accordance with statutory
accounting practices are available from MBIA. A copy of the Annual Report on Form 10-K of MBIA Inc. is
available from MBIA or the Securities and Exchange Commission. The address of MBIA is 113 King Street
Armonk, New York 10504. ' ’

Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”) rates the:claims paying ability of MBIA “Aaa”.

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw Hill Companies, Inc. (“Standard &
Poor’s”), rates the claims paying ability of MBIA “AAA”.

Fitch Investors Service, L.P,, (“Fitch”) rates the claims paying ability of MBIA “AAA”,

Each rating of MBIA should be evaluated independently. The ratings reflect the respective rating
agency’s current assessment of the creditworthiness of MBIA and its ability to pay claims on its policies of
insurance. Any further explanation as to the significance of the above ratings may be obtained only from the
applicable rating agency.

The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold the MBIA Insured Bonds, and such
ratings may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies. Any downward ;eVision or
withdrawal of any of the above ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the the MBIA
Insured Bonds. MBIA does not guarantee the market price of the MBIA Insured Bonds nor does it
guarantee that the ratings on the MBIA Insured Bonds will not be revised or withdrawn,

This policy is not covered by the Property/Casualty Insurance Security Fund specified in Article 76 of
the New York Insurance Law.

Bond Certificates

Book-Entry Only System
The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities deposi
. ’ t
Bonds. Reference to the Bonds under the caption “Bond Certificates” shall mean all ggflld:r{hfaotr :1]::
deposited with DTC from time to time. The Bonds will be issued as one fully-registered Bond certificate for
each maturity, type and Subseries, each in the aggregate principal amount thereof, and will be registered in
the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) and deposited with DTC.

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “bankin
organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Rese;'ve System .
“clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “Zlear‘ »a
agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 D’lll‘lg
holds securities that its direct participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC, DTC also facﬂitat' th
settlement among Participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited es the
ties through electronic computerized book-entry changes in Participants’ accounts, the:reby elimina t.secttlgl-
need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include securities brok;;]sgang
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dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is owned by a
number of its Direct Participants and by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange,
Inc., and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to
others such as securities brokers and dealers, banks, and trust companies that clear through or maintain a
custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). The
Rules applicable to DTC and its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will
receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each
Bond (under this caption, “Book-Entry Only System”, a “Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the
Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC
of their purchase, but Beneficial Owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of
the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant
through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the
Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial
Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Bonds,
except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in
the name of Cede & Co. effect no change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose
accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Participants will
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants
to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be
governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in
effect from time to time. ,

Redemption notices shall be sent to Cede & Co. If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are being
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such
maturity to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. will consent or vote with respect to Bonds. Under its usual procedures,
DTC mails an omnibus proxy (the “Omnibus Proxy”) to the City as soon as possible after the record date.
The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose
accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal, redemption premium, if any, and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to DTC,
DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts on the payment date in accordance with their
respective holdings shown on DTC’s records unless DTC has reason to believe that it will not receive
payment on the payment date. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in
bearer form or registered in “street name”, and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC,
the Fiscal Agent, or the City, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from
time to time. Payment of principal, redemption premium, if any, and interest to DTC is the responsibility of
the City or the Fiscal Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility
of DTG, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct

and Indirect Participants.
DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Bonds at any

time by giving reasonable notice to the City or the Fiscal Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that
a successor securities depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered.
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The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from
sources that the City believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

No assurance can be given by the City that DTC will make prompt transfer of payments to the
Participants or that Participants will make prompt transfer of payments to Beneficial Owners. The City is not
responsible or liable for payment by DTC or Participants or for sending transaction statements or for
maintaining, supervising or reviewing records maintained by DTC or Participants. o

For every transfer and exchange of the Bonds, the Beneficial Owners may be charged a sum sufficient to
cover any tax, fee or other charge that may be imposed in relation thereto. R

Discontinuance of the Book-Entry Only System

In the event that the book-entry only system is discontinued, the City will authenticate and make
available for delivery replacement Bonds in the form of registered certificates. In addition, the following
provisions would apply: principal of the Bonds and redemption premium, if any, will be payable in lawful
money of the United States of America at the office of the Fiscal Agent, The Chase Manhattan Bank, N A,
if by hand, One Chase Manhattan Plaza—Level 1B, New York, New York 10081, Attn: Municipal Bond
Redemption Window; if by mail, 4 Chase Metrotech Center, Brooklyn, New York 11245, Attn: Box 2020, or
any successor fiscal agent designated by the City, and interest on the Bonds will be payable by wire transfer
or by check mailed to'the respective addresses of the registered owners thereof as shown on the registration
books of the City as of the close of business on the last business day of the calendar month immediately

preceding the applicable interest payment date.
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SECTION III: GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL CONTROLS

Structure of City Government

The City of New York is divided into five counties, which correspond to its five boroughs. The City,
however, is the only unit of local government within its territorial jurisdiction with authority to levy and
collect taxes, and is the unit of local government primarily responsible for service delivery. Responsibility for
governing the City is currently vested by the City Charter in the Mayor, the City Comptroller, the City
Council, the Public Advocate and the Borough Presidents.

—The Mayor. Rudolph W. Giuliani, the Mayor of the City, took office on January 1, 1994. The Mayor
is elected in a general election for a four-year term and is the chief executive officer of the City. The
Mayor has the power to appoint the commissioners of the City’s various departments. The Mayor is
responsible for preparing and administering the City’s annual Expense and Capital Budgets (as
defined below) and financial plan. The Mayor has the power to veto local laws enacted by the City
Council, but such a veto may be overridden by a two-thirds vote of the Council. The Mayor has
powers and responsibilities relating to land use and City contracts and all residual powers of the City
government not otherwise delegated by law to some other public official or body. The Mayor is also a
member of the Control Board.

—The City Comptroller.  Alan G. Hevesi, the Comptroller of the City, took office on January 1, 1994,
The City Comptroller is elected in a general election for a four-year term and is the chief fiscal officer
of the City. The City Comptroller has extensive investigative and audit powers and responsibilities
which include keeping the financial books and records of the City. The City Comptroller’s audit
responsibilities include a program of performance audits of City agencies in connection with the
City’s management, planning and control of operations. In addition, the City Comptroller is required
to evaluate the Mayor’s budget, including the assumptions and methodology used in the budget. The
Office of the City Comptroller is responsible under the City Charter and pursuant to State Law and
City investment guidelines for managing and investing City funds for operating and capital purposes.
The City Comptroller is also a member of the Control Board and is a trustee, the custodian and the
delegated investment manager of the City’s five pension systems. The investments of those pension
system assets, aggregating approximately $60 billion, are made pursuant to the directions of the
respective Boards of Trustees.

—The City Council. The City Council is the legislative body of the City and consists of the Public
Advocate and 51 members elected for four-year terms who represent various geographic districts of
the City. Under the Charter, the City Council must annually adopt a resolution fixing the amount of
the real estate tax and adopt the City’s annual Expense Budget and Capital Budget (as defined
below). The City Council does not, however, have the power to enact local laws imposing other taxes,
unless such taxes have been authorized by State legislation. The City Council has powers and
responsibilities relating to franchises and land use and as provided by State law.

— The Public Advocate. Mark Green, the Public Advocate, took office on January 1, 1994. The Public
Advocate is elected in a general election for a four-year term. The Public Advocate may preside at
meetings of the City Council without voting power, except in the case of a tic vote. The Public
Advocate is first in the line of succession to the Mayor in the event of the disability of the Mayor or a
vacancy in the office. The Public Advocate appoints a member of the City Planning Commission and
has various responsibilities relating to, among other things, monitoring the activities of City agencies,
the investigation and resolution of certain complaints made by members of the public concerning City
agencies and ensuring appropriate public access to government information and meetings.

—The Borough Presidents. Each of the City’s five boroughs elects a Borough President who serves for
a four-year term concurrent with other City elected officials. The Borough Presidents consult with the
Mayor in the preparation of the City’s annual Expense Budget and Capital Budget. Five percent of
discretionary increascs proposed by the Mayor in the Expense Budget and, with certain exceptions,
five percent of the appropriations sgpported by funds over which the City has substantial discretion
proposed by the Mayor in the Capital Budget, must be based on appropriations proposed by the
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Borough Presidents. Each Borough President also appoints one member to BOE and has various
responsibilities relating to, among other things, reviewing and making recommendations regarding
applications for the use, development or improvement of land located within the borough, monitor-
ing and making recommendations regarding the performance of contracts providing for the delivery
of services in the borough, and overseeing the coordination of a borough-wide public service com-

. plaint program.

On March 1, 1994, proposed legislation enabling Staten Island to separate from the City was submitted
to the State Legislature. Separation would take effect upon approval of such enabling legislation. Based
upon the advice of the State Assembly’s “home rule” counsel, the Speaker of the Assembly has determined
that the City must issue a “home rule message”, which requires a formal request of action by the State
Legislature by either (i) the Mayor and a majority of the City Council or (ii) two-thirds of the City Council,
before the proposed legislation may be voted upon by the Assembly. In June 1994, a proceeding was
commenced by the members of the Assembly representing Staten Island against the speaker and the
Assembly “home rule” counsel challenging the validity of their determination and seeking to have it
rescinded. On January 17, 1995, the State Supreme Court, Albany County, dismissed the petition, On
February 22, 1996, the Appellate Division, Third Department affirmed the dismissal. If any such enabling
legislation were passed, it may be subject to legal challenge and would require approval by the United States
Department of Justice under the Federal Voting Rights Act. It cannot be determined at this time what the
content of such proposed legislation will be, whether it will be enacted into law by the State Legislature, and
if so, what legal challenges might be commenced contesting the validity of such legislation.

On November 2, 1993, the voters of the City approved a referendum amending the City Charter to
‘provide that no person shall be eligible to be elected to or serve in the office of Mayor, Public Advocate,
Comptroller, Borough President or Council member if that person had previously held such office for two or
more full consecutive terms, unless one full term or more has elapsed since that person last held such office.
This Charter amendment applics only to terms of office commencing after January 1, 1994, and is subject to
approval by the United States Department of Justice under the Federal Voting Rights Act.

City Financial Management, Budgeting and Controls :

- The Mayor is responsible under the City Charter for preparing the City’s annual expense and capital
budgets (as adopted, the “Expense Budget” and the “Capital Budget”, respectively, and collectively, the
“Budgets”) and for submitting the Budgets to the City Council for its review and adoption, The Expense
Budget covers the City’s annual operating expenditures for municipal services, while the Capital Budget
covers expenditures for capital projects, as defined in the City Charter. Operations under the Expense
Budget must reflect the aggregate expenditure limitations contained in financial plans.

The City Council is responsible for adopting the Expense Budget and the Capital Budget. Pursuant to
the City Charter, the City Council may increase, decrease, add or omit specific units of appropriation in the
Budgets submitted by the Mayor and add, omit or change-any terms or conditions related to such appropria-
tions. The City Council is also responsible, pursuant tq the City Charter, for approving modifications to the
Expense Budget and adopting amendments to the Capital Budget beyond certain latitudes allowed to the
Mayor under the City Charter. However, the Mayor has the power to veto any increase or addition to the
Budgets or any change in any term or condition of the'Budgets approved by the City Council, which veto is
- subject to an override by a two-thirds vote of the City Council, and the Mayor has the power to implement
expenditure reductions subsequent to adoption of the Expense Budget in order to maintain a balanced
budget. In addition, the Mayor has the power to deterr;nine the non-property tax revenye forecast on which
the City Council must rely in setting the property tax rates for adopting a balanced City budget.

OMB ' :
OMB, with a staff of approximately 300 professi9pals, is the Mayor’s primary advisory group on fiscal
issues and is also responsible for the preparation, monitoring and control of the City’s Budgets and four-year
financial plans. In addition, the City prepares a Ten-Year Capital Strategy, ,

State law requires the City to maintain its Expense ]?udget balanced when reported in accordance with
GAAP In addition to the City’s annual Expense and (;apltal Budgets, the City prepares a four-year financial
plan which encompasses the City’s revenue, expenditure, cash flow and capital projections. All Covered
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Organizations, as hereinafter defined, are also required to maintain budgets that are balanced when
reported in accordance with GAAP. From time to time certain Covered Organizations have had budgets
providing for operations on a cash basis but not balanced under GAAF.

To assist in achieving the goals of the financial plan and budget, the City reviews its financial plan
periodically and, if necessary, prepares modifications to incorporate actual results and revisions to projec-
tions and assumptions to reflect current information. The City’s revenue projections are continually re-
viewed and periodically updated with the benefit of discussions with a panel of private economists analyzing
the effects of changes in economic indicators on City revenues and information from various economic
forecasting services. The City conforms aggregate expenditures to the limitations contained in the financial
plan.

Office of the Comptroller

The City Comptroller is the City’s chief fiscal officer and is responsible under the City Charter for
reviewing and commenting on the City’s Budgets and financial plans, including the assumptions and
methodologies used in their preparation. The City Comptroller, as an independently elected public official,
is required to report annually to the City Council on the state of the City’s economy and finances and
periodically to the Mayor and the City Council on the financial condition of the City and to make recommen-
dations, comments and criticisms on the operations, fiscal policies and financial transactions of the City.
Such reports, among other things, have differed with certain of the economic, revenue and expenditure
assumptions and projections in the City’s financial plans and Budgets. See “SECTION VIL: 1996-1999
FINANCIAL PLAN—Certain Reports”.

The Office of the Comptroller, with a professional staff of approximately 620, establishes the City’s
accounting and financial reporting practices and internal control procedures. The City Comptroller is also
responsible for the preparation of the City’s annual financial statements, which, since 1978, have been
required to be reported in accordance with GAAP.

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Comptroller for the 1994 fiscal year, which
includes, among other things, the City’s financial statements for the 1994 fiscal year, has received the GFOA
award of the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting, the fifteenth consecutive
year the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Comptroller has won such award.

All contracts for goods and services requiring the expenditure of City moneys must be registered with
the City Comptroller. No contract can be registered unless funds for its payment have been appropriated by
the City Council or otherwise authorized. The City Comptroller also prepares vouchers for payments for
such goods and services and cannot prepare a voucher unless funds are available in the Budgets for its

payment,

The City Comptroler is also required by the City Charter to audit all City agencies and has the power to
audit all City contracts. The Office of the Comptroller conducts both financial and management audits and
has the power to investigate corruption in connection with City contracts or contractors.

The Mayor and City Comptroller are responsible for the issuance of City indebtedness. The City
Comptroller oversees the payment of such indebtedness and is responsible for the custody of certain sinking

funds.

Financial Reporting and Control Systems
Since 1978, the City’s financial statements have been required to be audited by independent certified
public accountants and to be presented in accordance with GAAP. The City has completed fourteen
consecutive fiscal years with a General Fund surplus when reported in accordance with then applicable

GAAP.

Both OMB and the Office of the Comptroller utilize financial monitoring, reporting and control
systems, including the Integratqd Financial Ma‘nagement Systen} anfi a comprehensive Capital Projects
Information System, which provide comprehensive current and historical information regarding the City’s
financial condition. This information, which is independently evaluated by each office, provides a basis for

City action required to maintain a balanced budget and continued financial stability.
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- The City’s operating results and forecasts are analyzed, reviewed and reported on by each of OMB and
the Office of the Comptroller as part of the City’s overall system of internal control. Internal control systems
are reviewed regularly, and the City Comptroller requites an annual report on internal ¢control and accounta-
bility from each agency. Comprehensive service level and productivity targets are formulated and monitored
for each agency by the Mayor’s Office of Operations and reported publicly in a semiannual management
feport. s -

The City has developed and utilizes a cash forecasting system which forecasts its daily cash balances.
This enables the City to predict more accurately its short-term borrowing needs and maximize its return on
the investment of available cash balances. Monthly statements of operating revenues and expenditures,
capital revenues and expenditures and cash flow are reported after each month’s end, and major variances
from the financial plan are identified and explained. . o S

City funds held for operation and capital purposes are managed by the Office of the City Comptroller,
with specific guidelines as to investment vehicles. The City does not invest such funds in leveraged products
or use reverse repurchase agreements. The City invests primarily in obligations of the United States
Government, its agencies and instrumentalities, and repurchase agreements with primary dealers. The
repurchase agreements are collateralized by United States Government treasuries, agencies and instrumen-
talities, held by the City’s custodian bank and marked to market daily. '

More than 95% of the aggregate assets of the City’s five defined beriefit pension systems are managed
by outside managers, supervised by the Office of the City Comptroller, and the remainder isheld in cash or
managed by the City Comptroller. Allocations of investment assets are determined by each fund’s board of
directors. As of September 30, 1995 aggregate pension assets were allocated as follows: 54% US equities;
35% US fixed income; 9% international equities; 1% international fixed income; and 1% cash. -

Financial Emergency Act S ,
The Financial Emergency Act requires that the City submit to the Control Board, at least 50 days prior
to the beginning of each fiscal year (or on such other date as the Control Board may approve), a financial
plan for the City and certain State governmental agencies, public authorities or public benefit corporations
(“PBCs”) which receive or may receive monies from the City directly, indirectly or contingently (the
“Covered Organizations”) covering the four-y_ear period beginning with such fiscal year. BOE, the New York
City Transit Authority and the Manhattan and Bronx Surface Transit Operating Authority (collectively,
“New York City Transit” or “NYCT”), HHC and the New York City Housing Authority (the “Housiné
Authority” or “HA”) are examples of Covered Organizations. The Act requires that the City’s four-year
financial plans conform to a number of standards. Unless otherwise permitted by the Control Board under
certain conditions, the City must prepare and balance its budget covering all expenditures other than capital
items so that the results of such budget will not show a deficit when reported in accordance with GAAP.
Provision muist be made, among other things, for the payment in full of the debt service on all City securities'
The budget and operations of the City and the Covered Organizations must be in conformance with the:
financial plan then in-effect. ' : o

From 1975 to June 30, 1986, the City was subject to a Control Period, as defined in the Financial
Emergency Act, which was terminated upon the satisfaction of the statutory conditions for termination
including the termination of all Federal guarantees of obligations of the City, a determination by the Controi
Board that the City had maintained a balanced budget in accordance with GAAP for each of the thre.
immediately preceding fiscal years and a certification by the State and City Comptrollers that sales o;
securities by or for the benefit of the City satisfied its capital and seasonal financing requirements in th
public credit markets and were expected to satisfy such requirements in the 1987 fiscal year. With the
termination of the Control Period, certain Control Board powers were suspended including am(;n Otherc
its power to approve or disapprove certain contracts (including collective bargaining agreeménts) ] (ﬁ] tor S,
and short-term borrowings, and the four-year financial plan and modifications thereto of the C,ity aid ﬂ:n
Covered Organizations. After the termination of the Control Period but prior to the statutory expirati ©
date of the Financial Emergency Act on July 1, 2008, the City will still be required to develo rya ; (f) ation
financial plan each year and to modify the plan as changing circumstances require, During thg erilcl):i-yf}?r
Control Board will also continue to have certain review powers and must reimpose a Control pgﬂod u’po;:
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the occurrence or sibstantial likelihood and imminence of the occurrence of any one of certain events
specified in the Act. These events are (i) failure by the City to pay principal of or interest on any of its notes
or bonds when due:or payable, (ii) the existence of a City operating deficit of more than $100 million,
(iii) issuance by the City of notes in violation of certain restrictions on short-term borrowing imposed by the
Act, (iv) any violation by the City of any provision of the Act which substantially impairs the ability of the City
to pay principal of or interest on its bonds or notes when due and payable or its ability to adopt or adhere to
an operating budget balanced in accordance with the Act, or (v) joint certification by the State and City
Comptrollers that they could not at that time make a joint certification that sales of securities in the public
credit market by or for the benefit of the City during the immediately preceding fiscal year and the current
fiscal year satisfied its capital and seasonal financing requirements during such period and that there is a
substantial likelihood that such securities can be sold in the general public market from the date of the joint
certification through the end of the next succeeding fiscal year in amounts that will satisfy substantially all of
the capital and seasonal financing requirements of the City during such period in accordance with the
financial plan then in effect.

Financial Control Board Oversight

The Control Board, with MAC and OSDC, who is appointed by the State Comptroller, reviews and
monitors revenues and expenditures of the City and the Covered Organizations.

The Control Board is required to: (i) review the four-year financial plan of the City and of the Covered
Organizations and modifications thereto; (i) review the operations of the City and the Covered Organiza-
tions, including their compliance with the financial plan; and (iii) review long-term and short-term borrow-
ings and certain contracts, including collective bargaining agreements, of the City and the Covered
Organizations. The requirement to submit four-year financial plans and budgets for review was in response
to the severe financial difficulties and loss of access to the credit markets encountered by the City in 1975.
The Control Board must reexamine the financial plan on at least a quarterly basis to determine its
conformance to statutory standards.

During a Control Period, in addition to the requirements described above, the Control Board is
required to establish procedures with respect to the disbursement of monies to the City and the Covered
Organizations from the Control Board Fund created by the Act. '

The ex officio members of the Control Board are George E. Pataki, Governor of the State of New York
(Chairman); H. Carl McCall, Comptroller of the State of New York; Rudolph W. Giuliani, Mayor of The
City of New York; Alan G. Hevesi, Comptroller of The City of New York. In addition, there are three private
members appointed by the Governor, Heather L. Ruth, President of the Public Securities Association;
Stanley S. Shuman, Executive Vice President of Allen & Company, Incorporated; and Robert G. Smith,
Ph.D., President of Smith Affiliated Capital Corp. The Executive Director of the Control Board is appointeé
jointly by the Governor and the Mayor and Cornelius F. Healy is currently serving as Executive Director of
the Control Board. The Control Board is assisted in the exercise of its responsibilities and powers under the
Financial Emergency Act by the State Deputy Comptroller, who is Rosemary Scanlon.
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SECTION IV: SOURCES OF CITY REVENUES

. The City derives its revenues from a variety of local taxes, user charges and miscellancous revenues, as
well as from Federal and State unrestricted and categorical grants. State aid as a percentage of the City’s
revenues has remained relatively constant over the period from 1980 to 1995, while unrestricted Federal aid
has been sharply reduced. The City projects that local revenues will provide approximately 66.1% of total
revenues in the 1996 fiscal year while Federal aid, including categorical grants, will provide 13.7%, and State
aid, including unrestricted aid and categorical grants, will provide 20.2%. Adjusting the data for comparabil-
ity, local revenues provided approximately 60.6% of total revenues in 1980, while Federal and State aid each
provided approximately 19.7%. A discussion of the City’s principal revenue sources follows. For information
regarding assumptions on which the City’s revenue projections are based, see “SECTION VII: 1996-1999
FINANCIAL PLAN-—Assumptions.” For information regarding the City’s tax base, see “APPENDIX A—
ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL FACTORS.”

Real Estate Tax

The real estate tax, the single largest source of the City’s revenues, is the primary source of funds for the
City’s General Debt Service Fund. The City expects to derive approximately 40.8% of its total tax revenues
and 21.9% of its total revenues for the 1996 fiscal year from the real estate tax. For information concerning
tax revenues and total revenues of the City for prior fiscal years, see “SECTION VI: FINANCIAL OPERA-
TIONS—1991-1995 Statement of Operations.” : :

The State Constitution authorizes the City to levy a real éstate tax without limit as to rate or amount
(the “debt service levy”) to cover scheduled payments of the principal of and interest on indebtedness of the
City. However, the State Constitution limits the amount of revenue which the City can raise from the real
estate tax for operating purposes (the “operating limit”) to 2.5% of the average full value of taxable real
estate in the City for the current and the last four flscal years less interest on temporary debt and the
aggregate amount of business improvement district charges subject to the 2.5% tax limitation. The table
below sets forth the percentage of the debt service levy to the total levy. The most recent calculation of the
operating limit does not fully reflect the current downturn in the real estate market, which is expected to
lower the operating limit in the future. The City Council has adopted a distinct tax rate for each of the four
categories. of real property established by State legislation. '

COMPARISON OF REAL ESTATiE TAX LEVIES, TAX LiMITS
AND TAX RATES

Percent
of Levy
Percent Within
Witdn  Debt  Service Peratin '
. n ce . - .. Limit t . ‘Rate
Operating  Service Levy to  Operating .Operaﬂl‘:g $103 ofPl?;ll Ave]';:f esil(%‘ :;a te
Fiscal Year  Total Levy(1)  Limit Levy(2) Total Levy  Limit Limit ~  Valuation(3) Assessed Valuation
(Dollars in Millions) ' ) g
1992 ...... $8,3188  $6,262.8 $2,056.0  24.7% $10,631.8  589%  $1.82 $10.59
1993 ...... 8,392.5 6,469.9  1,922.6 229 . 11,9450 54.2 1.60 10.59
1994 ...... 8,113.2 5,920.9 2,1922 270 13,853.8 42,7 1.30 10:37
1995 ...... 7,889.8 56139 22759 288 13,4465 417 1.14 10.37
1996 ...... 7,871.4 52616  2,609.8 33.2 \ 8,633.4 609 1.88 10.37

(1) As approved by the City Council. .
(2) The debt service levy includes a portion of the total reserve for uncollected real estate taxes,

3) Full valuation is based on the special equalization ratios (discussed below) and the billable assessed valyati . i izati
3 ratios and full valuations are revised periodically as a result of surveys by the State Board of Real Ig:gg);g%?r‘é‘ilc‘;g}lahzatmn

Assessment .
The City has traditionally assessed real property at less than market (full) value. The State Board of
Real Property Services (the “State Board”) is required by law to determine annually the relationship
between taxable assessed value and market value which js expressed as the “special equalization ratio.” The
special equalization ratio is used to compute full value for the purpose of measuring the City’s compliance
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with the operating limit and general debt limit. For a discussion of the City’s debt limit, see “SEC-
TION VIII: INDEBTEDNESS—City Indebtedness—Limitations on the City’s Authority to Contract Indebted-
ness”. The ratios are calculated by using either a market value survey or a projection of market value growth
based on recent surveys. Ratios, and therefore full values, may be revised when new surveys are completed.
The ratios and full values used to compute the 1996 fiscal year operating limit, which are shown in the table
below, have been established by the State Board and include the results of the calendar year 1992 market
value survey. For information concerning litigation asserting that the special equalization ratios calculated
by the State Board in the 1991 calendar year violate State law because they substantially overestimate the full
value of City real estate for the purposes of calculating the operating limit for the 1992 fiscal year, and that
the City’s real estate tax levy for operating purposes in the 1992 fiscal year exceeded the State Constitutional
limit, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Litigation—Taxes”.

BILLABLE ASSESSED AND FULL VALUE OF TAXABLE REAL ESTATE(1)

Billable
Assessed
Valuation Special
. of Taxable + Equalization =

Fiscal Year Real Estate(2) Ratio Full Valuation(2)
1992...... eeemreveeresranieseen $78,660,903,551 0.2771 $283,871,900,220
1993 . ooninrnieeneneineninananees 79,370,561,446 0.2556 310,526,453,232
1994 ... . iiiiiiia i 78,364,554,204 0.2221 352,834,552,922
1995 .+ v unee e eennee e 76,202,446,309 0.1977 385,444,847,289
1996 ,.......0.00 eveesassracesns 76,029,436,876 0.1816 418,664,299,978

(1) Also assessed by the City, but excluded from the comﬁuta]:ion of taxable real estate, are various categories of property exempt from
taxation under State law. For the 1996 fiscal gear, the billable assessed value of real estate categorized by the City as exempt is
$61.3 billion, or 44.4% of the §138.1 billion billable assessed value of all real estate (taxable and exempt).

(2) These figures are derived from official City Council Tax Resolutions. These figures differ from the assessed and full valuation of
taxable real estate teported in the Annual Financial Report of the City Comptroller which excludes veteran’s property subject to
tax for school purposes. (The value of such property-is approximately $200 miltion in each year.)

State law provides for the classification of all real property in the City into one of four statutory classes.
Class one primarily includes one-, two-, and three-family homes; class two includes certain other residential
property not included in class one; class three includes most utility real property; and class four includes all
other real property. The total tax levy consists of four tax levies, one for each class. Once the tax levy is set for
each class, the tax rate for each class is then fixed annually by the City Council by dividing the levy for such
class by the billable assessed value for such class.

Assessment procedures differ for each class of property. For fiscal year 1996 class one was assessed at
approximately 8% of market value and classes two, three and four were assessed at 45% of market value. In
addition, individual assessments on class one parcels cannot increase by more than six percent per year or
twenty percent over a five-year period. Market value increas?s and decreases for most of class two and all of
class four are phased in over a period of five years. Increases in class one market value in excess of applicable
limitations are not phased in over subsequent years. There is also no phase in for class three property.

Class two and class four real property have three assessed values: actual, transition and billable. Actual
assessed value is established for all tax classes without regard to the five-year phase-in requirement applica-
ble to most class two and all class four properties. The transition assessed value reflects this phase-in. Billable
assessed value is the basis for tax liability, and is the lower of the actual or transition assessment.

The share of the total levy that can be borne by each class is regulated by the provisions of the Real
Property Tax Law. Each class’s share of the total tax levy is updatcd a\‘nn.ually to reflect new construction,
demolition, alterations or changes in taxable status and is subject to limited adjustment to reflect market
value changes among the four classes. Fiscal year 199§ tax rates were set on June 14, 1995 reflecting a
provision of State| law that limited the market value adjustment for 1996 to a 2%% increase in any class’s

share compared to its share in 1995.

City real estate tax revenues may be reduced in future fiscal years as a result of tax refund claims
asserting overvaluation, inequality of assessment and illegality. For a discussion of various proceedings

20




challenging assessments of real property for real estate tax purposes, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMA-
TION—Litigation—Taxes”. For further information regarding the City’s potential exposure in certain of
these proceedings, see “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Note H.
LoNG-TERM OBLIGATIONS—Judgments and Claims”.

The State Board annually certifies various class ratios and class equalization rates relating to the four
classes of real property in the City. “Class ratios”, which are determined for each class by the State Board by
calculating the ratio of assessed value to market value, are used in real property tax certiorari proceedings
involving allegations of inequality of assessments. The City belicves that the State Board overestimated
market values for class two and class four properties in calculating the class ratios for the 1991 and 1992
assessment rolls and has commenced proceedings challenging these class ratios. A lowering of the market
value determination by the State Board for classes two and four would raise the class ratios and could result
in a reduction in tax refunds issued as a result of tax certiorari proceedings. For further information regarding
the City’s proceeding, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Litigation—Taxes”.

Trend in Taxable Assessed Value

During the decade prior to fiscal year 1993, real property tax revenues grew substantially. Because State
law provides for increases in assessed values of most properties to be phased into property tax bills over five-
year periods, billable assessed values continued to grow and real property tax revenue increased through fiscal
year 1993 even as market values declined during the local recession. For the 1994 fiscal year, billable assessed
valuation for taxable property decreased by approximately 1.25% over the $79.3 billion final valuation for fiscal
year 1993, Actual assessed valuation decreased approximately 3.0% in fiscal year 1994 from the prior fiscal year
valuation of $81.7 billion. These results reflect changes made to the assessment percentages for class three
property, which resulted in a 46% increase in class three billable assessed value. After adjusting for the change
in assessment percentages, billable assessed values for all classes declined by 3.6%.

- For the 1994 and 1995 fiscal years, billable assessed valuation continued to decline, by 1.3 percent and
2.8 percent, respectively. The bulk of the decline was due to continued weakness in Class 4. For the 1996
fiscal year, billable assessed valuation in total was essentially unchanged from the prior year (a decline of
0.2%), as the rate of decline in Class 4 slowed and slight:increases in the valuations of the other classes offset
the Class 4 decline. For the 1996 fiscal year, actual assessed valuation increased by 0.8 percent, the first
improvement since fiscal year 1991. The Department of Finance has released the tentative assessment roll
for the 1997 fiscal year. Billable assessed valuation rose by $138 million to $76 billion. After accounting for
adjustments from the tax commission and other actions, it is estimated that the final assessment roll for the
1997 fiscal year to be released in May 1996 will show a drop in billable assessed value of approximately $700
million from the tentative assessment roll. Actual assessed values are expected to achieve growth approach-
ing the rate of inflation by 1998, leading to increases in billable assessed value. :

Collection of the Real Estate Tax

Real estate tax payments are due each July 1 and January 1, with the exception of payments by owners of
real property assessed at $40,000 or less and cooperatives whose individual units on average are valued at
$40,000 or less, which are paid in quarterly installments on July 1, October 1, J anuary 1 and April 1. Since
July 1, 1991, an annual interest rate of 9% compounded daily is imposed upon late payments on properties
for which the annual tax bill does not exceed $2,750 except in the case of (i) any parcel with respect of which
the real property taxes are held in escrow and paid by a mortgage escrow agent and (ii) parcels consisting of
vacant or unimproved land. Since July 1, 1991, an interest rate of 18% compounded daily is imposed upon
late payments on all other properties. These interest rates are set annually.

The City is entitled to foreclose delinquent tax lier{s by in rem proceedings after one year of delinquency
with respect to properties other than one and two-family dwellings and condominium apartments for which
the annual tax bills do not exceed $2,750, as to which a three-year delinquency rule is in effect,

The real estate tax is accounted for on a modified accrual basis. Revenue accrued is limited to prior year
payments received, offset by refunds made, within the first two months of the following fiscal year. In
deriving the real estate tax revenue forecast, a reserve is provu'led for cancellations or abatements of taxes
and for nonpayment of current year taxes owed and oqtstandlng as of the end of the fiscal year,
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The following table sets forth the amount of delinquent real estate taxes (owed and outstanding as of
the end of the fiscal year of levy) for each of the fiscal years indicated. Delinquent real estate taxes do not
include real estate taxes subject to cancellation or abatement under various exemption or abatement
programs. Delinquent real estate taxes generally increase during a recession and when the real estate market
deteriorates. Delinquent real estate taxes generally decrease as the City’s economy and real estate market
recover.,

In June 1994, the City sold to Tax Collections Trust (the “Trust™), a Delaware trust, the City’s delinquent
real property tax receivables outstanding as of May 31,1994 for $201 million plus a residual interest in the
receivables. In April 1995, the City sold to Asset Securitization Cooperative Corporation, a California
cooperative corporation, the City’s delinquent real property tax receivables outstanding as of April 1, 1995
for $222 million, with the City retaining a residual interest in the receivables. Amounts shown in the table
below for fiscal years 1994, 1995 and 1996 are adjusted to exclude the effects of the sales of delinquent tax
receivables and the proposed sale of tax liens for the 1996 fiscal year. See “SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL
DEVELOPMENTS—1996 Fiscal Year.”

REAL ESTATE TAX COLLECTIONS AND DELINQUENCIES
(In Millions)

Cancellations, Net

Tax Credits, Delinquency
Collections Abatements, Delinquent as a

Tax Collections as a Prior Year Exempt Property as of end Percentage
Tax on Current  Percentage (Delinquent Tax) Restored and of Fiscal of Tax
Fiscal Year Levy(1)  Year Levy(2) of Tax Levy Collections(3) Refunds Shelter Rent Year(4) H

1989 ..... $6,233.0 $5,9134 94.9% $1084 § (78.9) $(166.7) $(152.7) 2.45%
1990 ..... 6,872.4 6,507.1 94.7 109.6 (74.1) (135.0) (230.2) 335
1991(5)... 17,6813 7,199.2 93.7 149.7 (62.7) (166.4) (315.7) 411
1992 ..... 8,318.8 7,748.4 93.1 193.7 (124.3) (200.2) (370.2) 4.45
1993 ..... 8,392.5 7,766.1 92.5 227.7 (107.2) (215.2) (4112) 490
1994 ..... 8,113.2 7,520.3 92.7 2231 (199.1) (189.5) (4034) 497
1995 ..... 7,889.8 71,3774 93.5 210.8 (164.2) (130.8) (381.6) 4.84
1996(6)... 7.871.4 17,3880 93.6 2320  (242.0) (132.5) (350.9)  4.46

(1) As approved by the City Council.

(2) Quarterly collections on current year levy. Amounts for fiscal years 1994, 1995 and 1996 are adjusted to eliminate the effects of the
1994 and 1995 sales of delinquent tax receivables.

(3) Adjusted to exclude the effect of sales of delinquent tax receivables.

(4) These figures include taxes due on certain publicly owned property and exclude delinquency on shelter rent and exempt property
restored in 1995 and 1996.
(5) Does not include supplemental levy of $61.7 million raised in mid-year for Criminal Justice Fund.

(6) Forecast.

Other Taxes

The City expects to derive approximately 59.2% of its total tax revenues for the 1996 fiscal year from a
variety of taxes other than the real estate tax, such as: (i) the 4% sales and compensating use tax, in addition
to the State 4¥4% retail sales tax imposed by the State upon receipts from retail sales of tangible personal
property and certain services in the City; (ii) the personal income tax on City residents and the earnings tax
on non-residents; (iii) a general corporation tax levied on the income of corporations doing business in the
City; (iv) a banking corporation tax imposed on the in_come of bankng corporations doing business in the
City; and (v) the State-imposed stock transfer tax (while the economic effect of the stock transfer tax was
eliminated as of October 1, 1981, the City’s revenue loss is, to some extent, mitigated by State payments to a
stock transfer tax incentive fund).

For local taxes other than the real property tax, the City may adopt and amend local laws for the levy of
Jocal taxes to the extent authorized by the State. This authority can be withdrawn, amended or expanded by
State legislation. Without State authorization, the City may locally impose property taxes to fund general
operations in an amount not to exceed 2%2% of property values in the City as determined under a State
mandated formula. In addition, the State cannot restrict the City’s authority to levy and collect real estate
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taxes in excess of the 2%4% limitation in the amount necessary to pay principal of and interest on City
indebtedness. For further information concerning the City’s authority to- impose real property taxes, see
“SECTION IV: SOURCES OF CITY REVENUES—Real Estate Tax”. Payments by the State to the City of sales tax
and stock transfer tax revenues are subject to appropriation by the State and are made available first to MAC
for payment of MAC debt service, reserve fund requirements and operating expenses, with the balance, if

any, payable to the City.

Revenues from taxes other than the real property tax, including Audits and Criminal Justice Fund, in
the 1995 fiscal year decreased by $126 million or approximately 1.2% from the 1994 fiscal year, primarily due
to decreases in the general corporation tax, banking corporation tax, and other taxes. The following table
sets forth revenues from taxes, other than the real property tax, by category for each of the City’s 1991
through 1995 fiscal years. '

1991 1_92 1993(1) 1994 1995

S : . (In Millions) -
Personal Income(2) ....ooovvviiviienenennnnns $2,780 $3,223 $3451  $3,530  $3,591
General COrporation..........o.ceveesvanennes. 950 9%4 978 1,193 1,079
Banking Corporation................ceeieenn, 205 310 362 497 250
“Unincorporated Business Income.............. 333 340 389 382 379
Sales ....... e e ¢ 2306 2,262 2,379 2,451 2,588
Commercial Rent ...........vovaenat Ceereea 670 649 624 - 629 624
Real Property Transfer .............ocoooiiii : 141 123 125 149 167
Mortgage Recording .......ooovivvvniiviannnn, 137 121 118 134 170
L0 1 177 183 190 208 197
All Other(3) ...oovvvvininniiinniiniaii, 490 561 588 622 593
AU ot vr e e i i i e 444 528 519 570 601
TOAL .« e v eeeneneneenerenenieneninnens $8,642 $9,264 $9,723 $10,365 $10,239

(1) A change in certain accounting standards issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board appli i
in a restatement of the figures for the 1993 fiscal year and the results of operatlgons for the 1993 fi:gapl ;?:gestgctﬁkr:e Sg){ erteﬁv;éxlllttcg
reflected in the City's audited financial statements for the 1994 fiscal gyear. For further information concefﬁing such change i
accounting standards, see “SECTION VI FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—1991-1995 Statement of Operations”. ge n

9) Personal Income Tax includes $110 million of Criminal Justice Fand revenues in the 1993 fiscal illion in fi
@ and $167 million in fiscal year 1995. iscal year, $200 million in fiscal year 1994

3) All Other includes, among others, the stock transfer tax, New York City Off-Track Betting C ion (¥ »?
@ cigarette, beer and liquor taxes, the hotel tax and the automobile use ttyax g Corporation (OTB) net revenues,

Miscellaneous Revenues
Miscellaneous revenues include revenue sources such as charges collected by the City for the issuance
of licenses, permits and franchises, interest earned by the City on the investment of City cash balances
tuition and fees at the Community Colleges, reimbursement to the City from the proceeds of water anci
sewer rates charged by the New York City Water Board (the “Water Board”) for costs of delivery of water
and sewer services and paid to the City by the Water Board for its lease interest in the water and sewer
system, rents collected from tenants in City-owned property and from the Port Authority with respect to
airports, and the collection of fines. The following table sets forth amounts of miscellaneous revenues for
‘each of the City’s 1991 through. 1995 fiscal years.
: 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995
{n I\Flions) - -

Licenses, Permits and Franchises .............. i $201 $210 $ 213 § 225 § 222
Interest INCOME ..o vvvvevrrerreneroresioiinannes 167 133 87 82 95
Charges for Services ............... eeeeriaaeeas 337 369 397 389 396
Water and Sewer Payments .......... reeeraneees ) 596 - 644 709 718 738
Rental InCOME . .ovvvvorrnreionnnes e raee e 169 158 162 133 127
Fines and Forfeitures. ...cooevvneeiiiciainiannes 366 404 380 369 417
(01105 ST R R E R 426 411 607 787 865

TOtal i vvrerennensvnnnemenieneneenennnio $2,262 $2,329  $2555  $2.703 $2,860

Effective on July 1, 1985, fees and charges collgcted from the users of the water and sewer system of the
City became revenues of the Water Board, a public benefit corporation all of the members of which are
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appointed by the Mayor. The Water Board currently holds a long-term leaschold interest in the water and
sewer system pursuant to a lease between the Water Board and the City (the “Lease”). See “SECTION VII:
1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—LongTerm Capital and Financing Program” for information relating to the
proposed transfer of title to the water and sewer system to the Water Board which would result in the
elimination of the rental payable to the City under the Lease but would not affect the Water Board’s
obligation to pay, from system revenues, the City’s costs of operating and maintaining the system.

Miscellaneous revenues for the 1991 fiscal year include a sale of property by the City to the Federal
Government for $104 million and transfers of surplus funds from the Public Development Corporation and
the New York City Housing Development Corporation (“HDC”) amounting to $62 million. The increase in
miscellaneous revenues for the 1992 fiscal year is mainly due to the one time collections from audits of
$50 million and the sale of mortgages of $35 million. The increase in miscellaneous revenues for the 1993
fiscal year is mainly due to a one time collection from the transfer of surplus funds from the Rehabilitation
Mortgage Insurance Corporation amounting to $23 million, a litigation settlement amounting to $46 million
and on-going payments from HHC amounting to $161 million. The increase in miscellaneous revenues for
the 1994 fiscal year was primarily due to $81 million being made available to the City by the municipal labor
unions from surplus funds in the Stabilization Funds to offset the cost of the January 1993 labor settlement.
In addition, fire officers and superior police officers agreed to transfer $72 million to the City from the
Variable Supplements Fund. Miscellaneous revenues for the 1995 fiscal year include $200 million from the
recovery of prior year FICA overpayments and $120 million from the sale of upstate jails to the state of New
York.

Unrestricted Intergovernmental Aid

Unrestricted Federal and State aid has consisted primarily of per capita aid from the State government.
These funds, which are not subject to any substantial restriction as to their use, are used by the City as
general support for its Expense Budget. State general revenue sharing (State per capita aid) is allocated
among the units of local government by statutory formulas which take into account the distribution of the
State’s population and the full valuation of taxable real property. In recent years, however, such allocation
has been based on prior year levels in lieu of the statutory formula. For a further discussion of unrestricted
State aid, see “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions—Revenue Assumptions—5. Un-
restricted Intergovernmental Aid”.

The following table sets forth amounts of unrestricted Federal and State aid received by the City in each
of its 1991 through 1995 fiscal years.
1991 1992 1993 . 1994 1995
_ (In Millions)

State Per Capita Aid ......c.cooiviiiiiiiiiii, $535 $534 $535 $300 $325
State Shared Taxes(1) ..ovvnivrrreininiininiiniinnss 20 27 8 27 16
(011115 () F U R LLRRCERER R 145 265 164 340 262

0 7Y [P $700 $826 $707 $667 $603

(1) State Shared Taxes are taxes which are levied by the State, collected by the State and which, Pursuant to aid formulas determined by
the State Legislature, are returned to various communitics m the State. Beginning on April 1, 1982, these payments were replaced
by funds appropriated pursuant to the Consolidated Local Highway Assistance Program, known as “ FIIPS”,

d in the 1991, 1992, 1993, 1994 and 1995 fiscal years are $69 million, $75 million, $88 million, $105 million and $126 milli
@ }ggfla‘égfivéll;', of aid associated with the partial State takeover of long-term care Medicaid costs. miflion

Federal and State Categorical Grants

The City makes certain expenditures for services required by Federal and State mandates which are
then wholly or partially reimbursed througb Fede.ral an_d State categorical grants. State categorical grants are
received by the City primarily in connection ywth City wejlfare, education, higher education, health and
mental health expenditures. The City also receives substantial Federal categorical grants in connection with
the Federal Community Development (“Communit'y Developr.nent”) and the Job Training and Partnership
Act (“JTPA’). The Federal government also provides the City with substantial public assistance, social
service and education grants as well as reimburserm?nt for‘ all or a portion of certain costs incurred by the
City in maintaining programs in a number of areas, including housing, criminal justice and health. All City
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claims for Federal and State grants are subject to subséquent audit by Federal and State authorities. Federal
grants are also subject to audit under the Single Audit Act of 1984 by the City’s independent auditors. The
City provides a reserve for disallowances resulting from these audits which could be asserted in subsequent
years, For a further discussion of Federal and State categorical grants, see “SECTION VII: 1996-1999
FINANCIAL PLAN-—Assumptions—Revenue Assumptions—6. Federal and State Categorical Grants”,

The following table sets forth amounts of Federal and State categorical grants received by the City for

each of the City’s 1991 through 1995 fiscal years. _
1991 1992 1993 1994 1995
(In Millions)

:Federal B . .
1 3 - NP $ 73 $ 8 $ 128 $ 106 $ 108
Community Development(1) .........ccovviviiainnns, 227 187 193 264 281
WEHATE +vviveiveterenrioernsiansrureescsnocoasssaas 1,842 2,108 2,111 2,321 2318
Education ... ceoeveiarsressensennenieeeeeruecesinnes 667 744 867 882 857
Other ....oovvvivvrniennnns B 338 297 311 387 442

0 1) $3,147 $3422 $3,610 $3,960 $4,006

State _ ' ' : '

WEIFATE o vveerteenrrnerneneenonosnssriocesnonneeans $1,620 $1,773 $1,767 $1,897 $1,984
0 273 17001310 1 RN 3,285 3,072 3309 3,380 3,769
Higher Education ..........cooeviiiiiiiiiiiiniin... 119 119 117 134 125
Health and Mental Health.................c0v000n, 237 201 189 207. 235
Other........ cerieans reeeenaes eteaieeiesireeaenas 250 270 279 285 . 317

4 11 7 e $5,511 $5435 $5,661 $5903 $6,430

(1) Amounts represent actual funds reccived and may be lower or higher than the appropriation of funds actually provided by the
Federal government for the particular fiscal year due either to underspending or the spending of funds carried forward from prior

fiscal years.



SECTION V: CITY SERVICES AND EXPENDITURES

Expenditures for City Services

Three types of governmental agencies provide public services within the City’s borders and receive
financial support from the City. One category is the mayoral agencies established by the City Charter which
include, among others, the Police, Fire and Sanitation Departments. Another is the independent agencies
which are funded in whole or in part through the City Budgets but which have greater independence in the
use of appropriated funds than the mayoral agencies. Included in this category are certain Covered Organi-
zations such as HHC, the Transit Authority and BOE. A third category consists of certain PBCs which were
created to finance the construction of housing, hospitals, dormitories and other facilities and to provide
other governmental services in the City. The legislation establishing this type of agency contemplates that
annual payments from the City, appropriated through its Expense Budget, may or will constitute a substan-
tial part of the revenues of the agency. Included in this category are, among others, the HFA and the City
University Construction Fund (“CUCF”). For information regarding expenditures for City services, see
“SECTION VI: FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—1991-1995 Statement of Operations”,

Federal and State laws require the City to provide certain social services for needy individuals and
families who qualify for such assistance. Aid to Families with Dependent Children ("AFDC”) supports
approximately 84% of the City’s public assistance caseload and receives approximately 50% Federal and
25% State reimbursement. In addition, Home Relief provides support for those who do not qualify for
AFDC but are in need of public assistance. The cost of Home Relief is borne equally by the City and the
State.

The Federal government fully funds and administers a program of Supplemental Security Income
(“SSI”) for the aged, disabled, and blind which provides recipients with a grant based on a nationwide
standard. New York State law requires that this standard be supplemented with additional payments that
vary according to an individual’s living arrangement. Since September 30, 1978, the State has assumed
responsibility for the entire cost of both the State and City shares of this SSI supplement. State assumption of
the City’s share has been extended through September 1995. :

The City also provides funding for many other social services such as day care, foster care, family
planning, services for the elderly and special employment services for welfare recipients some of which are
mandated, and may be wholly or partially subsidized, by either the Federal or State government.

The City’s elementary and secondary school system is operated under the general supervision of BOE,
with considerable authority over elementary and junior high schools also exercised by the 32 Community
School Boards. BOE is responsible to the State on policy issucs and to the City on fiscal matters. The number
of pupils in the school system for the 1995-1996 school year is estimated to be 1,058,533, Actual enrollment
in fiscal years 1991 through 1995 has been 956,658, 973,263, 995,465, 1,016,728, and 1,034,235, respectively.
Between fiscal years 1991 and 1995, the percentage of the City’s total budget allocated to BOE has remained
relatively stable at approximately 25.44%; in fiscal year 1996 the percentage of the City’s total budget
allocated to BOE is projected to be 26.3%. See “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions—
Expenditure Assumptions—2. Other Than Personal Service Costs—Board of Education”. The City’s system of
higher education, consisting of its Senior Colleges and Community Colleges, is operated under the supervi-
sion of CUNY. The City is projected to provide approximately 29.3% of the costs of the Community
Colleges in the 1996 fiscal year. The State has full responsibility for the costs of operating the Senior
Colleges, although the City is required initially to fund these costs.

The City administers health services programs for the care of the physically and mentally ill and the
aged. HHC maintains and operates the City’s eleven municipal hospitals, five long-term care facilities, a
network of neighborhood health centers and the Emergency Medical Service. HHC is funded primarily by
third party reimbursement collections from Medicar.e, Medicaiq, Blue Cross-Blue Shield and commercial
insurers, and also by direct patient payments and City appropriations. On February 23, 1995, the Mayor
announced that the City would seek to privatize three of the City’s municipal hospitals: Coney Island
Hospital, ElImhurst Hospital Center and Queens. Hosp'ita'l Center. :I'he goal of the privatization initiative is to
improve efficiency in the delivery of services while relieving the City of the costs associated with owning and
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operating the three hospitals. Any lower costs resulting from the privatization of these hospitals are not
reflected in the Financial Plan. The Mayor also announced that a panel of experts has been formed to advise
the City on the future course for HHC.

Medicaid provides basic medical assistance to needy persons. The City is required by State law to

- furnish medical assistance through Medicaid to all City residents meeting eligibility requirements estab-

lished by the State. The State’s-budget for the 1984 fiscal year reduced the City’s share of Medicaid costs in

1983 from its previous level of 25% of the cost of all Medicaid eligible care. The State commenced on

January 1, 1984 to assume over a three-year period alkbut 20% of the non-Federal share of long-term care

costs and all of the costs of providing medical assistance to the mentally disabled. The Federal government
will continue to pay approximately 50% of Medicaid costs for Federally eligible recipients, -

The City’s expense budget has increased during the five-year period ended June 30, 1995, due to, among
other factors, the costs of labor settlements, the growth in the number of full-time City employees, higher
mandated costs, including increases in public and medical assistance, and the impact of inflation on various
other than personal service costs.

Employees and Labor Relations

Employees
The following table presents the number of full-time employees of the City, including the mayoral
agencies, BOE and CUNY, at the end of each of the City’s 1991 through 1995 fiscal years.

1991 1992 1993 199 1995 -

Education............cooviviiiiiniinn, 86,071 83,863 86,981 88,639 88340
Police(1) «ovvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiininen.... 41,438 41,223 42,647 45704 43,040

- Social Services and Homeless Services...... 31,404 28,890 28,810 26,013 23,948
City University ..........coociiiniinnnnnnn. 3,864 3516 3,682 4,071 3,579
Environmental Protection and Sanitation ... 17,366 16,560 16,714 16,046 15,258

| 5 T 12,679 12,571 12,537 12484 12310
AlLOther .....covviiiiiiiniiiiiiiiinna, 57423 54,491 54,184 50,491 47,486
Total .ovvviiiiiiiiniiiiiii . 250,245 241,114 245555 243,448 233,961

(1) Fiscal year 1995 includes impact of the Transit Authority and Housing Authority Police Department meli_glers with the NYPD. For

comparison purposes, the previous fiscal years have been restated to include the Transit Author d i i i
Departments. - ity and Housing Authority Police

The following table presents the number of full-time employees of certain Covered Organizations, as
reported by such Organizations, at the end of each of: the City’s 1991 through 1995 fiscal years. '

ﬂ &2_ lﬁ 1994 1995

Transit AUthority(1) ..........cccevunenn.n. 44,531 43,947 44402 44,960 44,954
Housing AUthOLIty(1) .. ..vvvvvenneeenenn... 12573 12,706 13,686 13,774 13,820
HHC. ..ouveeeiinienneeeeenriiin e, 45,717 45498 47,738 47582 42582
TOtal(2) - eereerenineeiennniinn 102821 102,151 105826 106316 101,356

(1) In Fiscal year 1995, the Transit Authority and Housing Authority Police Départments merged with the New York Poli
Department. For comparison purposes, the previous fiscal years have been restated to excfude thy 1ce
" these numbers. o e TAPD and HAPD from
(2) The definition of “full-time employees” varies among the Covered Organizations and the City.

The foregoing tables include persons whose salariés or wages are paid by certain public employment

programs, principally programs funded under JTPA, which support employees in non-profit and State
‘agencies as well as in the mayoral agencies and the Covered Organizations.

Labor Relations
Substantially all of the City’s full-time employees are members of labor unions. The Financial Emer-
gency Act requires that all collective bargaining agreements entered into by the City and the Covered
Organizations be consistent with the City’s current financial plan, except for certain awards arrived at
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through impasse procedures. During a Control Period, and subject to the foregoing exception, the Control
Board would be required to disapprove collective bargaining agreements that are inconsistent with the City’s
current financial plan.

Under applicable law, the City may not make unilateral changes in wages, hours or working conditions
under any of the following circumstances: (i) during the period of negotiations between the City and a union
representing municipal employees concerning a collective bargaining agreement; (ii) if an impasse panel is
appointed, then during the period commencing on the date on which such panel is appointed and ending
sixty days thereaftar or thirty days after it submits its report, whichever is sooner, subject to extension under
certain circumstances to permit completion of panel proceedings; or (iii) during the pendency of an appeal
to the Board of Cdllective Bargaining. Although State law prohibits strikes by municipal employees, strikes
and work stoppages by employees of the City and the Covered Organizations have occurred.

For information regarding the City’s most recently negotiated collective bargaining settlement, as well
as assumptions with respect to the cost of future labor settlements and related effects on the 1996-1999
Financial Plan, see “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions—Expenditure Assumptions—
1. Personal Service Costs”.

Pensions
The City maintains a number of pension systems providing benefits for its employees and employees of
various independent agencies (including certain Covered Organizations). For further information regarding
the City’s pension systems and the City’s obligations thereto, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—
Pension Systems”.

Capital Expenditures

The City makes substantial capital expenditures to reconstruct, rehabilitate and expand the City’s
infrastructure and physical assets, including City mass transit facilities, sewers, streets, bridges and tunnels,
and to make capital investments that will improve productivity in City operations. For additional information
regarding the City’s infrastructure, physical assets and capital program, see “SECTION VII: 1996-1999
FINANCIAL PLAN-+—LongTerm Capital and Financing Program” and “APPENDIX A—ECONOMIC AND S0-

CIAL FACTORS”.

The City utilizes a three-tiered capital planning process consisting of the Ten-Year Capital Strategy
(previously, the Ten-Year Capital Plan), the Four-Year Capital Program and the current-year Capital
Budget. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy, which is published once every two years in conjunction with the
Executive Budget, is a long-term planning tool designed to reflect fundamental allocation choices and basic
policy objectives. The Four-Year Capital Program translates mid-range policy goals into specific projects.
The Capital Budget defines for cach fiscal year specific projects and the timing of their initiation, design,
construction and completion.

On January 17, 1995, the City published a Preliminary Ten-Year Capital Strategy for fiscal years 1996
through 2005 (the “Preliminary Ten-Year Capital Strategy”). The Preliminary Ten-Year Capital Strategy
totaled $45.7 billion, of which approximately 92% would be financed with City funds. On April 27, 1995, the
City published the Ten-Year Capital Strategy for fiscal years 1996 through 2005 (the “Ten-Year Capital
Strategy”). The Ten-Year Capital Strategy totaled $40.6 billion, of which approximately 92% would be
financed with City funds. The Mayor reduced the size of the preliminary capital program by approximately
$2.1 billion cumulatively through fiscal year 1999. The reduced program, which is detailed in the Ten-Year
Capital Strategy, was implemented to meet the constraint of the forecast level of the State Constitutional
limitation on the City’s debt incurring powers. See “SECTION VIII: INDEBTEDNESS—City Indebtedness—
Limitations on the City’s Authority to Contract Indebtedness.” Therefore, all programmatic detail currently in
the Ten-Year Capital Strategy reflects the reduction, as well as added programmatic needs which may have
arisen since the Preliminary Ten-Year Capital Strategy. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy includes an assump-
tion that the debt service costs relating to $2.8 billion of the educational capital program for the ten-year
period will be paid from incremental building aid payments from the State, to which the City will be entitled
as a result of the scope of its capital program authorized for educational facilities. This aid requires an
annual allocation and appropriation from the State. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy provides $2.1 billion for
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the Board of Education for fiscal years 1996 through 1999. This represents a 23% reduction from amounts
previously allocated to the Board of Education for 1996-1999. The Board of Education must modify its Five
Year Capital Plan to allocate this reduced level of funding. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy also assumes that
$200 million of these education commitments will be financed by non-general obligation financed debt. The
issuance of this debt will require state legislation. The Adopted Capital Budget included an addition of
$207 million in commitments for education. The Adopted Capital Budget provides that these commitments,
together with an additional $200 million in fiscal 1996 commitments, are to be funded using a portion of the
proceeds from the transfer of the water and sewer system from the City to the Water Board. The Ten-Year
Capital Strategy includes an additional $200 million of such proceeds in each of the 1997, 1998 and 1999
fiscal years to fund the City’s capital program. See “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN”. In addition,
the State has approved legislation authorizing a $9.6 billion capital funding schedule for the MTA for fiscal
years 1992 through 1996, which contemplates a capital contribution by the City that is $500 million higher
than the amount provided for this purpose in the Ten-Year Capital Strategy. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy
assumes that approximately $245 million of the City’s capital contribution to the MTA for the 1995 fiscal year
will be deferred until the 1997 fiscal year. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy also assumes that the Wicks Law
will be repealed by the State legislature, and that the City will achieve savings of $1.4 billion over the ten-year
period due to increased capital program efficiency once the law is repealed. In a recent session of the State
legislature, an attempt to change the Wicks Law to provide municipalities with alternative contracting
methods was not successful.

The Ten-Year Capital Strategy includes (i) $9.3 billion to construct new schools and improve existing
educational facilities; (ii) $4.2 billion for expanding and upgrading the City’s housing stock; (iii) $2.2 billion
for reconstruction or resurfacing more than 10,000 lane miles of City streets; (iv) $1.3 billion for continued
City-funded investment in mass transit; (v) $4.0 billion for the continued reconstruction and rehabilitation of
all four East River bridges and 410 other bridge structures; (vi) $532 million to expand current jail capacity;
and (vii) $2.2 billion for construction and improvement of court facilities. - ’

Those programs in the Ten-Year Capital Strategy financed with City funds are currently expected to be
funded primarily from the issuance of general obligation bonds. Debt service on such bonds is paid out of the
City’s operating revenues. From time to time in the past, during recessionary periods when operating
revenues have come under increasing pressure, capital funding levels have been reduced from those
previously contemplated in order to reduce debt service costs. For information concerning the City’s long-
term financing program for capital expenditures, see “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Long-
Term Capital and Financing Program”.

The City’s capital expenditures, including expenditures funded by State and Federal grants, totaled
$18.8 billion during the 1991 through 1995 fiscal years. City-funded expenditures, which totaled $17.’5 billion
during the 1991 through 1995 fiscal years, have been financed through the issuance of bonds by the City, the
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Water Authority and, commencing in fiscal years 1993 and 1994, respectively, HHC and the Dormitory
Authority. The following table summarizes the major categories of capital expenditures in the past five fiscal
years.

1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 Total
_ — _ " (In Millions) —

Education.....oovvrieeveiserracenrnane $ 694 $ 681 § 754 $ 722 $ 875 §$ 3,726
Environmental Protection ............. 826 894 746 616 705 3,787
Transportation .........coeeueieiinn. 399 364 341 423 444 1,971
Transit Authority(1) .....cooneeevenaalt 381 329 250 221 150 1,331
£ (11131, - PR 689 639 431 387 292 2,438
Hospitals .....cooveerveeiiiiiiiniins 195 155 167 163 137 817
TV 1117:13107) DU 172 153 188 151 114 778
ALOther(2) ..ovvvvineniieneruneennns 877 678 740 660 958 3,913

Total Expenditures(3)........... $4,233 $3,893 $3,617 $3,343 $3,675 $18,761

City-funded Expenditures(4) .... $3,946 $3,582 §3,395 $3,301 $3,237 $17,530

(1) Excludes the Tramsit Authority's non-City portion of the MTAs Capital Program.
(2) All Other includés, among other things, parks, correction facilities, public structures and equipment.

(3) Total Expenditures for the 1991 through 1995 fiscal years include City, State and Federal funding and represent amounts which
include an accrual for work-in-progress. The figures for the 1991 through 1995 fiscal years are derived from the Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report of the Comptroller.

(4) City-funded Expenditures do not include accruals, but represent actual cash expenditures occurring during the fiscal year.

In October 1994, the City issued a condition assessment and a proposed maintenance schedule for the
major portion of its assets and asset systems which have a replacement cost of $10 million or more and a
useful life of at least ten years, as required by the City Charter. For information concerning a report which
sets forth the recommended capital investment to bring certain identified assets of the City to a state of good
repair, see “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Long-Term Capital and Financing Program”.
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SECTION VI: FINANCIAL OPERATIONS-

The City’s General Purpose Financial Statements and the auditors’ opinion thereon are presented in
“APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS”. Further details are set forth in the Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report of the Comptroller for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1995, which is available for
inspection at the Office of the Comptroller. For a summary of the City’s significant accounting policies, see
« APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Note A”, For a summary of the
City’s operating results for the previous five fiscal years, see “SECTION VI: FINANCIAL OPERATIONS—
1991-1995 Statement of Operations”.

Except as otherwise indicated, all of the financial data relating to the City’s operations contained in this
Official Statement, although derived from the City’s books and records, are unaudited. In addition, the -
City’s independent certified public accountants have not compiled or examined, or applied agreed upon
procedures to, the forecast of 1996 results or the Financial Plan.

The estimates and projections contained in this Section and elsewhere in this Official Statement are
based on, among other factors, evaluations of historical revenue and expenditure data, analyses of economic
‘trends and current and anticipated Federal and State legislation affecting the City’s finances. The City’s
financial projections are based upon numerous assumptions and are subject to certain contingencies and
periodic revision which may involve substantial change. Consequently, the City makes no representation or
warranty that these estimates and projections will be realized.
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1991-1995 Statement of Operations

The following table sets forth the City’s results of operations for its 1991 through 1995 fiscal years reported
in accordance with GAAP. The information regarding the 1991 through 1995 fiscal years has been derived from
the City’s audited financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the notes accompanying this table
and the City’s 1994 and 1995 financial statements included in “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS”. The
1991 through 1993 financial statements are not separately presented in this Official Statement. For further
information regarding the City’s revenues and expenditures, see “SECTION IV: SOURCES OF CITY REVENUES”
and “SECTION V: CITY SERVICES AND EXPENDITURES”.

Fiscal Year(1)
1991 1992 1993(2) 1994 1995
(In Millions)

Revenues and Transfers

Real Estate Tax(3) ....covvvvviniiiiiinninrnnnnnn.. $7251 $ 7818 $ 7,886 $ 7,773 $ 7,474
Other Taxes(4) «...vvvnereeiii i iiinianans, 8,642 9,264 9,723 10,365 10,239
Miscellaneous Revenues ............. e eereeeneen 2,262 2,329 2,555 2,703 2,860
Unrestricted Federal and State Aid................ 700 826 707 667 603
Federal Categorical Grants........................ 3,147 3,422 3,610 3,960 4,006
State Categorical Grants .......................... 5,511 5,435 5,661 5,903 6,430
Less: Disallowances Against Categorical Grants .. .. .. (32) (72) (26) (19) (21)
Total Revenues and Transfers............... $27,481 $29,022 $30,116 $31,352  $31,591
Expenditures and Transfers
Social Services. ... .oveiiiiiiiiiiiiii i $668 §7,108 $ 7430 $8030 8,112
Board of Education..................ooviiiinn... 6,694 6,626 7,213 7,561 7,863
City University .......coviiviiiiiinninninnnn.., . 313 458 571 353 348
Public Safety and Judicial ......................... 3,494 3,586 3,759 3,846 4,121
Health Services........ccooviininiiiiininiiiannnns, 1,463 1,276 1,452 1,620 1,737
Pensions ..... ettt 1,479 1,370 1,427 1,274 1,273
Debt Service(4).....ovvviiiiiiiiiii i 1,503 2,502 2,103 2,136 2,320
MAC Debt Service Funding(4) .................... 449 540 370 354 29
AlLOther ....ovvviiiiiiiiiii i 5,395 5,552 5,827 6,173 5,783
Total Expenditures and Transfers............ $27,476  $29,018 $30,152 $31,347 $31,586
Surplus(S) . ovnn $ 5 % 4 § 36) § 5 § 5

(1) The City’s results of operations refer to the City’s General Fund revenues and transfers reduced by expenditures and transfers. The revenues
and assets of PBCs included in the City’s audited financial statements do not constitute revenues and assets of the City’s General Fund, and,
accordingly, the revenues of such PBCs, other than net OT B‘revenucs_, are not included in the City’s results of operations. Expenditures
required to be made by the City with respect to such PBCs are included in the City’s results of operations. For further information regarding
the particular PBCs included in the City’s financial statements, see “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial
Statements—Note A”.

(2) In October, 1993, the City reported a General Eund operating surplus of $5,079,Q00 fo'r the 1993 fiscal year as reported in accordance with
then applicable GAAP. The City has been required to restate its fiscal year 1993 financial statements because the City has implemented for
the 1994 fiscal year Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement Number 22, which provides for a change in the
method of recognizing certain tax receipts. For purposes of presenting comparative financial statements for the 1994 fiscal year, the City was
required to restate the fiscal year 1993 financial statements as if t!le Statgment were pdopted in fiscal year 1993, Accordingly, for purposes of

resenting fiscal year 1993 financial statements on a comparative basis, the opening fund balance of fiscal year 1993 was restated from
82,974,000 to $311,435,000 and the surplus for the 1993 fiscal year was restated from $5,079,000 to $(36,025,000).

(3) Real Estate Tax for the 1991, 1992, 1993, 1994 and 1995 fiscal years includes $56 million, $131 million, $128 million, $147.5 million and
$147 million, respectively, of Criminal Justice Fund revenues. Real Estate Tax for fiscal years 1994 and 1995 also includes $201 million and
$223 million from the sale of the City’s delinquent tax receivables outstanding as of May 31, 1994 and April 1, 1995, respectively.

include amounts paid and expected to be paid to MAC by the State from sales tax receipts, stock transfer tax receipts and State per
4) cR:l;li‘t:: l;,le: :)themise payable by the State to the City. Pursuau_t to State statute, thcs;: revenues flow directly from the State to MAC, and ﬂo“l,) to
the City only to the extent not required by MAC for debt service, reserve fund requirements and for operating expenses. The City includes such
revenues as City revenues and reports the amount retained by MAC from such revenues as “MAC Debt Service Funding”, although the City has
no control over the statutory application of such revenues to the extent MAC requires them, Estimates of City “Debt Service” include, and
estimates of “MAC Debt Service Funding” are reduced by, payments by the City of debt service on City obligations held by MAC. Other Thxes
include transfers of net OTB revenues. Other Taxes for the 1992 fiscal year includes $1.5 million of Criminal Justice Fund revenues from the City
lottery. For further information regarding the City’s revenues from Other Taxes, see “SECTION IV: SOURCES OF CITy REVE Othe,
Taxes”. - . _ ‘ . NUES-~
al Fund surplus is the surplus after discretionary transfers and expenditures. The City had General Fund operating surpluses of
&) &eﬁﬁﬁfﬁ, $72 milliorxg, $371 miltion, $570 million and $27 million before discretionary transfers and expenditures for the 199g5, 1954, 1993,
1992 and 1991 fiscal years, respectively. -
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Forecast of 1996 Results

The following table compares the forecast for the 1996 fiscal year contained in the financial plan

submitted to the Control Board on July 11, 1995 (the “July 1995 Forecast”) with the Financial Plan published

on January 31, 1996 (the “January 1996 Forecast”). These forecasts were prepared on a basis consistent with
GAAP. This table should be read in conjunction with the “Actions to Close the Gaps” and “Assumptions”

below. For information regarding recent developments, see “SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL
DEVELOPMENTS”.

July January  Increase (Decrease)
1995 1996 from July 1995
Forecast Forecast Forecast
(In Millions)
REVENUES
Taxes - .
General Property Tax........coovvvvienaal, e, $ 7124 ¢ 7181 $ 570
Other Taxes............. et etea s teteaeanras 9,820 9,811 9'52;
Tax Audit Revenue .......covviininrveernnennnsns 653 647 ' 6;
Criminal Justice Fund .......... et ettt e, . 335 335 ' 0
Miscellaneous Revenues .......covvevevvnnnnennnn.. Creees 3,679 4,045 366 (3)
Unrestricted Intergovernmental Aid................. Creereas 549 574 25
Anticipated State ACtionS . ........covviiiiiiiiiiiieniniea., . 50 0 50
Anticipated Federal Actions ................... Crrveeraenens 75 .50 25
Inter-Fund Revenues ....... i Creeeernena 257 244 . (13
Less: Intra-City Revenues......oooivvvveennnnn.n. (667 (634 .33
Disallowances Against Categorical Grants ........... - (15 (15 0
Total City Funds....... et ererrrrea e, veeeeen. $21,860  $22,238 $ 378
Federal Categorical Grants ..... cerareens s . 3,670 4,405 735 (4
State Categorical Grants....................... Cereeeeenaa. 5,930 © 6,055 125 f4§
' Total Revenues .........ocoovvnvinennn... e $31,460  $32,698 $1,238
EXPENDITURES ’
Personal Service ..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii, ceeeeee. $15,679  $16,198 $ 519 (5
Other Than Personal Service..... e erreree e cevees 13,367 14,506 1,139 (6
Debt Service ......ovvriiiieaiiniiiiiiii, Ceerereniaen cee 2,604 2,301 “(303)(7
MAC Debt Service Funding.............. Ceeeertereeanen e 277 127 51503
" General Reserve ............ et e, . 200 - 200 0
' i $32,127  $33332  °$1,205
Less: Intra-City FXpenses .....ovvvivivriiirenininnrnenennnss (667) - (634) C 33
Total Expenditures.................... vedeennneee. $31,460  $32,698 $1,238
GAP TO BE CLOSED ............ S e . 30 $ o $ 0

(1) The forecasted increase in the property tax is primarily due to an increase in the estimated proceeds of the tax lien sale.

2) The forecasted decrease in Other Taxes is primarily due to a projected decrease in the personal incom: illi

@ projected decrease in the sales tax of $13 m?llion, a projected (P P come tax of $34 million, a
decreases in the mortgage recording and real properlz transfer taxes of $25 million, Offsetting these decreases are projected

increases in the general corporation tax of $14 million, $44 million in the banking corporation an unincorporated business taxes
- . td

and a net increase of $24 million in the forecast for the utility and all other tax revenues,

3)" The increase in miscellaneous revenue i rimarily due to a refunding by the Health and Hospitals Co . . .

¢ )”‘overpayments as well as the sale of WNR{C. o ! ) P s Lorporation of previous subsidy

4) The increase in Federal and State Categorical Grants is due in part to modifications to such grants that

@ 1995 to December 1995 as well as adjustments to the expendll:ure forecast. grants that were processed from July

5) The increase in the Personal Service forecast is primarily due to budget modifications processed from Jul 19

® increasing expenditures by’ $25 million, reallocation and timing of transitional labor savings of 3115 915 to December 1995

employee health insurance costs of $100 million, Department (of Correction uniform increments of $28 million, net Board of

Education expenditures of $134 million and Department of Social Services spending associated with increased headcount: for ﬂ(l)

New York City Way program of $28 million. e

The increase in the other than personal servie forecast is due in part to budget modifications that have. beel sed st

1995 and adjustments to the expenditure forecast offset by various reduction programs that have beep i:&g‘igﬁﬁ% S;irllxc:e Jttgz

July 1995 Forecast. L . o z ) .

7) The decrease in Debt Service costs in 1996 is due primarily to & combination of refunding savings of s -

™ refunding action of $25 million, asset sales of $120 million, ‘savings in short-term interest of $16 g‘;illioiligdrﬁllig?’di%ttl%?;tigg
decreases of $32 million. nd ot} :

(©)
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SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN

The following table sets forth the City’s projected operations on a basis consistent with GAAP for the
1996 through 1999 fiscal years as contained in the 1996-1999 Financial Plan. This table should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes, “Actions to Close the Gaps™ and “Assumptions”, below. For
information regarding recent developments, see “SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS”.

1996-1999
Fiscal Years(1)(2)
1996 1997 1998 1999
" (In Millions) T
REVENUES
Taxes
General Property Tax(3) ...ooveevverneennnninaiiiiinennns $ 7181 $ 7240 $ 7305 § 7473
Other TAXES(4) ..o tvrnnneernunaseorneensrceisseeennnes 9,811 10,319 10,765 11,264
Tax Audit REVENUE. .. vvvrvenenerirrrerienrareorsearnsnses 647 653 653 653
Criminal Justice Fund(5) ....covvvvnviiiiiiiniiiiiin, 335 — — —_
Tax Reduction Program(6) .........coievnieiiiiiiniane —_ (349) (860) (995)
Miscellaneous RevenueS ....ovvererrvieeeranenesnrnacassanss 4,045 3,353 3,171 3,127
Unrestricted Intergovernmental Aid ..........cooviiiinnian, 574 530 540 540
Inter-Fund Revenues(7) «...ovvvrvenenecnieniiiiiesnnnss 244 265 265 265
Anticipated Federal Actions ..........c.ooviiiiiniieeinne, 50 — — —
Less: Intra-City Revenues ........coovvnrneiiiininie.. (634) (676) (676) (675)
Disallowances Against Categorical Grants ............. (15) (15) (15) (15)
Total City Funds .....ooovvvviiiinnniiiinn, $22,238 $21,320 $21,148 $21,637
Federal Categorical Grants ...........oooveeiiiinenaiiannns 4,405 3,579 3,545 3,551
State Categorical Grants ...........ooviiiiiiiiiiniennen.. 6,055 6,032 6,092 6,158
Total REVENUES ... evveereernererssnsenesasennsonns $32,698 $30,931 $30,785 $31,346
EXPENDITURES
Personal Service(B) ... oveuvevrrnmrirrieeeniiiiiiiens $16,198 $16,343 $17,070 $17,961
Other Than Personal Service ........ooevviviieiiiiiiien.. 14,506 13,825 14,110 14,379
Debt SEIVICE(4) «uvvrrrnnveesnnriireranieiraiieeiienins 2,301 2,931 2,995 3,106
MAC Debt Service Funding(4) .....coovvvvniiinn.ns e 127 343 409 438
General RESEIVE «.vvvcvvrrrreeanreeisssseeiiiestnnaasanacs 200 200 200 200
Total EXPEnditures ....o.evvvrvveiiiiieeiinaninase $33,332  $33,642 $34,784 $36,084
Less: Intra-City EXPEnses. ... .oeeaireenneeeaniiiianeaees (634) (676) (676) (675)
Net Total Expenditures .....c.evvveeraniieiirieens $32,698 $32,966 $34,108 $35,409
GAP TO BE CLOSED .1 vveeevunerenreessussssneesiineesencaesns $ — $(2,035) $(3,323) $(4,063)
CITY GAP-CLOSING PROGRAM ...\vvvniiinniniineennieeenns $ — $2035 $169% $ 1,571
REMAINING GAP . .vvvecennnrrannsssanssernnsmaneaeesiusonnes $ — $ — $(1,627) $(2,492)

_vear financial plan for the 1995 through 1998 fiscal years, as submitted to the Control Board on July 8, 1994, contained the
1) 'fl(')fiﬁ,g)i\:‘r y ojections fo}: the 1995-1998 ﬁscal(SyeaFS:' (i) for 13,95, total revenues of $31.635 billion and total expenditures of $31.365
billion; (ii) for 1996, total revenues of $31.561 billion and total expenditures of $33.026 billion with a gap to be closed of $1.465
billion: (iif) for 1997, total revenues of $31.922 billion and total expenditures of $33.913 billion with a gap to be closed of $1.991
bil]ionz and (iv) for 1998, total revenues of $32.582 billion and total expenditures of $35.002 billion with a gap to be closed of $2.420
billion.
r-vear financial plan for the 1994 throu 1997 years, as submitted to the Control Board on August 30, 1993, contained the
:(%Ileo f‘;lol‘tll V! roje ct?gns ff,’r the 1994-1997 fisca gears: (i) for 1994, total revenues of $31,247 billion and total expenditures of
§31.247 'Hi on; (u) for 1995, total revenues of $31.141 billion and total expenditures of $32.416 billion, with a gap to be closed of
$1.275 billion; (iii) for 1996, total revenues of $31.986 billion and total expenditures of $33.756 billion, with a gap to be closed of
$1:770 billion; gw; for 1997, total revenues of $32.831 billion and total expenditures of $34.756 billion with a gap to be closed of
$2.022 billion.

~vear financial plan for the 1993 through 1996 fiscal years, as submitted to the Control Board on June 11, 1992, contained
'tI‘htLe ff(;)l?(:vying proj ectiorgs for the 1993-1996 fiscal years; ﬁ!) or 1993, total revenues of $29.508 billion and total expenditures of
$29.508 billion; (i1 for 1994, total revenues of $29.895 billion and total expenditures of $31.492 billion, with a gap to be closed of
b5 37 billion; (ii)ifor 1995, total revenues of $30395 billion and total expenditures of $32.092 billion, with a gap to be closed of
$1‘697 billion, %iv;: for 1996, total revenues of $31.430 billion and total expenditures of $33.676 billion with a gap to be closed of

$2.246 billion.

(footnotes continued on next page)
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(footnotes continued from previous page)

(2) The Financial Plan combines thei—;)ﬁerating revenues and expenditures of the City, BOE and CUNY. The Financial Plan does not
include the total operations of HHC, but does include the City’s subsidy to HHC and the City’s share of HHC revenues and
expenditures related to HHC’s role as a Medicaid provider. Certain Covered Organizations and PBCs which provide governmental
services to the City, such as the Transit Authority, are scparately constituted and their revenues (other than net OTB revenues), are
not included in the Financial Plan; however, City subsidies and certain other payments to these organizations are included,
Revenues and expenditures are presented net of intra-City items, which are revenues and expenditures arising from transactions

between City agencies.
(3) Includes $147 million for the sale of real property tax liens in fiscal year 1996, a transaction which will be repeated annually.

(4) Revenués include amounts paid and expected to be paid to MAC by the State from sales tax receipts, stock transfer tax receipts and
- State per capita aid otherwise payable by the State to the City. Pursuant to State statute, these revenues flow directly from the State
to MAC, and flow to the City only to the extent not required by MAC for debt service, reserve fund requirements and operatin
expenses. The City includes such revenues as City revenues and reports the amount retained by MAC from such revenues as é
Debt Service Funding”, although the City has no control over the statutory ap lication of such revenues to the extent MAC
requires them. Estimates of City “Debt Service” include, and estimates of * ﬁAC Debt Service Funding” are reduced
anticipated payments by the City of debt service on City obligations held by MAC. Other Taxes include transfers of net O'tl%

revenues.
(5) Criminal Justice Fund revenues comprise $150 million from the general property tax receipts projected for the 1996 fiscal vear
) $185 million projected to be received from personal income tgx for the 1%96tyﬁscal yea?. pros year, and
(6) Tax Reduction Program includes (i) the elimination of the 12,5% personal income tax surcharge when it expires, at a
$171 million in the 1997 fiscal year, g§47 million in the 1998 fiscal Year and $478 million in the 1999 fiscal year, ’g’l) the elimi(ilO:tti(?tf
of the Citg sales tax on items of clothing under $500, at a cost of $135 million in the 1997 fiscal year, $267 million in the 1998 fiscal
year and $275 million in the 1999 fiscal year, and (jii) reform of the business taxes, a further réduction of the commercial rent tax
- rate, exem‘Ption of certain intra-family transfers of real property from the real propert; transfer tax, and elimination of the vault
charge and the tax on coin operated amusement devices, totaling $43 million in the 1997 fiscal year, $146 million in the 1998 fiscal

year, and $242 million in the 1999 fiscal year.
7) Inter-fund revenues represent General Fund expenditures, properly includable in the Capital Budget, mad
? Capital Projects Fund pursuant to inter-fund agreements. - Y i udget, made on behalf of the
8) For an explanation of projected expenditures for personal service costs, see “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FIN, —
® Assumptions—Expenditure Assumptions—1. PERSONAL SERVICE COSTS”. : ANCIAL PLAN

Actions to Close. the Gaps .

‘The 1996-1999 Financial Plan reflects.a program of proposed actions to eliminate the gap between
projected revenues and expenditures of $2.0 billion for the 1997 fiscal year and to reduce the gaps between
projected revenues and expenditures of $3.3 billion and $4.1 billion for the 1998 and 1999 fiscal years,
respectively. These actions include additional agency spending reductions, reduction in entitlements, State
and Federal aid, privatization initiatives, and the assumed receipt of revenues relating to rent payments for
the City’s airports, which are currently the subject of ‘a dispute with the Port Authority. The City is also
preparing a $200 million contingency agency reduction program for the 1997 fiscal year.

Various actions proposed in the Financial Plan are subject to approval by the Governor and the State
Legislature and the Federal government. Reductions in entitlement expenditures will depend to a significant
extent on the ultimate resolution of State and Federal budget proposals currently being considered. No
assurance can be given that such actions will in fact be taken or that the savings that the City projects will
result from these actions will be realized. See “SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS”. If these
measures cannot be implemented, the City will be required to take other actions to decrease expenditures or
increase revenues to maintain a balanced financial plan. See “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—
Certain Reports”, “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions” and “SECTION IX: OTHER
INFORMATION—Ratings”. :

The City’s projected budget gaps for the 1998 and 1999 fiscal years do not reflect the savings expected to
result from prior years’ programs to close the gaps set forth in the Financial Plan, Thus, for example
recurring savings anticipated from the actions which the City proposes to take to balance the fiscal year 1997’
budget are not taken into account in projecting the budget gaps for the 1998 and 1999 fisca] years.

In connection with the Financial Plan, the City has c:)utlined a separate gap-closing program for the 1998
and 1999 fiscal years to substantially reduce the remaining $1.6 billion and $2.5 billion projected budget gaps
for such fiscal years. This program, which is not specified in detail, assumes additional agency reducgticl))n
programs to reduce expenditures by $660 million and $560 million in the 1998 and 1999 fiscal years
respectively; additional reductions in entitlement cost of $150 million and $300 million in the 1998 and 1999
fiscal years, respectively; additional savings of $250 million and $450 million in the 1998 and 1999 fiscal years,
respectively, resulting from restructuring City government by consolidating operations, privatization anci
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mandate management and other initiatives; additional asset sales of $200 million and $300 million in the
1998 and 1999 fiscal years, respectively; and the availability in each of the 1998 and 1999 fiscal years of $100
million of the General Reserve.

Although the City has maintained balanced budgets in each of its last fifteen fiscal years, and is
projected to achieve balanced operating results for the 1996 fiscal year, there can be no assurance that the
gap-closing actions proposed in the Financial Plan can be successfully implemented or that the City will
maintain a balanced budget in future years without additional State aid, revenue increases or expenditure
reductions. Additional tax increases and reductions in essential City services could adversely affect the City’s
economic base.

Assumptions

The 1996-1999 Financial Plan is based on numerous assumptions, including the condition of the City’s
and the region’s economy and a modest employment recovery and the concomitant receipt of economically
sensitive tax revenues in the amounts projected. The 1996-1999 Financial Plan is subject to various other
uncertainties and contingencies relating to, among other factors, the extent, if any, to which wage increases
for City employees exceed the annual wage costs assumed for the 1996 through 1999 fiscal years; continua-
tion of interest earnings assumptions for pension fund assets and current assumptions with respect to wages
for City employees affecting the City’s required pension fund contributions; the willingness and ability of the
State, in the context of the State’s current financial condition, to provide the aid contemplated by the
Financial Plan and to take various other actions to assist the City, including the proposed entitlement
spending reductions; the ability of HHC, BOE and other such agencies to maintain balanced budgets; the
willingness of the Federal government to provide the amount of Federal aid contemplated in the Financial
Plan; adoption of the City’s budgets by the City Council in substantially the forms submitted by the Mayor;
the ability of the City to implement proposed reductions in City personnel and other cost reduction
initiatives, and the success with which the City controls expenditures; the impact of conditions in the real
estate market on reil estate tax revenues; approval by MAC of the projected receipt of funds from MAC; the
City’s ability to market its securities successfully in the public credit markets; and unanticipated expenditures
that may be incurred as a result of the need to maintain the City’s infrastructure. See “SECTION I: RECENT
FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS”. Certain of these assumptions have been questioned by the City Comptroller
and other public officials. See “SECTION VIL: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Certain Reports”.

On June 7, 1995, the State adopted its Budget for the State’s 1996 fiscal year, commencing April 1, 1995.
Prior to adoption of the budget the State had projected a potential budget gap of approximately $5 billion for
its 1996 fiscal year. This gap is projected to be closed in the 1995-1996 State Financial Plan based on the
enacted budget, through a series of actions, mainly spending reductions and cost containment measures and
certain reestimates that are expected to be recurring, but also through the use of one-time solutions. The
State Financial Plan projects (i) nearly $1.6 billion in savings from cost containment, disbursement reesti-
mates, and other savings in social welfare programs, including Medicaid, income maintenance and various
child and family care programs; (i) $2.2 billion in savings from State agency actions to reduce spending on
the State workforce, SUNY and CUNY, mental hygiene programs, capital projects, the prison system and
fringe benefits; (iii) $300 million in savings from local assistance reforms, including actions affecting school
aid and revenue sharing while proposing program legislation to provide relief from certain mandates that
increase local spending; (iv) over $400 million in revenue measures, primarily a new Quick Draw Lottery
game, changes to tax payment schedules, and the sale of assets; and (v) $300 million from reestimates in

receipts.
On January 30, 1996, the State issued an update to the 1995-1996 State Financial Plan. These projec-
tions show continued balance in the State’s 1995-1996 Financial Plan.

A significant risk to the State’s projections arises from tax legislation under consideration by Congress
and the President. Congressionally—adopted retroactive changes to Federal tax treatment of capital gains
would flow through automatically to the State persor}al income tax. Such changes, if ultimately enacted,
could produce revenue Josses in both the 1995-1.996. fiscal year and the 1996-1997 fiscal year. In addition,
changes in Federal aid programs, currently pending in Congress, could result in prolonged interruptions in
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the receipt of Federal grants. According to the State Division of the Budget, the major remaining uncertain-
ties in the 1995-1996 State Financial Plan continue to:be those related to the economy and tax collections,
which could produce either favorable or unfavorable variances during the balance of the year.

The Governor presented his 1996-1997 Executive Budget to the Legislature on December 15, 1995, and
subsequently amended it. The Legislature and the Comptroller will review the Governor’s Executive Budget
and are expected to comment on it. There can be no assurance that the Legislature will enact the Executive
Budget into law, or that the State’s adopted budget projections will not differ materially and adversely from
the projections set forth in the Executive Budget. :

The Governor’s Executive Budget projects balance on a cash basis in the General Fund. It reflects a
continuing strategy of substantially reduced State spending, including program restructurings, reductions in
social welfare spending, and efficiency and productivity initiatives. Total General Fund receipts and transfers
from other funds are projected to be $31.3 billion, a decrease of $1.4 billion from total receipts projected in
the current fiscal year. Total General Fund disbursements and transfers to other funds are projected to be
$31.2 billion, a decrease of $1.5 billion from spending totals projected for the current fiscal year.

The 1996-1997 Executive Budget proposes $3.9 billion in actions to balance the-1996-97 State Financial
Plan. The Executive Budget proposes to close this gap primarily through a series of spending reductions and
cost: containment measures. The Executive Budget projects (i) over. $1.8 billion in savings from cost
containment and other actions in social welfare programs, including Medicaid, welfare and various health
and mental health programs; (ii) $1.3 billion in savings from a reduced State General Fund share of
Medicaid made available from anticipated changes in the Medicaid program, including an increase in the
Federal share of Medicaid; (iii) over $450 million in savings from reforms and cost avoidance in educational
services (including school aid and higher education), while providing fiscal relief from certain State man-
dates that increase local spending; and (iv) $350 million in savings from efficiencies and reductions in other
State programs. The State has noted that there is considerable uncertainty as to the ultimate composiﬁon of
the Federal budget, including uncertainties regarding major Federal entitlement reforms. The 1996-1997
Executive Budget seeks to lessen the effect of the proposed cuts on localities by granting certain mandate
relief to permit them to exercise greater flexibility in allocating their resources. However, no assurance can
be given as to the amount of savings which the City might realize from any of the Medicaid cost containment
or welfare reform measures proposed in the Executive Budget or the size of any reductions in State aid to the
City. Depending upon the amount of such savings or the size of any such reduction in State aid, the City
might be required to make substantial additional changes in the Financial Plan. .

The State Division of the Budget has noted that the economic and financial condition of the State may
be affected by various financial, social, economic and political factors. Those factors can be very complex
can vary from fiscal year to fiscal year, and are frequently the result of actions taken not only by the State but’
also by entities, such as the Federal government, that are outside the State’s control. Because of the
uncertainty and unpredictability of changes in these factors, their impact cannot be fully included in the
assumptions underlying the State’s projections. There can be no assurance that the State economy will not
experience results that are worse than predicted, with corresponding material and adverse effects on the
State’s financial projections.

To make progress toward addressing recurring budgetary imbalances, the 1996-97 Executive Budget
proposes significant actions to align recurring receipts and disbursements in future fiscal years. However
there can be no assurance that the Legislature will enact the Governor’s proposals or that the State’s actions
will be sufficient to preserve budgetary balance or to align recurring receipts and disbursements in future
fiscal years. The 1996-1997 Executive Budget includes actions that will have an impact on receipts and
disbursements in future fiscal years. The net impact of these actions is expected to produce a potential
imbalance in State fiscal year 1997-98 of $1.4 billion and in the 1998-99 fiscal year of $2.5 billion, assumin
implementation of the 1996-97 Executive Budget recommendations. It is expected that the Go‘;emor wﬂgl
propose to close these budget gaps with future spending reductions.

Uncertainties with regard to b.oth the economy and potential decisions at the Federal level add further
pressure on future budget balance in New York St.ate_. FOI e)'(ample, various proposals relating to Federal tax
and spending policies could, if enacted, have a significant impact on the State’s financial condition in the
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current and future fiscal years. Specifically, the assumption of $1.3 billion in savings in the State fiscal year
1996-97 from a reduced State General Fund share of Medicaid is contingent upon anticipated changes to
Federal provisions, including an increase in the Federal share of Medicaid from 50 to 60 percent. Other
budget and tax proposals under consideration at the Federal level but not included in the State’s 1996-1997
Executive Budget forecast could also have a disproportionately negative impact on the longer-term outlook
for the State’s economy as compared to other states.

The State’s Annual Information Statement, updates, and supplements may be obtained by contacting
the Division of the Budget, State Capital, Albany, NY 12224, Tel: (518) 473-3732.

In the State’s 1996 fiscal year and in certain recent fiscal years, the State has failed to enact a budget
prior to the beginning of the State’s fiscal year. A delay in the adoption of the State’s budget beyond the
statutory April 1 deadline could delay the projected receipt by the City of State aid, and there can be no
assurance that State budgets in future fiscal years will be adopted by the April 1 statutory deadline. In the
event that a State budget is not adopted by the statutory deadline of April 1, 1996, temporary spending
measures may be adopted by the State pending the adoption of a Federal budget.

On January 13, 1992, Standard & Poor’s reduced its ratings on the State’s general obligation bonds from
Ato A— and, in addition, reduced its ratings on the State’s moral obligation, lease purchase, guaranteed and
contractual obligation debt. Standard & Poor’s also continued its negative rating outlook assessment on
State general obligation debt. On April 26, 1993, Standard & Poor’s revised the rating outlook assessment to
stable. On February 14, 1994, Standard & Poor’s raised its outlook to positive and, on October 3, 1995,
confirmed its A- rating. On January 6, 1992, Moody’s reduced its ratings on outstanding limited-liability
State lease purchase and contractual obligations from A to Baal. On October 2, 1995, Moody’s reconfirmed
its A rating on the State’s general obligation long-term indebtedness.

The projections and assumptions contained in the 1996-1999 Financial Plan are subject to revision
which may involve substantial change, and no assurance can be given that these estimates and projections,
which include actions which the City expects will be taken but which are not within the City’s control, will be
realized. The principal projections and assumptions described below are based on information available in
February 1996. For information regarding certain recent developments, see “SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL

DEVELOPMENTS”.

Revenue Assumptions

1. GENERAL ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

The Financial Plan assumes that after noticeable improvements in the City’s economy during calendar
year 1994 and a slowing of economic growth in calendar year 1995, economic growth will continue to slow in
calendar year 1996, with local employment increasing modestly. This assumption is based on continuing
stable monetary policy and progress on Federal deficit reduction. However, there can be no assurance that
the economic projections assumed in the Financial Plan will occur or that the tax revenues projected in the
Financial Plan to be received will be received in the amounts anticipated.
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The following table presents a forecast of the key economic indicators for the calendar years 1995
through 1999. This forecast is based upon information available in February 1996.

FORECAST OF KEY ECONOMIC INDICATORS
Calendar Years

U.S. ECONOMY 1995 199% 1997 1998 1999
Economic Activity and Income
Real GDP (billions of 1987 dollars).................... 5,518.8 56583 58049 15,9602 6,101.7
Percent Change....... e es e, 33 2.5 2.6 2.7 24
Pre-tax Corporate Profits ($ billions)................... 565.5 588.7 614.6 6374 673.8
Percent Change......covcvvivviiininiiniiinennn... 7.8 4.1 4.4 3.7 5.7
Personal Income ($ billions) ............covevvvvinnnen 6,050.9 6,348.5 6,6428 6,956.0 7,295.1
Percent Change...........oooviiviiiiiiiiniinnea, 6.1 4.9 46 47 4.9
Non-Agricultural Employment (millions) ............... 1166 1187 1206 - 1227 1245
Change From Prior Year ...........covvvvviniint 2.6 21 19 2.1 1.8
Unemployment Rate .........cocoviiiiiiiiiniinininna. 5.6 5.6 58 59 6.0
CPI-All Urban (1982-84=100) ......ccvvvvienernnnnnnns 1526 1570 1615 1663 1714
Percent Change...............ccoiviiiiiniinnnnn, 2.9 29 29 3.0 3.1
3Month T-Bill Rate........covvviiiiiiiiiiiniiin., 55 5.1 4.9 4.9 4.9
CITY ECONOMY ’ o o :
Personal Income ($ billions) ............ccoeevvviinnn.., 2201 2299 . 2383 2483 2594
Percent Change.................. erreeeereeenr) 62 44 37 42 4.5
Non-Agricultural Employment (thousands) .......... e 33139 33216 33406 3,357.9 33754
Change From Prior Year............c.cv....... aes 9.4 76 190 17.3 17.5
Real Gross City Product (billions of 1987 dollars) ...... 2372 2435 2473 2538  260.1
Percent Change........ et e 5.4 2.7 1.5 2.6 25
CPI-All Urban NY-NJ Area ' _
(1982-84=100) ... covvnviiirniiiniiriinnrnnannnas 1622 1668 1715 1764 1816
Percent Change..........covvviiviiiiiniin.., ces 2.5 2.8 2.8 2.9 2.9

SOURCE:  OMB model for the City economy.

2. REAL ESTATE TAX
- Projections of real estate tax revenues are based on a number of assumptions, including, among others
assumptions relating to the tax rate, the assessed valuation of the City’s taxable real estate, the delinquenc;
rate, debt service needs, a reserve for uncollectible taxes and the operating limit. See “SEcTION TV: SOURCES
OF CiTY REVENUES—Real Estate Tax”. ' _

The delinquency rate for the 1995 fiscal year was 4.84%. The 1996-1999 Financial Plan projects
delinquency rates of 4.46%, 4.33%, 4.21% and 4.15%, respectivély, for the 1996 through 1999 fiscal years
For information concerning the delinquency rates for prior years, see “SECTION TV SOURCES oF CITY
REVENUES—Real Estate Tax—Collection of the Real Estate Tax”. For a description of proceedings seckin
real estate tax refunds from the City, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—-—Litigation—Taxes” #
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3. OTHER TAXES

The following table sets forth amounts of revenues (net of refunds) from taxes other than the real estate
tax projected to be received by the City in the 1996-1999 Financial Plan. The amounts set forth below include
projected tax program revenues and excludes the Criminal Justice Fund and audit revenues.

1996 1997 1998 1999

o ™ (In Millions) -
Personal Income(1) ....ovvnveeieniiaieriiiinnnnnienes $3,557 $ 3,937 §$ 4174 § 4419
General Corporation ........cooeeerarernniiiiiecenens 1,111 1,119 1,103 1,107
Banking COrporation ..........oeeeeeeruernneaneeniaee 329 348 350 364
Unincorporated Business Income .............oovevene 437 475 532 598
T P S R R R Y 2,700 2,798 2,929 3,052
Commercial Rent.......ocviieeiererineineaeneaeanns 529 414 416 434
Real Property Transfer.........oooveeeeiiinniiiianns 177 191 203 212
Mortgage Recording......oooveeviieineceiinniennnn, 153 167 178 187
16711 11 i X RATTTEETIRER 209 214 221 224
All Other(2). e e evevvvrerreeesnnaeeisninneenacesisnues 609 656 659 667
g 105 R R ELIREEEY $9,811 $10,319 $10,765 $11,264

(1) Personal Income excludes amounts to be paid to the Criminal Justice Fund of $185 million in the 1996 fiscal year. Personal Income
includes revenues which would be generated by extension of the 14% personal income tax surcharge beyond calendar year 1997
and extension of the 12.5% personal income tax surcharge beyond calendar year 1996, resulting in revenues aggregating to
$171 million, $555 million and $902 million in the 1997, 1998 and 1999 fiscal {ears, respectively, and the Personal Income

projections assume renewal of both surcharges, which requires enactment of State legislation. However, the Ci%is proposing the

elimination of the 12.5% personal income tax surcharge when it expires at a cost of $171 million in fiscal year 1997, $447 million in
fiscal year 1998 and $478 million in fiscal year 1999.

(2) All Other includes, among others, stock transfer tax, the OTB net revenues, cigarette, beer and liquor taxes, the hotel tax and the
automobile use tax. Stock transfer tax is $114 million in each of the 1996 through 1999 fiscal years.

The 1996-1999 Financial Plan reflects the following assumptions regarding projected baseline revenues
from Other Taxes: (i) with respect to personal income tax revenues, growth in income in fiscal year 1996 due
in part to improvement in profits on Wall Street in calendar year 1995, which will moderate in fiscal year
1997, and no change in the Federal tax treatment of capital gains; (i) with respect to the general corporation
tax, slowing growth in the outlook for the manufacturing, trade and business service sectors, and a rebound
in securities industry payments in fiscal year 1996, which will moderate in fiscal year 1997 and the outyears,
and the impact of limited liability company legislation which will reduce the number of corporate entities
over time; (iii) with respect to the banking corporation tax, modest growth in liability estimates especially by
the clearinghouse banks in a stable interest rate environment; (iv) with respect to the unincorporated
business tax, continued growth in net income of unincorporated businesses and an increase in the number of
business entities subject to this tax as a result of the impact of limited liability companies; (v) with respect to
the sales tax, a slowdown in consumer spending in fiscal year 1996, moderate economic growth in fiscal year
1997 and improved wage income starting in fiscal year 1998; (vi) with respect to the mortgage recording and
real property transfer taxes, moderate growth in the 1996 fi§cal year reflecting fewer residential transactions
and little improvement in prices, followed by stre_ngth resulting from improved affordability in the residential
market, and growth in asking rents and declines in vacancy rates in the commercial market; (vii) with respect
to the commercial rent tax, improved occupancy and higher rentals but growth in revenue more than offset

in fiscal year 1997 due to increases in the exemption threshhold, elimination of the tax outside Manhattan,
and a 25% reduction in the tax in Manhattan, and partially offset in fiscal year 1998 by additional anticipated
tax reductions; and (viii) with respect to the All Other category, the current general economic forecast. The
1996-1999 Financial Plan also assumes the timely extension by the State Legislature of the current rate
structures for the non-resident earnings tax, for the resident personal income tax, for the general corporation
tax, for the two special sales taxes and for the cigarette tax. Legislation extending these taxes to Decem-

ber 31, 1997 has been enacted.
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4. MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES :
The following table sets forth amounts of miscellaneous revenues projected to be received by the City in
the 1996-1999 Financial Plan.
1996 1997 1998 1999

T "{n Millions)

Licenses, Permits and Franchises ..........0ovvevevnenn.n. $ 233 $ 222 $ 222 §$ 222
Interest INCOME . ...ovveieirii e iieiie e irrnenrnrnnennn,s 88 77 77. 78
Charges for Services ........veviiviniiriiiininniennnenn. 410 409 408 408
Water and Sewer Payments(1).............ovvniiennn.., 604 595 594 591
Rental Income.....ovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e, 128 179 100 96
Fines and Forfeitures ..........c..coovvviinvinnneinnn.n, 415 420 418 417
Other .. i i i e 1,533 775 676 640
Intra-City Revenues.........c..oveevviiiiiiiiniiinniinnn.. 634 676 676 675

Total..ooiriiiii i e e $4,045 $3,353 $3,171 $3,127

(1) Recelveg of‘rlg%egl;: gggzl B;)naédl&igg; cfil;]rgth;:o]gnrf:r;?’l?mn regarding the Water Board, see “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL

The 1996-1999 Financial Plan projects that aggregate miscellaneous revenues categories will remain
relatively stable with offsetting increases and declines. Other revenues in the 1996 fiscal year include $407
million from the sale of the water and sewer system to the New York City Water Board and $207 million for
the sale of WNYC. For a description of the proposed sale of the City’s water and sewer system, see
“SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Long-Term Capital and Financing Program”,

5. UNRESTRICTED INTERGOVERNMENTAL AID

The following table sets forth amounts of unrestricted intergovernmental aid projected to be received
by the City in the 1996-1999 Financial Plan.

1996 1997 1998 : 1999

T UnMilions)

State Revenue Sharing...........coovviiiiiiiineiiiiiinninn,... $315 $315 $315 $315
Other Aid...........0u0u0s ettt e e et e e iraaeaeas 259 215 225 225
Total coovvviiiiiiiiiiiiii i L $574  $530 $540 $540

The “Other Aid” category mainly consists of $9 million annually of the Consolidated Local Highway
Assistance Program aid, approximately $120 to $142 million from aid associated with the State takeover of
long-term care Medicaid costs, $27 million annually of recoupment for welfare clients who were originally
denied disability assistance, $35 million from New York State fraud audits, and $12 million in 1996 for prior
year claims settlements.

 The receipt of State Revenue Shariﬁg funds could be affected by potential prior claims asserted by the
State. For information concerning recent shortfalls in projected State tax revenues and the possible impact
on State aid to the City, see “SECI'ION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—ASssumptions”,
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6. FEDERAL AND STATE CATEGORICAL GRANTS

The following table sets forth amounts of Federal and State categorical grants projected to be received

by the City in the 1996-1999 Financial Plan.
}222 1997 1998 1999

~(In Millions) -

Federal
TJTPA o ooveeteeereenarasoensnessasasanensassrnsssnss $ 106 $ 8 $ 84 §$ 84
Community Development(1) ......cooiiieeeeeeeennns 351 277 277 277
WEIEATE & v e vvvrrnevrrensnacnssssoionarnsnssssenensans 2,410 2,261 2223 2,225
EdUCAtION « o v v vvvevvnenrcensnasaresncsesscatnsnonns 849 745 745 745
OthET v v v vevreenresansnssnsessrosassessrenssarsasons 689 212 216 220
TOLAL. o e v ereeeenenenrnaneertasaorsaasasnsasssnos $4,405 $3,579 $3,545 $3,551
State
WWELEATE v v v vevveenevssnecssssssennsanssosasnnsenavans $1,610 $1,657 $1,629 $1,632
EdUCAtION « v v v vvevvrrreernronorssnetssrssonsrananenss 3,757 3,726 3,819 3,869
Higher Education .........ccoovecviiiniaiinunaerene 154 154 154 154
Health and Mental Health............cocoviiiennne 250 251 251 251
(01175 ST T T TR 284 244 239 252
T ) D T T $6,055 $6,032 $6,092 $6,158

(1) This amount represents the projected annual level of new funds. Unspent Community Development grants from prior fiscal years
could increase the amount actually received.

The 1996-1999 Financial Plan assumes that all existing Federal and State categorical grant programs
will continue, unless specific legislation provides for their termination or adjustment, and assumes increases
in aid where increased costs are projected for existing grant programs. For information concerning recent
shortfalls in projected State tax revenues and the possible impact on State aid to the City, see “SECTION VILI:
1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions”.

A major component of Federal categorical aid to the City is the Community Development program.
Pursuant to Federal legislation, Community Development grants are provided to cities primarily to aid low
and moderate income persons by improving housing facilities, parks and other capital improvements, by
providing certain social programs and by promoting economic development. These grants are based on a
formula that takes into consideration such factors as population, housing overcrowding and poverty.

As of November 30, 1995, approximately 11.39% of the City’s full-time employees (consisting of
employees of the mayoral agencies and BOE) were paid by JTPA funds, Community Development funds and
from other sources not funded by unrestricted revenues of the City.

The City’s receipt of categorical aid is contingent upon the satisfaction of certain statutory conditions
and is subject to subsequent audits, possible disallowances and possible prior claims by the State or Federal
governments. The general practice of the State and Federal governments has been to deduct the amount of
any disallowances against the current year’s payment. It may be legally possible for substantial disallowances
of aid claims to be asserted during the course of the 1996-1999 Financial Plan. The amounts of such
disallowances attributable to prior years declined from $124 million in the 1977 fiscal year to $11 million in
the 1995 fiscal year. This decrease reflects favorable experience with the level of disallowances in recent
years, which may not continue. As of June 30, 1995, the City had an accumulated reserve of $208 million for
future disallowances of categorical aid.

The U.S. House of Representatives and the Senate are still at an impasse with the President on a plan to
balance the budget by 2002. This stalemate has led to a lack of consensus on most agency appropriations for
the 1996 Federal fiscal year, which began on October 1, 1995. On January 6, 1996, the President signed two
targeted appropriation bills, which will. keep gertain essential government services functioning for the rest of
the year. On January 26, 1996 the President sngped another of a series of Continuing Resolutions (HR 2880)
that will provide appropriations for other services at reduced levels until March 15, 1996 or until there is a
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budget agreement. Programs most significantly at risk to the City as a result of the short-term funding are the
Ryan White CARE Act, AFDC, Federal Housing Programs and Head Start. Most of these programs are
currently being funded at the lowest of the House, Senate, or the 1995 Federal fiscal year appropriations
levels. The Congress is considering passage of another Continuing Resolution, beginning March 16, at the
same levels for the rest of the year. This would affect the programs previously mentioned, as well as Federal
education programs which would be funded, in most cases, at the levels appropriated by the House.

On January 9, 1996, the President vetoed Congress’ welfare reform legislation (HR 4). HR 4 would have
reduced projected welfare spending by at least $58 billion over seven years and made substantial changes to a
number of Federally funded programs, most importantly AFDC. In an effort to break the deadlock, the
National Governor’s Association produced policy statements, which they hoped would lead to a welfare bill
acceptable to Congress and the President. The Governors’ proposal attempts to address some of the arcas
that Democrats, including the President, have criticized as too harsh.

Expenditure Assumptions

1. PERSONAL SERVICE COSTS :
The following table sets forth projected expenditures for personal service costs contained in the
1996-1999 Financial Plan.

L% 1Y w1

. (In Milli —
Wages and Salaries ..........oooviiiiiiiiiiiiia,,, $11,769  $11,512 £11]i),630 $11,722
Pensions .......cooovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiin i, 1,516 1,581 1,570 1,507
Other Fringe Benefits .........cocovvviinineennnnnn.. 2,828 3,030 3,180 3.363
Reserve for Collective Bargaining(t).................. 85 220 690 1369
o] ) $16,198 $16,343 $17,070 $17,961

(1) The Reserve for Collective Bargaining provides funding for prospective labor settlements for all agencies.

The-1996-1999 Financial Plan projects that the authorized number of City-funded employees whose
salaries are paid directly from City funds, as opposed to Federal or State funds, will decrease from an
estimated level of 204,375 on June 30, 1996 to an estimated level of 202,947 by June 30, 1999, before
implementation of the gap closing program outlined in the Financial Plan, ’ ’

Contracts with all of the City’s municipal unions expired in the 1995 and 1996 fiscal years. In November
1995, the City announced a tentative settlement with unions representing approximately two-third$ of the
City’s workforce. The Financial Plan reflects the costs of the tentative settlements and assumes similar
increases for all other City-funded employees. For additional information and a discussion of the rejection of
the settlement by certain members of the UFT, see “SECTION I: RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS—
Collective Bargaining Agreements”.

The terms of wage settlements could be determined through the impasse procedure in the New York
City Collective Bargaining Law, which can impose a binding settlement. Legislation passed in February 1996
will place collective bargaining matters relating to police and firefighters, including impasse proczzjin S
under the jurisdiction of the State Public Employment Relations Board (“PERB”), instead of the New Yo%k’
City Office of Collective Bargaining (“OCB”). OCB considers wage levels of municipal employees in simil
cities in the United States in reaching its determinations, while PERB’s determinations take into accoua:
wage levels in both private and public employment in comparable communities, particularly within the Statn
In addition, PERB can approve only two-year contracts, unlike OCB which can approve longer contra te.
For these reasons, among others, PERB jurisdiction could result in labor settlements which impose hi Cts.
costs on the City than those reached under existing procedures. On January 23,1996, the City request dgil}fr
Office of Collective Bargaining to declare impasse against the PBA and the ,UFA, In agdi tio'e e
February 29, 1996, the City commenced an action inf the State Supreme Court seeking a decla;l’t on
judgment confirming that OCB, rather than PERB, Hhas jurisdiction over collective bargaining m:ttzg

relating to police.
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The Financial Plan includes $511 million in the 1996 fiscal year, $489 million in the 1997 fiscal year and
$200 million in the 1998 fiscal year for transitional savings initiatives developed in conjunction with the municipal
Jabor unions. On November 17, 1995, the City and union leadership announced agreement on $476 million in
such savings in the 1996 fiscal year, $489 million in the 1997 fiscal year and $200 million in savings in the 1998
fiscal year based on the tentative settlement with unions representing approximately two-thirds of the City’s
workforce. For a discussion of the rejection of the settlement by certain members of the UFT, see “SECTION I:
RECENT FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS—Collective Bargaining Agreements.” Of the $476 million that has been
identified, $200 million will result from health program savings, $150 million from reduced pension contributions,
$81 million from a one-time reduction of welfare fund contributions which will be paid by the City in fiscal year
2000 and $40 million from payroll and fringe benefit savings associated with early retirement.

For a discussion of the City’s pension costs, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Pension Sys-
tems” and “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Note R”.

2. OTHER THAN PERSONAL SERVICE COSTS
The following table sets forth projected OTPS expenditures contained in the 1996-1999 Financial Plan.

1996 1997 1998 1999

(In Millions) -
Administrative OTPS ....ovviiiiiiiverieinren. $ 6472 $ 6418 $ 6577 $ 6,649
Public ASSISTANCE + v 'vuvvennnrreeeccirtiieiienes 2,920 2,783 2,714 2,727

Medical Assistdnce (Excluding City Medicaid

Payments t0 HHC) ......ovviiiiinniniiiiinnn. 2,083 2,156 2272 2411
HHC SUPPOIL <. evnevnnenennunrarsesssasesannans 1,220 924 971 996
10117 S T R R R 1,811 1,544 1,576 1,596
1o ) DR $14,506 $13,825 $14,110 $14,379

Administrative OTPS
The 1996-1999 Financial Plan contains estimates of the City’s administrative OTPS expenditures for
general supplies and materials, equipment and selected contractual services in the 1996 fiscal year.
Thereafter, to account for inflation, selected OTPS expenditures are projected to rise by approximately 2.9%
in fiscal year 1997, 2.7% in fiscal year 1998 and 2.8% in fiscal year 1999. However, it is assumed that the
savings from a procurement initiative will offset the need for funding projected increases in OTPS expendi-
tures that result from the accounting for inflation.

Energy
The 1996-1999 Financial Plan assumes different rates of inflation for energy costs for each of the 1997
through 1999 fiscal years. Inflation rates for each of the 1997 through 1999 fiscal years are set forth in the

following table.

1997 1998 1999
Gasoline and Fuel Oil.......oveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiins 30% 4.0% 4.0%
FIECHTICILY +vveveovornnnnsnenrmennansescssmsssonosstansnseaetcesaees 2.0 2.0 2.0
NALULAL GAS « v v vennnnrsunrerrnseeanaesns ettt 1.0 1.0 2.0

_ Total energy expenditures are projected at $457 million in the 1996 fiscal year, rising to $473 million in
the 1999 fiscal year. These estimates assume a constant level of energy usage, with the exception of varying
annual workload and consumption changes from additional buildings taken by the City through in rem tax
proceedings, the privatization initiative in the In-Rem Program and the annualization of fiscal year 1996
adjustments, where applicable.

Public Assistance

The average number of persons receiving income benefits under public assistance is projected to be
1,036,963 per month in the 1996 fiscal year. The 1996-1999 Financial Plan projects that the average number
of recipients will decrease by 9.6% in the 1996 fis.cal year from the average number of recipients in the 1995
fiscal year. The Financial Plan assumes that. pubhc': assistance grant levels will decrease by 3.5% in the 1996
fiscal year. Of total public assistance expendltures in th.e City for the 1996 fiscal year, the City-funded portion
is projected to be $692.9 million. The City-funded portion of public assistance expenditures is projected to be
$469.2 million in the 1997 fiscal year, a decrease of 32.3% from the 1996 fiscal year, and continues to
decrease to $454.2 million in the 1999 fiscal year.
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Medical Assistance A :

Medical assistance payments projected in the Financial Plan consist of payments to voluntary hospitals,
skilled nursing facilities, intermediate care facilities, home care and Physicians and other medical practition-
ers. The City-funded portion of medical assistance payments is estimated at $1.99 billion for the 1996 fiscal
year and is expected to decrease to $1.79 billion in the. 1999 fiscal year. Such payments include, among other
things, City-funded Medicaid payments, but exclude City-funded Medicaid payments to HHC, as discussed
below. City Medicaid costs (including City-funded Medicaid payments to HHC) assumed in the 1996-1999
Financial Plan do not include Medicaid costs for the mentally disabled and 80% of the non-Federal share of
long-term care costs which have been assumed by the State. The 1996-1999 Financial Plan projects savings of
$761 million in the 1996 fiscal year due to the State having assumed such costs, and projects such savings will
increase to $867 million in the 1999 fiscal year.

Health and Hospitals Corporation :

Support for HHC in the 1996-1999 Financial Plari includes City-funded Medicaid payments to HHC as
well as other subsidies to HHC. : :

HHC operates under its own section of the 1996-1999 Financial Plan as a Covered Organization.
HHC’s financial plan projects City-funded expenditures of $954.9 million for the 1996 fiscal year, decreasing
to $872.4 million in the 1999 fiscal year, after taking into account a $60.8 million reduction in the 1997 fiscal
year and $63.0 million reduction in fiscal years 1998 and 1999 in the City-funded portion of the Medicaid
payments to HHC resulting from reductions in spending for entitlements. The City-funded expenditures in
the 1996 fiscal year include $70.9 million of general City support, $884.0 million of Medicaid payments to
HHC and $50.3 million for certain intra-city payments. A balanced budget is now projected for HHC for al|
years of the Financial Plan. This is the result of a number of actions taken by HHC including an carly
retirement incentive program and other expenditure reductions and Inanagement initiatives. In addition,
HHC has reached a settlement with the New York State Medicaid program which resolves a number of
outstanding rate appeals. The claims that are the subject of this settlement must undergo Federal review and
are subject to disallowance. The HHC plan projects total revenues of $3,565.8 million in the 1996 fiscal year,
increasing to $3,588.0 million in the 1999 fiscal year. The HHC plan projects total expenditures oE
$3,565.8 million in the 1996 fiscal year, increasing to $3,588.0 million in the 1999 fiscal year, These
projections assume: (i) no increases in wages in 1997; an increase of 2% in 1998 and an increase of 3% in
1999; (ii) no increase in each of the 1996 through 1999 fiscal years in the cost of contracts with affiliated
medical schools (which provide some of the supervisory and professional staff for City hospitals);
(iii) increases in pension costs; (iv) no increases in other than personal service costs in 1997; an increase o%
5% in 1998 and an increase of 5% in 1999; and (v) Medicaid growth of 3.3% in fiscal years 1997 through
1999. In addition, significant changes have been and may be made in Medicaid, Medicare and other third-
party payor programs, which could have a material adverse impact on HH(C’s financial condition,

Other

The projections set forth the 1996-1999 Financial Plan for “Other” OTPS include the City’s contribu-
tions to the Transit Authority, the Housing Authority, CUNY and subsidies to libraries and various cultural
institutions. They also include projections for the cost of future judgments and claims which are discussed
below under “Judgments and Claims”. In the past, the City has provided additional assistance to certain
Covered Organizations which had exhausted their financial resources prior to the end of the fiscal year. No
assurance can be given that similar additional assistance will not be required in the future, '

New York City Transit .
'On January 31, 1996 the City released a financial plan for New York City Transit covering its 1996
through 1999 fiscal years (the “NYCT Financial Plan”). NYCT’s fiscal year is the calendar year. The NYCT
Financial Plan projects for its 1996 fiscal year, among other things, a cash-basis surplus of $143.1 million,
which is offset by a yearly contribution to the capital program of $125 million, and Operating e;(pehses of
approximately $3.609 billion. City assistance to NYCT is $225.3 million for NYCT’s 1996 fiscal year, A
restoration of $45 million was made in each of the City’s 1996 and 1997 fiseq] years for the City’s share of
school fare subsidy. 7 :
The NYCT Financial Plan forecasts a cash-basis surplus of $78.7 million in 1997, and cash-basis ¢ aps of
$71.9 million in 1998 and $176.5 million in 1999, before implementation of additional gap-closing agctﬁ)ns
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These outyear gaps are not required to be funded in the City’s financial plans. The surpluses projected for
NYCT’s 1996 and 1997 fiscal years in the NYCT Financial Plan occur, in part, because expenditures are
expected to decrease by 05% between the fiscal years 1996 and 1997 while revenues are expected to
decrease by 1.8% during the same period. The plan assumes that the gaps in the 1998 and 1999 fiscal years
will be closed in part by increased user charges, productivity measures, reduced service levels, additional

management actions, or some combination of these actions.

On April 5, 1993, the State Legislature approved, and the Governor subsequently signed into law,
legislation authorizing a five-year $9.56 billion capital plan for the MTA for 1992 through 1996, including
approximately $7.4 billion in projects for NYCT, with the additional resources to be provided by additional
Federal, State and City capital funds, MTA bonds and other MTA resources. The MTA submitted a
1992-1996 Capital Program based on this legislation for approval of the MTA Capital Program Review
Board (the “CPRB”), as State law requires. The plan was approved on December 11, 1993. The State has
assumed a City capital contribution $500 million greater than the amount funded in the City’s Ten-Year
Capital Plan. In addition, approximately $245 million in funds for NYCT capital purposes have been
deferred from the City’s capital commitment plan for its 1995 fiscal year to the City’s capital commitment
plan for its 1997 fiscal year. This action requires approval of the Governor, MAC and the Mayor. Unless the

MTA identifies additional resources, parts of the 1992-1996 Capital Program may be deferred or reduced.

The approved MTA 1992-1996 Capital Program incorporates a one-ycar $1.635 billion program
adopted in 1992. The MTA 1992-1996 Capital Program succeeds two previous five-year capital programs for
the periods covering 1982-1986 and 1987-1991. The MTA 1987-1991 Capital Program totaled approximately
$8.0 billion, including $6.2 billion for NYCT capital projects.

There can be no assurance that all the necessary governmental actions for the MTA 199296 Capital
Program or future capital programs will be taken, that funding sources currently identified will not be decreased
or eliminated, or that the MTA 1992-96 Capital Program, or parts thereof, will not be delayed or reduced. If the
MTA Capital Program is delayed or reduced, ridership and fare revenues may decline, which could, among other
things, impair the MTAs ability to meet its operating expenses without additional assistance.

On October 21, 1995, the New York Urban League and the Straphangers Campaign filed a civil rights
action charging that the proposed bus and subway fare increase was racially discriminatory, and sought an
injunction against the fare increase. The United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit has
temporarily set aside an injunction granted by the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York enjoining the fare increase pending a hearing on the merits.

Board of Education
The Stavisky-Goodman Act requires the City to allocate to BOE an amount of funds from the total
budget either equal to the average proportion of the total budget appropriated for BOE in the three
preceding fiscal years or an amount agreed upon by the City and BOE. In the Financial Plan 26.3% of the
City’s budget is allocated to BOE for the 1996 fiscal year, exceeding the amount required by the Stavisky-

Goodman Act.
The 1996-1999 Financial Plan assumes student enroliment to be 1,058,533, 1,079,896, 1,098,492 and
1,113,843 in the 1996 through 1999 fiscal years, respectively.

Judgments and Claims

In the fiscal year ended on June 30, 1995, the City expended $251 million for judgments and claims. The
1996-1999 Financial Plan includes provisions for judgments and claims of $286 million, $236 million, $255 million
and $275 million for the 1996 through 1999 fiscal years, respectively. The City is a party to numerous lawsuits and
is the subject of numerous claims and investigations. The City has estimated that its potential future liability on
account of outstan ing claims against it as of June 30, 1995 amounted to approximately $2.5 billion. This estimate
was made by categorizing the various claims and gpplying a statistical model, based primarily on actual settle-
ments by type of claim during the preceding ten fiscal years, and by supplementing the estimated liability with
information supplied by the City’s Corporation Cm.n.lsel.. For further information regarding certain of these
claims, see “SECTION 1X: OTHER INFORMATION—Litigation”.

Ju addition to the above claims, numerous r.eal estate tax certiorari proceedings involving allegations of
inequality of assessment, illegality and overvaluation are currently peniding against the City. The City’s 1995
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Financial Statements include an estimate that the City’s liability in the certiorari proceedings, as of June 30, 1995,
could amount to approximately $314 million. Provision has been made for the 1996 fiscal year and in the
Financial Plan for estimated average refunds of $242 million, $215 million, $182 million and $171 million for the
1996 through 1999 fiscal years, respectively. For further information concerning these claims, certain remedial
legislation related thereto and the City’s estimates of potential liability, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMA.
TION—Litigation—Zaves” and “APPENDIX B—FINANGIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—
Note H”. _

3. DEBT SERVICE

Debt service estimates for the 1996 through 1999 fiscal years include estimates of debt service costs on
outstanding City bonds and notes and future debt issuances based on current and projected future market
conditions, : ‘

4. MAC DEBT SERVICE FUNDING

MAC debt service funding estimates are reduced by anticipated payments by the City of debt service on
City obligations held by MAC. ' -

5. GENERAL RESERVE
The 1996-1999 Financial Plan includes a reserve of $200 million for each of the 1996 through 1999 fiscal

years.

Certain Reports 7
From time to time, the Control Board staff, MAC, OSDC, the City Comptroller and others issue reports and

make public statements regarding the City’s financial condition, commenting on, among other matters, the City’s
financial plans, projected revenues and expenditures and actions by the City to eliminate projected operating
deficits. Some of these reports and statements have warned that the City may have underestimated certain
expenditures and overestimated certain revenues and have suggested that the City may not have adequately
provided for future contingencies. Certain of these reports have analyzed the City’s future economic and social
conditions and have questioned whether the City has the capacity to generate sufficient revenues in the futare to
meet the costs of its expenditure increases and to provide necessary services. It is reasonable to expect that
reports and statements will continue to be issued and to engender public comment. It is expected that the staff of
the Control Board will issue a report in March 1996 reviewing the Financial Plan,

On February 29, 1996, the staff of the City Comptraller issued a report on the Financial Plan. The report
projects that there remains $408 million to $528 million in budget risks for the 1996 fiscal year, before taking
into account the availability of $160 million in the General Reserve. The principal risks for the 1996 fiscal
year identified in the report include $140 million to $190 million of uncertain revenues and projected savings
at BOE and the receipt by the City of $100 million to $130 million from a proposed MAC refunding. The
report also expressed concern as to whether the required regulatory approval for the sale of the City’s
television station would be received before the end of the 1996 fiscal year.

With respect to the 1997 fiscal year, the report states that the Financial Plan includes total risks of
between $2.05 billion and $2.15 billion. The report notes that the gap-closing program for the 1997 fiscal year
assumes the implementation of highly uncertain State and Federal actions that would provide between $1.2
billion and $1.4 billion in relief to the City resulting from proposed public assistance and medical assistance
entitlement reductions, a proposed increase in Federal Medicaid reimbursements, additional State aid and
various privatization proposals. The report concludes that it is unlikely that the City will be able to
implement most of these initiatives due to Federal and State budget difficulties. Additional risks for the 1997
fiscal year identified in the report include (i) risks attributable to BOE relating to unspecified additional
State aid, unspecified expenditure reductions and proposals to reduce special education spending, which
total $415 million, without taking into account potential reductions that will likely take place upon a(ioptiOn
of the Federal and State budgets; (ii) proposals for the sale of parking meters and other assets; and (iii) the
receipt of $244 million to $294 million of lease paymeats from the Port Authority for the C;ty’s airports

The report concluded that the magnitude of the budget risk for the 1997 fiscal year, after two years 0£‘
large agency cutbacks and work force reductions, indicates the seriousness of the City’s continuing budget
difficulties, and that the Financial Plan will require substantial revision in order to provide a credjgle
program for dealing with the large projected budget gap for the 1997 fisca] year. The report further notes
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that the relative weakness of the national and City economies makes it unlikely that new jobs and business
expansion will generate significant additional tax revenues and that proposed Federal and State reductions
in funding will reduce the levels of intergovernmental assistance for the City.

On March 6, 1996, the staff of the OSDC issued a report on the Financial Plan. The report concluded that
there remained a budget gap for the 1996 fiscal year of $44 million, which can be closed with the $200 million
General Reserve, and additional significant risks totalling $507 million involving actions which require the
approval of the State and Federal governments or other third parties. These risks include (i) potential delays in
the sale of the City’s television station; (ii) shortfalls in projected resources from MAC; and (iii) shortfalls of $100
million in projected State education aid and $50 million in projected Federal assistance. In addition, the report
expressed concern that (i) the City may have to write off a portion of approximately $300 million in State
education aid that was included as revenue in prior years’ budgets, since the State has not made payment and
neither the current nor the proposed State budget include an appropriation sufficient to cover most of this
liability, and (ii) the City must complete two transactions before the end of the fiscal year, the sale of property tax
liens and housing mortgages, that together are expected to produce resources of $267 million.

The report also concluded that the gap for the 1997 fiscal year could be $544 million greater than the
City’s projected budget gap of $2 billion, primarily due to the failure of BOE to specify $304 million of
expenditure reductions or additional resources necessary to bring its spending in line with the resources
allocated to it in the Financial Plan. In addition, the report noted that gap-closing proposals set forth in the
Financial Plan totalling $1.6 billion are at high risk of falling short of target. The proposals identified in the
report as high risk include (i) $800 million in expected State and Federal assistance, primarily from savings in
social service entitlement programs, which are dependent on the ultimate resolution of the Federal and State
budgets; (i) $300 million from initiatives to privatize parking meters and other City assets; (iii) $244 million to
be received from the Port Authority as retroactive lease payments for the City’s two airports; and (iv) $181
million in spending cuts for BOE. Moreover, the report expressed concern that the potential for budget cuts at
BOE could exceed $1 billion after taking into account the possible loss of $453 million in proposed reductions
in State and Federal funding. The report also stated that non-recurring resources for the 1996 fiscal year have
increased to over $1.7 billion, approaching the unprecedented $2 billion used in the 1995 fiscal year, and that
one-third of the 1997 fiscal year gap-closing program already relies on one-time resources.

With respect to the economy, the report noted that, in a time of slow economic growth, revenues
continue to stagnate, and that the City’s economic forecast, which is premised on sluggish national growth,
does not reflect the potential for a national recession during the four years of the Financial Plan. In addition,
the report expressed concern that the City’s economy, and City and State tax revenues, are closely tied to
swings in the financial markets, such as rising interest rates, which sharply reduced the profits of securities
firms in 1994, and rising equity markets, which raised personal income and business tax collections in 1995,
as well as economic conditions in Europe and Japan, which are currently weak.

The report noted that Federal and State assistance is likely to be significantly reduced and that there is
little potential for significant new revenucs beyond those already reflected in the Financial Plan. The report
concluded that, despite the City’s success in work force reduction and entitlement savings, the Financial Plan
shows an increasing imbalance between the City’s recurring revenues and expenditures.

On December 12, 1995, the City Comptroller issued a report noting that the capacity of the City to issue
general obligation debt could be reduced in future years. The report noted that, under the State constitution,
the City is permitted to issue debt in an amount not greater than 10% of the average full value of taxable real
estate for the current year and preceding four years. The report concluded that, if the value of taxable real
property in each of 1998 and 1999 fiscal years continues to decline, reflecting the continuing trend of lower
values of taxable property, the City would ha‘ve.to continue to curtail its capital program from the levels
projected in the Financial Plan to ren}ain Wltk}lp the legal dcbt-incurrir}g limit in those years. The City
Comptroller recommended that the City prioritize and improve the efficiency and administration of its
current capital plan to determine which capital projects can be. delag_/ed or cancelled to further reduce capital
expenditures and thus debt service over the course of the Financial Plan.

On October 9, 1995, Standard & Poor’s issued a report which concluded that proposals to replace the
graduated Federal income tax system with a “flat” tax could be detrimental to the creditworthiness of certain
municipal bonds. The report noted that the elimination of Federal income tax deductions currently avail-
able, including residential mortgage interest, property taxes and state and local income taxes, could have a
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“severe impact on funding methods under which municipalities operate. With respect to property taxes, the report
noted that the total valuation of a municipality’s tax base is affected by the affordability of real estate and that
elimination of mortgage interest deduction would result in a significant reduction in affordability and, thus, in the
demand for, and the valuation of, real estate. The report noted that rapid losses in property valuations would be
felt by many municipalities, hurting their revenue raising abilities. In addition, the report noted that the loss of the
current deduction for real property and state and local income taxes from Federal income tax liability would
make rate increases more difficult and increase pressures to lower existing rates, and that the cost of borrowing
for municipalities could increase if the tax-exempt status of municipal bond interest is worth less to investors.
Finally, the report noted that tax anticipation notes issued in anticipation of property taxes could be hurt by the
imposition of a flat tax, if uncertainty is introduced with regard to their repayment revenues, until property values
fully reflect the loss of mortgage and property tax deductions.

Long-Term Capital and Financing Program

The City makes substantial capital expenditures to reconstruct and rehabilitate the City’s infrastructure and
physical assets, including City mass transit facilities, sewers, streets, bridges and tunnels, and to make capital
investments that will improve productivity in City operations. However, when operating revenues come under
increasing pressure, funding levels of the City’s capital program are reduced from those previously forecast in
order to reduce debt setvice costs. In addition, the City’s projection of total debt subject to the general debt limit
that would be required to be issued to fund the Updated Ten-Year Capital Plan published in April 1995 indicated
that, if no action were taken, projected debt issuance would exceed the general debt limit by a substantial amount
starting in fiscal year 1998. See “SECTION VIII: INDEBTEDNESS—City Indebtedness—Limitations on the City's
Authority to Contract Indebtedness.” For additional information regarding the City’s infrastructure and physical
assets, see “APPENDIX A—ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL FACTORS”. :

- The City utilizes a three-tiered capital planning process consisting of the Ten-Year Capital Strategy, the
Four-Year Capital Program and the current-year Capital Budget. The Ten-Year Capital Strategy is a long-
term planning tool designed to reflect fundamental allocation choices and basic policy objectives. The Four-
Year Capital Program translates mid-range policy goals into specific projects. The Capital Budget defines
specific projects and the timing of their initiation, design, construction and completion.

- City-funded commitments, which were $344 million in 1979, are projected to reach $3.5 billion in 1996,
City-funded ‘expenditures, which more than tripled between fiscal years 1980 and 1985, are forecast at
$3.8 billion in the 1996 fiscal year; total expenditures are forecast at $4.4 billion in 1996. For additional
information concerning the City’s capital expenditures and the Ten-Year Capital Strategy covering fiscal
years 1996 through 2005, see “SECTION V: CITY SERVICES AND EXPENDITURES—Capital Expenditures”.

The following table sets forth the major areas of capital commitment projected for the 1996 through
1999 fiscal years. See “SECTION V: CITY SERVICES AND EXPENDITURES—Capital Expenditures”. The
reduction in the size of the capital program that has been implemented in order not to exceed the debt limit

'is reflected in the table below. .

1996-1999 CAPITAL COMMITMENT PLAN

1996 1997 1998 1999

City All City All Ci All Ci
Funds Funds Funds Funds Fun?is Funds Fu::zs F:r::is

' S8 S U8 S 3)s e e
Mass Transit 1) ................................ 5) $ 372(5) $ 106 $ 106 1
Roadway, BrSdges vereresion eeseeane eeereiaas 551 657 - 652 834 469 536 $ 6% $ %gg
Environmental Protection(2)...........cocvevvinn 1,158 1,244 1,212 1,319 1,125 1,166 1,362 1,362
Education ......covevvereerstrcnsssarsrearenons 785 785 430 430 581 581 529 20s
L B R R EERERRETE: 246 395 208 355 215 311 242 378
Sanitation ........ O LXETPRPR Y 159 159 214 233 205 655 227 227
City Operations/Facilities .. .............¢ e 1,280 1,403 988 1,094 932 954 748 get
Economic and Port Development............. e 318 . 359 80 ) 2 oS bt 6
Reserve For Unattained Commitments............ (1,154) (1,159 (793) (793) (273) (273) (326) (326)
Total Commitments(3)(4).......ovvvvineneenns $3,472 ifgm - §3363  $3,925  $3,404 $4,081  $3504  $3,791
Total Expenditures(4) .........cccoivivennienns $3,836  $4,367 $3,612 $4,122 $3,267  $3,752 $3359 $3837

1) Excludes NYCT’s non-City portion of the MTA's five-year Capital Program.
22; Includes water supply, water mains, water pollution control, sewer projects and related equipment,
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(3) Commitments represent contracts registered with the City Comptroller, except for certain projects which are undertaken jointly by
the City and State. Totals may not add due to rounding.

@) l':lxpex:i itures represent cash payments and appropriations planned to be expended for capital costs, excluding amounts for original
issue discount.

(5) Reflects the assumﬁtion that approximately $245 million of the City’s capital contribution to the MTA for the 1995 fiscal year will
be deferred until the 1997 fiscal year.

The following table which is based on the Financial Plan sets forth the planned sources and uses of City
funds to be raised through issuances of long-term debt and transfers of monies from the City’s General Fund
during the City’s 1996 through 1999 fiscal years.

1996-1999 FINANCING PROGRAM

1% 197 1% 1% Tl
(In Millions) -

SOURCES OF FUNDS:
City General Obligation Bonds....................... $5,502 $2,013 $2,133 $2,112 $11,760
Water Authority Financing(1) ..... Cere e 935 1,069 940 985 3,929
HHC Financing(2)............ e, . 78 78 26 12 194
DASNY Courts Financing(3).........cooeeiiiiiennen 0 0 0 198 198
Pay-As-You-Go Capital(4).............oovvnne. e 0 607 200 200 1,007
Other Sources(5) «..ovvvrieeraernsennien. i 420 94 216 132 862

13771 S e $6,935 $3861 $3,515 $3,639 $17,950
USES OF FUNDS:
City Capital Improvements(6) .................. veeess $3836  $3,612  $3,267  $3,359 $14,074
City G.B. Rcfundin% Cevseanaees v ceerieenas 2,746 0 0 0 2,746
Water Authority Refunding ............ e 80 0 0 0 80
Reserve Fund and Other(7) ......oovevnnviiniinns, . 273 249 248 280 1,050

00 7) DU PPPPN ceeenan $6935 $3,861 $3515 $3,639 $17,950

(1) Reflects Water Author‘i#' commercial paper and revenue bonds expected to be issued to finance the water and sewer system capital
program. Long-term Water Authority revenue bonds to finance the 658ystprp’s capital program, including reserve amounts, are
expected to be issued in principal amounts of $888 million in 1996, $1.168 billion in 1997, $1.045 billion in 1998 and $1.016 billion in
1699, Water Authority Financing figures do not include bonds which take-out commercial paper issues from the prior fiscal year or
bonds to be issued by the Water Authority to finance the acquisition of the title to the water and sewer system by the Water Board.
The Proposed urchase price will approximately e(}:l:l the present value of the projected future rental payments under the lease.
See “SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Long-Term Capital and Financing Program”.

(2) The financing program assumes that HHC will finance 100% of its capital commitments. Amounts do not reflect a specific
borrowing scl%edule. The amounts reflected are the projected capital cash flow from HHC program commitments in fiscal years
1996 through 1999 of $259 million less $65 million remaining from the proceeds of a bond issuance by HHC in June 1993, The
restricted balance of $65 million is included in Other Sources in fiscal year 1996.

3} The financing program assumes that the Dormitory Authority (“DASNY”) will finance 100% of the City Courts capital program.

3 Amounts dogn%t rgeﬂect a specific borrowing schedule. The amounts reflected are the projected capital cash ﬂo\g fl'OII:l,l cgiaital
commitments for City Courts in fiscal years 1996 through 1999 of $473 million and allocations for reserve funds and other costs of
issuance of $26 million less $301 million remaining from the Sroceeds of a bond issuance by DASNY in December 1993. The
restricted balances from such bond issuance are included in Other Sources in fiscal years 1996 through 1999,

4 _As-You-Go Capital is funded out of current revenue expected to be derived by the City from proceeds of the transfer of title

“ g’?m the water and sewer system to the Water Board. Seex}‘)SECI'ION VIL 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN— Long-Term Capital and
Financing Program”. )

(5) Other Sources copsists primarily of changes in restricted balances and MAC program funding,.

City Capital Improvements includes capital cash expenditures for various City agencies, including the Department of Environmen-
© tall tgction, HC and the City courts program to be financed throughtY)ASNY.

(7) Reserve Funds and Other comprises amounts necessary to fund certain reserves and provide for costs of issuance of all Water
Authority and DASNY revenue bonds and allocations for original issue discounts in connection with the issuance of general
obligation bonds. The amounts allocated for original issue discounts are 9% of the general obligation capital cash needs in the 1996

through 1999 fiscal years. '

A Federal law, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, generally requires that various facilities be

made accessible to disabled persons. The City is currently analyzing what actions are required to comply with

the law. The City may incur substantial additional capital e).ipenditures, as well as additional operating

expenses to comply with the law. Compliance measur.es.whlch reql{ire. additional capital measures are
expected to be achieved through the reallocation of existing funds within the City’s capital program.

Currently, if all City capital projects were implemented, expenditures would exceed the City’s financing
projections in the current fiscal year and subsequent years. The City has therefore established capital
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budgeting priorities to maintain capital expenditures within the available fong-term financing. Due to the
size and complexity of the City’s capital program, it is difficult to forecast precisely the timing of capital
project activity so that actual capital expenditures may vary from the planned annual amounts,

The City’s current four-year financing program and capital program includes the issuance of water and
sewer revenue bonds. The Water Authority is authorized to issue bonds to finance capital investment in the
City’s water and sewer system. Pursuant to State law, debt service on this indebtedness is secured by water
and sewer fees paid by users of the water and sewer system. Such fees are revenues of the Water Board and
the Water Board holds a lease interest in the City’s water and sewer system. After providing for debt service
on obligations of the Water Authority and certain incidental costs, the revenues of the Water Board are paid
to the City to cover the City’s costs of operating the water and sewer system and as rental for the system. The
City’s Ten-Year Capital Strategy covering fiscal years 1996 through 2005 projects City-funded water and
sewer investment (which is expected to be financed with proceeds of Water Authority debt) at approximately
$6.9 billion of the $37.3 billion City-funded portion of the plan.

The City’s Four-Year Capital Plan contemplates the transfer of title to the water and sewer system from
the City to the Water Board and includes approximately $1 billion of the proceeds of such transfer to fund
capital expenditures provided for in the Four-Year Capital Plan. The Four-Year Capital Plan includes $407
million of such proceeds in fiscal year 1996 and $200 million in each of the 1997, 1998 and 1999 fiscal years,
The remainder of the proceeds of the proposed transfer of title would be used to defease City general
obligation bonds that were issued for water and sewer purposes prior to creation of the Water Authority,
Following the proposed transfer of title, no further rental payments would be payable by the Water Board to

the City.

The legality of the proposed transfer of title has been challenged by the City Comptroller and others
and is the subject of litigation. On March 1, 1996, the State Supreme Court, New York County, ruled that the
transaction as proposed was illegal because the proposed transfer of title could not be financed with the
proceeds of Water Authority bonds. The Mayor has stated that he is considering whether the lower court’s
decision should be appealed or whether to propose an alternative transaction, In the event that the transfer
of title or an alternative transaction is not effectuated, the City would be required to find alternative sources
of funding or reduce the capital program by the amounts indicated above which are expected to be funded
with proceeds of the transfer.

The City is subject to statutory and regulatory standards relating to the quality of its drinking water.
State and Federal regulations require the City water supply to meet certain standards to avoid filtration, The
City’s water supply now meets all technical standards and the City’s current efforts are directed toward
protection of the watershed area. The City has taken the position that increased regulatory, enforcement and
other efforts to protect its water supply, relating to such matters as land use and sewage treatment, will
preserve the high quality of water in the upstate water supply system and prevent the need for filtration. The
City has estimated that if filtration of the upstate water supply system is ultimately required, the capital
expenditures required could be between $4 billion and $5 billion. The U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency has granted the City a filtration avoidance waiver through calendar year 1999,

Implementation of the capital plan is dependent upon the City’s ability to market its securities success-
fully in the public credit markets. The terms and the success of projected public sales of City general
obligation bonds and Water Authority and HHC revenue bonds will be subject to prevailing market
conditions at the times of sale. No assurance can be given that the credit markets will absorb the projected
amounts of public bond sales. As a significant portion’of bond financing is used to reimburse the City’s
General Fund for capital expenditures already incurred, if the City is unable to sell such amounts of bonds it
would have anadverse effect on the City’s cash position, In addition, the need of the City to fund future debt
service costs from current operations may also limit the City’s capital program. The Ten-Year Capital
Strategy for fiscal years 1996 through 2005 totals $40.6 billion, of which approximately 92% is to be financed
with City funds. Federal tax law provisions which restrict the purposes for which tax-exempt bonds may be
issued may limit the ability of the City to finance certz}in projects through the issuance of tax-exempt bonds,
Congressional developments affecting Federal taxation generally could reduce the market value of tax-
favored investments and increase the City’s debt-service costs in carrying out the currently tax-exempt major
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portion of its capital plan. For information concerning litigation which, if determined against the City, could
have an adverse impact on the amount of debt the City can have outstanding under the general debt limit
(defined as 10% of the average full value of taxable real estate in the City for the most recent five years), see
“SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Litigation—Taxes™.

In October 1994, the City issued an assessment of the asset condition and a proposed maintenance
schedule for the major portions of its assets and asset systems which have a replacement cost of $10 million
or more and a useful life of at least ten years, as required by the City Charter. The assessment includes an
estimate of the capital investment needed from an engineering perspective to bring the assets to a state of
good repair. Subsequently, in April 1995, the City issued a report that compares the recommended capital
investment with the capital spending allocated by the City in the Four-Year Capital Program to the
specifically identified inventoried assets. The reports do not reflect any policy considerations which could
affect the appropriate amount of investment, such as whether there is a continuing need for a particular
facility or whether additional changes are necessary to meet current usage requirements. In addition, the
recommended capital investment for each inventoried asset is not readily comparable to the capital spending
allocated by the City in the Four-Year Capital Program and the Ten-Year Capital Strategy. Only a portion of
the funding set forth in the Four-Year Capital Program is allocated to specifically identified assets, and
funding in the subsequent years of the Ten-Year Capital Strategy is even less identifiable with individual
assets. In large part because of the difficulties in comparability at a detailed asset-by-asset level, the report
indicates a substantial difference between the amount of investment recommended in the report for all
inventoried City assets and amounts allocated to the specifically identified inventoried asscts.in the Four-
Year Capital Program. OMB estimates that amounts allocated in the Ten-Year Capital Strategy fund
approximately 85% of the total $3.86 billion investment recommended in the report, although the report
concludes that the capital investment in the Four-Year Capital Program for the specifically identified
inventoried assets funds 68% of the recommended investment. In addition, the report sets forth operating
maintenance recommendations for the inventoried assets totalling $190 million, $126 million, $121 million
and $120 million for the 1996 through 1999 fiscal years, respectively. OMB has estimated that approximately
34% of such maintenance activities for fiscal year 1996 are included in the 1996-1999 Financial Plan.

Seasonal Financing Requirements

The City since 1981 has fully satisfied its seasonal financing needs in the public credit markets, repaying
all short-term obligations within their fiscal year of issuance. The City has issued $2.4 billion of short-term
obligations in fiscal year 1996 to finance the City’s current estimate of its seasonal cash flow needs for the
1996 fiscal year. Seasonal financing requirements for the 1995 fiscal year increased to $2.2 billion from
$1.75 billion and $1.4 billion in the 1994 and 1993 fiscal years, respectively. The delay in the adoption of the
State’s budget for its 1992 fiscal year required the City to issue $1.25 billion in short-term notes on May 7,
1991, and the delay in the adoption of the State’s budget for its 1991 fiscal year required the City to issue
$900 million in short-term notes on May 15, 1990. See “SECTION VIL 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—
Assumptions”.

Seasonal financing requirements were $2.25 billion and $3.65 billion in the 1992 and 1991 fiscal years,
respectively.

At the time of the City’s fiscal crisis in 1975, the City had approximately $6 billion of short-term debt
outstanding. As part of a program to deal with this crisis, the State passed the Moratorium Act. This law
provided that, subject to certain conditions, for three years no judgments and liens could be enforced on
account of outstanding City notes and no action could either be commenced or continued upon outstanding
City notes which matured during 1975 or 1976. City notes in an aggregate principal amount of $2.4 billion
were subject to the Moratorium Act. In November 1976, the New York State Court of Appeals declared the
Moratorium Act anconstitutional under the State Constitution. All of the City’s short-term debt outstanding
at the time of the Moratorium Act was either exchanged for MAC bonds or repaid by the City. In the 1975
through 1978 fiscal years, the City was assisted by the Federal and State governments in meeting its scasonal

financing needs.
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SECTION VIII: INDEBTEDNESS

City Indebtedness

Outstanding Indebtedness

The following table sets forth outstanding indebtedness having an initial maturity greater than one year
from the date of issuance of the City, MAC and the PBCs as of December 31, 1995.

(In Thousands)

Gross City Long-Term Indebtedness............ e, v 25,314,221

Less: Assets Held for Debt Service(1) ............. Cereerreas 927,860
Net City Long-Term Indebtedness ........... e rerieneen $24,386,361
Gross MAC Long-Term Indebtedness(2)........... Cerenaaes Cheeen 4,693,780
Less: Assets Held for Debt Service(2) .......... Cereceenan ce 661,138
Net MAC Long-Term Indebtedness......... Cerereea. ces 4,032,642
PBC Indebtedness(3) ' :
Bonds Payable ................. veeerniaans beeeriaees veeeraes 510,864
Capital Lease Obligations ........... e ir et eeer e . 773,308
Gross PBC Indebtedness(4)............. Cerreeans ceeen. 1,284,172
Less: Assets Held for Debt Service . .... e, Ceeeees 195,984
Net PBC Ind_ebtedness ............... Ceeens Crerieern cee 1,088,188
Combined Net City, MAC and PBC Indebtedness ...  $29,507,191

1) With respect to City long-term indebtedness, “Assets Held for Debt Service” consists of General ice F
o $921.7 m‘;lh'on principal amount of City serial bonds held by MAC, i eral Debt Séwlce Fund assets, and
(2) With respect to MAC indebtedness, “‘Assets Held for Debt Service” consists of assets held in MAC’s d b i
liabilities for interest payable on MAC long-term indebtedness plus amounts held in reserve funds fof p;mﬁf (ﬂ’l gcriisnl;s;aaiu (:)cfr:;g
interest on MAC bonds. Other MAC funds, while not specifically pledged for the payment of principal of and interest on MAC
bondzix\,,I are alsgI ax:ilable for (t:hese pul:posi’.:aFgr efg;ther ilx;fi)rmatign regarding MAC indebtedness and assets held for debt service
see “Municip gistance Corporation Indebtedness” below and “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—] i ial
Statements—Notes C and H”. ; Notes to ‘F_'manclal
(3) “PBC Indebtedness” refers to City obligations to PBCs. For further information regarding the ind bt tain P
“Public Benefit Corporation Indebtedness” below and “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL S%A’I‘EMlgSNTS—nN%te(;‘ig%gisn%gglt *é’{;ﬁ?}féf;éi‘f
gotﬁs (l;nf and H”. “PBC fiqdet:ieqm:issl’)’tdges notf Elclude_the Filllldgbif](}igess of individual PBCs which are Enterprise Funds. For
rther information regarding the indebtedness of Enterprise Funds s, see “APPENDIX B—F) y
Financial Statements—Notes J, K, L, M and N”. INANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to

4) Amount does not include $227.9 million principal amount of Housing Development Co orati i i
@ fund arrangements with the City. & L rporation bonds subject to capital reserve
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Trend in Outstanding Net Indebtedness

The following table shows the trend in the outstanding net long-term and net short-term debt of the City

and MAC and in net PBC indebtedness as of June 30 of each of the years 1989 through 1995 and as of
December 31, 1995, except for short-term debt information which is as of February 23, 1996.

Component
City(1) MAC(2) U“(‘:tit‘;,“d
Long-Term  Short-Term  Long-Term Short-Term  Guaranteed
Net Debt(3) Debt Net Debt(4) Debt Debt(3) Total
_—(In Millions) - R
1989 . vvvveiiiinennnanes $ 9,332 — $6,082 — $ 780 $16,194
1990 .ovvvvenereranennes 11,779 — 5,713 — 782 18,274
1991 oo 15,293 — 5,265 — 803 21,361
1992 .iviiiiiiienenonen 17,916 — 4,657 — 782 23,355
1993 .iiiiiiiaenees 19,624 — 4,470 — 768 24,862
1994 .iiveiiiiieennnnns 21,731 — 4,215 — 1,114 27,060
1995 tvirirrnnnnenenns 23,258 — 4,033 — 1,098 28,389
December 31, 1995 ..... 24,386 2,400 3,933 — 1,284 32,056

(1) Amounts do not include debt of the City held by MAC. See “Qutstanding Indebtedness—note 2”,

@

MAC reported outstanding long-term indebtedness without reduction for reserves, as follows: $7,636 million, $7,307 million,
$6,901 million, $6,471 million, $3,559 million, $5,304 million, $4,891 miltion and $4,694 million as of June 30 of each of the years

1989 through 1995.

(3) Net of reserves. See “Outstanding Indebtedness—note 2”. Component Units are PBCs included in the City’s financial statements

other than PBCs which are Enterprise Funds. For more information concerning Component Unit PBCs, see “Public Benefit
Corporation Indebtedness” below and “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Notes G and
H”. For more information concerning Enterprise Funds PBCs, se¢ “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial

Statements—Notes J, K, L, M and N”.

(4) Calculations of net MAC indebtedness include the total bonds outstanding under MAC’s Second and 1991 General Bond

Resolutions and accrued interest on those bonds less the amounts held by C in its debt service and reserve funds.

Rapidity of Principal Retirement
The following table details, as of December 31, 1995, the cumulative percentage of total City general

obligation debt outstanding that is scheduled to be retired in accordance with its terms in each prospective
five-year period. '

Cumulative Percentage of

Period Debt Scheduled for Retirement
5 years 24.59%
10 years 47.52
15 years 67.08
20 years 82.29
25 years 94.81
30 years 99.98
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City, MAC and City-guaranteed PBC Debt Service Regquirements

The following table summarizes future debt service requirements, as of December 31, 1995 , on City and
MAC term and serial bonds outstanding and City-guaranteed debt of and capital lease obligations to certain

PBCs.
City Long-Term Debt
Component

Principal Un(i:titt;nd MAC

" Serfal Guaranteed Funding :
Fiscal Years Bonds(1) Interest(1) Debt(2) Requirements Total
- (In Thousands)
1996 .ovvvvevevnnntnL, $ 274205 $ 665277 $ 57328 § 425,308 $ 1,422/118
1997 .oovviviniiinn.n.. . 1,216,095 1,475,274 116,977 570,498 3,378,844
1998 .. ..cviiiiinnnn. 1,190,379 1,383,091 116,946 583,535 3,273,951
1999 ...ivvvvnean.... 1,115,955 1,312,845 125,691 602,079 3,156,570
2000 .......00iiiienn, 1,054,699 1,254,798 125,692 537,438 2,972,627
y/11) RO 1,051,842 - 1,202,344 125576 537621 2,917,383
2002 through 2147...., 18,489,371 11,440,176 1,649,669 3,766,678(3) 35,345,894

Total................ $24,392,546  $18,733,805 $2,317,879  $7,023,157 $52,467,387

(1) Excludes debt service on $921.7 million principal amount of setial bonds held by MAC.

t Units are PBCs included in the City’s financial statements other than PBCs which are Ente

@ i(r:n(g)nrgg?gln chonrlnceming these PBCs, see “Pltl}l',)lic Benefit C(gporatlon Indebtedness” below and
STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Notes G and H”. For more information conce.

“APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Notes J, K, L, M

(3) Amount shown is for fiscal years 2002 through 2009.
Certain Debt Ratios

The following table sets forth information, as of December 31, for each to the fi
1995, with respect to the approximate ratio of the City’s debt to certain economic

table, debt includes net City, MAC and PBC debt.

rise Funds. For additional
'ENDIX B— FINANCIAL

rmzdn Enterprise Funds PBCs, see
an t:]

scal years 1989 through
factors. As used in this

Debt as % of Total

Taxable Real
Property By

Estimated

Per  Assessed Full
Capita  Valuation Valuation

254
26.0
28.0
28.5

313

352

36.9 -

4.6
4.5
4.5
4.1
39
4.4
4.1

Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Comptroller for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1995,
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Ratio of Debt to Personal Income

The following table sets forth, for each of fiscal years 1984 through 1993, debt per capita as a percentage
of personal income per capita in current dollars. As used in this table, debt includes net City, MAC and PBC

debt.
Debt Debt per Capita
per Personal Income as % of Personal
Fiscal Year Capita per Capita(1) Income per Capita
g L7 R R R $1,695 $15,881 10.67%
3 L 5 R TR 1,723 16,919 10.18 -
1986 v oveervnvarrnrsenennaarasnnansnarenes 1,833 18,060 10.15
TOB7 v tvenrennnsesacneossnrsnesssnrsaasas 1,893 19,238 9.84
3 L3 R T TR 2,041 20,817 9.80
301 O R 2,202 22,103 9.96
OO0 o oevvneeennvacecnsasonssasssnnraassns 2,490 23,731 10.49
3L L I L L LR 2,918 24,464 11.93
20 R R TR R 3,192 26,283 12.14
1 S T R R 3,389 27,087 12.51

Source; Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Comptroller for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1995.
(1) Personal income is measured before the deduction of personal income taxes and other personal taxes.

Certain Provisions for the Payment of City Indebtedness

The State Constitution requires the City to make an annual appropriation for: (i) payment of interest on
all City indebtedness; (ii) redemption or amortization of bonds; (iii) redemption of other City indebtedness
(except bond anticipation notes (“BANs”), tax anticipation notes (“TANs”), revenue anticipation notes
(“RANs”), and urban renewal notes (“URNs”) contracted to be paid in that year out of the tax levy or other
revenues; and (iv) redemption of short-term indebtedness issued in anticipation of the collection of taxes or
other revenues, such as TANs, RANs and URNs, and renewals of such short-term indebtedness which are
not retired within five years of the date of original issue. If this appropriation is not made, a sum sufficient for
such purposes must be set apart from the first revenues thereafter received by the City and must be applied
for these purposes.

Under the Financial Emergency Act, the proceeds of each City bond issue are required to be used in the
following order: (i) they are to be held for the payment at maturity of any BANSs issued in anticipation
thereof; (ii) they are to be paid into the City’s Gcne.ral Fund in repayment of any advance made therefrom
for purposes for which the bonds were issued; and (iii) any balance is to be held for future expenditures for
the object or purpose for which the bonds were issued.

Pursuant to the Act, the General Debt Service Fund has been established for the purpose of paying
Monthly Debt Service, as defined in the Act. For information regarding the Fund, see “SECTION II: THE
BONDS—Payment Mechanism™. In addition, as required under the Act, a TAN Account has been established
by the State Comptroller within the Fund to pay the principal of outstanding City TANs. After notification by
the City of the date when principal due or to become due on an outstanding issue of TANs will equal 90% of
the “available tax levy”, as defined in the Act, with respect to such issue, the State Comptroller must pay into
the TAN Account from the collection of real estate tax payments (after paying amounts required to be
deposited in the General Debt Service Fund for Monthly Debt Service) amounts sufficient to pay the
principal of such TANS. Similarly, a RAN Account has been established by the State Comptroller within the
Fund to pay the principal of outstanding City RANS. Bevenues in anticipation of which RANS are issued
must be deposited in the RAN Account. If revenue con51st§ of State or other revenue to be paid to the City by
the State Comptroller, the State Comptroller must deposit such revenue directly into the RAN Account on
the date such revenue is payable to the City. Under the Act, after notification by the City of the date when
principal due or to become due on an oytstanding issue of RAN_s will equal 90% of the total amount of
revenue against which such RANs were issued on or before the fifth day prior to the maturity date of the
RANS, the State Comptroller must commence on such date to retain in the RAN Account an amount
sufficient to pay the principal of such RANs when due. Revenues required to be deposited in the RAN
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Account vest immediately in the State Comptroller in trust for the benefit of the holders of notes issued in
anticipation of such revenues. No person other than a holder of such RANSs has any right to or claim against
revenues so held in trust. Whenever the amount contained in the RAN Account or the TAN Account
exceeds the amount required to be retained in such Account, the excess, including earnings on investments,
is to be withdrawn from such Account and paid into the General Fund of the City.

All money paid from the General Debt Service Fund to the Fiscal Agent for the payment of the
principal of or interest on any Bond that remains unclaimed at the end of two years after such principal or
interest shall have become due and payable will be paid to the City, and the holder of such Bond shall
thereafter look only to the City for payment.

Limitations on the City’s Authority to Contract Indebtedness

The Financial Emergency Act imposes various limitations on the issuance of City indebtedness. No
TANs may be issued by the City which would cause the principal amount of such issue of TANSs to exceed
90% of the “available tax levy”, as defined in the Act, with respect to such issue; TANS and renewals thereof
must mature not later than the last day of the fiscal year in which they were issued. No RANs may be issued
by the City which would cause the principal amount of RANSs outstanding to exceed 90% of the “available
revenues”, as defined in the Act, for that fiscal year; RANs must mature not later than the last day of the
fiscal year in which they were issued; and in no event may renewals of RANs mature later than one year
subsequent to the last day of the fiscal year in which such RANSs were originally issued. No BANs may be
issued by the City in any fiscal year which would cause the principal amount of BANs outstanding, together
with interest due or to become due thereon, to exceed 50% of the principal amount of bonds issued by the
City in the twelve months immediately preceding the month in which such BANSs are to be issued; BANs
must mature not later than six months after their date of issuance and may be renewed for a period not to
exceed six months. Budget Notes may be issued only to fund projected expense budget deficits; no Budget
Notes, or renewals thereof, may mature later than sixty days prior to the last day of the fiscal year next
succeeding the fiscal year during which the Budget Notes were originally issued.

The MAC Act contains two limitations on the amount of short-term debt which the City may issue. As
of February 23, 1996, the maximum amount of additional short-term debt which the City could issue was
approximately $5.2 billion under the first limitation. The second limitation does not prohibit any issuance by
the City of BANS or short-term debt issued and payable within the same fiscal year, such as TANs and RANSs.
However, as of February 23, 1996, the maximum amount of TANs, RANs, or Budget Notes issued in the
current fiscal year and maturing next fiscal year, that the City could issue was approximately $222.9 million
under the second limitation. These limitations, and other restrictions on maturities of City notes and other
requirements described above, could be amended by State legislative action.

_ The State Constitution provides that, with certain exceptions, the City may not contract indebtedness in
an amount greater than 10% of the average full value of taxable real estate in the City for the most recent
five years (the “general debt limit”). For information concerning litigation which, if determined against the
City, could have an adverse impact on the amount of debt the City can have outstanding under the general
debt limit, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Litigation—7axes”. Certain indebtedness (“excluded
debt”) is excluded in ascertaining the City’s authority to contract indebtedness within the constitutional
limit. TANs, RANs, BANs, URNs and Budget Notes and long-term indebtedness issued for certain types of
public improvements and capital projects are considered excluded debt. The City’s statutory authority for
variable rate debt is limited to 10% of the general debt limit. The State Constitution also provides that the
City may contract indebtedness for low-rent housing, nursing homes for persons of low income and urban
renewal purposes in an amount not to exceed 2% of the average assessed valuation of the taxable real estate
of the City for the most recent five years (the “2% débt limit”). Excluded from the 2% debt limit. after
approval by the State Comptroller, is indebtedness for certain self-supporting programs aided b;/ City
guarantees or loans. Neither MAC indebtedness nor the City’s commitments with other PBCs (other than
certain guaranteed debt of the Housing Authority) are chargeable against the City’s constitutional debt

limits. ,
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The following table sets forth the current calculation of the debt-incurring power of the City within the
general debt limit and the 2% debt limit as of December 31, 1995.

GENERAL DEBT LIMIT

Total Debt-Incurting POWer .........cocooiiiiiiieiiieinniaranans $35,026,841,073
Gross Debt—Funded ........c.vviiriiiiii ittt $24,377,896,336
Less: Excluded Debt v.vvvviiiniiiiniiiiiineernerasaninansnens 1,132,005,565
23,245,890,771

Less: Assets of General Debt Service Fund and Balance of

Appropriations for Redemption of Debt ...................0. 250,378,018

=LA =3 . A 22,995,512,753
Add: Net Contracts and Other Liabilities....................000s 5,052,593,410  28,048,106,163
Remaining Debt-Incurring Power Within Limit .................. $ 6,978,734,910

Two PERCENT DEBT LIMIT

Total Debt-Incurring POWer ......ovvviiiviirirnnnenssreneceenn. $ 1,554,511,609
Charges:

Housing Authority Indebtedness ...................o0e Ceereens $ 457,000

Limited Profit Housing Program...........cccovevvrveiieesanas 14,905,334

Housing and Industrial Urban Renewal Programs ............. 105,754,160 121,116,494
Remaining Debt-Incurring Power Within Limit ..............oo. $ 1,433,395,115

The City’s projections of total debt subject to the general debt limit that would be required to be issued
to fund the Updated Ten-Year Capital Plan published in May 1994 indicated that, if no action were taken,
projected debt issuance would exceed the general debt limit by a substantial amount starting in fiscal year
1998. The forecast of the City’s debt limit is under review. The City currently expects that the portion of the
Ten-Year Capital Strategy to be funded from the proceeds of general obligation bonds will need to be
reduced by approximately $2 billion in order to avoid conflict with the forecast debt limit starting in the late
1990’s.

Federal Bankruptcy Code

Under the Federal Bankruptcy Code, a petition may be filed in the Federal bankruptcy court by a
municipality which is insolvent or unable to meet its debts as they mature. The filing of such a petition would
operate as a stay of any proceeding to enforce a claim against the City. The Code requires the municipality to
file a plan for the adjustment of its debts, which may modify or alter the rights of creditors and may provide
for the municipality to issue indebtedness, which could have priority over existing creditors and which could
be secured. Any plan of adjustment confirmed by the court must be approved by the requisite majority of
creditors. If confirmed by the bankruptcy court, the plan would be binding upon all creditors affected by it.
Each of the City and the Control Board, acting on behalf of the City, has the legal capacity to file a petition
under the Federal Bankruptcy Code.

Municipal Assistance Corporation Indebtedness

MAC was organized in 1975 to provide financing assistance for the City and also to exercise certain
review functions with respect to the City’s finances. Since its creation, MAC has provided, among other
things, financing assistance to the City by refunding maturing City short-term debt and transferring to the
City funds received from sales of MAC bonds and notes. MAC i§ authorized to issue bonds and notes
payable from certain stock transfer_tax revenues and‘ the .Clty’s portion of the State sales tax derived in the
City and, subject to certain prior claims, State per capita aid otherwise payable by the State to the City. These
revenues are paid, subject to appropriation, directly by the State to MAC to the extent they are needed for
MAC debt service, MAC reserve fund requirements or MAC operating expenses; revenues which are not
needed by MAC are paid by the State to the City. MAC bonds and notes constitute general obligations of
MAC and do not constitute an enforceable obligation or debt of either the State or the City, Failure by the
State to continue the imposition of such taxes, the reducti.on of the rate of such taxes to rates less than those
in effect on July 2, 1975, failure by the State to pay such aid revenues and the reduction of such aid revenues
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below a specified level are included among the events of default in the resolutions authorizing MAC’s long-
term debt. The occurrence of an event of default may result in the acceleration of the maturity of all or a

portion of MAC’s debt.

As of December 31, 1995, MAC had outstanding an aggregate of approximately $4.684 billion of its
bonds. MAC is authorized to issue bonds and notes to refund its outstanding bonds and notes and to fund
certain reserves, without limitation as to principal amount, and to finance certain capital commitments to the
Transit Authority and the New York City School Construction Authority for the 1992 through 1997 fiscal
years in the event the City fails to provide such financing. For additional information regarding MAC
indebtedness, see “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Notes C

and H”,

As of December 31, 1995, the City had received an aggregate of approximately $4.85 billion from MAC
for certain authorized uses by the City exclusive of capital purposes. In addition, the City had received an
aggregate of approximately $2.352 billion from MAC for capital purposes in exchange for serial bonds in a
like principal amount, of which $852.9 million was held by MAC as of December 31, 1995. MAC has also
exchanged $1.839 billion principal amount of MAC bonds for City debt, of which approximately $68.8 mil-
lion was held by MAC on December 31, 1995.

During fiscal years 1984 through 1988, MAC made $1.075 billion of revenues available to the City,
pursuant to an agreement among the City, MAC and the State in March 1984. In April 1986, MAC, the City
and the State agreed to the availability and use of approximately $1.6 billion in additional revenues in the
- 1987 through 1995 fiscal years, including $925 million for capital improvements for the Transit Authority. In

May 1989, MAC entered into an agreement with the City and the State which provides for an additional $800
million, including $600 million of revenues for capital projects relating to the City’s public school system. In
July 1990, the City, the State and MAC entered into an agreement amending the 1986 and 1989 agreements
to permit the City to fund the capital commitments to the Transit Authority and the City’s public school
system, which total $1.465 billion over the City’s 1990 through 1997 fiscal years, with proceeds of City or
MAC bonds rather than revenues made available by MAC. The State Legislature has authorized MAC to
finance the capital commitments to the Transit Authority and the New York City School Construction
Authority for the 1991 through 1997 fiscal years through the issuance of additional MAC bonds in the event
and to the extent that the City fails to provide such financing from the issuance of City bonds. The revenues
to be made available by MAC under the 1986 and 1989 agreements for the Transit Authority and the public
school system will instead be used by the City for operating purposes. For fiscal years 1996 and 1997, the
amounts that the City.is scheduled to receive for operating purposes under the agreements as amendcci are
$75 million and $30 million, respectively.

Public Benefit Corporation Indebtedness

City Financial Commitments to PBCs
PBCs are corporate governmental agencies created by State law to finance and operate projects of a
governmental nature or to provide governmental services. Generally, PBCs issue bonds and notes to finance
construction of housing, hospitals, dormitories and other facilities and receive revenues from the collection
of fees, charges or rentals for the use of their facilities, including subsidies and other payments from the
governinental entity whose residents have benefited from the services and facilities provided by the PBC
These bonds and notes do not constitute debt of the City unless expressly guaranteed or assumed by the City.

The City has undertaken various types of financial commitments with certain PBCs which although
they generally do not represent City indebtedness, have a similar budgetary effect. During a COnt’rol Period
as defined by the Financial Emergency Act, neither the City nor any Covered Organization may enter into
any arrangement whereby the revenues or credit of the City are directly or indirectly pledged, encumbered
committed or promised for the payment of obligations of a PBC unless approved by the Contr’ol Board. Thé

principal forms of the City’s financial commitments with respect to PBC debt obligations are as follows:

1. Guarantees—PBC indebtedness may be directly guaranteed by the City.

2. Capital Lease Obligations—These are leases of facilities by the City or a Covered Oreanizati
entered into with PBCs, under which the City has no liability beyond monies legally avaﬂa;ﬁalfzﬁg::;
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payments. State law generally provides, however, that in the event the City fails to make any required
lease payment, the amount of such payment will be deducted from State aid otherwise payable to the
City and will be paid to the PBC.

3. Executed Leases—These arc leases pursuant to which the City is legally obligated to make the
required rental payments.

4. Capital Reserve Fund Arrangements—Under these arrangements, State law requires the PBC to
maintain a capital reserve fund in a specified minimum amount to be used solely for the payment of the
PBC’s obligations. State law further provides that in the event the capital reserve fund is depleted, State
aid otherwise payable to the City may be paid to the PBC to restore such fund.

The City’s financial statements include MAC and certain PBCs, such as the New York City Educational
Construction Fund (“ECF”), the CUCF and the HDC. For further information regarding indebtedness of
these PBCs, see “APPENDIX B— FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—Notes F and
G”. Certain other PBCs appear in the financial statements as Enterprise Funds. For information regarding
Enterprise Funds PBCs, see “APPENDIX B-—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—
Notes J, K, L, M and N”, '

New York City Educational Construction Fund
As of December 31, 1995, approximately $129.0 million principal amount of ECF bonds to finance costs
related to the school portions of combined occupancy structures was outstanding. Under ECF’s leases with
the City, debt service on the ECF bonds is payable by the City to the extent third party revenues are not
sufficient to pay such debt service.

New York City Housing Authority :

As of December 31, 1995, the City had guaranteed $31.7 million principal amount of HA bonds. The
Federal government has agreed to pay debt service on $28.4 million principal amount of additional HA
indebtedness guaranteed by the City. The City has also guaranteed the repayment of $203.4 million principal
amount of HA indebtedness to the State, of which the Federal government has agreed to pay debt service on
$95.9 million, The City also pays subsidies to the HA to cover operating expenses. Exclusive of the payment
of certain labor costs, such subsidies amounted to $123.5 million in the 1995 fiscal year and are projected to
amount to approximately $27.08 million in the 1996 fiscal year.

New York State Housing Finance Agency
As of December 31, 1995, $298.7 million principal amount of HFA refunding bonds relating to hospital
and family care facilities leased to the City was outstanding. HFA does not receive third party revenues to
offset the City’s capital lease obligations with respect to these bonds. Lease payments, which are made by the
City seven months in advance of payment dates of the bonds, are intended to cover development and
construction costs, including debt service, of each facility plus a share of HFA's overhead and administrative

expenses.

Dormitory Authority of the State of New York
As of December 31, 1995, $417.2 million principal amount of DASNY bonds issued to finance the
design, construction and renovation of court facilities in the City was outstanding. The court facilities are
leased to the City by DASNY, with lease payments made by the City in amounts sufficient to pay debt service
on DASNY bonds and certain fees and expenses of DASNY.

City University Construction Fund
As of December 31, 1995, $671.3 million principal amount of bonds, relating to Community College
facilities, of the Dormitory Authority subject to capital lease arrangements was outstanding. The City and
the State are each responsible for approximately one-half of the CUCF’s annual rental payments to the
Dormitory Authority for Community College facilities which are applied to the payment of debt service on
the Dormitory Authority’s bonds issued to finance the leased projects plus related overhead and administra-
tive expenses of the Dormitory Authority.
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New York State Urban Development Corporation
As of December 31, 1995, $57.4 million principal amount of UDC bonds subject to executed or
proposed lease arrangements was outstanding. This amount differs from the amount calculated by UDC
($69.4 million) because UDC has included certain interest costs relating to Public School 50 and Intermedi-
ate School 229 in Manhattan in its calculation. The C1ty leases schools and certain other facilities from UDC,

New York City Housing Development Corporation -

As of December 31, 1995, $227.9 million pnnmpal amount of HDC bonds was subject to a capital
reserve fund arrangement with the City. This amount is not included in the amount of gross PBC indebted-
ness included in the table on Outstanding Indebtedness above. Of the total principal amount of outstanding
HDC bonds, $228.6 million relating to the General Housing Program is required to be secured by a separate
$18.1 million capital reserve fund. HDC receives substantial third party revenues, and to date the City has
not been required to make any payment to HDC’s capital reserve fund. Although no such payments are
contemplated during the 1996 fiscal year, no assurance can be given that such payments will not be required
as a result of shortfalls in mortgage payments, subsidies or otherwise. As of December 31, 1995, HDC’s
combined capital reserve funds amounted to approximately $18.2 million.
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SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION

Pension Systems

The City maintains a number of pension systems providing benefits for its employees and employees of
various independent agencies (including certain Covered Organizations). The systems combine features of a
defined benefit pension plan with those of a defined contribution pension plan. Membership in the City’s
five major actuarial systems on June 30, 1995 consisted of approximately 309,000 current employees, of
whom approximately 79,000 were employees of certain independent agencies whose pension costs in some
cases are provided by City appropriations. In addition, there are approximately 224,000 retirees and
beneficiaries currently receiving benefits and other vested members terminated but not receiving benefits.
The City also contributes to three other actuarial systems, maintains three non-actuarial retirement systems
for approximately 8200 retired individuals not covered by the five major actuarial systems, provides other
supplemental benefits to retirees and makes contributions to certain union annuity funds.

Each of the City’s five major actuarial pension systems is managed by a board of trustees which includes
representatives of the City and the employees covered by such system. The City Comptroller is the custodian
of, and has been delegated investment responsibilities for, the major actuarial systems, subject to the policies
established by the boards of trustees of the systems and State law.

The City’s pension expenditures for the 1996 fiscal year are expected to approximate $1.5 billion. In
fiscal years 1997 through 1999, these expenditures are expected to approximate $1.6 billion, $1.6 billion and
$1.5 billion, respectively. These expenditures reflect the phase-in of the increased annual pension funding
cost due to revisions resulting from an actuarial audit of the City pension systems. Certain of the systems
provide pension benefits of 50% to 55% of “final pay” after 20 to 25 years of service with additional benefits
for subsequent years of service. For the 1995 fiscal year, the City’s total annual pension costs, including the
City’s pension costs not associated with the five major actuarial systems, plus Federal Social Security tax
payments by the City for the year, are approximately 18.97% of total payroll costs. In addition, contributions
are also made by certain component units of the City and other government units directly to the New York
City Employees’ Retirement System, one of the five major actuarial systems. The State Constitution
provides that pension rights of public employees are contractual and shall not be diminished or impaired.

The City makes pension contributions to the five major systems in amounts equivalent to the pension
costs as determined in accordance with GAAP. Pension costs incurred with respect to the other actuarial
systems to which the City contributes and the City’s non-actuarial retirement systems and supplemental
pension programs for participants in these non-actuarial systems are recorded and paid currently.

The five major actuarial systems are not fully funded. The excess of the present value of future pension
benefits accrued over the value of the present assets of the pension systems for the five major actuarial
pension systems (including that which is attributable to independent agencies) as calculated by the City’s
Chief Actuary, on the basis of the actuarial assumptions then in effect, are set forth in the following table.

June 30 Amount(1)
(In Billions)
108D - e $6.51
1990 .- e et e 6.10
901 o e e e e e 4.16
1992, - e et 2.67
LU % T 0.49
1994 o e 5.94
(1) For purposes of making these calculations, accrued pension contributions receivable from the City were not treated as assets of the
system.

. June 30, 1994, amounts are the unfunded pension benefit obligation calculated in accordance with GASB Statement No,
) g.lsgll.ot:ure of Pension Information by Public Employee Retirement Systems and State and Local Government Employers. For Jun: 3&
1994, amounts are the unfunded actuarial accrued liability produced by the method used to fund the plans and reflect implementa-
tion of GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental Employers. Before adoption of this
Statement, such amount was $1.85 billion.
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The five major actuarial systems are funded on a basis which is designed to reduce gradually the
unfunded accrued liability of those systems. Additionally, the City Actuary estimated that, as of June 30,
1995, there was approximately $268 million of unfunded liability on account of the non-actuarial retirement
systems and supplemental pension programs for participants in these non-actuarial programs,

For further information regarding the City’s pension systems see “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATE-
MENTs—Notes to Financial Statements—Note R”. ’
Litigation :

The following paragraphs describe certain material legal proceedings and claims involving the City and
Covered Organizations other than routine litigation incidental to the performance of their governmental
and other functions and certain other litigation arising out of alleged constitutional violations, torts,
breaches of contract and other violations of law and condemnation proceedings. While the ultimate outcome
and fiscal impact, if any, on the City of the proceedings and claims described below are not currently
predictable, adverse determinations in certain of them might have a material adverse effect upon the City’s
ability to carry out the 1996-1999 Financial Plan. The City has estimated that its potential future liability on
account of outstanding claims against it as of June 30, 1995 amounted to approximately $2.5 billion. See
“SECTION VII: 1996-1999 FINANCIAL PLAN—Assumptions—Expenditure Assumptions—2. Other Than Per-
sonal Service Costs—Judgments and Claims”.

Taxes ,
1. Numerous real estate tax certiorari proceedings alleging overvaluation, inequality and illegality are
pending against the City. Based on historical settlement activity, and including an estimated premium for
inequality of assessment, the City estimates its potential future liability for outstanding certiorari proceedings
to be $314 million at June 30, 1995. For a discussion of the City’s accounting treatment of its inequality and
overvaluation exposure, see “APPENDIX B—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Notes to Financial Statements—

Note H”..

2. The City has brought proceedings challenging the final class ratios for class two and class four
property certified by the State Board for the 1991 and 1992 assessment rolls, Class ratios are used in real
property tax certiorari proceedings involving allegations of inequality of assessment and ratios that are too
low can result in more successful claims for refunds for overpayments than appropriate. In a proceeding
consolidating the City’s challenges to the class ratios for the 1991 and 1992 assessment rolls, on Decem-
ber 15, 1994, the Supreme Court, New York County annulled the class two and class four ratios for those
years and remanded the matter to the State Board for recalculation of the ratios consistent with the decision,
Pursuant to a stipulation extending its time to appeal, the State Board has not yet appealed the judgment
but if the original class ratios were reinstated on appeal, it could lead to an increase in refunds fO;
overpayment of real property taxes paid in the 1992 and 1993 fiscal years. The State Board and the City ilave
also agreed to toll the City’s time to challenge final class ratios for classes two and four for the 1993 and 1994
assessment rolls, pending the outcome of efforts to resolve the matter without further - litigation. For
additional information, see “SECTION IV: SOURCES OF CITY REVENUES—Real Estate Tax—Assessment”,

3. On October 11, 1991, an organization calling itself Taxpayers for an Affordable New York com-
menced an action with several other plaintiffs in State Supreme Court, Albany County, against the State
Board, the State and the City seeking, among other things, a declaratory judgment that the Tax Resolution
adopted by the City Council for fiscal year 1992, as it pertained to real Property taxation, violated the State
Constitution. Plaintiffs alleged that the special equalization ratios calculated by the State Board in 1991
resulted in the overstatement of the average full valuatipn of real property in the City by hundreds of billions
of dollars with the result that the City’s real estate tax levy for fiscal year 1992 was in excess of the State
Constitution’s real estate tax limit. On August 3, 1995, the Appellate Division, Third Department, affirmed
the dismissal of the action by the lower court and leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals was (’ienied on
November 30, 1995. Similar actions relating to the real estate tax levies for fiscal years 1993, 1994 and 1995
have been commenced by other groups of taxpayers arid are also pending in State Supreme Court Albany
County, Although plaintiffs do not specify the extent of the alleged real property overvaluation an, sy
determination significantly reducing the real estate tax limit for these years could subject ,the City ‘to
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substantial liability for real property tax refunds and could have an adverse impact on the amount of debt the
City can have outstanding under the general debt limit (defined as 10% of the average full value of taxable
real estate in the City for the most recent five years). :

4. A number of petitions for administrative review of the Commissioner of Finance’s denial of refund
claims are pending in which the taxpayers claim they are due refunds under the Banking Corporation and
General Corporation Tax Laws due to their payment of tax on interest from Federal obligations in violation
of 31 U.S.C. Section 3124(a). In addition, an action was commenced by Astoria Federal Savings and Loan
Association (“Astoria Federal Savings”) in New York Supreme Court, Nassau County, in which the City was
not originally named as a party, seeking a declaratory judgment that, inter alia, interest on certain bonds
issued pursuant to the Public Authorities Law are exempt from the City’s franchise taxes. The City was
granted leave to intervene in the action, and on August 29, 1994 the City’s motion for summary judgment was
granted. The plaintiffs have appealed and if the taxpayers’ positions are upheld on appeal, the City could
become liable to pay substantial refunds and could experience a substantial decrease in revenues earned
from such taxes.

Miscellaneous

1. Forty actions seeking in excess of $364 million have been commenced in State Supreme Court, New
York County, against the City seeking damages for personal injuries and property damage in connection with
an explosion of a Con Edison steam pipe which occurred in Gramercy Park on August 19, 1989,

2. On April 3, 1990, the New York State Court of Appeals ruled, in a case brought by a group of New
York City recipients of AF DC, that the New York Social Services Law requires that AFDC recipients receive
for housing an adequate allowance that bears a reasonable relationship to the cost of housing and remanded
the case to the trial court. The shelter allowance, while determined by the State Department of Social
Services (“DSS”), is funded by contributions from the Federal, State and City governments. The City’s
contribution is 25% of the total allowance. If plaintiffs are ultimately successful in seeking substantial
increases in the shelter allowance, it could result in substantial costs to the City.

3. Pursuant to regulations of the DSS, the New York City Human Resources Administration provides
2 limited number of medically disabled and/or physically handicapped persons with “sleep-in home attend-
ants” who are assigned to live in the person’s home on a 24-hour basis. On June 12, 1989, the Appellate
Division, Second Department affirmed a determination by the New York State Industrial Board of Appeals
(“IBA’)ina proceeding initiated by one union representing sleep-in home attendants that the attendants were
covered by the Minimum Wage Law. In May 1984, the union commenced a separate but related action in the
Supreme Court, New York County on behalf of a number of sleep-in attendants claiming, inter alia, that since
1981 the attendants were entitled to compensation for a 24-hour day and at a rate in excess of the minimum
wage. That action has been stayed pending the outcome of the present proceeding before the IBA.

While the potential cost to the City of adverse determinations in the two proceedings cannot be deter-
mined at this time, such findings could result in substantial costs to the City depending on the number of hours
deemed worked by particular attendants, the extent of State and Federal reimbursements, the number of
attendants actually covered by a final determination and the rate of pay to be applied. '

4. In an action brought by the New York City Coalition to End Lead Poisoning and other plaintiffs,
against the City and other defendants, on May 30, 1991, the Appellate Division, First Department, denied the
City’s motion for leave t0 appeal to the Court of Appeals a decision of a lower court ordering the City to
promulgate regulations consistent with local law governing the removal of lead-based paint in residential
buildings. On May 4, 1993, the Supreme Court issued a decision holding the City in contempt for failing to
comply with its 1990 order and fined the City approximately $14,000. On December 14, 1995, the City was held
in contempt again for its continuing failure to cpmply W}th the 1990 (_)rder and the City was fined $1,250. The
City could incur substantial costs if it 18 rec'llflrec-i to issue regulations implementing the law as currently
interpreted by the courts. In addition, tl_xe litigation challfmge_s other aspects of the City’s lead poisoning
prevention activities such as screening children for lead poisoning, the timeliness and adequacy of the City’s
enforcement programs and inspection of day care facilities. Adverse determinations on these issues could
result in substantial additional costs to the City. In addition, on June 27, 1994, the United States District Court
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for the Southern District of New York granted a motion to add the City as a defendant in a class action brought
by all tenants living in buildings owned, managed, operated or maintained by each of the defendants secking to
order such defendants (i) to notify their tenants regarding the lead hazards in defendants’ buildings, (ii) to take
steps to minimize the harmful effects of lead to the tenants, (jii) to create a fund, paid for by defendants, to
medically surveil and monitor certain children in these buildings, (iv) to refrain from evicting tenants and
withholding security deposits, and (v) to abate the lead hazards in the buildings. On December 6, 1995, an
additional plaintiff was permitted to join the class action and to add the Lead Industries Association and nine
large corporations that process lead pigment or lead-based paint as defendants. If plaintiffs succeed in all their
claims, the City would incur substantial costs. Nearly 1,000 claims have been filed against the City on behalf of
children exposed to lead in City apartments. The suits seek to hold the City liable for failing to fix lead-based
paint hazards in City-owned apartment buildings and for failing to enforce lead safety standards in privately
owned buildings. Such claims could cost the City in excess of $500 million in the future. Finally, legislation was
passed in the United States Congress that could impose substantial costs on municipalities, including the City,
in connection with lead paint removal. - :

5. Numerous actions have been asserted against the City and the Covered Organizations alleging that
the City and the Covered Organizations have failed to provide proper housing and services to homeless
individuals and families in violation of the State Constitution, the State Social Services Law, the State Mental
Hygiene Law, and various related regulations. In one action brought by homeless mentally-ill patients released
from City hospitals, the New York Court of Appeals has ruled that the City must, inter alia, assist in locating
adequate and appropriate housing when such patients are discharged from in-patient care. The State Supreme
Court on remand ordered Defendants to propose procedures for monitoring the post-discharge status of such
patients. It is unclear at present what costs the City may incur as a result of these rulings. Adverse determina-
tions in the other actions could also result in substantial costs to the City,

6. On December 1, 1992, certain New York City Transit Police retirees filed an action in State Supreme
Court, Queens County (later transferred to New York County) challenging legislation that provides, among
other things, for the payment of variable supplement fund benefits only to retired transit police officers who
did not retire by reason of a disability and who retired after July 1, 1987 (the “Transit Police Variable
Supplement Legislation”). Plaintiffs allege that the Transit Police Variable Supplement Legislation violates the
United States and New York Constitutions as well as Federal and State statutes and seck either to have the
legislation declared void or to obtain benefits equivalent to those to which the statutory beneficiaries are
entitled. On September 23, 1994 the City’s motion for summary judgment was granted and was subsequently
affirmed by the Appellate Division, First Department on January 9, 1996. On April 23, 1993, plaintiffs filed a
second lawsuit in State Supreme Court, Queens County (also transferred to Supreme Court, New York
County), against the City, the Transit Authority and the unions representing certain City employees alleging a
breach of duty of fair representation and other violations of law in the enactment of the Transit Police Variable
Supplement Legislation and seeking damages of $600 million of which $300 million are sought from the City.
In August 1995, former uniformed members of the New York City Police Department and New York City Fire
Department who retired by reason of disability brought separate actions making claims similar to those made
by the Transit Police retirees in the above-described actions.

7. In May 1991, the Natural Resources Defense Council and other petitioners initiated a proceeding in
State Supreme Court, New York County, seeking to compel the City to fully implement various provisions of
Local Law No. 19 (“Local Law No. 19) for the year 1989, the New York City Recycling Law, including annual
targets for increasing the tonnage of solid waste that is recycled by the Department of Sanitation and its
contractors. On February 22, 1994 the New York State Court of Appeals upheld a decision ordering the City to
comply with the various mandates of Local Law No. 19 and remanded the case to State Supreme Court to
establish a new timetable for compliance. On August 17, 1995, the Appellate Division, First Department
modified a Revised Order which contained new timetables for the City’s compliance by deleting vari0u;
provisions of the Revised Order and adding certain provisions previously agreed to by the litigating parties that
took into account changes that had occurred since the commencement of the proceeding. The City did not
appeal from the Revised Order’s recycling tonnage requirements, and these requirements thus remain in effect

65



pursuant to the new timetables set forth in the Revised Order. The City may seek to obtain amendments to
Local Law No. 19. If the City is unable to obtain such amendments and is required to fully implement Local
Law No. 19, the City will likely incur substantial costs.

8. On January 26, 1994, the Eastern Paralyzed Veterans Association (“EPVA”) commenced an action in
the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York alleging that the City had failed to take
steps prescribed by the Americans with Disabilities Act and regulations promulgated thereunder to make the
streets and sidewalks of the City accessible to handicapped persons. The EPVA seeks to compel the City,
among other things, to implement a plan to provide curb ramps or other sloped areas at all intersections in the
City by January 26, 1995. If the EPVA were to prevail in this action, performing such work in an expedited time
frame would impose substantial costs on the City.

9. In January 1994, the President of the United Federation of Teachers and various parents and
teachers commenced a proceeding against the City, BOE and the New York State Department of Labor
alleging, as against BOE, a failure to maintain the City’s school buildings in safe condition as required by the
City’s Building Code and the State’s Education and Labor Laws and, as against the City, a failure to inspect the
schools on a regular basis. The suit, which does not seek a specified amount of damages, asks that the
defendants be required to perform their inspection, repair, and maintenance obligations alleged to exist under
statute in regard to 37 complaints which they filed with respect to conditions at 20 schools and generally
throughout the school system. If the plaintiffs were to prevail, BOE could incur substantial costs which it is not
possible to estimate at this time.

10. Eight separate actions are pending in the State Supreme Court in Putnam County seeking damages
in the amount of approximately $16.5 billion in the aggregate for alleged injury to property caused by
regulations enacted for the protection of the water supply of the City.

11. In April 1994, a coalition of towns located in the City’s upstate watershed commenced litigation in
New York State Supreme Court, Albany County, against the City and State alleging deficiencies in the
environmental review process undertaken in connection with the City’s filtration avoidance application to the
United States Environmental Protection Agency, the City’s proposed land use regulations, and the City’s land
acquisition program in the upstate watershed. In December 1994, the City answered the petition and moved
for dismissal of part of this proceeding.

12. On January 30,1995, Robert L. Schulz and certain other plaintiffs filed an action in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of New York against the State, the City and various State and City
officials seeking, among other things, an order cancelling the issuance of certain City bonds issued on
January 31, 1995 as unconstitutional. Plaintiffs subsequently filed an amended complaint adding certain
Federal officials as defendants. The City has moved to dismiss this action. In the opinion of Brown & Wood,
Bond Counsel to the City, and the Corporation Counsel for the City, the contentions of the plaintiffs relating to
the City bonds are without merit.

13. On January 31, 1996, an action was commenced by the United States of America against the City, the
State and their respective social services agencies in the United States District Court for the Southern District
of New York, alleging that by failing to provide mandated services and protections, the City and the State have
submitted false claims to obtain incentive funding and reimbursement for foster care expenditures under the
Social Security Act. The complaint sceks treble damages amounting to more than $112 million. The City’s time
in which to respond to the complaint has not yet expired.

Tax Exemption

In the opinion of Brown & Wood, New York, New York, as Bond Counsel, except as provided in the
following sentence, interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds will not be includable in the gross income of the owners
of the Bonds for purposes of Federal income taxation under existing law. Interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds
will be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof retroactive to the date of issue of the Bonds (a) in
the event of a failure by the City or any of the Organizations to comply with applicable requirements of the
Code, and covenants regarding use, expenditure and investment of bond proceeds and the timely payment of
certain investment earnings to the United States Treasury or (b) with respect to each Organization, in the event
that the $150,000,000 limitation imposed by the Code on outstanding tax exempt nonhospital bonds is
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exceeded within three years of the later of the date such Organization’s Project is placed in service or the date
of issue of the related Bonds; and no opinion is rendered by Brown & Wood as to the exclusion from gross
income of the interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds for Federal income tax purposes on or after the date on which
any action is taken under the Bond proceedings upon the approval of counsel other than such firm. The
Organizations will covenant among other things, not to take any action that would cause interest on the Tax-
Exempt Bonds to be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof. In rendering its opinion, Brown &
Wood will rely upon the representations made by the Organizations with respect to material facts within the
knowledge of the Organizations and upon the accompanying opinions of their counsel, and Brown & Wood
will make no independent investigation thereof. See “SECTION II: THE BONDS—USE OF PROCEEDS.”

Interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds will be exempt from personal income taxes imposed by New York State
or any political subdivision thereof, including New York City.

~ Interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds will not be a specific preference item for purposes of the Federal
individual or corporate alternative minimum tax. The Code contains other provisions that could result in tax
consequences, upon which Brown & Wood renders no opinion, as a result of ownership of such Tax-Exempt
Bonds or the inclusion in certain computations (including without limitation those related to the corporate
alternative minimum tax and environmental tax) of interest that is excluded from gross income. Interest on the
Tax-Exempt Bonds owned by a corporation will be included in the calculation of the corporation’s Federal
alternative minimum tax liability and Federal environmental tax liability. '

Ownership of tax-exempt obligations may result,in collateral tax consequences to certain taxpayers,
including; without limitation, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance companies, certain foreign
corporations doing business in the United States, certain S Corporations with excess passive income, individual
recipients of Social Security or railroad retirement benefits, taxpayers eligible for the eamed income tax credit
and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt
obligations. Prospective purchasers of the Tax-Exempt Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to applicabil-
ity of any such collateral consequences.

The difference, if any, between the initial public offering price to the public (excluding bond houses,
brokers or similar persons acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers) of a maturity of the Tax-
Exempt Bonds at which price a substantial amount of such maturity is sold and the amount payable at maturity
constitutes original issue discount, which will be excludable from gross income to the same extent as interest on
the Tax-Exempt Bonds for Federal, New York State and New York City income tax purposes. The Code
provides that the amount of original issue discount accrues in accordance with a constant interest method
based on the compounding of interest, and that a holder’s adjusted basis for purposes of determining a holder’s
gain or loss on disposition of Tax-Exempt Bonds with original issue discount (the “Tax-Exempt OID Bonds”)
will be increased by such amount. A portion of the original issue discount that accrues in each year to an owner
of a Tax-Exempt OID Bond which is a corporation will be included in the calculation of the corporation’s
Federal alternative minimum tax liability and Federal environmental tax liability. Consequently, éorporate
owners of any Tax-Exempt OID Bond should be aware that the accrual of original issue discount in each year
may result in an alternative minimum tax liability or an environmental tax liability although the owner of such
Tax-Exempt OID Bond has not received cash attributable to such original issue discount in such year.

Owners of Tax-Exempt OID Bonds should consult their personal tax advisors with respect to the
determination for Federal income tax purposes of the amount of original issue discount or interest properly
accruable with respect to such Tax-Exempt OID Bonds, other tax consequences of owning Tax-Exempt OID
Bonds and the other state and local tax consequences of holding such Tax-Exempt OID Bonds,

Legislation affecting municipal securities is constantly being considered by the United States Congress
There can be no assurance that legislation enacted after the date of issuance of the Bonds will not have ari
adverse effect on the tax-exempt status of the Tax-Exempt Bonds, Legislative or regulatory actions and
proposals may also affect the economic value of tax exemption or the market price of the Bonds,
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Taxable Bonds

The following discussion addresses certain Federal income tax consequences to United States holders of
the Taxable Bonds. It does not discuss all the tax consequences that may be relevant to particular holders. Each
holder should consult his own tax adviser with respect to his particular circumstances.

Interest on the Taxable Bonds will be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for purposes of
Federal income taxation. Interest on the Taxable Bonds will be exempt from personal income taxes imposed by
the State or any political subdivision thereof, including the City.

Ratings

Moody’s has rated the Bonds Baal. Standard & Poor’s has rated the Bonds BBB+. Fitch has rated the
Bonds A—. These ratings do not reflect any bond insurance relating to any portion of the Bonds. The City
expects that ratings on the MBIA Insurcd Bonds will be received prior to March 14, 1996. The ratings on the
MBIA Insured Bonds will be based on the insurance policy to be issued by MBIA. Bonds insured to maturity
by MBIA are rated “AAA” by Standard & Poor’s, “Aaa” by Moody’s and “AAA” by Fitch. Such ratings reflect
only the views of Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch, from which an explanation of the significance of such
ratings may be obtained. There is no assurance that such ratings will continue for any given period of time or
that they will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely. Any such downward revision or withdrawal could
have an adverse effect on the market prices of the Bonds.

In 1975, Standard & Poor’s suspended its A rating of City bonds. This suspension remained in effect until
March 1981, at which time the City received an investment grade rating of BBB from Standard & Poor’s. On
July 2, 1985, Standard & Poor’s revised its rating of City bonds upward to BBB+ and on November 19, 1987, to
A—. On July 10, 1995, Standard & Poor’s revised its rating of the City’s General Obligation Bonds downward
to BBB+. Standard & Poor’s stated that “structural budgetary balance remains elusive because of persistent
softness in the City’s economy, highlighted by weak job growth and a growing dependence on the historically
volatile financial services sector”. Other factors identified by Standard & Poor’s in lowering its rating on City
bonds included a trend of using one-time measures, including debt refinancing, to close projected budget gaps,
dependence on unratified labor savings to help balance the Financial Plan, optimistic projections on additional
Federal and State aid or mandate relief, a history of cash flow difficulties caused by State budget delays and
continued high debt levels.

Moody’s ratings of City bonds were revised in November 1981 from B (in effect since 1977) to Bal, in
November 1983 to Baa, in December 1985 to Baal, in May 1988 to A and again in February 1991 to Baal. On
March 1, 1996, Moody’s stated that the rating for City general obligation bonds remains under review pending
the outcome of the adoption of the City’s budget for the 1997 fiscal year and in light of the status of the debate
on public assistance and Medicaid reform; the enactment of a State budget, upon which major assumptions
regarding State aid are dependent, which may be extensively delayed; and the seasoning of the City’s economy
with regard to its strength and direction in the face of a potential national economic slowdown. Since July 15,
1993, Fitch has rated City bonds A—. On February 28, 1996, Fitch placed the City’s general obligation bonds
on FitchAlert with negative implications.

Underwriting

The Tax-Exempt Bonds are being purchased for reoffering by the Underwriters, for whom J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc.; Goldman, Sachs & Co-; Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated; and Prudential
Securities Incorporated are acting as lead Managers.

The Taxable Bonds are being purchased for reoffering by Aubrey G. Lanston & Co. Inc.

The compensation for services rendered in connection with the underwriting of the Tax-Exempt Bonds

shall be $6,159,107.26, and of the Taxable Bonds shall be $559,545.00. The Contract of Purchase provides that
the Underwriters will purchase all of the bonds of each Series if any are purchased.

Certain of the Underwriters hold substantial amounts of City bonds and notes and MAC bonds and may,
from time to time during and after the offering of th_e Bonds to the public, purchase and sell City bonds and
notes (including the Bonds) and MAC bonds for their own accounts or for the accounts of others, or receive

payment or prepayments thereon.
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Legal Opinions _ o

The legality of the authorization and issuance of the bonds of each Series will be covered by the approving
legal opinion of Brown & Wood, New York, New York, Bond Counsel to the City. Reference should be made
to the form of such opinion set forth in Appendix D hereto for the matters covered by such opinion and the
scope of Bond Counsel’s engagement in relation to the issuance of the Bonds. Such firm is also acting as
counsel for and against the City in certain other unrelated matters,

Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City by its Corporation Counsel,

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP, New York, New York, Special Counsel to the City, will pass upon certain
legal matters in connection with the preparation of this Official Statement, A description of those matters and
the nature of the review conducted by that firm is set forth in its opinion and accompanying memorandum
which are on file at the office of the Corporation Counsel. Such firm is also acting as counsel against the City n
certain unrelated matters. B

Certain legal matters will be passed upon by Rbgers & Wells,_NeW York, New York, counsel for the
Underwriters. Such firm is also acting as counsel for and against the City in certain other unrelated matters,
Continuing Disclosure Undértaking : ’ :

As authorized by the Act, and to the extent that (i) Rule 15¢2-12 (the “Rule”) of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934 Act™)
requires the Underwriters to determine, as a condition. to purchasing the Bonds, that the City will covenant tc;
the effect of the provisions here summarized (the “Undertaking”), and (ji) the Rule as so applied is authorized
by a Federal law that as so construed is within the powers of Congress, the City agrees with the record and
beneficial owners from time to time of the outstanding Bonds (“Bondholders”) to provide: .

- (a) within 185 days after the end. qf its 1996 fiscal year and each subsequent fiscal year, to each nationally
recognized municipal securities information repository and to any New York State information
depository, core financial information and operating data for the prior fiscal year, including. (i) the
City’s audited general purpose financial statements, prepared in accordance with generally aécepted

~ accounting principles in effect from time to time, and (ii) material historical quantitative data on the
City’s revenues, expenditures, financial operations and indebtedness generally of the type found in
this Official Statement in Sections IV, V and VIII and under the captions “1991-1995 Statement of
Operations” in Section VI and “Pension Systems™ in Section IX; and ‘ -

(b) in a timely'manner, to each nationally recognized municipal securities information repository or to
the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, and to any New York State information depository
notice of any of the following everits with respect to the Bonds, if material: T

(1) principal and interest payment delinquencies;

(2) non-payment related defauits; o .

-(3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficﬁlties;
(4) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
(5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

(6) ad\{erse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the security;
(7) modifications to rights of security holders; ' :

(8) bond calls; ' '

-(9) defeasances; _

' (10) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities:

(11) rating changes; and o : ’

. (12) failure of the City to comply with clause;(a) above,
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Event (3) is included pursuant to a letter from the SEC staff to the National Association of Bond Lawyers
dated September 19, 1995. However, event (3) may not be applicable, since the terms of the Bonds do not
provide for “debt service reserves”. For a description of the Bonds, see “SECTION II—THE BoNDS”. With
respect to the following numbered events: :

Events (4) and (5). The Bonds are being issued with credit enhancement to the extent stated in
«SgcTION II: THE BONDS—Bond Insurance.” The City does not undertake to provide any notice with respect
to credit enhancement added after the primary offering of the Bonds, unless the City applies for or participates
in obtaining the enhancement.

Event (6). For information on the tax status of the Bonds, see “SECTION IX: OTHER INFORMATION—Tax
Exemption” and “—Taxable Bonds”.

Event (8). The City does not undertake to provide the above-described event notice of a mandatory
scheduled redemption, not otherwise contingent upon the occurrence of an event, if (i) the terms, dates and
amounts of redemption are set forth in detail herein, (ii) the only open issue is which Bonds will be redeemed
in the case of a partial redemption, (iii) notice of redemption is given to the Bondholders as required under the
terms of the Bonds and (iv) public notice of the redemption is given pursuant to 1934 Act Release No. 2385 6 of
the SEC, even if the originally scheduled amounts are reduced by prior optional redemptions or Bond
purchases. :

The City expects to provide the information described in clause (a) above by delivering its first bond
official statement that includes its financial statements for the preceding fiscal year or, if no such official
statement is issued by the 185-day deadline, by delivering the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the
Comptroller by such deadline.

At March 6, 1996, there is no New York State information depository and the nationally recognized
municipal securities information repositories are: Bloomberg Municipal Repository, P.O. Box 840, Princeton,
New Jersey 08542-0840; Kenny Information Systems, Inc., 65 Broadway—16th Floor, New York, New York
10006; Disclosure, Inc., 5161 River Road, Bethesda, Maryland 20816, Attn: Document Acquisitions/Municipal
Securities; Moody’s NRMSIR Public Finance Information Center, 99 Church Street, New York, New York
10007; The Bond Buyer, 395 Hudson Street, New York, New York 10004, Attn: Municipal Disclosure; and
R.R. Donnelley Financial, Municipal Securities Disclosure Archive, 559 Main Street, Hudson, Massachusetts

01749.

No Bondholder may institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity (“Proceeding”) for the
enforcement of the Undertaking or for any remedy for breach thereof, unless such Bondholder shall have filed
with the Corporation Counsel of the City evidence of ownership and a written notice of and request to cure
such breach, and the City shall have refused to comply within a reasonable time. All Proceedings shall be
instituted only as specified herein, in the Federal or State courts located in the Borough of Manhattan, State
and City of New York, and for the equal benefit of all holders of the outstanding City bonds benefitted by the
same or a substantially similar covenant, and no remedy shall be sought or granted other than specific
performance of the; covenant at issue.

Any amendment 10 the Undertaking may only take effect if:

(a) the amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change
in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of the City, or type of
business conducted; the Undertaking, as amended, would have complied with the requirements of the
Rule at the time of award of the Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of
the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; the amendment does not materially impair the interests
of Bondholders as determined by parties unaffiliated with the City (such as, but without limitation, the
City’s financial advisor or bond counsel) and the annual financial information containing (if applicable)
the amended operating data or financial information will explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the
amendment and the “impact” (as that word is used in the letter from the staff of the SEC to the National
Association of Bond Lawyers dated June 23, 1995) of the change in the type of operating data or financial
information being provided; or
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(b) all or any part of the Rule, as interpreted by the staff of the SEC at the date of the Undertaking,
ceases to be in effect for any reason, and the City elects that the Undertaking shall be deemed terminated
or amended (as the case may be) accordingly.

For purposes of the Undertaking, a beneficial owner of a security includes any person who, directly or
indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship, or otherwise has or shares invest-
ment power which includes the power to dispose, or to direct the disposition of, such security, subject to certain
exceptions, as set forth in the Undertaking. Any assertion of beneficial ownership must be filed, with full
documentary support, as part of the written request to the Corporation Counsel described above.

Verification

The accuracy of (i) the mathematical computations of the adequacy of the maturing principal of and
interest earned on the government obligations held in escrow to provide for the payment of the refunded
bonds and (ji) certain mathematical computations supporting the conclusion that the bonds are not “arbitrage
bonds” under the Code, will be verified by a firm of independent certified public accountants,

Further Information

The references herein to, and summaries of, Federal, State and local laws, including but not limited to the
State Constitution, the Financial Emergency Act, the Moratorium Act, the MAC Act and the City Charter, and
documents, agreements and court decisions, including but not limited to the Financial Plan, are summaries of
certain provisions thereof. Such summaries do not purport to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by
reference to such acts, laws, documents, agreements or decisions, copies of which are available for inspection
during business hours at the office of the Corporation Counsel.

Copies of the most recent financial plan submitted to the Control Board are available upon written
request to the Office of Management and Budget, General Counsel, 6th Floor, 75 Park Place, New York, NY
10007, and copies of the most recent published Comprehensive Annual Report of the Comptroller are
available upon written request to the Office of the Comptroller, Deputy Comptroller for Finance, 5th Floor,
Room 517, Municipal Building, One Centre Street, New York, NY 10007 Financial plans are prepared
quarterly, and the Comprehensive Annual Report of the Comptroller is typically prepared at the end of
October of each year. '

Neither this Official Statement nor any statement which may have been made orally or in writing shall
be construed as a contract or as a part of a contract with the original purchasers or any holders of the Bonds.

THE CITY OF NEW YORK
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APPENDIX A
ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL FACTORS '

This section presents information regarding certain of the major economic and social factors affecting
the City. All information is presented on a calendar year basis unless otherwise indicated. The data set forth
are the latest available. Sources of information are indicated in the text or immediately following the charts
and tables. Although the City considers the sources to be reliable, the City has made no- independent
verification of the information presented herein and does not warrant its accuracy.

Population Characteristics ,

New York City has been the most populous city in the United States since 1810. The City’s population is
almost as large as the combined population of the next three most populous cities in the United States.

The population of the City grew steadily through 1950, reaching 7,890,000, and remained relatively
stable between 1950 and 1970. From 1970 to 1980, however, the City’s population declined substantially,
falling 10.4% over the decade. The final results of the 1990 census show a moderate increase in the City’s
population since 1980 due to an influx of immigrants primarily from Asia, the Caribbean and Latin America,
The following table provides information concerning the City’s population.

_ POPULATION OF NEW YORK CITY
Distribution of Population By County (Borough)

Year Population  1970=100  (The Bronx) (Bﬁgﬁ;n) (Ll:::hz‘t)tr:n) , ((Q):::::) (sf.fii_'.i“x‘;’.',‘,‘.’,d)
1960 ............ 7,781,984 986 1424815 2627319 1,698,281 1,809,578 221,991
1970 ... 7,895,563 1000 1,471,701 2,602,012 1539,233 1987.174 295443
1980(1) ......... 7071639 896 1168972 2231028 1428285 1891325 352,020
1984(2) ......... 7234514 916 1179413 2288807 1457879 1943568  364.847
1985(2) ++vvv.v. 7,274,054 . 921 1,187,894 2,304,368 1,464,286 1949579  367.927
1986(2) ......... 7319246 927  1,198837 2320507 1475202 1953616 371084
1987(2) «evvn.-. 7342476 930 1210712 2324361 1481531 1952640 373232
1988(2) ......... 7353719 931 1215834 2326439 1,484,183 1951557  375.706
1989(1) ......... 7344175 930 1213675 2316966 1486046 1950425 377,063
1990(1) ......... 7322564 927 1,203,789 2300664 1487,536 1951508 378977
1991(1) ... 7307,632 926 1199483 2,287,814 1483602 1951374 385359
1992(1) .. evne.n 7306182 925 1194250 2,281,404 1486579 1953066 390,883
1993(1) «evvneenn 7325648 928 1195516 2,279,152 1495353 1059993 395634
1994(1) ......... 7330,683 928 1,191,303 2,271,000 1506430 1964270 - 397,680

(1) Final census count, which may refiect an undercount of a significant number of persons and is subject to modificati
certain litigation with the Census Bureau. P 1 modification as a result of

(2) 1984-1988 based on midyear population cstimate of the Bureau of the Census as of September 1989,
Note: Does not include an undetermined number of undocumented aliens. .
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Burcau of the Census. 7

The following table sets forth the distribution of the City’s population by age between 1960 and 1990

DISTRIBUTION OF POPULATION BY AGE
(In Thousands)

1960 1970 1980 1990

Age % of Total % of Total %of Total % of Total
UBACE 5 veeveeeeierneeens 687 88 616 78 411 67 s 70
580 17 cuveeeeeensrannnnes 1478 190 1619 205 1295 183 1177 107
1810 24 +oemneeeieenennnn, 663 85 889 113 86 117 78 106
2510 34 11eeeeeierireeannn, 1056 136 1076 136 1203 170 1360 194
350 84 nnnnniiirienenens 1071 138 916 116 8% 118 (117 is9
B50 64..ceeverereennaeanns 2013 259 1832 282 1491 211 1410 194
65 and OVer ... ............ 814 104 948 120 92 134 953 139

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census.
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Economic Activity, 1969-1993

For at least a decade prior to the end of the fiscal crisis in the mid-seventies, New York City’s economy
lagged behind the national economy, as evidenced by certain of the broad economic indicators. The City’s
economy improved after that crisis, and through 1987 certain of the key economic indicators posted steady
growth, From 1987 to 1989 the rate of economic growth in the City slowed substantially as a result of the 1987
stock market crash and the beginning of the national recession. City employment declined for three
consecutive years from 1990 through 1992 before increasing slightly in 1993. Trends of certain major
economic indicators for the City and the nation are shown in the following table.

Trends of Major Economic Indicators 1969-93

Levels Average Annual Percent Change
19_6_2 27_6 ﬂ 39_3_ 1969-76 1976-88 1988-93
NYC
Population(1) (millions) ......... 79 74 73 73 (0.9) 0.1) (0.1)
Employment(2) (millions) ....... 38 32 3.6 33 (24 1.0 1.9
Personal Income(3) (billions) .. .. $38.8 $58.3 $151.8 $1984 6.0 83 5.5
Real Per Capita Personal
Tncome(4) «oovveenrranienanns $12,861.0 $12,858.8 $16,684.9 $17,5308 0.0 22 1.0
United States
Population(l) (millions) ......... 201.3 217.6 244.5 2578 1.1 1.0 1.1
Employment(2) (millions) ....... 70.4 79.4 105.2 110.5 1.7 24 1.0
Personal Income(3) (billions) .... $7782 $1,4554 $4,1728 $54792 94 9.1 5.6
Real Per Capita Personal
Income(4) ...oovvevrnennnnees $10,464.2 $11,721.4 $14,387.6 $14,678.9 1.6 1.6 0.5

(1) 1970, 1980 and 1990 figures are based on final census count. All other years are estimates. Source: U.S. Department of Commerce,
Bureau of the Census.

(2) Payroll employment based on Bureau of Labor Statistics (“BLS”) establishment survey. Source: U.S. Department of Labor,
Bureau of Eabor Statistics and New York State Department of Labor, Division of Research and Statistics.

(3) In current dollars. Income by place of residence. Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis,
(4) In average dollars for 1982-1984.

Employment Trends

From 1969 to 1977, economic activity in the City declined sharply while the U.S. economy expanded,
despite two national recessions (1969 to 1970 and 1973 to 1975) during this period. Locally, total employ-
ment dropped 16.1 percent, from 3,798,000 jobs to 3,188,000 jobs, or 2.2 percent per year over the eight-year
period. A loss of 287,000 jobs, or 5.2 percent per year, to 539,000 jobs in the manufacturing sector accounted
for nearly half of the City’s total employment loss during this period. Employment in the finance, insurance
and real estate (“FIRE”) sector declined by 50,000 jobs, or 1.4 percent per year, to 414,000 jobs, while
service sector employment remained relatively constant at 783,000 jobs.

The ripple effects of the decline in the manufacturing and FIRE sectors of the City’s economy, along
with stagnation in the services sector, caused declines during the 1969 to 1977 period in other sectors
sensitive to the health of the rest of the local economy. In particular, government employment fell 0.9 per-
cent per year to 508,000 jobs; transportation and public utilities employment dropped 2.8 percent per year to
258,000 jobs; wholesale and retail trade employment declined 2.3 percent per year to 620,000 jobs; and
construction employment decreased 6.0 percent per year to 64,000 jobs.

Conversely, from 1969 to 1977, U.S. real GDP rose on average 2.6 percent per year and employment
increased at an average annual rate of 2.0 percent. Thus, as the nation emerged from the OPEC-induced
recession in 1973 to 1975, a continuing local economic decline plunged the City into a fiscal crisis that led it
to the brink of bankruptcy.

The City’s economy during the period from 1977 to 1987 contrasts sharply with the 1969 to 1977 period.
During the 1977 to 1987 period, the City’s economy expanded along with that of the nation. From the late
1970s to the late 1980s, U.S. real GDP rose 2.5 percent per year, despite a severe recession from 1980 to
1982. But unlike growth in the 1969 to 1977 period when U.S. inflation accelerated and interest rates rose, in
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the 1977 to 1987 period, inflation generally decelerated and interest rates dropped by 50 percent from their
1981 peak. This provided a powerful impetus to the financial markets and the result was a bull market which
nearly tripled stock prices and increased the volume of shares traded by 800 percent. As a consequence, the
City’s FIRE sector employment grew dramatically and carried the rest of the local economy along with it.

Due to the strong growth in the FIRE and service sectors, total City employment rose 1.2 percent a year
to reach 3,590,000 in 1987, the highest level in a decade and a half. More specifically, during the 1977 to 1987
period, FIRE employment grew 2.9 percent per year to 550,000 jobs; service sector employment rose
3.5 percent per year to 1,108,000 jobs; wholesale and retail trade employment increased 0.3 percent per year
to 638,000 jobs; government employment grew 1.3 percent per year to 580,000 jobs; and construction
employment increased 6.3 percent per year to 119,000 jobs. Meanwhile, manufacturing employment contin-
ued its long-term decline, dropping 3.4 percent per year to 380,000 jobs, and transportation and public
utilities employment also continued to decline, decreasing nearly 1.8 percent per year. to 215,000 jobs.

Another turning point in the City’s economy was the October 1987 stock market crash. During 1988, the
U.S. economy boomed with real GDP growth of 3.9 percent and an increase in employment of 3.2 percent,
both above their average annual growth rates for the period from 1969 to 1987 of 2.6 and.2.1 percent,
respectively. The City’s economy, however, stagnated, and the ripple effects of job losses resulting from post-
crash layoffs of more than 20,000 employees in the FIRE sector, where wages are 50 percent above the City
average, caused City growth in 1988 essentially to disappear. After increases of 35,000 jobs a year from 1977
to 1987, City employment increased by only 15,000 jobs, or 0.4 percent, in 1988, All of that- increase was
attributable to government employment, which added 15,800 jobs, Service sector employment added 14,600
jobs, less than half its average annual growth in the 1977 to 1987 period, and such growth was more than
offset by declines in employment in the FIRE and thanufacturing sectors. ,

During 1989, the U.S. economy grew modcratelfy with an increase in real GDP of 2.5 percerit and an
increase in employment of 2.6 percent. The City’s economy, however, continued to stagnate, with continued
declines in employment in the FIRE and manufacturing sectors and very weak growth in government

employment.

The national economic downturn which began in July 1990 adversely affected the local economy, which
had been declining since late 1989. As a result, the City experienced significant job losses in 1990 with total
employment declining by 1.2 percent or 42,000 jobs. Employment increased only in the service, transporta-
tion and public utilities and government sectors, at rates of 0.2 percent, 5.1 percent (due to a strike in 1989)
and 1.0 percent, respectively. These increases were, however, more than offset by the job losses in the other
major sectors, specifically, the FIRE, wholesale and retail trade, manufacturing and construction sectors
which experienced decreases of 2.1 percent, 3.5 percent, 6.1 percent and 4.9 percent, respectively. -

During 1991, both the national and local economies continued to decline, with the City declining at a
faster rate than the nation. Local employment decreased by 191,500 jobs, or 5.4 percent, and the nation
experienced job losses totalling 1.2 million, or 1.1 percent. In 1992, job losses moderated in the City, with
employment in the City decreasing by 93,000 jobs, or 2.8 percent, and employment in the U.S, increased by
0.3 percent. In 1993, employment in the U.S. increased by 2.1 million jobs, Employment in the City began to
improve, experiencing a moderate gain of 2,000 jobs in 1993, In 1994, local employment increased for the
first year in half a decade, by 21,200 jobs,_ as n?tio;nal employment rose by 3.3 million jobs. In 1995,
employment in the U.S. increased by 2.6 million jobg and City employment. inicreased by 10,800 jobs.

Certain City employment information is presex:nted in the tables below. These tables are derived from
the Establishment Survey and the Current Population Survey which use sigtiificantly different estimation
techniques that are not comparable.
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Non-Agricultural Payroll Employment: Establishment Survey
Non-agricultural payroll employment trends in the City are shown in the table below.

CHANGES IN PAYROLL EMPLOYMENT IN NEw YORK CITY
(In Thousands)

EmploPyeaml::nt(l) Average Annual Employment
w !_e_a_r Level 28:_‘1_' 1;9_12 12_!2 }29_()_ 12_?1 293 292 1994 1995
Private Sector
Non-Manufacturing ........ 1989 26472 2630.1 2638.8 2647.2 2621.1 2474.3 24044 2415.1 24584 24914
Services....... Ciereees 1995 11769 1108.4 1123.1 11472 1149.0 1096.9 1093.1 1115.8 1146.6 1176.9
Wholesale and Retail
. trade v.ovvvrreiianes 1969 749.1 637.6 6343 6302 6083 5653 5456 5379 5411 548.1
Finance, Insurance and
Real Estate ......... 1987 -~ 549.7 549.7 5424 5305 519.6 493.6 4735 471.6 4802 47638
Transportation and
Public Utilities ...... 1969 3239 2149 2184 2181 229.1 2184 2048 2034 2015 200.6
Contract Construction . 1962 139.1 1188 120.1 1208 1149 998 87.1 858 888 887
Mining ....ovieeenenns 1967 2.5 0.7 0.5 03 03 03 04 03 03 0.3
Manufacturing............- 1960 946.8 379.6 370.1 359.5 3375 3078 292.8 2888 2806 279.6
Durable......covevrene 1960 303.6 1000 977 943 880 773 725 708 691 692
Non-Durable .......... 1960 6432 2796 2724 2652 2495 2305 2203 2180 2115 2104
Government(2) ........oouvns 1990 607.6 5804 596.1 6015 607.6 592.6 5841 579.7 5655 5444

Total Non-Agricultural ... 1969 3797.7 3590.0 3605.0 3608.2 3566.2 3374.8 3281.3 3283.4 3304.5 33154

RECENT MONTHLY TRENDS
(Total Payroll Employment in Thousands)

Sear J_aﬂ F_e!)_ Mir. ﬁE M J_une_ il;ll_! ﬂ ﬂ _O_cg Nov Dec

1985 . .iiviiiiraannn ..... 34273 3439.6 3462.5 3464.1 3485.6 3483.9 3487.4 3495.0 3491.7 3512.8 3547.6 3559.1
1986 o.vvvernnconnsnnaans 3480.5 3492.2 3524.0 3525.0 3536.9 3552.5 3543.9 3535.3 3544.0 3566.5 3585.2 3600.7
1987 voveennereaneinnens 3523.3 3537.8 3568.5 3577.9 3588.6 3610.6 3582.0 3584.5 3588.7 36153 3641.1 3661.8
1988 . vuvenerensernrnnnss 3557.8 35753 3609.4 3603.9 3603.8 3625.1 3578.3 3583.0 3595.4 3611.2 3651.4 3665.0
1989 .. vvvirrrranseaans 3566.9 3584.6 3611.2 3617.5 3622.2 3641.5 3592.5 3584.6 3594.7 3601.6 3623.9 3657.6
1990 . ovennneen e 1555.9 3563.1 3588.9 3578.2 3601.7 3606.0 3549.4 3553.9 3556.2 3540.1 3548.4 3553.1
1991 .. iivienraenanees 3389.2 3387.7 3407.6 3394.9 3396.5 3405.9 3339.8 33354 3341.6 3357.2 3371.0 3370.3
1992 o vvrivnanranensnnes 3258.5 3258.0 3282.0 3289.2 3292.4 3296.1 3276.9 3265.8 3264.3 3285.7 32954 3311.7
1993 1ovevnrinarerenneens 32016 3236.5 3259.4 3273.3 3282.4 3291.0 32834 3283.0 3276.6 3312.8 3330.7 3349.4
1994 ..ovivieansonns e 3944.1 3258.5 3295.1 3305.1 3315.0 3324.0 3303.5 32986 3300.3 3321.1 3340.4 3348.7
1995 ..cviieriacnnn e 3260.9 3268.4 32914 3308.1 3316.5 3332.8 3311.2 3304.6 3314.5 3342.2 3359.0 3374.9

(1) For the period 1960 through 1995,
(2) Excludes military establishments.
. Details may not add up to totals due to rounding. Payroll employment is based upon reports of employer payroll dat
I“I‘ct:.:;:abli::hi:;lent d‘?i'ta”), which %xcludc the self-employed and workers employed by private households or agriculture, Ii?ozrtfstry an?l
ishery.
Sources: U.S. Department of Labor, BLS and State of New York, Department of Labor, Division of Research and Statistics.
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Employment, Labor Force and Unemployment: Current Population Survey .
Changes in the employment status of the City’s resident labor force are shown in the following table.

EMPLOYMENT STATUS OF THE RESIDENT POPULATION OF NEW York Crry

Labor Force . .
Civilian Labor Force Participation Rate(1) ) Unemployment Rate(2)(3) )
Year Total  Employed Unemployed New York City United States New York City  United States
- . (In Thousands) )
1982 ............ 3,003 2,798 296 552% . 64.3% 9.5% 9.7%
1983 ............ 3,047 2,759 288 53.8 64.4 9.4 9.6
1984 1. ouv.e..... 3,081 2,806 275 53.9 64.7 8.9 7.5
1985 ............ 3,227 2,965 261 56.1 65.1 8.1 7.2
1986 ........ e 3,220 2,983 237 - 555 65.6 7.4 7.0
1987 ............ - 3,244 3,058 186 55.6 - 659 5.7 6.2
1988 ............ N/A N/A N/A N/A 66.2 N/A 55
1989(4).......... 3,441 3,201 240 . 588 . 66.8 7.0 5.3
1990 ............ 3,339 3,111 228 57.0 66.7 6.8 ~ 55
1991 ............ 3,307 3,023 284 56.4 66.3 8.6 6.8
1992 ............ 3,311 2,952 359 56.3 66.8 10.8 7.6
1993 ............ 3,290 2,956 334 55.9 66.7 10.1 7.4
1994 ............ 3,241 2,959 282 55.5 66.6 8.7 6.1
1995 ............ 3,180 2921 259 N/A N/A 8.2 56
RECENT MONTHLY TRENDS
Unemployment
Year Jan  Feb Mar Apr May  June Juy  Aug  Sept Oct Nov  Dec
1985 ...ovvvvvennnn.. 82% 9.6% 9.0% 9.1% 8.4% 7.4% 69% 1.7% 8.1% 8.4% 73% 7.1%
1986 ..ocvvvnnnnnn.n, 73 84 79 87 79 173 79 69 66 6.9 6.1 6.2
1987 vvvvvvvvnnnn... 74 60 58 52 54 60 60 5.1 45 58 6.6 5.0
1988(4).............. 53 42 46 N/A N/A NA N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
1989(4).............. N/A NA N/A NA NA NA N/A N/A NA NA 65 70
1990 ................ 70 65 . 68 59 69 60 72 62 179 177 74 63
1991 ...oveviinnnen. 74 73 81 89 89 87 88 93 77 85 102 93
1992 ...oiivnvninn... 104 109 103 95 105 115 121 111 114 11.0 105 110
1993 .ovvvvinnnn.., 134 113 96 98 95 94 95 95 87 103 102 10.5
1994 ........... iees 108 100 103 95 84 85 88 85 72 82 175 6.6
1995 ...l 77 90 85 86 82 81 78 83 80 80 78 8.1

(1) Percentage of civilian non-institutional population, age 16 and over, in labor force, employed or seeking employment.

2) Percentage of civilian labor force unemployed: excludes those persons unable to work and discouraged i
@ actively s%eking work because they belf:wc 10 suitable work is available). ged workers (i.e., persons not

3) Beginning.in late 1992 the Current Population survey which provides household employment and u 1 isti
@ methodology o acptember 1992 and thf;gggterd As a result, };16 ‘?ethodologyoz?ed for suchngenrlg)gyﬂfef::ssftg:;ntisg
methodology used for the period prior to September and, consequently, the pre-September 1992 data s § " )
data for Se%;ember 1992 and thereafter. P ata Is inconsistent with the

4) From April 1988 through October 1989, the monthly Current Population Survey was discontinued. Th
@ informa?ion for the City represents year-end (December) dats, © annual 1989 employment

Note: Monthly and semi-annual data are not seasonally adjusted, Because these estimates are based on a sample ratt

count of population, these data are subject to sanéphng error. Accordingly, small differences in the estimatese)serragl:nz tsfﬁ?ufdfgg
interpreted with caution. The Current Population Survey includes wage and salary workers, domestic and other houschold workers
self-employed persons, and unpaid workers who work 15 hours or more during the survey week in family businesses, s

Source: U.S. Department of Labor, BLS.

Consumer Prices and Wage Rates

The City’s economic growth during 1977 to 1987, fueled by the boom in the financia] sector, aggravated
local inflationary pressures. Since 1983, the local Consumer Price Index increased more than the national
average, rising 4.6 percent per year on average through 1989 versus 3.6 percent per year for the nation. This
was a reversal of the trend in the 1970s and early 1980s, when Iocal inflation lagged the national rate by a
percentage point. In 1988, local prices rose 4.9 percent, or 0.8 percentage points faster than the national rate
and in 1989, local inflation measured 5.6 percent compared to the national 4.8 percent rate. In 1990, prices at,
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the local and national levels experienced a sharp increase over 1989, climbing 6.1 percent and 5.4 percent,
respectively. Largely responsible for the surge in prices in 1990 was a steep upturn in energy prices created by
an OPEC agreement and the Middle East crisis. In 1991, the local inflation rate was 4.5%, which was 0.3 of a
percentage point higher than the national rate of 4.2%. In 1992, inflation was generally subdued both locally
and nationally with prices in the New York area rising 3.6% compared to 3.0% nationally. In 1993, inflation
remained subdued locally and nationally with prices rising 3.0% at both levels. In 1994, the New York area
inflation rate discounted the national inflation rate by two-tenths of a percentage point, with prices rising
2.4% locally versus 2.6% nationally. In 1995, the local inflation rate was less than the national rate by three-
tenths of a percentage point, at 2.5% versus 2.8% nationally.

The growth in the financial sector in the 1980s accelerated wage rate increases in the City, which had
run at about the national average of 7.6% per year from 1975 to 1981, a period of double-digit inflation.
Inflation has subsided since 1981; however, bolstered by high bonus payments in the financial sector, with its
multiplier effects on other industries, overall wage rates climbed 7.1% per year from 1982 to 1988, or
approximately 2.5 percentage points above the U.S. rate. In 1988, the premium over the national wage rate
increased to nearly 4 percentage points, as local wages, boosted by record bonus payments on Wall Street for
1987, rose 8.5% compared to 4.6% for the nation.

In 1989, given the sharp decrease in FIRE sector bonus payments and base compensation, local wage
rates rose only 3.4%, versus the national increase of 3.2%. As the stock market stabilized, local wage rates
increased 6.6% versus 4.6% for the nation in 1990, and in 1991 wage rates increased 4.0% versus 3.6% for
the nation. In 1992, boosted by FIRE sector bonus payments, local wage rates increased 11.3% versus 5.3%
for the nation. Due to a shift of bonuses normally paid out in early 1993 into late 1992, the 1993 growth rates
for both local and national wage rates were artificially low (1.3% locally versus 1.6% for the nation). In 1994,
local wage rates increased 1.4% versus 3.3% for the nation.

The following table presents information on consumer price trends for the New York-Northeastern
New Jersey and four other metropolitan areas, and the nation.

CHANGES IN CONSUMER PRICE INDEX: SELECTED AREAS

Percent Increase Over Prior Year

Area(t) 1970 1975 1980 1981 1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 199) 1994 1995
New York-NE. NJ.(2)........... 74 76113 9858 47 50 3.7 33 5.1 49 56 6.1 45 36 30 2425
Philadelphia, Pa.-NJ., ........... 6.8 8313110249 29 47 45 25 48 48 48 59 47 3.1 25 2926
Chicago, Ill.-Northwestern Ind. .. 5.7 7.914.4 9.6 68 4.0 3.8 38 2.1 41 39 51 54 41 29 31 2232
San Francisco-Oakland(3) ....... 51 9915113.0 69 1.0 58 4.0 3.0 35 44 49 45 44 33 27 1620
L.A.-Long Beach, Anaheim,

Calif. ...oviiiiiniieeienns 52106158 9760 18 4.6 46 33 42 46 51 59 41 36 25 1415
US. city average .........conveee 59 9.1135104 62 32 44 35 19 3.7 41 48 54 4.2 3.0 30 2.6 28

i erally the Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area (the “SMSA”), exclusive of farms. L.A.-Long Beach, Anaheim, Calif.
M gr:isstfgi[;atioz of two SMSA’s, and N.Y,, N.Y.-Northeastern N.J. and Chicago, Tll.-Northwestern Ind. are the more extensive
Standard Consolidated Areas. Area definitions are those established by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget in 1973. Citics

in the respective areas had a population of one million or more according to the 1990 census.

ince J 1987, the New York area coverage has been expanded. The New York-Northeastern New Jersey area comprises the

@ ?&‘f%oigﬁghri of New York City, Nassau, Suffolk, Westchester, Rockland, Putnam, and Orange Counties in New Yoprk State;

Bergen, Essex, Hudson, Hunterdon, Middlesex, Monmouth, Morris, Ocean, Passaic, Somerset, Sussex, and Union counties in New
Jersey; and Fairfieid County and parts of Litchfield and New Haven Counties in Connecticut.

(3) The Consumer Price Index for San Francisco-Oakland was reported bi-monthly prior to 1987,
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, BLS.



Information on consumer price trends in the New York-Northeastern New Jersey metropolitan area for
certain items is set forth in the table below. : :

BY EXPENDITURE CLASS °

: : % Increase
Average Annual - December 1995 over
_ . % Increase 1985-95 % Increase 1993 December 1994
Expenditure Class ) US.  New York-NE. N.J. US.  New York-NE. N.J. US.  New York-NE. N.J.
AllTtems .........ce00vieennn.. 3.5 4.1 2.8 25 2.6 3.0 '
Food and Beverages. ......... 3.5 3.8 28 2.6 2.2 2.6
Housing ..................... 33 4.2 2.6 2.2 2.9 31
Apparel and Upkeep......... 23 19 1) 0.2) (1.1) 4.1
Transportation ......... e 27 31 3.6 2.9 1.5 2.2
Medical Care ................ 6.3 7.0 4.5 4.2 39 3.7
Entertainment .............., 3.6 3.9 2.5 31 33 3.0
Other Goods and Services.... 6.1 6.3 4.2 4.2 4.3 47

Note: Monthly data are not scasonally adjusted.
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, BLS,

Personal Income 7

~ While per capita personal income for City residents, unadjusted for the effects of inflation and the
differential in living costs, has increased in recent years and remains higher than the average for the United
States, it fell from 1950 through 1979 as a proportion of both the national and New York metropolitan area
levels. This relative decline in per capita income of City residents was partially because the incomes of
households moving into the City were substantially lower than those of departing households, which
relocated mostly to the City’s suburbs. As a result of the surge in Wage rates and employment, growth in
personal income in New York City also increased in the mid-1980s. From 1971 to 1981, income growth in the
City was below the U.S. rate by nearly four percentage points, as U.S. employment grew and City employ-
ment for most of that period declined. From 1982 to 1992 (the most recent year for which local personal
income data are available), New York City personal income averaged 7.2 percent growth compared to 6.6
percent for the nation. The following table sets forth recent information regarding personal income in the
City.
4 PERSONAL INCOME IN NEW YORK Crry(1)

Personal Income ' Per Capita Personal Income
Average Annual Average Annual
e TR TR e o

Year {In Billions) Nyc US. Nyc Nyc US. us. Counties(2) Area(3)
1983 ... $1039 80%  64% $14474 69% 54% 1174% 8559 96.2%
1984 ... 1143 100 102 15801 92 99 1166 84.1 95.9
1985 ... 122.3 7.0 7.1 16,819 6.4 6.3 116.7 83.4 95.8
1986... 1314 74 6.2 17956 68 51 1186 82.7 95.7
1987 ... 140.3 6.8 59 19,107 64 54 119.8 823 95.7
1988 ... 1518 8.2 7.2 20,636 8.0 6.6 1213 83.2 95.7
1989 ... 1617 6.5 7.5 22012 6.7 6.6 1214 83.5 95.8
1990 ... 173.7 7.5 6.7 23,726 7.8 5.6 123.9 85.2 96.2
‘1991 ... 1788 ) 2.9 40 .24’464 31 2.6 124.6 86.2 96.2
1992... 1920 74 6.1 26,283 7.4 48 127.7 89.6 96.7
1993 ... 1984 33 43 27,087 3.1 3.0 127.8 90.0 96.8

(1) In current dollars. Personal Income is a 'place.of residence measure of‘income which includes wages and salaries, other labor
income, proprietors’ income, personal dividend income, personal interest income, rental income of persons, and transfer payments,

(2) Suburban Counties consists of the counties of Nassau, Putnam, Rockland, Suffolk, and Westchester in New York State.
(3) Based on Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area (“PMSA”) which includes New York City, Putnam, Rockland and Westchester

counties.
Sources: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis and the Bureau of the Census.
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Sectoral Distribution of Employment and Income

Data on the sectoral distribution of employment and income reflect a growing concentration of FIRE
and services employment and a shrinking manufacturing base in the City relative to the nation. Within FIRE
and services, the expanding trend is especially more marked in finance, business and related professional
services. There are important implications of this structural shift from the manufacturing to the FIRE and
services sectors. First, average employee income in finance and related business and professional services
has been considerably higher than in manufacturing. Although the employment share of the FIRE sector
increased by 2 percentage points during 1977 to 1989, its earnings share increased by about 9 percentage
points, which reflects its high per employee income. However, the sudden shock in the financial industry of
the October 1987 stock market crash had a disproportionally adverse effect on the City’s employment and
income relative to the nation, Payroll employment data indicates that through December 1991 the City’s
FIRE sector lost 71,000 jobs since the October 1987 crash, significantly offsetting the employment gains in
other sectors. The City’s and the nation’s employment and income by industry sector are set forth in the
following table.

SECTORAL DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYMENT AND EARNINGS(1)

Employment Earnings(2)
1977 1995 1977 1993
Sector WC  Us. WC  Us  MC  Us  NMC O US
Private Sector
Non-Manufacturing ............-. 672% 518% 751% 61.6% 708% 512% 79.7% 62.1%
SEIVICES < v evevncrrnasenronnnses 24.6 186 355 281 249 179 34.1 25.1
Wholesale and Retail Trade....  19.5 »4 165 233 160 172 110 163
Finance, Insurance and Real
BStAte «vvevecnernconnaaseses 13.0 54 144 60 16.0 58 260 8.2
Transportation and Public
ULlItIES . oo vversonnenrnennoes 8.1 5.7 6.0 53 109 7.7 6.1 6.6
Contract Construction ......... 2.0 4.7 2.7 4.5 2.4 6.5 2.6 43
MININE . oorvnnsssrrannmenennss 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.5 04 1.8 0.0 0.8
Manufacturing .. ...cooeeeresrrees 169 239 84 158 148 259 7.5 19.2
Durable...oovvvervneenencenens 51 140 21 9.1 43 164 1.8 115
Non-Durable .....covneieeeeens 11.8 9.8 6.3 6.7 10.5 9.5 5.7 7.7
Government(3) «..oovvveveriieenees 159 183 164 165 144 169 128 187
Total Non-Agricultural ............. 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 100.0 100.0

(1) The sectoral distributions are obtained by dividing each industry’s employment or carnings by total non-agricultural employment
or earnings.

(2) Includes the sum of wage and salary disbursements, other labor income, and proprietors’ income. The latest information available
for New York City is 1992 preliminary data.

(3) Excludes military establishments.

Sources: The two primary sources of employment and earnings information are U.S. Dept. of Labor, BLS, and U.S. Dept. of
Commerce, Burcau of Economic Analysis (“BEA”), respectively.

Public Assistance

Between 1960 and 1972, the number of persons in the City who were recipients of some form of public
assistance more than tripled from 324,200 to 1,265,300. The bulk of the long-term increase occurred in the
Aid to Families with Dependent Children (“AFDC”) program, which more than quadrupled during that
period.

Between 1972 and 1982, the number of recipients, including those in the Supplemental Security Income
(“SST”) program, declined fairly steadily, except for temporary increases r}oted in 1975 and 1976, when the
City was experiencing the effects of a national recession. From 1983 until 1987, the number of recipients
increased, reflecting lingering effects of the 1982 recession. While figures for 1988 and 1989 indicate a

decrease in public assistance recipients, the number of recipients has increased since 1990.



Public assistance and SSI recipients rose as a proportion of total City population from 4.2% in 1960 to
16.5% in 1975, Between 1975 and 1985, that proportion decreased to 15.8% of total population.

The following tables set forth the number of p;ersor‘xsl receiving pliblic assisténce in :thc City.

PERSONS RECEIVING PUBLIC ASSISTANCE IN NEW YORK CITY
(Annual Averages in Thousands)

Average AFDC AFDC
’ Annual Home Unemployed  Predetermination
Year(1) M Change (%) Relief AFDC Parent Grant
1986, . v 911.5 1.6) 1743 7176 19.6 —_
1987..... S 871.5 (4.4) 162.0 694.2 153 -_—
1988. . i 840.1 (3.6) 155.8 671.2 13.0 _
1989, cuinieiiiiiiiiiiiieeaninns 8185  (26) 1493 6420 120 14.6(2)
1990....... e 858.3 49 1397 6414 128 64.5
1991 0nineeaniieie e 939.4 94 1665 6775 150 80.4
1992...... e, 1,007.7 73 189.3  710.1 159 92.3
1993 et 1,085.6 77 2141 7646 276 79.2
1994, 0 0ieeeiiii e, 1,140.6 51 2299 8019 403 68.5
1995, e i, L1095  (27) 2077 7994 465 55.9

(1) Figures do not include aged, disabled or blind persons who were transferred from public assistance to the SSI program, which is
primarily Federally funded. According to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the SSI program supported, as of
December of each year, a total of 227,068 persons in 1979; 223,934 persons in 1980; 217,274 persons in 1981; 207,484 persons in
1982; 206,330 persons in 1983; 211,728 persons in 1984; 217,852 persons in 1985; 223,404 in 1986 and 227,918 in 1987. .

(2) Figure comprises persons receiving public assistance as predetermination grant recipients pending AFDC eligibility for only
October through December of 1989, s - :

Note: Due to a change in statistical-measurements, the decline in public assistance recipients for 1987 may be slightly overstated.

RECENT MONTHLY TRENDS
(Total Recipients In Thousands)

Year Jan.  Feb,  Mar.  Apr.  May June  July  Aug Sept.  Oct.  Now Dec.
1985........ 9239 921.0 9312 9357 9245 9251 925.8 930.5 9226 9276 9220 9229
1986........ 9202 9178 9189 9197 9165 913.0° 9156 906.8 9049 90738 8976 8989
1987........ 8948 890.1° 8939 8940 8895 8859 8735 8593 8540 8452 8312 8470
1988........ 8394 8522 8563 8651 8526 846.3 8389 8363 8262 8259 8201 8223
1989........ - 8134 8162 8211 8167 8153 8150 8130 - 8207 8178 8251 8243 8230
1990........ 8236 827.6. 8390 8417 8497 8596 859.8 8714 8717 8802 883.1 8923
1991........ 859 8999 9140 9232 9292 9368 M1 9538 9552 9g9s snre 977.2
1992........ 9888 9854 SBTL 9B9L 9944 9997 10052 LOILG 10183 10315 1o0pre 1,053.7
1993........ 1,047.5 1,053.9 1,068.0 1,078.9 1,081.8 1,089.0 1,092.0 1,096.7 1,101.0 1,103.7 1,104.9 11125
1994, ....... LIL3 11152 L1364 LISTS L1398 L1406 11460 11474 11494 11510 119gs 1,157.7
1995........ 1,150.5 1,1553 1,160.6 1,140.5 1,1285 1,119.4 1,100.6 1,101.4 1,084.8 1,071.1 1,054.8 1,046.4

Note: Due to a change in statistical measurements, the figures for 1987 may be slightly overstated, )
Source: The City of New York, Human Resources Administration, Office of Budget and Fiscal Affairs, Division of Statistics.

Retail Sales _

The City is a major retail trade market, and has the greatest volume of retail sales of any city in the
nation. After a very large increase in 1980, retail sales growth in New York City moderated in 1981, Between
1984 and 1986, retail sales, particularly of durable goods, grew at an increased rate, outpacing the nation in
1985 and 1986. Retail sales increased slightly by 0.2% in 1987 mainly because consumers shifted their
purchases into 1986 (sales increased 17.3%) to take advantage of the expiring sales tax deductibility on
federal income tax returns. The October 1987 stock market crash had a temporary ,dam'pening effect on
retail sales, but in 1988, sales increased by 10.8%. By 1989 and 1990, however, the local recession became
apparent as retail sales in the City increased only slightly by 0.4% and then declined by 0.8%, respectively,
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over the previous years’ figures. Retail sales decreased in 1991 by 4.4%, by 3.4% in 1992 and by 3.6% in 1993.
The retail sales figures for 1992 are based on a different sample of data than for 1991; therefore, year over
year comparisons for 1992 may be distorted. Retail sales figures prior to 1992 were based, and, for 1993 and
thereafter will be based, on the same sample of data as the prior year figures. Trends in the City’s retail sales
are shown in the table below.

RETAIL SALES IN NEW YORK CITY
Annual Percent Change

Total Retail Sales Total Retail Non-
(In Billions) Sales Durable(l) Durable(2)

1083 ovvivernconrransanansnns $290 $1,1674 98% 94% 55% 62% 20.0% 16.3%
1984 o vvveveerncansmeranoraes 30.9 1,283.8 6.3 10.0 4.5 6.8 10.0 16.2
1085 vvvrernronnnarsnnonnnnns 33.8 1,373.8 94 7.0 6.4 5.6 15.3 9.7
TOBE v vvvrrearnasarsassassans 39.6 1,449.2 17.3 55 9.1 3.7 32.1 8.6
1987 vvvuvennssnnanannonssonee 39.6 1,538.7 (0.1) 6.2 1.1 6.1 (1.9) 6.3
1988 v ovvvrnrrncarsrnasnenenes 43.6 1,649.5 10.1 7.2 10.1 6.0 10.1 9.3
L Y I R 435 1,761.1 (0.2) 6.8 2.0 7.8 3.7 5.0
1990 +vnenennnrnerneenenenes 428 18487 (15 50 25 68 @@L 19
1997 .vvvnrnvnrnanresranarnes 408 1,863.3 (4.9) 0.8 08) 28 (12.3) 2.7
1992 .vvniiireenrraenrees 389 1,952.6 (4.5) 4.8 1.9 3.1 17.7) 79
1993 tvineerirracnnonansnens 379 2,079.7 27 6.5 39) 39 0.3 11.1
1994 o ovvieniaronararasienans 389 2,237.7 2.8 7.6 1.6 42 5.6 13.2

(1) Includes food stores, eating and drinking places, gasoline stations, liquor stores, drug stores, fuel dealers, florists, hay-grain-feed
stores, farm and garden supply stores, stationery stores, newsstands and newsdealers, cigar stores and ice dealers and general
merchandise and apparel stores.
(2) Includes building materials, hardware, garden supply and mobile home dealers, automotive dealers, and furniture, home furnish-
ings and cquipment stores.

Sources: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, Current Business Reports, Monthly Retail Trade.

Business Activity
The City has a highly diversified economic base, and sustains a substantial volume of business activity in
the service, wholesale and retail trade and manufacturing industries.

The largest aggregate of economic activity in the City is the corporate headquarters complex, together
with ancillary services. The City is the location of a large number of major securities, banking, law,
accounting and advertising firms. While the City had experienced a substantial number of business reloca-
tions during the previous decade, the number of relocations declined significantly after 1976, although
declines in back office employment continued. Most of the corporations which relocated moved to sites
within the City’s metropolitan area, and continue to rely in large measure on services provided by businesses
which are still located in the City.

The City is a leading centet for the banking and 'securities iqdu§try, life insurance, communications,
publishing, fashion design and retailing, among other fields. The City is a major seaport and focal point for
international business. Many of the major corporations headquartered in the City are multinational in scope
and have extensive foreign operations. Numerous foreign-owned companies in the United States are also
headquartered in the City. These firms, which have increased in number substantially over the past decade,
are found in all sectors of the City’s economy, but are concentrated in trade, manufacturing sales offices,
tourism and finance. Foreign banking activities have increased significantly since the early 1970s and
continued to grow rapidly through the 1980s. Beal estate dollar value purchases in the United States
disclosed by foreigners are heavily mnccintrated in the City in terms of dollar value. The City is the location
of the headquarters of the United Nations, aqd sew{era! afflllatc_:d organizations maintain their principal
offices in the City. A large diplomatic community exists in the City to staff the 157 missions to the United
Nations and the 88 foreign consulates.
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Many factors have been cited as placing the City during the early 1970s at a competitive disadvantage as
a business location in relation to its suburbs and the Sunbelt region and contributing to the erosion of the
City’s economic base. Among these factors were the City’s tax burden, energy costs, labor costs, office space
market and cost of living. : '

The combined state and local tax burden on residents of the City is one of the highest among all cities in
the United States. In the 1988 fiscal year, average pér capita City taxes were $1,812 and average per capita
State taxes paid by residents of the State were $1,462, a combined tax burden of $3,274 per capita.
Nationwide, per capita local taxes averaged $698 and per capita state taxes averaged $1,074 for the 1988
fiscal year for a combined tax burden of $1,772. :

The cost of energy in the City is one of the highest in the nation, particularly for electricity. In May 1991,
electric costs in the City for industrial users was ranked the third highest among electric utility service areas
in the nation. ; :

During certain prior periods, in particular the mid-1960s and from 1977 through most of 1982, the
demand for office space in the City greatly exceeded the available supply, and as a result, the rental cost of
available space escalated sharply. However, at the end of 1982 and in early 1983, construction activity
increased and the office market softened. Data from Cushman & Wakeficld indicates that the office market
in the City, particularly in the downtown area where older, poorly maintained buildings had been vacated,
had been softening from the mid-1980’s through 1992. Recent data shows some improvement, with the
overall vacancy rate in Manhattan at approximately 14.8% as of June 1995.

Hotel Occupancy Rate :

A major world center for culture and the arts, the City is the nation’s leading tourist center, and tourism
is a major revenue producing industry in the City. In 1979, the City hosted a record number of tourist and
business visitors, 17.5 million, who injected nearly $2.3 billion into the local ¢conomy and filled the City’s
hotels to 81 percent of capacity. Despite current economic conditions worldwide, tourism continues as one
of the City’s major economic strengths. Based on revised estimates, during 1988, 25.5 million people visited
the City, a sharp rise over 1987, and they spent a total of $9.76 billion, a 9.7 percent increase from 1987. A
significant rise in overseas visitor business occurred, with the number of foreign visitors increasing to almost
4.6 million in 1988, a 15 percent increase from 1987. In 1988, overseas visitors continued to increase for the
fourth consecutive year after three years of declines in visitor business from abroad. The number of
conventions increased to 973 in 1988 from 965 in 1987, and the number of delegates attending stood at
3.0 million in 1988. The table below shows the number of visitors to the City and the City’s hotel occupancy
rate for each year since 1988.

NUMBER OF VISITORS AND HOTEL OCCUPANCY RATE IN NEW YORK Crry

Year (n Milons)  Aunast veropat Sl
1988 oo 25.0 76.7%

1989 ..viviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiea, 24.7 74.8

1990 ... 24.8 722

1 24.4 67.6 .

1992 o 24.8 68.9

1993 .o 23.9 70.3

1994 o _ 24.6 75.2

(1) Source: New York City Convention & Visitors Bureau, Inc.
(2) Source: Pannell, Kerr, Forster & Company, Statistics and Trend of Hotel and Motor Hotel Survey and Report

Infrastructure
The physical infrastructure of a city, its systems of water supply, sewers, bridges, streets and mass transit
is the underlying component of its economic base and is vital to its economic health. ’

The City owns and operates on behalf of tt'le Ne\j{r York City Water Board an upstate reservoir system
covering in excess of 1,950 square miles. Water is carried to the City by a transmission system, consisting of
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three aqueducts, two tunnels and over 5,700 miles of trunk and distribution lines. The City has undertaken
construction of a third water tunnel project to enhance the delivery capabilities and proper maintenance of
the City’s distribution system. In addition to supplying the needs of its residents and businesses, the City is
required by State law to sell water to municipalities in counties where its water supply facilities are located.
The City and its upstate watershed areas are subject to periodic drought conditions, which led the City to
impose mandatory water conservation measures during 1965, 1981 and 1985.

The sewer system contains approximately 6,300 miles of sewer lines and the City’s water pollution
system includes 14 operating treatment facilities. The City’s road network consists of some 6,200 miles of
streets and arterial highway, and more than 1,300 bridges and tunnels.

The Department of Sanitation operates the City’s one landfill. The capacity of the Fresh Kills landfill is
expected to last until approximately 2015. The City’s Ten-Year Capital Strategy reflects the estimated costs
of capital improvements necessary to maximize current waste disposal capacity and to provide for the
construction of six resource recovery plants at an estimated cost of $2.4 billion. The City has also entered into
an administrative settlement with the State Department of Environmental Conservation which will require
the City to spend approximately $200 million over ten years to install pollution control systems at the Fresh
Kills landfill.

The City’s mass transit system includes a subway system which covers over 238 route-miles with
469 stations and is the most extensive underground system in the world. The concentration of employment in
the City and its metropolitan area in the Manhattan central business district increases the importance of the
City’s mass transit system to the City’s economy. Two-fifths of all workers residing in the New York area use
public transportation to reach their workplace, the largest proportion among 26 large areas surveyed. New
York City’s subway system continues to undergo its most extensive overhaul since it was completed 50 years
ago.

The City has developed a ten-year capital program, the Ten-Year Capital Strategy, for fiscal years
1996-2005 which projects available capital funds over this period of $40.6 billion, of which approximately
929 will be financed with City sources. A portion of these funds is for rehabilitation or replacements of
various elements of the infrastructure.

Housing :

The housing stock in the City in 1991 consisted of 2,980,762 housing units, excluding units in special
places, primarily institutions such as hospitals and universities. The 1991 housing inventory represented an
increase of 140,505 units, or 5.0%, since 1987. While the total population of the City grew by 1.7% between
1987 and 1991, housing in the City remains in short supply. The following table presents the housing

inventory in the City.

HOUSING INVENTORY IN NEW YORK CITY
(Housing Units in Thousands)

Ownership/Occupancy Status 1581 1984 1987 1991
Total HOUSINg UItS. «. . «cenrvssrssresamsnmnsrsseemrnesrnseees 2,792 2,803 2,840 2,980
OWNET ULS o ovserevsensnnnmnsssnsnsssssmsonsaese e 755 807 837 858
OWNET-OCCUPIEA 1 v vvncnvnrvresecsnennnnaaesnaeneees 746 795 817 829
Conventional HOME ...o.coviviimiiieiiaiiienane. 581 598 576 555
Cooperative(l) ««.vnveererrereseananarneirearinens 165 197 242 238

Vacant fOr SAlE .. eovrverenererieienraeriiia 9 12 19 10

Rental UILS «voeerereonsrnrsmsmreensemssnansnsesesmsensees 1,976 1,940 1,932 2,027
Renter-OCCUpied . . oo vvvervrrarenetriiimeneanenren: 1,934 1,901 1,884 1,951

Vacant O REME. .o .veversesrerneaerinmmnrenaseeeeee, 42 40 47 76

Vacant Not Available For Sale Or Rent(2) ..covvvieniineennn 62 56 72 94

— ———
(1) Includes condominiums. . .
{2) Vacant units that ar¢ dilapidated, intended for seasonal use, held for occasional use, held for maintenance purposes or other

4 reasons. Note: Details may not add up to totals due to rounding. 7
P S an, Michael A., Housing and Vacancy Report: New York City, The City of New York Department of Housing Preservation
gnoxliu ]c)e:vek‘);;%n“ént’(New Yorl: April 1988 and May 1993).
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The 1991 Housing and Vacancy Report indicates that rental housing units predominate in the City. Of
all occupied housing units in 1991, 29.8% were conventional home-ownership units, cooperatives or condo-
miniums and 70.2% were rental units. Most of the recent growth in owner-occupied units has come from the
conversion of existing rental units to cooperatives rather than through the new construction of housing for
sale to occupants in the City. The vacancy rate for rental housing was 3.78% in 1991, and median rent
consumed 29% of the gross income of tenants. The housing condition of occupied rental uriits improved
greatly since 1984, with a decrease in the proportion of rental units in dilapidated or deficient condition. This

significant reduction is primarily a result of the City’s housing improvement efforts,

After a significant decline during the early 1970s, a slight recovery in housing construction occurred
between 1975 and 1979. However, in 1980, new housing construction declined again. Of all new housing
units constructed in the City between 1975 and 1978, over two-thirds were government financed or govern-
ment aided; of privately financed housing units, nearly half received full or partial tax exemptions. Rehabili-
tation of existing housing units and conversion of housing units from other uses, through private financing
and City-administered Federal funds or tax abatement programs, has increased substantially in recent years,

and is now a significant segment of the City’s housing market.

Construction : N

_ Office building construction in the Manhattan Central Business District is currently undergoing a
substantial decline after experiencing significant growth during the 1980s. Between 1954 and 1968, an annual
average of more than 4.7 million square feet of new office Space was completed. An unusual surge of
construction activity occurred between 1969 and 1972, when 61 new office building completions added a
total of 51.2 million square feet of office space to the market, during a period of substantial decline in
employment in the City. Construction activity declined after 1972 and by 1979 only 110,000 square feet of
office space entered the market as a result of building completions. However, in 1980, new office building
completions in the Manhattan Central Business District increased the level of rentable space by
412,000 square feet, and construction was started on a number of new projects, raising the value of all new
construction in the City to over $1 billion, then the largest amount since 1973,

During the late 1970s demand for office space, as a result of increased employment in the service and
finance sectors of the City’s economy and an increase in office space pér.employee, reduced the vacancy rate
in the office space market from an estimated 15% in 1972 to 2% in. 1981. The vacancy rate rose to 5.4% in . .
1983, 7.1% in 1984 and 8.2% in 1985 due to the strong upswing in construction activity. This trend continued
during 1986 indicating a vacancy rate of 8.4%. In 1987, construction in the City had increased while
commercial rents declined. Vacancy rates have continued to rise as a resylt of the 1987 stock market crash
and subsequent retrenchment of the FIRE sector. By the end of 1990, vacancy rates for the Manhattan
commercial market were close to 17%, as office construction continued and very little new space was
occupied. As of August 1992, the overall office vacancy rate in Manhattan was 18.4%.

With respect to housing construction between 1975 and 1979, the: number of building permits for new
housing units and the value of all new construction increased, indicating that a Partial recovery in construc-
tion activity in the City occurred, although at a level much reduced from the 1962 peak. During 1980 permits
were issued for 7,800 new housing units, compared to 14,524 issued in 1979, and the value of all new
construction rose to $1.063 billion, up from $589 million in 1979, -

Since 1988, office building and housing construction activity has-slowed substantially.

Real Estate Valuation |
The following tables present data on a fiSC(:ll year basis regarding récent trends in the assessed valuation

of taxable real property in the City. For further information regarding assessment procedures in the City, see

“SECTION IV: SOURCES OF CITY REVENUES—Real Estate Tax”, !
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TRENDS IN ASSESSED VALUATION OF TOTAL TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY IN NEW YORK CITY
(In Millions)

Fiscal Year

County (Borough) 12_9_1 19_93 1993 1994 1995 1996
Bronx (The Bronx) ...... Ceesraeneneae .. $4330 $4516 $ 4,719 §$4983 § 4831 $ 4,789
Kings (Brooklyn) .........c..ceee Ceenaes . 9,723 9,896 9,950 10,440 10,390 10,423
New York (Manhattan) ..... e eiiiee .. 47227 487755 49,143 46,892 44956 44,747
Queens (Queens).. o iiiiiiia 12386 12,666 12,776 13,185 13,112 13,173
Richmond (Staten Island) ...... Cerereeaens 2,669 2,635 2,590 2,678 2,730 2,720

Total v.vevevrnnrnorenennnnaans ... $76334 $78468 $79,179 §78,178 $76,019 $75.852

Note: Details may not add up to totals due to rounding. Totals do not include the value of certain property eligible for the veterans’ real

property tax exemption.

Source: The City of New York, Department of Finance, Bureau of Real Property Assessment.

ASSESSED VALUATION OF TOTAL TAXABLE REAL ESTATE BY COMPONENTS FOR NEW Yorx CITY

Fiscal Year 1991 Fiscal Year 1992 Fiscal Year 1993 Fiscal Year 1994 Fiscal Year 1995 Fiscal Year 1996
F ed A d A d  Percentage  Assessed  Percentage
‘Type of Property (In ‘l\%‘ﬁfms) l(l)z‘u’lml;f:t:’:e (In xlagl‘;l.nm) %ﬂngte {In mﬂ:onl) gﬂP&hu (In ‘h’::l‘lll‘nnu) l(i)n.lnl?:(:lte (In }\Id‘llﬁl.ons) l?tealnEx;‘;ltee (In Kdnl'llileuns) l(l)e‘arlex:ﬁtee
One Family Dwellings . ... .. $ 4,054.6 5.3% $ 4,100.5 52% §$ 4,0924 5.2% $ 3,918.7 50% $ 4,013.2 53% $ 4,096.1 5.4%
Fwo Family Dwellings ..... 3,146.6 4.1 3,156.4 40 3,100.2 39 3,046.8 39 3,104.0 4.1 3,158.9 4:2
Walk-Up Apartments ..... 5,597.6 73 6,209.4 79 6,576.8 83 6,720.1 8.6 6,737.8 8.9 6,778.7 89
Elevator Apartments ..... 14,6224 192 151528 19.3 155178 196 149140 191 14,4294 190 14,4676 19:1
WarchOUSES «.oveceeesses 895.5 12 926.8 12 989.8 1.3 1,0315 13 1,044.4 1.4 1,0714 1.4
Factory and Industrial
Buildings «...cccovoeen- 1,629.5 2.1 1,688.7 2.2 1,702.9 22 1,633.7 21 1,550.4 2.0 1,480.8 2.0
Garages and Gasoline
SEATIONS +osveoonserenes 1086 13 11073 14 11913 15 12482 16 12788 17 13236 17
HHOEIS «vvorveonvnnnnenne 16107 21 L7554 23 18247 23 17428 22 17926 24 18224 24
Hospitals and Health ..... 391.6 0.5 402.6 0.5 4252 0.5 4810 0.6 438.6 0.6 5303 ().7
TheatresS cecevesssereones 186.4 02 177.4 0.2 186.9 0.2 189.1 0.2 159.3 0.2 -182.2 0.2
Store Buildings ......c00n 5,289.0 6.9 4,221.1 54 4,416.4 5.6 4,360.2 5.6 4,349.7 5.7 4,365.4 5.8
Loft Buildings ........x-¢ 2,524.1 33 2,398.1 3.1 2,317.8 2.9 2,100.3 2.7 1,916.8 2.5 1,867.4 2.5
Churches, Synagogues, €ic. 54.3 01 41.1 0.1 53.8 0.1 68.1 0.1 520 0.1 509 0:1
Asylums and Homes ..... 70.8 0.1 78.8 0.1 94.5 01 101.2 0.1 577 0.1 63.3 0.1
Office Buildings ........- 23,4105 307 24,1345 308 23,9076 302 21,8171 279 20,3427 2638 19,685.6 26.0
Places of Public Assembly . 123.1 02 135.3 02 1383 0.2 145.2 0.2 146.0 0.2 150.3 0:2
Outdoor Recreation
Facilities ..cocvoeveeres 80.6 0.1 82.7 0.1 B4.5 0.1 108.3 0.1 88.2 0.1 874 01
Condominiums .......... 3,345.2 44 3,963.1 5.1 43228 5.5 4,1959 54 43632 5.7 45492 6'0
Residence Multi-Use ..... 318.1 0.4 1,004.5 13 1,034.6 1.3 1,111.1 14 1,137.6 15 1,144.0 1.5
Transportation Facilities .. 325 0 22 0 34 0 42 01 433 01 #8101
Utility Bureau Propertics . 00 O 60 O 0 0 0 0.0 07 0 00 00
Vacant Land «.eseeenes 117 11 8391 L1 9068 11 9162 12 8631 11 7898 1.0
Educational Structurcs ... 1386 02 1429 02 1701 02 1751 02 2143 03 2616 03
Government
S(il;x:scffl?ati:;se ........... 3.8 0 44 O 81 0 174 0 85.9 0.1 714 0.1
MisCElIANEOUS +« o vvveveee 857 04 3030 04 2757 03 641 03 2877 04 2960 04
Real Estate of Utglg il '
g;);ggﬁgggn-s-z}lj' : peCI | 668l __§_8_ ) 6,389.4 8.1 5,807.8 _l:_'}_ _ 7,8212 10.0 7,522.0 99 7,514.3 9.9
Total «.oeevveens $76333.6 100.0% $78,467.6 1000% $79,179.1 1000% §78,1775 100.0% $760193 1000% $75.8516 100.0%

Note: Details may not
exemption.
source: The City of New York, Departmen

add up to totals due 10 rounding. Totals do not includ
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No single taxpayer accounts for 10% or more of the City’s real property tax. For the 1996 fiscal year, the
assessed valuation of real estate of utility corporations is $6.1 billion. The following table presents the
40 non-utility, non-residential properties having the greatest assessed valuation in the 1996 fiscal year as

indicated in the tax rolls.

LARGEST REAL ESTATE TAXPAYERS(1)

1996
Fiscal Year
Assessed

Property Valuation

Met Life Building ............... $240,250,000
Empire State Building ........... 198,900,000
Sperry Rand Building ............ 182,880,000
Bear Stearns Building............ 181,350,000
General Motors Building ........ 177,752,000
Exxon Building .................. 175,600,000
McGraw-Hill Building ........... 164,250,000
Paine Webber .......cccevvvneen 159,930,000
Time & Life...ccvevianiinnennss 151,380,000
Bristol Myers........cooovveniens 149,814,000
55 Water Street Building......... 146,250,000
Equitable Life ..... Ciiireeeiiees 144,000,000
Solow Building .................. 138,700,000
International Building ........... 135,322,000
J.C. Penney Building............. 131,620,000
Morgan Guaranty ........c..eeen. 129,230,000
Worldwide Plaza................. 123,350,000
Paramount Plaza ................ 122,780,000
OnePennPlaza ................. 119,250,000
One Liberty Plaza ............... 118,800,000

(1) Excludes real estate of public utilities.

1996
Fiscal Year
Assessed

Property Valuation

Celanese Building ............... $112,500,000
St. Luke’s/Roosevelt ............. 110,543,000
Alliance Capital ................. 110,250,000
Carpet Center................... 108,000,000
Kalikow Building ................ 106,850,000
595 Lexington Avenue ........... 106,844,000
The Chase Manhattan Building .. 104,850,000
Manufacturers Hanover.......... 103,500,000
Park Avenue Plaza............... 103,500,000
666 Fifth Avenue ................ 102,880,000
Chemical Bank .................. 98,622,000
Waldorf Astoria ................. 97,655,000
617 Lexington Ave Building...... 94,500,000
Shearson Lehman ............... 92,700,000
Continental Illinois .............. 92,250,000
Simon & Schuster Building ...... 88,926,000
Park Ave. Atrium................ 88,712,000
One Bankers Trust Plaza...,..... 87,750,000
W.R. Grace Building............. 87,750,000
N.Y.Hilton ..................... 87,300,000

Source: The City of New York, Department of Finance, Bureau of Real Property Assessment.
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Report of Independent Auditors

The People of The City of New York °

We have audited the general purpose financial statements of The City of New York (“The City”) as of and for the years ended June
30, 1995 and 1994, as listed in the index. ‘These financial statements are the responsibility of The City’s management. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the financial statements of
the entities disclosed in Note B. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors, whose reports have been furnished to
us, and our opinion on the general purpose financial statements, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for such entities, is
based solely on the reports of the other auditors. '

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test ba§is, evidence supporting the:amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signific;aant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall fi.nancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the reports of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion. .

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of the other auditprs, the general purpose financiat statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The City at June 30, 1995 and 1994, and the results of its operations
and cash flows of its discretely presented component units for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

Asdescribed in Note A to the general purpose financial statements, in fiscal year 1995, The City adopted GASB Statement No. 25
Financial Reporting for Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Néte Disclosure for Defined Contribution Plans and GASB,
Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental Employers. The general purpose financial
statements for fiscal year 1994 have been restated to reflect these changes. :

ROMG Foud fllrieds ¢ ¢p2 Wal:ewlzaw,/?c.. Fege Hillioms 9 Co, 1C

October 27, 1995
New York, New York
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THE CITY OF NEW YORK

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
' _ ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES

'FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1995

(in thousands)
Total -
. emorandum
Governmental Fund Types ™ Only)
Capital Debt Primary
General Projects Service Government
REVENUES:
Real ESLALE tAXES o« e v vvenserenrenssrrssmms sttt $ 7,473,580 § —_ $ — $ 7,473,580
Sales and USE TAXES . . vvvosrnsseornssenmsrrmssmsr sty 3,013,171 — _— 3,013,171
TDCOME TAKES « v v s e orrnneennsemenmssrossrsmssessrrssins 6,014,746 — — 6,014,746
OHET IARES .« v e vrennvssonnsse s ses s srm s ot n 1,183,743 — —_ 1,183,743
Federal, State and other categorical aid . ......coiaieiees 10,733,313 358,804 186,473 11,278,590
Unrestricted Federal and State T RO 603,283 — —_ 603,283
Charges O SETVICES « o vvonesnssansssrrssr st inim s 1,297,960 — — 1,297,960
Other TEVENUES + <« « v v vevcennnerrnsrsrsssrrsssrrrterstts 1,243,623 744,626 227,526 2,215,775
Total [EVEMUES « ..« vnrersorraenmssrssrsssrsrnes 31,563,419 1,103,430 413,999 33,080,848
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES:
Transfer from OTB ... coovrveennereeserrmssrrsnnts 27,560 — —_ 27,560
Transfers and other payments for debt service .....c.ovviiane — — 2,284,818 2,284,818
Net proceeds from sale of notes and bonds . . ..o v e — 2,242,027 849 2,242,876
Refunding bond proceeds . ... ovcesrssrmsn sttt — — 1,264,662 1,264,662
Total revenues and other financing SOUICES .. ....«.---- 31,590,979 3,345,457 3,964,328 38,900,764
EXPENDITURES: )
Current Operations:
General GOVETMMENE .+« vceeennessmrrrssrrns st 852,717 — —_ 852,717
Public safety and judicial .......ooeoee T 4,121,448 —_ — 4,121,448
Board of BAUCAHON .+« .« vvrenssremsssesmmrrs it 7,862,874 — _ 7,862,874
City URVEISILY « v vevvnrrenmnnresssmrsmsmmsssssrrnntos 348,074 — _ 348,074
SOCial SEIVICES + « « <o v cnnnnsrerssmmssmss s 8,111,924 — — 8,111,924
Environmental PEOMECHON oo cenvnssesmnsseessees et 1,120,221 — — 1,120,221
Transportation GEIVICES v orennrrnensressomssrmsrsoes 932,572 —_ — 932,572
Parks, recreation and cultural activities . .....c.-eeeoeereees 239,571 — — 239,571
HOUSING « v v v e nrersrmsnns s st s oo nr o nm 527,010 — —_ 527,010
Health (including payments OHHC) «oovvenevar e 1,736,768 — _— 1,736,768
LADEATIES « v e e vennmnersnsssssrsmss s s r it 167,867 — —_ 167,867
POOSIONS &« v v s r e e seeomnsemnsssrsr st 1,273,001 — _ 1,273,001
Judgments and claims ... .- R RR R R 251,247 —_ — 251 247
Fringe benefit and other benefit payments . .......occ-cee 1,443,686 — — 1,443,686
P R 307,519 — 37,252 344,771
Capital PROJECLS .+« «o+reresesrs oot m i n — 3,674,738 — 3,674,738
Debt Service:
TOEIESE o« v e e e e e mne e mmeemsns s s s —_ — 1,790,519 1,790,519
ROAEMPHONS « <« <+ oo sroesrese sttt —_ —_ 913,497 913,497
Loase PAYMENLS .+« o +c oo retm st — — 154,393 154,393
Total eXpenditures « .« -« «xeoesr st 29,296,499 3,674,738 2,895,661 35,866,898
£R FINANCING USES: .
OT}’;‘ransfcrs and other payments for debt service ... covemraeee ' 2,289,116 — _ 2,289,116
Payment to refunded bond escrow hOMEE « o v evmvrvmememerns — — 1,264,662 1.264.662
Total expenditukes and other financing Uses . «-«...--- - 31,585,615 3,674,738 4,160,323 39,420,676
EFICIENCY) OF REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
E)g‘?:; %)XPENDITURx)as AND OTHER FINANCING USES . . vcccoeemee 5,364 (329,281) (195,995) (519,912)
Fung BazancEs (DEFICIT) AT BEGINNING OF YEAR + oo cnvevercners 363,065 (555,287) 1,721,363 1,529,141
FuND BALANCES (DEFICIT) AT END OF YEAR v vonsemenssonsseers $ 368420 $ (884,568) $1,525,368 § 1,009,229

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



THE CITY OF NEW YORK

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN F UND BALANCES

ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1994
k (in thousands)

REVENUES:
Real estate taxes

...........................
.........................

..............................

Charges for services
Other revenues

Transfers and other payments for debt service . ...
Transfer from pension and similar trust funds

- Net proceeds from sale of notes and bonds . ... . . ..

" Refunding bond proceeds
Total revenues and other financing sources

EXPENDITURES:
Current Operations:
General government
Public safety and judicial

Boardof Education .......................

City University

Social Services . ......oovii e

Environmental protection

Transportation services ....................

Parks, recreation and cultural activities

Housing ............ ... ool
Health (including payments to HHC) .........

- Libraries

Debt Service:

Interest.............o i,
Redemptions ...............cccvvvvvnnn..
Leasepayments ............ocevevunnvnnn.

Total expenditores ....................

OTHER FINANCING USES:

Transfers and other payments for debt service . ...
* Payment to refunded bond escrow holder . . . .. ...

Total expenditures and other financing uses

......................

..................
..........................
..................

...............................

Other ....oviii i i e e eannn,
Capital Projects . ......ooviiiiiin et iineee i,

............

............

............

............

............

............

............

............

............

............

Excess (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

OVER EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USESs . .
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) AT BEGINNING OF YEAR ...

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) AT END OF YEAR ........

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

............

...... Lessan

Total
Governmental Fund Types (Me%':;;l;dum

Capital Deht Primary
General Projects Service Government
$77332 §  —  § . §77332
2,854.994 — — 2,854,994
6,280,572 — — 6.280.572
1,205.691 — — 1,205,691
10,143.347 211,267 186,926  10,541.540
666,888 ~ = 666,888
1,276,672 — — 1,276.672
1,054.615 784,584 206460 2045659
31,256,101 995 851 393386  32,645.338
24,073 — — 24,073
i — 2449438 2449433
72,216 — — 72216
_ 2,753,515 30,58 2,784.101
— = 1,775015 1775015
31352390 _3,749366  4,648425 39750181
874.772 — — 874,772
3,846,147 — — 3,846,147
7,560,989 — — 7,560,989
353,076 — — 353,076
8,030,189 — — 8,030,189
1.155.871 — — 1,155.871
980,909 — — 980,909
238,510 — — 238,510
589,979 — — 589,979
1,620,018 — — 1,620,018
172,572 — — 172,572
1,273.817 — — 1,273.817
270,916 — — 270,916
1,551.629 — — 1,551,620
374,579 — 24,519 399,098
= 3,342,782 = 3,342,782
_ — 1,792,687 1,792,687
— - 1,260,628 1,260,628
— — 158.977 158.977
28893973 3342782 3236811 35,473,566
2,453,736 — — 2453736
_ — 1,775,015 1,775.015
3L347,709 3,342,782 501,86 39702317
4,681 406,584 (363,401) 47,864
358384 (961871) 2,084764 1481277
$ 363065 $ (555287) $1.721363 $ 1,529,141



THE CITY OF NEW YORK

GENERAL FUND

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

REVENUES:

Real estate taxes
Sales and use taxes
TNCOME tAXES « v v rrenereeerress
Other taxes
Federal, State and other categorical aid

Unrestricted Federal and State aid ....
Charges for services
Other revenues

Total TEVENUES . . cvvvvrnovserrss
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES:
Transfer from OTB ... ...coenvnens
Transfer from pension and
similar trust funds . ...

Total revenues and other
financing SOUICES . « . v covvees

EXPENDITURES:

General government
Public safety and judicial
Board of Education .........ocoecee
City University
Social SEIVICES . .o vvvvremer s os
Environmental protection . ........--
Transportation SErviCes . ......-- .- "
Parks, recreation and cultural activities

Housing
Health (including payments to HHC) ..
Libraries

...................

...............

PEnSiONS . oo ovnvcenesmerssrrtsst”
Judgments and claims ... corrrenenn

Fringe benefits and other benefit

PAYMENtS .. ouoeaecrm ettt
OtHET +vvevennemmmmmeersmssmts st
Total expenditures «.....-.o-e -

OTHER FINANCING USES:
Transfers and other payments for

debt SErvice .. ..cosrerari s

Total expenditures and other
financing uses
EXCESS OF REVENUES AND

OTHER SOURCES OVER
EXPENDITURES AND

FuUND BALANCE AT BEGINNING OF YEAR . . -

FUND BALANCE AT END OF YEAR

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 1995 AND 1994
(in thousands)

..............

OTHER USES ....---

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

1995 1994
Budget Budget
Adopted Modified Actual Adopted Modified Actual
§ 7420000 §$ 7420000 § 7473580 §$ 7,885,000 $ 7823000 § 177332

* 2 k3 r » * h » k > E) 2
2088600 | 3.006400 3013171 2750200 2,834,985 2,854,994
6725000 6599900 6014746 6275400 6293800 6,280 572
016300 1123600 1183743  1,132200 1214315 1.205.691
10112047 11234555 10733313 9,560,824 10,703,421 10,143,347
554240 581,237 603.283 450757 662,108 666,888
1361462 1363542 1297960 1340829 1360583 1.276.672
184432 1157435 _ 1243623 _ 1596525 _ 119,127 1,054,615
31362081 32486669 31563419 30991735 32011339 31,256,101
25,200 25,200 27,560 34,800 26,800 24.073
_ — — — 72,216 72,216
31388181 32,511,860 31590979 31,026,535 _32.110355 31,352,390

879,607 875,835 852,717 904,383 929,267 874
3075701 4155508 4,121,448 3,634,000 3870.664 3 846’3%
T60TAT9 7898753 1862874 7223761 7,501,839 7,560,989
183,141 383,599 348,074 334,966 387284 353.076
5043033 8463216 8111924 7898654 8325941 8 030,189
1080571  L156426 1120221 1128204 1205920 1.155.871
$21.992 966,001 932,572 067581 1002495 980,909
232.850 240,134 239,571 230,565 239,355 238,510
448,128 546,613 527.010 565.735 612,183 589.979
1540967 1801002 1736768 1362288 1612341 1 620018
175,658 169,150 167.867 172,352 172591 172572
341887 L3SI1 1273001 1436003 1363620 1 273817
218.255 254,255 251.247 222,255 271045 270916

1717918 1483823 1443686 1649477 1597823 | 551
520,244 557.972 307,519 587.125 470,038 ’37412%3
55086431 30280488 29296499 28317349 29,652,400 28,893,973
2301750 2231381 _ 2289116 _ 2,709,186 _ 2.457.949 _ 2,453,736
J1388181 32,511,869 31585615 31026535 32110355 _31.347.709
s — 8 - s34 $ — §  — 4,681
363,065 358,384
$_3068:429 $ 363,065
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THE CITY OF NEW YORK
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PLAN
NET ASSETS AND REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN FUND EQUITY—FIDUCIARY FUND TYPE
AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1995

(in thousands) -
Fiduciary !
Fund Type Discretely Presented Component Units
Penstiion Healthand  Off-Track Hl(glusin%:ind Water Total
ani ealth ane DAt- C] conomic and Total
Similar Hospitals Betting Development Sewer Component (Me"(l)?lli;;l dum
Trust Corporation Corporation Funds System Units Reporting Entity
ADDITIONS TO PLAN NET ASSETS
AND OPERATING REVENUES: .
Patient service revenues, net ........... $ — $3,772,539 $ — $ _ $ . ' $3.772.539 $ 3.772.53
Charge_s forservices ........oouvu.... — — —_ — 1,300,454 1,300,454 1,300:454
Rentalincome ...................... — — — 557,744 . 557744 557744
Otherrevenues ........oovveeenerennn. — 361,696 197,952 1,330,077 _ 1,889,725 . 889,725
Employer, employee contributions ...... 1,822,679 — — _ - o 1’822,679
Investment income, net ............... 9,895,633 — — 19,236 49,651 68,887 9,964'520
Total additions to plan net assets and 2
operating revenues . .............. 11,718,312 4,134,235 197,952 1,907,057 1,350,105 7,589,349 19,307,661
DEDUCTIONS FROM PLAN NET ASSETS AND - -
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Personal services .................... — 2,323,128 68,928 669,007 _ 3.061
Affiliated iDStitutions .. ............... — 533,749 Z - _ o 3'223 3’2331,’(7)23
Racing industry compensation .......... — — 56,768 _ _ 56’768 56’768
Operations and maintenance ........... — 704,947 L - —_ 738,561 1,44 3,508- . 443’508
Interest expense .............n.n..t — — — 198,128 328.363 526:491 ,526,491
Administrative and program ........... — — - 5,932 993,901 15,047 1,014,880 . ; 014'880
Depreciation and amortization .......... —_ 157,521 2,936 154,117 293,054 607’628 ’607'628
Benefit payments and withdrawals ...... 4,061,325 — — . o i a 061’325
Provision forbad debts ............... — 452,457 — _ 95,989 548.446 ,548,446
Other .........ccoiiiiiiniiiininn, —_ 19,717 . 22,018 61,470 i 103-205 ]03,205
Distributions to the State and other local s s
governments ............o.iava.an, — — 17,237 — _ 17.237 17237
Total deductions from plan net assets and 2
operating expenses ............... 4,061,325 4,191,519 173,819 2,076,623 1,471,014 7,912,975 11,974,300
Operating income (loss) ............. 7,656,987 (57,284) 24,133 (169,566) (120’9“09) m) _7’37’361
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES): _— —_—
Interest and dividend income ........... —_ 5,120 825 21,847 7,861 35
Interest EXpense .......oevvivrrrorieen — (94,861) _ _ . > (94'32::) 32,353
Amounts from other OTB communities .. — - 4,674 _ _ P ¢ 4’631)
Other ......ciiiveiviiiinieinienan, (40,565) — : — @,597) . (4:597) (451162)
Total non-operating revenues (expenses) . (40,565) (89,741) 5,499 17,250 7861 59,031, T,ﬁ%)
Income (loss) before transfers ........ 7,616,422 (147,025) . 29,632 (152,316) m) TSZTSD W’GGS
OPERATING TRANSFERS: R . y4d9,
Transfer to the General Fund ........... — - (27,560) . . 27,560) 27560
Net additions to plan net assets — —
and netincome (loss) ............... 7,616,422 (147,025) 2,072 (152,316) (113,048) “10317) 7206.105
PLAN NET AsSETS/FUND EQUITY AT BEGINNING 6 845 : ) s
OF YEAR + oot vieetnnnnennnnaenaranan 53,508, 1,009,488 6,094 196,825 5,536,574
Contributed fixed assets and asatuded 6,748,981 60,257,826
debt service ...... ...l —_ 4,204 — 896,752 25.4 _
Net increase in donor restricted funds . . .. — 197 — _ o 0 925,3;? . 926,2;;?
PLAN NET ASSETS/FUND EQUITY AT END _— -
[0 20" 7N S $61,125,267 $ 866,864 $ 8,166 $ 941,261 $5,448,946 $7.265.237 $68.390.504
PLAN NET ASSETS/COMPONENTS OF FUND —_—
Equrry (DEFICIT) AT END OF YEAR
Reserved . ...oveeneninnneonnennnn $ — $ 806,728 $ 16,646 $ 3,043,353 $5,030,356 y
Reserved for Supplemental Benefits .. ... 1,879,674 - — — o o $8-897'_083 $ ?,3?17,083
Reserved for Pension Benefits .......... 59,245,593 — — . _ - 5,9,249,674
Unreserved (deficit) ............. e — 60,136 (8,480) _(2,102,092) 418,590 (1,631.846) (1,63?322)
PLAN NET AsSETS/FUND EQUITY AT END -_— 931,
(002 €7 S $61,125,267 $ 866,864 $ 8,166 $ 941,261 $5,448,946 $7,265,237 $68,390,504

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



THE CITY OF NEW YORK

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PLAN
NET ASSETS AND REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN FUND EQUITY—FIDUCIARY FUND TYPE
AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1994

Restated
(in thousands)
Fiduciary Total
Fund Type Discretely Presented Component Units (Memo-
Pension Housing and Water randum)
" and Health and Off-Track Economic and Total Only)
Similar Hospitals Betting Development Sewer Component Reporting
Trust Corporation  Corporation Entities System Units Entity
ADDITIONS TO PLAN NET ASSETS
AND OPERATING REVENUES:
Patient SCrvice reVenues, Net . .....coceeeareronnes $ — $3,539,766 $ — $ — . $3.539,766 3,539,766
Charges fOr SEIVICES « . vvvvreerrnnrrermnerress — — — — 1,204,423 1,204,423 1,204,423
Rental INCOME < vvvvvnarannnrnasaonaesnerensees — — — 563,008 _ 563,008 563,008
OLhEr TOVENMUES -« v vuvnnreensrsnsesassesmrarses — 409,347 178,023 1,161,413 _ 1,748,783 1,748,783
Employer, employee contributions . ......c.eeenen 1,877,883 — - . . o 1.877.883
Investment INCOME, NEL .. <« covverearmaresrcers 630,479 — — 23,513 28,479 51,992 682471
Total additions to plan net assets and
OpCIAtNG TEVENUES . . o v v vcverrnennecssresrs 2,508,362 3,949,113 178,023 1,747,934 1,232,902 7,107,972 9,616,334
DEDUCTIONS FROM PLAN NET ASSETS AND
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Personal SEIVICES . ..ovorccorrscmsaremransroees — 2,215,592 66,238 675,926 — 2,957,756 2,957,756
Affiliated inSHIMEORS . . -« vovveereesrreersess — 511,920 — — _ 511920 511,920
Racing industry COMPENSALION . -« vunrersrnnrres — — 46,710 _ . 46710 46710
Operation and MAIEAANCE - ... conreneesceromerer — — — - 718,650 718,650 718,650
INtCLESt EXPEMSE « -« vvennnnranmramsrsrser st — — — 220,137 290,790 510,927 510,927
Administrative and Program ........oocoessaer s — — 7,236 860,740 17,290 885.266 885.266
Depreciation and AMOTHZAtION ..o v uvevnvcramrensrs — 154,685 2,951 163,665 213,371 534,672 534,672
Benefit payments and withdrawals . ... ... .0nnns 3,813,877 — — _ _ o 3,813,877
Provision forbad debts ......c.ooeeenmeeereeene — 456,397 — — 51,586 507,983 507,983
P R L — 653,397 20,934 80,633 — 754,964 754,964
Distributions to the State and other local governments . — — 20,278 —_ _ 20278 20278
Total deductions from plan net assets and
operating eXPEnses . ....o.corserretrTtns 3,813,877 3,991,991 164,347 2,001,101 1,291,687 7449,126 11,263,003
Operating income ) B (1,305,515) (42,878) 13,676 (253,167) (58,785) (341,154)  (1,646,669)
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Interest and dividend income ......ccoeeereeees — 2,987 465 16,964 4,476 24,892 24,892
Interest EXpense .. ....-cc-evx--" REEECERERELTRE. — (102,683) — — . (102,683) (102,683)
Amouns from other OTB communjties . ......o0e-- — — 4,657 _ _ 4,657 4657
For T I R AR (20,847) — — (1.273) _ (1.273) @8.120)
Total non-operating revenues (EXpenses) .....--eo- (20,847) (99,696) 5,122 9,691 4,476 (80.407) (101,254)
Income (loss) before transfers «.......ooeneeeres (1,326,362) (142,574) 18,798 (243,476) (54,309) (421,561)  (1,747,923)
OPERATING TRANSFERS:
Transfer to the General Fund ...-ccnoveonseermenens (72,216) — (24,073) — — (24,073) (96,289)
Net deductions to plan net assets andnetloss .......- (1,398,578) (142,574) (5,275) (243,476) (54,309) (445,634)  (1,844,212)
PLAN NET ASSETS/FUND EQUITY AT BEGINNING
OF YEAR ..1ocvvenonannnemnmneresersemmttsnts 54,907,423 1,143,450 11,369 100,510 5,553,149 6,808,478 61,715,901
Contributed fixed assets and debt service . ....-c-aee — 8,965 — 339,791 37,734 186,490 386,490
Net decrease in donor restricted funds ... .oooaeeeeet — (353) — — _ (353) (353)
PLAN NET ASSETS/FUND EQUITY AT END
OF YEAR .. cvnvvvnancnnmmemmemsermtnentsss $53,508,845 $1,000,488 § 6,094 $ 196,825 $5536,574 $6,748,981 $60,257,826
PLAN NET ASSETS/COMPONENTS FS)ISRFUND
UITY (DEFICIT) AT END OF Y ‘
lEigserved(. .................................... — $ 781988 § 14574  $2,244052 $5150,160 $8,190,774 § 8,190,774
Reserved for Supplemental Benefits «..o.ooooeree 5;,‘1?)3%2 — — — _ o 1,400,129
Reserved for Pension Benefils .. .ooocrroessrrrtes ,108,71 — — _ . _ 52108716
Unreserved (defiCit) ... «-vomowrreereer s trtni o — 227,500 (8,480)  (2,047,227) 386,414  (1,441,793)  (1,441,793)
NET ASSETS/FUND EQUITY AT END
Pl{)AlE‘\IYEAR .................................... $53,508,845 §1,000.488 § 6,094 $ 196,825 $5,536,574 $6,748,981 $60,257,826

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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THE CITY OF NEW YORK
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1995

(in thousands)
Housing and Water
Healthand -  Off-Track Economic and
Hospitals Betting Development Sewer
Corporation  Corporation Entities System Total
OPERATING ACTIVITIES: .
Operating income (10SS) . ........ouiuninein e, $(57,284) - $24,133 $ (169,566) $ (120,909)  $ (323,626)

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization .................0.eiiiiiiniiiiiin. 157,521 2,936 154,117 . 293,054 607,628
Provision forbaddebts .............c.ciuiuni i 452,457 — — 95,989 548,446
Increase in patient service receivables ......................c..0uuu.. - (427,379) — —_ _— (427,379)
Decrease (increase) in accounts and other receivables .................... 1,967 195 (52,009) (196,949) - (246,796)
Decrease in prepaid eXpense . .. ........uviiiiii it — _— _ 22720 22,720
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities . ... .................. 72,087 906 63,291 . 1,003 137377
Increase (decrease) in accrued vacation and sick leave ................... 6,978 (163) 8,438 . 15.253
Decrease in acerued pension liability .................ccouurnnnvn. ..., (1,111) an — — (1,188)
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenues ...........veeeevnrnnvnnunn. .. — —_ 6,647 ©077) 2430)
Distribution to The City of New York . ... .......cvuuevneenrnnnnnnn. ., — 27,379) _ - @7379)
Increase in program loansissued ..............ovoioiunieinininnn — . (126,735) _ (126.735)
Receipt from collections of programloans . .......c.....ooovuvunin.. ... _— — 51,003 _ 51,003
Distribution to State and local governments ............................ — 153 ) — . 153
Decrease in payable to The City of New York ....................0..... — — - (133,216) (133,216)
Other ..........  eeeretee ettt aan.. O 107,045 (1,995) (61,164) (16,693) 27,193
“Total adjustments ..........o.uiuiuirinrnren e, 369,565 (25,424) 43,588 56,921 m
Net cash provided by (used in) operating actlvmes .................... 312,281 (1,291) (125978) (63,988) 121,024
NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES: _ 7
Proceeds from issuing bonds, notes and other borrowings ................. —_ — 492,588 _ 492,588
Repayments of bonds, notes and other borrowings ...................... — _ (338,493) _ (338,493)
Amounts from other OTB communities ...................cooeuun..... — 4,674 —_ _ 4' 674
‘Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities ................... — 4,674 154,095 - \158,769
CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING AC’I'IVH'IES
Additions to fixedassets ........... ... o iiii i (190,736) (2,924) (233,284) (509,506) (936,450)
Proceeds from issuing bonds, notes and other borrowings ................. (9,718) — (290) 1,505,595 1,495,587
Repayments of bonds, notes and other borrowings ...................... —_ — (61,826) (1,132,354) (1.194,180)
Contributions for capital and payment of debt ...................... v 1,183 — - o o l’] 83
Contributed capital other than for operations ........................... - 3,021 — 317,796 — 320,817-
Interest paid on bonds, notes and other borrowings ...................... - (94,861) — . — (94’861)
Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities .. ... (291,111) (2,924) 22,396 (TG,?.G_S) m)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES: . T —_—_
Excess (deficiency) of proceeds from sales of investments net of purchases . .. — — (35,331) 142,825 107,494
Interest oninvestMeEnts . .......... ... iiiiiiineinnninaninrananan, 5,120 . . 825 20,528 8,006 34'479
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . .................... 5,120 825 (14803) 150831 141973
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS .. .....uvvvennnnnn.. 26,_290 1,284 35,710 m) ] Tssz
CasH AND CASH BQUIVALENTS BEGINNING OF YEAR .........c0vunenunn..... 120,145 14,121 111,422 352,072 597,760
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ENDOF YEAR . .....oovnvnininnenninin,,s, $ 146,435 $15405 - $147132 HJTSO 3Tl622
Cashand cashequivalents .............. ... oottt §$ 136,025 $ 13,180 $ 98.440 $ 3,686 $ 251
Restricted cash and investments .................oiiiiiniean., SO 252,948 2,225 86,097 792,496 . 133?2;
Less restricted inveSIMENtS ... ........ieeiiisiracareraneeiseannarnnis. 242,538 - 37.405 493532 »773,475
Cash and cash equivalents end Of Year ... .............c.ocuueenennninn... $U6435 815405  $1470%2  § 302630 T

The above is a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents per the statement of cash flows to the balance sheet.

The following are the noncash investing, capital and financing activ‘ities: .
HHC received capital assets of $3.0 million for fiscal year 1995 which represent contributed capital from the City.
The Water Board received capital assets of $25.4 million for fiscal year 1995 which represents contributed capital from the City.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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THE CITY OF NEW YORK
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1994
(in thousands)

Housing and Water

Health and Off-Track Economic and
Hospitals Betting Development Sewer
Corporation  Corporation Entities System Total
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating income QLOSS) < v vvaecuarer e snan st $ (42,878) $ 13,676 $ (253,067) $ (58,785) $ (341,154)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amOMZAHON ..o« vvvvrriarnrermenrrrenmrreeseees 154,685 2951 163,665 213,371 534,672
Provision forbad debts . .. ...veaeenvrrare i 456,397 — — 51,586 507,983
Increase in patient service 1eceivables ..........ieennaeinrre e (511,475) — — — (511,475)
Decrease (increase) in accounts and other receivables ... .. .aaiii e (1,352) 1,563 (29,966) (76,148) (105,903)
Increase in Propaid BXPENSE .. ....esoesenrannrasrezzstarrssi e — — — (16,708) (16,708)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued Liabilities ............. 40,691 691 102,368 (10,889) 132,861
Increase (decrease) in accrued vacation and sick leave ......... . 00hann 12,881 (239) 9,568 _ 22,210
Decrease in accrued pension Hability . .....ocoievrrreneemiannenieee (741) (359) — — (1,100)
Increase in deferred TEVEIUES ... voovvnenvnenarnmnemrrerreress e — — 1,613 10,608 12,221
Distribution to The City of New York ... .o oovvnrromerrmrereeneens — (22,806) — — (22,806)
Tnerease in program loans T I — — (54,193) _ (54,193)
Receipt from collections Of Program I0ans . ....ooovoveeaniaas s — — 51,616 — 51,616
Distribution to State and local EOVEINIMENS « o oo vvmennansreraesenneses — (96) _ _ (96)
Increase in payable to The City of New D (1 ST — — — 56,977 56,977
OUHEE + v v e ve e ms e ene s e st s s s s s 160,281 1,203 (53.917) (3,002) 104,565
Total adJUSHNENES .. ..o nvvvnnrer s saner st 311,367 (17,092) 190,754 225,795 710,824
Net cash provided by (used in) operating ACHVILES +vvverrvrenaarnonsns 268,489 (3.416) (62,413) 167,010 369,670
NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuing bonds, notes and other BOITOWINEs .. .. ceevvreesees 259,000 — 367,245 — 626,245
Repayments of bonds, notes and other DOTTOWINES « 2 vvvinosernnmnrocess (259,000) — (438,936) _ (697,936)
Amounts from other OTB COMIMUIIES + + e ccnenromensnrmrorensnmsanss — 4,657 —_ _ 4,657
OUREE .« + v v ve e ennmee e — — — _ o
Net cash provided by (used in) poncapital financing activities ........... — 4,657 (71,691) — (67,034)
CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Additions to fixed SSets ...« oooenaeersaneroses B I ELETEETETEE (199,106) (3.634) (244,399) (622,915) (1,070,054)
Proceeds from issuing bonds, notes and other bOITOWInNgS .. ...cvenvienoes — — 15,057 2,349,764 2,364,821
Repayments of bonds, notes and other DOTTOWINES -« ccvvevevsroanceences (8,408) — (61,428) (1,669,253) (1,739,089)
Cash paid in excess of face value of defeased bonds ...ocveierneieiaanan — — — 43,633) (43,633)
Contributions for capital and payment of_ P, AR — — 375,782 _ 375,782
Contributed capital other than for OPErAtioNs . ..o vveneenne e 8,965 — — — 8,965
Interest paid on bonds, notes and other bOrrOWIngS .. «.oovucrmrmran et (102,683) — — - (102,683)
Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities ..... (301,232) (3,634) 85,012 13,963 (205,891)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES: )
Excess (deficiency) of proceeds from sales of investments net of purchases . .. — — 35,024 (17.878) 17,146
I(orost ON IVESHIIAS - -« cennsnsssssnnesmsrssssrrssmssrres s 2,987 465 16,964 4,185 24,601
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . . ..o ooviiiinee s 2,087 465 51,988 (13,693) 41,747
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS . 0ovvnvnnnarorcnsnes (29,756) (1,928) 2,896 167,280 138,492
CasH AND CAsH EQUIVALENTS BEGINNING OF YEAR - .1 vevvsirnnscneneronnce 149,901 16,049 108,526 184,792 459,268
CasH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS END OF YEAR .« vccvrmeennsmrnnsesensnanns $120,145 $ 14,121 $ 111,422 $ 352,072 % 597,760
R R R R $109,368 $ 13,469 $ 68,633 $ 8137 $ 1996
Cash and cash equivalents ........-- X : 607
Restricted cash and investments .........-c--s T ICRTLRTERLALE 331,720 652 77,401 975,115 1,390,888
Less rostrictod IVESIERLS ...« +vnsessrsnsssse s ss s mrm e 326,943 —_— 34,612 631,180 992.735
Cash and cash equivalents A OF YEAT o« cvaverenmmname et $120,145 $ 14,121 $ 111,422 $ 352072 $ 597,760

The above is a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents per the statement of cash flows to the balance sheet.

i the noncash investing, capital and financing activities: ) .
T oot eapital ear 1994 which represent contributed capital from the City.

ived capital assets of $8.2 million for fiscal y . .
?klxiec\?;ztcggoardpreceived capital assets of $37.7 ‘milfion for fiscal year 1994 which represents contributed capital from the City.

See accompanying notes o financial statements.
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- THE CITY OF NEW YORK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 1995 AND 1994

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying general purpose financial statements of The City of New York (City) are presented in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for governments as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB). The amounts shown in the *““Totals —(Memorandum only) Primary Government” and *“Totals—(Memorandum
only) Reporting Entity” columns of the accompanying combined financial statements are only presented to facilitate financial
analysis and are not the equivalent of consolidated financial statements. '

The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies and reporting practices of the City:

Reporting Entity
The City of New York is a municipal corporation governed by the Mayor and the City Council.

The financial reporting entity consists of the primary government including the Board of Education and the communit
colleges of the City University of New York, organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable anﬁ
other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exch;sion
would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete,

The definition of the reporting entity is based primarily on the notion of financial accountability. A pﬂmafy government is
financially accountable for the organizations that make up its legal entity. It is also financially accountable for legally separate
organizations if its officials appoint a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and eitherit is able to impose its vl;ill on
that organization or there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or toimpose sbeciﬁc financial
burdens on, the primary government. A primary government may also be financially accountable for governmental organizations
that are fiscally dependent on it. ' '

Most component units are included in the financial i’eporting entity by discrete presentation. Some component units, despite
being legally separate from the primary government, are so intettwined with the primary government, that they are in sﬁbstance
the same as the primary government. These component units are blended with the primary government. .

Blended Component Units

These component units, although legally separate, provide services exclusively to the City and are \ ed“ i
re;
part of the primary government. They include the following: y portedas if they were

Municipal Assistance Corporation For The City of New York (MAC)
New York City Samurai Funding Corporation (SFC)

New York City Educational Construction Fund (ECF)

City University Construction Fund (CUCF) _

New York City School Construction Authority (SCA)

Discretely Presented Component Units

All discretely presented component units are legally separate from the primary government. The City appoints a majori
these organizations’ boards and is either able to impose its will onlthem_or a financial benefit/burden situation existr:ajonty of

The component unit column in the combined financial statements includes the financial data of these entitie: hi
reported in a separate column to emphasize that they are legally separate from the City. They include the fo]lowin;’- which are

: New York Cify Héalth and Hospitals Corporation (HHC)
New York City Off-Track Betting Corporation (OTB)
Housing and Economic Development Entities:

» New York City Hdusing Development.Corporation (HDC)
e New York City Housing Authority (HA)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

« New York City Industrial Development Agency (IDA)

« New York City Economic Development Corporation (EDC)
« Business Relocation Assistance Corporation (BRAC)

« Brooklyn Navy Yard Development Corporation (BNYDC)

Water And Sewer System:

« New York City Water Board (Water Board)
« New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority (Water Authority)

Note: These organizations publish separate annual financial statements which may be obtained from: Office of the Comptroller,
Bureau of Accountancy, Financial Services Division—Room 800, 1 Centre Street, New York, New York 10007.

Fiduciary Funds

These funds are used to account for assets when a governmental unit is functioning either as a trustee or an agent for another
party. They include the following:

Pension and Similar Trust Funds:

« New York City Employees’ Retirement System (NYCERS)

« New York City Teachers’ Retirement System— Qualified Pension Plan (TRS)

« New York City Board of Education Retirement System—Qualified Pension Plan (BERS)
« New York Police Department Pension Fund— Subchapter 2 (POLICE)

« New York Fire Department Pension Fund— Subchapter 2 (FIRE)

« New York Police Department Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (POVSE)

» New York Police Department Police Superior Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (PSOVSF)
. New York Fire Department Firefighters’ Variable Supplements Fund (FFVSF)

« New York Fire Department Fire Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (FOVSF)

» Transit Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (TPOVSF)

« Transit Police Superior Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (TPSOVSF)

« Housing Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (HPOVSF)

« Housing Police Superior Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (HPSOVSE)

Note: These organizations publish separate annual financial statements which may be obtained from: Office of the Comptroller,
Bureau of Accountancy, Pension Accounting Division—Room 803, 1 Centre Street, New York, New York 10007,
Agency Funds:
« Deferred Compensation Plan for Employees of The City of New York and Related Agencies and Instrumentalities
(DCP)
s Other Agency Funds
Significant accounting policies and other matters concerning the financial information of these organizations are described
elsewhere in the Notes to Financial Statements.

The City’s operations also include those normally performed at the county level and, accordingly, transactions applicable to
the operations of the five counties which comprise the City are included in these financial statements.

The New York City Transit Authority is an affiliated agency of the Metropolitan Transportation Authority of the State of New
York which is a component unit of New York State and is excluded from the City’s financial reporting entity.

Fund Accounting

The City uses funds and account groups to reporton its financial position and the results of its operations. Fund accounting is
designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by segregating transactions related to certain
government functions or activities.

A fund is a separate accounting entity witha self-balancing set of accounts. An account group is a financial reporting device
designed to provide accountability for certain assets and liabilities that are not recorded in the funds because they do not directly
affect net expendable available financial resources.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

- Funds are classified into three categories: governmental, fiduciary, and proprietary. Except for proprietary (organizations
which are reported as discretely presented component units), each category, in turn, is divided into separate “fund types.”

Governmental
General Fund
Tl.ne Gen?ral Fund is the géneral operating fund of the City: Substantially all tax revenues, Federal and State aid (except aid
for capital projects), and other operating revenues are accounted for in the General Fund. This fund also accounts for expenditures

and transfers as appropriated in the Expense Budget, which provides for the City’s day-to-day operations, including transfers to
Debt Service Funds for payment of long-term obligations.

Capital Projects Fund

$15,000, and having been appropriated in the Capital Budget (see Budgets). The Capital Projects Fund includes the activities of
SCA. Resources of the Capital Projects Fund are derived principally from proceeds of City bond issues, payments from the Water
Authority, and from Federal, State, and other aid. The cumulative deficit of $ 885 million and $555 million at June 30, 1995 and
1994, respectively, represents the amount expected to be financed from future bond issues or intergovernmental reimblirseménts

To the extent the deficit will not be financed or reimbursed, a transfer from the General Fund will be required, .

Debt Service Funds

The Debt Service Funds account for the accumulation of resources for payment of principal and interest on long-term
obligations. Separate funds are maintained to account for transactions relating to: (i) the City’s Debt-Service Funds and the
General Debt Service Fund required by State legislation; (ii) certain other public benefit corporations whose indebtedness has
been guaranteed by the City, or with whom the City has entered into lease purchase and similar agreements; (iii) MAC and SFC.
and (iv) ECF and CUCF as component units of the City. ’

Fiduciary
Trust and Agency Funds
The Trust and Agency Funds account for the assets and activities of the Pension and Similar Trust Funds and Agency Funds

The Pension and Similar Trust Funds account for the operations of NYCERS, TRS, BERS, POLICE, and FIRE emplo
retirement systems, and POVSE, PSOVSE FFVSF, FOVSF, TPOVSF, TPSOVSF, HPOVSF, and HPSOVSi’. These activitliseS yee
the accrual basis of accounting and a measurement focus on the periodic determination of Tevenues, expenses, and net as uste
available for pension benefits. s sets

The Agency Funds account for the.operations of DCP, which was created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section

457 and Other Agency Funds which account for miscellaneous assets held by the City for other funds, governmenta] units, and
individuals. The Agency Funds are custodial in nature and do not involve measurement of results of operations ’ an

. Account Groups )

General Fixed Assets Account Group ,

The General Fixed Assets Account Group accounts for those fixed assets which are used for general governmental '
and are not available for expenditure. Such assets include all capital assets, except for the City’s infrastructure elementg ltl;P bate
not required to be capitalized under generally accepted accounting principles. Infrastructure elements include the roads bri?lt are
curbs and gutters, streets and sidewalks, park land and improvements, and subway tracks and tunnels, The fixed assets of sC Ag::’
included in the City’s General Fixed Assets Account Group. The fixed assets of the water distribution and sewage collectio, .
systemare recorded in the Water and Sewer System component unit financial Statements undera lease agreement between the Cit;,l

and the Water Board. - :

General Long-term Obligations Account Group

The General Long-term Obligations Account Group accounts for unmatured long-term bonds payable which Lo,
be paid through the Debt Service Funds. In addition, the General Long-term Obligations Account Group includecs :t;::ralt:;gi :VI;LI
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

obligations for: (i) capital leases; (ii) real estate tax refunds; (iii) judgments and claims; (iv) certain unpaid deferred wages;
(v) unpaid vacation and sick leave; (vi) certain unfunded pension liabilities; and (vii) landfill closure and postclosure care costs.

Discretely Presented Component Units

The discretely presented component units consist of HHC, OTB, HDC, HA and other component units comprising the
Housing and Economic Development Entities, and the Water and Sewer System. These activities are accounted for in a manner
similar to private business enterprises, in which the focus is on the periodic determination of revenues, eXpenses, and net income.

Basis of Accounting

The accounting and financial reporting applied toa fund is determined by its measurement focus. Governmental fund types
use the flow of current financial resources measurement focus. This focus is on the determination of, and changes in financial
position, and generally only current assets and current liabilities are included on the balance sheet. These funds use the modified
accrual basis of accounting, whereby revenues are recognized inthe accounting period in which they become both measurable and
available to finance expenditures of the fiscal period. Expenditures are recorded when the related liability is incurred, except for
interest on long-term obligations and certain estimated liabilities recorded in the General Long-term Obligations Account Group:

The measurement focus of the Pension and Similar Trust Funds and the discretely presented component units is on'the flow of
economic resources. This focus emphasizes the determination of net income and financial position. With this measurement focus,
all assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds and discretely presented component units are included on the
balance sheet. These funds and discretely presented component units use the accrual basis of accounting whereby revenues are
recognized in the accounting period in which they are earned, and expenses are recognized in the period incurred. The Pension
Trust Funds’ contributions from members are recorded when the employer makes payroll deductions from Plan members.
Employer contributions are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions.

Benefits and refunds are recoghized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plans.

The Agency Funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting and do not measure the results of operations.

Budgets and F inancial Plans
Budgets

Annual Expense Budget appropriations, which are prepared on the modified accrual basis, are adopted for the General Fund,
and unused appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end. The City uses appropriations in the Capital Budget to authorize the expenditure
of funds for various capital projects. Capital appropriations, unless modified or rescinded, remain in effect until the completion of
each project.

The City is required by State Law to adopt and adhere to abudget that would nothave General Fund expenditures in excess of
revenues.

Expenditures made against the Expense Budget are controlled through the use of quarterly spending allotments and units of
appropriation. A unit of appropriation represents a subdivision of an agency’s budget and is the level of control at which
expenditures may not legally exceed the appropriation. The number of units of appropriation and the span of operating
responsibility which each unit represents, differs from agency to agency depending on the size of the agency and the level of
control required. Transfers between units of appropriation and supplementary appropriations may be made by the Mayor subject
to the approval provisions set forth in the City Charter. Supplementary appropriations increased the Expense Budget by $1,124
million and $1,084 million subsequent 10 its original adoption in fiscal years 1995 and 1994, respectively.

Financial Plans

The New York State Financial Emergency Act for The City of New York, as amended in 1978, requires the City to operate
under a “rolling” Four-Year Financial Plan (Plan). Revenues and expenditures, including operating transfers, of each year of the
Plan are required to be balanced on a basis consistent with QAAP. ”ljhe Plan is broader in scope than the Expense Budget; it
comprehcnds General Fund revenues and expenditures, Capital Projects Fund revenues and expenditures, and all short and

long-term fiancing.
The Expense Budget is generally consistent with the first year of the Plan and operations under the Expense Budget must

ceflect the aggregate limitations contained in the approved Plan. The City reviews its Plan periodically during the year and, if
necessary, makes modifications to incorporate actual results and revisions to assumptions.
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. Encumbrances

reflect 'the use of the applicable spending appropriations, is used by the General Fund during the fiscal year to control
expenditures, The cost of those goods received and services rendered on or before June 30 are recognized as expenditures.
Ericumbrances not resulting in'expenditures by year-end, lapse, o )

Cash and Investments

The City considers all highly liquid investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased, to be cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents include compensating balances maintained with certain banks in lieu of payments for services
rendered. The average compeénsating balances maintained during fiscal years 1995 and 1994 were approximately $260 million
and $360 million, respectively. ’ ’

Investments in marketable fixed income securities are recorded at cost or amortized cost, plus accrued interest. Securitiesl
purchased pursuant to agreements to resell are carried at the coniract price, exclusive of interest, at which the securities will be
resold. ' i

Investments of the Pension and Similar Trust Funds and DCP are reported at market value. Investments are stated at the last
reported salgs price on a national securities exchange on the last'business day of the fiscal year. . . L

“Inventories

Materials and supplies are recorded as expenditures in governmental funds at the time of pﬁrchaée. Accordingly, inventories ‘
on hand at June 30, 1995 and 1994 (estimated at $200 million and $203 million, respectively, based on average cost) have not
been reported on the governmental funds balance sheets.

Restricted Cash and Investments

Certain proceeds of component unit bonds, as well as certain resources set aside for bond repayment, are classified ag

restricted cash and investments on the balance sheet because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants

- Fixed Assets

- Fixed assets are-generally stated at historical cost, or at estimated historical cost based on appraisals or on other acceptable
methods when historical cost is not available. Donated fixed assets are stated at their fair market value as of the date zf th
donation. Capital leases are classified as fixed assets in amounts equal to the lesser of the fajr market value or the present valye ‘:’
net minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease (see Note G). : °

. Acci;mulate_d depreciation and amortization are reported as reductions of fixed assets. Depreci‘atién is computed using th
straight-line method based upon estimated useful lives of 40 to 50 years for buildings and 5 to 35 years for eqﬁipmem C ag . tacl.’
lease assets and leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or the life of the asset whichever is icsspl

See Notes K, L, M, and N for fixed asset accounting policies used by HHC, OTB, HA, and the Watér and Sewer Syst,
respectively. , ) ; ystem,

Allowancefor'Uncollectible Mortgage Loans

~ Mortgage loans and interest receiva,bl:r in the Debt Service Funds are net of an allowance for uncollectible am oo
$1,023.2 million and $1,028.7 million for fiscal years 1995 and 1994, respectively. The allowance is composed of the bzggzzs otf?
first mortgages one or more years in arrears and the balance of refinanced mortgages where payments to the City a:re"no tex etod .
to be completed for approximately 25 to 30 years. v ot €xpec e

Vacation and Sick Leave

Earned vacation and sick leave is recorded as an expenditure in the period when itis payable from current financial resources
The estimated value of vacation leave earned by employees which may be used in subsequent years or ¢amned vacation and gj k
leave paid upon termination or retirement, and therefore payable from future resources, is recorded in the General Long t:‘(r:n
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Obligations Account Group, except for leave of the employees of the discretely presented component units which is accounted for
in those component unit financial statements.

Treasury Obligations

Bonds payable included in the General Long-term Obligations Account Group and investments in the Debt Service Funds
are reported net of “treasury obligations.” Treasury obligations represent City bonds held as investments of the Debt Service
Funds which are offset and reported as if these bonds had been redeemed.

Judgments and Claims

The City is uninsured with respect to most risks including, but not limited to, property damage, personal injury, and workers’
compensatipn. Expenditures for judgments and claims (other than workers’ compensation and condemnation proceedings) are
recorded on the basis of settlements reached or judgments entered within the current fiscal year. Expenditures for workers’
compensation are recorded when paid. Settlements relating to condemnation proceedings are reported in the Capital Projects
Fund when the liability is estimable. The estimated liability for judgments and claims which have not been adjudicated, settled, or
reported at the end of a fiscal year is recorded in the General Long-term Obligations Account Group. The current liability for
settlements reached or judgments entered but not yet paid is recorded in the General Fund.

General Long-term Obligations

For general long-term obligations, only that portion expected to be financed from expendable available financial resources is
reportedas a fund liability of a governmental fund. The remaining portion of such obligations is reported in the General Long-term
Obligations Account Group. Long-term liabilities expected to be financed from discretely presented component unit operations
are accounted for in those component unit financial statements.

Real Estate Tax

Real estate tax payments for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1995 were due July 1, 1994 and January 1, 1995 except that
payments by owners of real property assessed at $40,000 or less and cooperatives whose individual units on average are valued at
$40,000 or less were due in quarterly installments on the first day of each quarter beginning on July 1.

The levy date for fiscal year 1995 taxes was June 22, 1994, The lien date is the date taxes are due.

Real estate tax revenue represents payments received during the year and payments received (against the current fiscal year
and prior years’ levies) within the first two months of the following fiscal year reduced by tax refunds. On April 25, 1995, the City
sold without recourse its interest in its outstanding real estate tax receivables as of April 5, 1995. The tax receivable balance as of
April 5, 1995 was $1.942 billion, including interest of $615 million. The City received at the time of the sale, $220.6 million.

Under the terms of the sale, the purchaser would receive all payments against the outstanding balance except that:

(1) The first $30 million of delinquent collections will be placed in a reserve account, established to provide the
purchaser security that the actual levy year 1995 net delinquency amount is equal to or greater than the estimate made at the
time of the sale. Should the levy exceed the estimate, the $30 million would return to the City. The actual levy met the
estimate and the $30 million was returned to the City in August, 1995. .

(2) The next $308.2 million of delinquent collections, made from the closing day up to and including August 31,1995
would be retained by the City. These collections were retained by the City.

After August 31, 1995, all payments would go to the purchaser until $229 million plus interest on the remaining monthly
palance is satisfied or antil April 25, 1998. The interest rate is to be determined periodically. Once the $229 million of principal is
received or April 25, 1998, whichever is earlier, the balance of the receivables would return to the City.

The City is permitted to levy real estate taxes for general operating purposes in anamount up to 2.5% of the average full value
of taxable real estate in the City for the last five years and in unlimited amounts for the payment of principal and interest on
long-term City debt. Amiounts collected for payment of principal and interest on long-term debt in excess of that required for that
purpose in the year of the levy must be applied towards future years’ debt service. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 1995 and
1994, excess amounts of $66 million and $67 million, respectively, were transferred to the Debt Service Funds.

Other Taxes and Other Revenues 7
Taxpayer—assessed taxes, such as sales and income taxes, net of estimated refunds, are recognized in the accounting period in
which they become susceptible to accrual.
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Licenses, permits, privileges and franchises, fines, forfeitures, and other revenues are recorded when received in cash. The
City receives revenue from the Water Board for operating and maintenance costs and rental payments for use of the Water and
Sewer System. These revenues are recognized when the services are provided by the City for the Water Board.

Federal, State, and Other Aid

Categorical aid, net of a provision for estimated disallowances, is reported as revenue when the related reimbursable
expenditures are incurred. Unrestricted aid is reported as revenue in the fiscal year of entitlement.

" Bond Discounts/Issuance Costs

discounts and issuance costs in the discretely presented component units are deferred and amortized over the term of the bonds
using the bonds-outstanding method, which approximates the effective interest method. Bond discounts are presented as a
reduction of the face amount of bonds payable, whereas issuance costs are recorded as deferred charges.

In governmental fund types, bond discounts and issuance costs are recognized as expenditures in the period incurred. Bond

Transfers

Payments from a fund or discretely presented componerit unit receiving revenue to a fund or discretely presented component
unit through which the revenue is to be expended are reported as operating transfers. Such payments include transfers for debt
service and OTB net revenues. :

Subsidies

The City makes various payments to subsidize a number of organizations which provide services to City residents, These
payments are recorded as expenditures in the year paid.

Pensions

In November, 1994, the GASB issued Statement No. 25, Financial Reporting for Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Note
Disclosures for Defined Contribution Plans. The Statement establishes standards of financial reporting for defined benefit
pension plans. The Statement requires the financial statements of all periods presented to be restated, if practical. The effect of the
Statement, which resulted in the restatement of investments to fair value, is reported as a restatement of beginning fund balance for
the earliest period presented. To reflect application of GASB Statement No. 25, the beginning fund balance of the Pension Trust
and Similar Trust Funds for fiscal year 1994, which was $52.0 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively, has been restated to $53.3
billion and $1.6 billion, respectively. ' ' .

In November, 1994, the GASB also issued Statement No, 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental
Employers. The Statement establishes standards for the measurement, recognition, and display of pension expenses and related
assets, liabilities, note disclosures, and supplementary information. Pension cost is required to be measured and disclosed using
the accrual basis of accounting (see Note R), regardless of the amount recognized as pension expense on the modified accrual basis
of accounting. Annual pension cost should be equal to the annual required contributions to the pension plan, calculated in
accordance with certain parameters.

Comparative Data

Comparative total data for the prior year have been presented in the accompanying combining and individual fund, account
group, and discretely presented component unit financial statements in order to provide an understanding of changes in tile City’s
financial position and operations. Reclassification of certain prior year amounts has been made to conform with the current year

presentation.

Pronouncements Issued But Not Yet Effective

In May, 1990, the GASB issued Statement No. 11, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting—Governmental Fund
Operating Statements. The Statement establishes an accrual basis of accounting with a financial resources measurement focus for
governmental funds. The operating results expressed using the financial resources measurement focys show the extent to which
financial resources obtained during a period are sufficient to cover claims against financial resources incurred during that period
The City currently follows the modified accrual basis. Using the modified accrual basis, revenues arerecognized in the accountin -
period in which they become measurable and available and expenditures are recognized when the fund liability is incurred i%
measurable, except for unmatured interest on general long-term debt, which is recognized when due, The effective date of t,he
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Statement has been deferred by GASB Statement No. 17, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting — Governmental Fund
Operating Statements: Amendment of the Effective Dates of GASB Statement No. 11 and Related Statements, to periods beginning
approximately two years after an implementation standard is issued. Early implementation of Statement No. 11 is not permitted.
The City has not yet completed the complex analysis required to estimate the financial statement impact of Statement No. 11.

In May, 1995, GASB issued Statement No. 28, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Securities Lending Transactions.
The Statement requires that securities lent as assets be reported in the balance sheet. Cash received as collateral on securities
lending transactions and investments made with that cash will be reported as assets. Securities received as collateral should alsobe
reported as assets if the governmental entity has the ability to pledge or sell them without a borrower default. Liabilities resulting
from these transactions will be reported in the balance sheet. The provisions of the Statement are effective for financial statements
for periods beginning after December 15, 1995. The City has not adopted the Statement in fiscal year 1995. A description of the
City’s secutities lending activities for the Pension and Similar Trust Funds (Systems & Funds) in fiscal year 1995 is providedinthe
following paragraphs:

State statutes and boards of trustees policies permit the Systems & Funds to lend their securities (the underlying securities) to
brokers-dealers and other entities with a simultaneous agreement to return the collateral for the same securities in the future. The
Systems” & Funds’ custodians lend the following types of securities: short-term securities, common stock, long-term corporate
bonds, U.S. Governments and U.S. Government agencies’ bonds, asset-backed securities, and international equities and bonds
held in collective investment funds. In return, they receive collateral in the form of cash, treasury, and agency securities at
100%—105% of the principal plus accrued interest for reinvestment. At year-end, the Systems & Funds had no credit risk
exposure to borrowers because the amounts the Systems & Funds owe the borrowers exceed the amounts the borrowers owe the
Systems & Funds. The contracts with the Systems’ & Funds’ custodian requires borrowers to indemnify the Systems & Funds if
the borrowers fail to return the securities and if the collateral is inadequate to replace the securities lent or fail to pay the Systems &
Funds for income distributions by the securities’ issuers while the securities are on loan. All securities loans can be terminated on
demand within a period specified in each agreement by either the Systems & Funds or the borrowers. Cash collateral is invested in
the lending agents’ short-term investment pools, which have a weighted-average maturity of 90 days. The underlying securities
(fixed income) have an average maturity of 10 years except for the TRS securities lending program discussed below, which has an
average maturity of 5 years.

In addition, TRS administers a securities lending program for TRS and BERS Variable A investment program which is
comparable to the securities lending program discussed above.

As of June 30, 1995, the underlying securities lent out for the Systems & Funds was approximately $5.793 billion. The cash
collateral was approximately $6.029 billion.

B. AUDIT RESPONSIBILITY

In fiscal years 1995 and 1994, respectively, the separately administered organizations included in the financial statements of
the City audited by auditors other than KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, are the Municipal Assistance Corporation For The City of New
York, New York City Housing Authority, New York City Economic Development Corporation, New York City Educational
Construction Fund, New York City Industrial Development Agency, New York City Off-Track Betting Corporation, New York
City School Construction Authority, Brooklyn Navy Yard Development Corporation, Business Relocation Assistance
Corporation, City University Construction Fund, and the Deferred Compensation Plan.

The following describes the proportion of certain key financial information that is audited by other auditors in fiscal years

1995 and 1994:
Fund Types Account Groups
Capital Debt ““;t Gl:fﬂel‘al General
api 3 an " ed L -t
General Projects Service Ageney A:;ets ogﬁgaéf)ﬁ’s Cor{l}g?;ent
ooy % 05, 199 D95 1% D95 1994 %5 1998 1395 1994 105 19%
- T ey — —— T —— ——
Total assets/liabilities . . ... ..voeee 0 o 11 18 8 83 3 2 28 29 16 17 20 20
Operating revenues and other
financing SOUICES . ...c-ocecrcr " 0 0 2 24 13 21 0 0 NA NA NA NA 26 25

NA: Not Applicable
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C. MUNICIPAL ASSISTANCE CORPORATION FOR THE CITY OF NEW YORK MACQC) -

MACisa corporate governmental agency and instrumenta!ity of the State constituting a public benefit corporation. MAC

MAC has no taxing power. All outstanding bonds issued by MAC are general obligations of MAC and do not constitute an
enforceable obligation or a debt of either the City or the State and neither the City nor the State is liable thereon, Neither the City
nor a creditor of the City has any claim to MAC’s revenues and assets. Debt service requirements and operating expenses are
funded by allocations from the State’s collection of certain sales and compensating use taxes (imposed by the State within the City

State.

MAC was authorized by the Act toissue, until J anuary 1, 1985, obligations in an aggregate principal amount of $10 billion, of
which MAC issued approximately $9.445 billion, exclusive of obligations issued to refund outstanding obligations of MAC and
of notes issued to enable the City to fulfill its seasonal borrowing requirements. In J uly, 1990, State legislation was enacted which,
among other things, authorized MAC to issue up to an additional $1.5 billion of bonds and notes to fund a portion of the capital
programs of the New York City Transit Authority and SCA. This legislation also provides for areduction inthe July, 1990 issuance
authority to the extent that the transit and schools capital programs are funded by the City. As of June 30, 1995 and 1994, the City
has funded $995 million and $800 million of these programs, respectively.

MAC conﬁnues to be authorized to issue obligations to renew or refund outstanding obligations, without limitation as to
amount. No obligations of MAC may mature later than July 1, 2008. MAC may issue new obligations provided their issuance
would not cause certain debt service limitations and debt service coverage ratios to be exceeded. :

As indicated in Note A, the MAC transactions and account balances are included in the accompanying financial statements
because MAC’s financing activities are considered an essential part of the City’s financing activities. In order to include the
financial statements of MAC with those of the City, the following eliminations were made: (i) July 1st bond redemptions and
intereston bonds payable which are reflected on MAC’s statements at June 30; and (ii) certain City obli gations purchased by MAC
(see Note H). MAC account balances and transactions are shown in the Debt Service Funds and General Long-term Obligations
Account Group; revenues appropriated and paid by the State of New York to MAC are first included in General Fund revenues and
then transferred to the Debt Service Funds in the fiscal year of such payments.

D. New YORK Crry SAMURAI FUNDING CORPORATION (SFC)

The City created SFC on August 25, 1992. This is a special-purpose nonprofit entity, created to issue Yen-denominated
bonds. The members, directors, and officers of SFC are all elected officials or employees of the City.

SFC issued Yen-denominated bonds to investors on May27, 1993 and simultaneously bought general obligation bonds from
the City. Such bonds require the City to make floating rate interest and principal payments in U S. dollars to SFC, SFC entered into
currency and interest rate exchange agreements to swap the City’s payments into fixed rate Yen which are used to pay SFC’s
bondholders. These agreements limit the City’s currency and exchange rate change exposure, SFC’s bonds are included ig the
City’s General Long-term Obligations Account Group. Proceeds from this issue were used for housing and economic
development projects that do not qualify for tax-exempt bond status.

E. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Deposits

The City’s,ba'nk depositories are designated by the Baflking' Commission, which consists of the Comptroller, the Mayor, and
the Finance Commissioner. Independent bank rating agencies are usgt.i to d§terlmne the financial soundness of each bank, and the
City’s banking relationships are under periodic operational and credit reviews. :

The City Charter limits the amount of deposits at any time in any one bapk or trust company to a maximum of one-half of the
amount of the capital and net surplus of such bank or trust company. The discretely presented component units included in the
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City’s reporting entity maintain their own banking relationships which generally conform with the City’s. Bank balances are
currently insured up to $100,000 in the aggregate by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) for each bank for all funds
other than monies of the retirement systems, which are held by well-capitalized banks and therefore are insured by the FDIC up to
$100,000 per retirement system men_lber. At June 30, 1995 and 1994, the carrying amount of the City’s cash and cash equivalents
was $1,132 million and $735 million, respectively, and the bank balances were $598 million and $425 million, respectively. Of the
bank balances, $78 million and $98 million, respectively, were covered by Federal depository insurance or collateralized with
securities held by the City’s agent in the City’s name, and $520 million and $327 million, respectively, were uninsured and
collateralized with securities held by the City’s agent in the City’s name. At June 30, 1995 and 1994, the carrying amount of the
discretely presented component units’ cash and cash equivalents was $251 million and $200 million, respectively, and the bank
balances were $121 million and $89 million, respectively. Of the bank balances, $6 million and $16 million, respectively, were
covered by Federal depository insurance or collateralized with securities held by the City’s agent in the City’s name, and $115
million and $73 million, respectively, were uninsured and collateralized with securities held by the City’s agent in the City’s name.

The uninsured, collateralized cash balances carried during the year represent primarily the compensating balances to be
maintained at banks for services provided. It is the policy of the City to invest all funds in excess of compensating balance
requirements.

Investments

The City’s investment of cash inits governmental fund types is limited to U.S. Government securities purchased directly and
through repurchase agreements from primary dealers. The repurchase agreements must be collateralized by U.S. Government
securities in a range of 100% to 103% of the matured value of the repurchase agreements.

The investment policies of the discretely presented component units included in the City’s reporting entity generally
conform to those of the City’s. The criteria for the Pension and Similar Trust Funds’ investments are as follows:

1. Fixed income investments may be made in U.S. Government securities or securities of U.S. Government agencies,
securities of companies rated BBB or better by both Standard & Poor’s Corporation and Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.,
and any bond that meets the qualifications of the New York State Retirement and Social Security Law, the New York State
Banking Law, and the New York City Administrative Code.

2. Equity investments may be made only in those stocks that meet the qualifications of the New York State Retirement and
Social Security Law, the New York State Banking Law, and the New York City Administrative Code.

3. Short-term investments may be made in the following:
a. U.S. Government securities or U.S. Government agencies’ securities.
b. Commercial paper rated Al orP1 by Standard & Poor’s Corporation or Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., respectively.

c. Repurchase agreements collateralized in a range of 100% to 103% of matured value, purchased from primary dealers
of U.S. Government securities.

d. Investments in bankers’ acceptances and certificates of deposit— time deposits are limited to banks with world-wide
assets in excess of $50 billion that are rated within the highest categories of the leading bank rating services and
selected regional banks also rated within the highest categories.

4. Investments up to 7 1/2% of total pension fund assets in instruments not specifically covered by the New York State
Retirement and Social Security Law.

5. No investment in any one organization represents 5% or more of the plan net assets held in trust for pension and
supplemental benefits.

All securities are held by the City's custodial banks (in bearer or book-entry form) solely as agent of the Comptroller of The
City of New York on behalf of the various account OWners. Payments for purchases are not released until the purchased securities

are received by the City’s custodial bank.

Investments of the City and its discretely presented component units are categorized by level of credit risk (the risk that a
counterparty to aninvestment transaction will not fulfill its obli gations). Category 1, the lowest risk, includes investments that are
insured or registered or for which securities areheld by the entity orits agent in the entity’s name. Category 2, includes investments
that are uninsured and unregistered with securities held by the counterparty’s trust department or agent in the entity’s name.
Category 3, the highest risk, includes investments that are uninsured and unregistered with securities held by the counterparty, or
by its trust department of agent but not in the entity’s name. s
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The City’s investments, including those of the discretely presented component units (DPCU), as of June 30, 1995 and 1994
are classified as follows: - . ' : -

1995
Total
Category Carrying Market
1 2 3 Amount Yalue
City DPCU City DPCU Ciy DPCU Gty DPCU City DPCU
] (in millions)
Repurchase agreements ... $ 2,109 § 199 $ — $— $— 5 — $2109 $199 $211 § 199
U.S. Government =
securities . ............ 14,697 643 — — — — 14,697 643 14,695 643
Commercial paper ....... 988 — — — — — 988 — 988 —
Corporate bonds . . ....... 7,104 — — — — — 7,104 — 7,104 —
Corporate stocks . ........ 33,766 — — — — — 33,766 — 33,766 _
Other ................. 3,115 189 = 3 — — 3,115 194 3,115 194
] $61,779  $1,031 $_—_ $_§ 85; $ — 61,779 1,036 61,779 1,036
Mutual funds (1)......... : 955 — 1,146 .
International investment fund—
fixed income (1) ....... i 748 — 748 -
International investment fund— :
equity (1) ............ 5,053 — 5,053 —
Guaranteed investment
contracts(1) ........... 338 — 338 -
Management investment :
contracts(1)........... 256 —_ 256 -
Total investments . . _ $69,129  $1,036  $69.320 $1,036

(1) These investments are not categorized because they are not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form.
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In fiscal year 1995, the restricted cash and investments which are wholly applicable to discretely presented component units
include $360.3 million of cash, of which the repayment of $358.1 million was insured or collateralized and $2.2 million was
uninsured and uncollateralized. Restricted investments, principally in U.S. Government securities with a cost and approximate
market value of $773.5 million are fully registered with securities held by the City’s agentin the entity’s name of which none have
maturities of three months or less.

1994
Total
Category Carrying Market
1 2 3 Amount Value
City DPCU City DPCU City DPCU City DPCU City DPCU
(in millions)
Repurchase agreements . .. $ 2271 §$ 155 $ — $— $ — $ - $ 2,271 $ 155 $2315 $ 155
U.S. Government
SECUTItes . ..o enenns 13,536 808 — — — — 13,536 808 13,512 833
Commercial paper ....... 1,118 — — -— — — 1,118 — 1,118 .
Corporate bonds ......... 5,771 — — —_ —_ — 5,771 _ 5771 .
Corporate Stocks . ... .-« <+ 28,994 — — — — — 28,994 — 28,994 —
Other .......onceereens 3,387 43 = = - — 3,387 43 3,387 43
$55,077  $1,006 $_: $_: t $_— 55,077 1,006 55,097 1,031
Mutual fands (1) ... .. -~ 328 — 328 —
International investment fund—
fixed income (1) . .....- 591 J— 591 —
International investment fund—
equity (1) «c.ovvreiens 4,260 —_ 4,260 —
Guaranteed investment
contracts(1) ......-o0v- 865 — 865 —
Management investment
contracts(1) ... ceo0n - 256 — 256 —
Total investments . . , $61,377  $1,006 $61,397  $1,031

—

(1) These investments are not categorized because they are not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form.

In fiscal year 1994, the restricted cash and investments which are wholly applicable to discretely presented component units
include $398.1 million of cash, of which the repayment of $17.5 million was insured or collateralized and $380.6 million was
uninsured and collateralized. Restricted investments, principally in U.S. Government securities with a cost and approximate
market value of $991.2 million are fully registered with securities held by the City’s agent in the entity’s name of which none have
maturities of three months or less.

F. GENERAL FIXED ASSETS ACCOUNT GROUP

The following is a summary of changes in general fixed assets for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1994 and 1995:

Balance Balance Balance

June 30, June 30, June 30,

1993 Additions  Deletions 1994 Additions _Deletions 1995

(in thousands)
Land .. ooveneeeneeens $ 549,437 $ 33813 $ 165 $ 553,085 $ — 3 — $ 553,085
Buildings ... coecceree 6,148,261 511,695 5,188 6,654,768 1,140,044 465 7,794,347
Bquipment . ...« -+ 2,793,158 143,289 113,812 2,822,635 156,952 87,346 2,892,241
Construction work-in-

PIOZIESS - .vvvcvver " 4,675,718 __1,_03_7,_05‘1 511,695 5,201,134 1,205,992 1,140,044 5,267,082

14,166,634 1,695,848 630,860 15,231,622 2,502,988 1,227,855 16,506,755
Less accumulated

depreciation and
AMOTGZALON -« -+« -+« < 4,242,788 331,944 93,517 4,481,215 421,261 76,610 4,825,866
Total changes in net
fixed aSSets . ..+« $9.923.846 $1363904 $537,343 $10,750407 §2,081,727 $1,151,245  $11,680,889
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The following are the sources of funding for the general fixed assets for the years ended June 30, 1995 and 1994. Sources of

funding for fixed assets are not available prior to fiscal year 1987. 7
1995 1994

(in thousands)
Capital Projects Fund;

Prior to fiscal year 1987 ....... ... . .. $ 6,817,992 $ 6,817,992
Citybonds ....................... .. 9,337,530 8,109,171
Federalgrants ................ .. .. . 224,640 199,632
- Stategrants ................... ... . 82,439 66,105
Privategrants ................ .. .. . 44,154 38,722
Total funding sources ........... ... . $16,506,755 $ 15,231,622

_—

Included in land and buildings at June 30, 1995 and 1994, are leased properties capitalized at $122 million and $103 million
respectively, with related accumulated amortization of $40 million and $47 million, respectively.

G. LEASES

The City leases a significant amount of property and equipment from others, Leased propérty having elements of ownership
are classified as capital leases in the General Fixed Assets Account Group. The related obligations, in amounts equal to the present
value of minimum lease payments payable during the remaining term of the leases, are recorded in the General Long-term

As of June 30, 1995, the City (excluding discretely presented component units) had future minimym payments under capital
and operating leases with a remaining term in excess of one year as follows: ,

Capital Operating
Leases - Leases Total
. (inthousands)y ~
Fiscal year ending June 30: , .
1996 ..o $ 89067 s 167,266 § 256,333
1997 o L. 91,071 140,273 231,344
1998 o 89,902 - 126,612 216,514
1999 o 96,638 115216 . 23 1,854
2000 ........... e e e e, . 96,271 106,849 203,120
Thereafteruntil 2023 ...................... . .. 1,333,702 693,646 2,027,348
Future minimum payments .......... EERERRR 1,796,651 m m
Lessinterest ............................... .. 829,706 oo
Present value of future minimum payments . . ... .. -$ 966,945

The City also leases City-owned property to others, primarily for markets, ports, and terminals, Tota] rental revenue on thege
operating leases for the fiscal years ended June 30, 199§ and 1994, was approximately $127 million and $133 million
respectively. As of June 30, 1995, the following future minimum rentals are provided for by the leases: ’
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Amount
(in thousands)
Fiscal year ending June 30:

T A A $ 52,400

LU 7 A 49,820
LT S 47,090

LT L R 42,110
D000 .+ o v eeeerrer s 40,970
Thereafter until 2086 ... . .coovvveriee i 1,101,069
Future minimum rentals .. ... .cooeenemonaoens $1,333,465

H. LonG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Long-term Debt

Following is a summary of the bond transactions of the City, MAC, SFC, and certain public benefit corporations that are
component units of the City and/or whose debt is guaranteed by the City. For information on notes and bonds payable of the
discretely presented component units, see Notes K, L, M, and N.

Balance Balance Balance
June 30, Repaid or June 30, Repaid or June 30,
1993 Issued Defeased 1994 Issued Defeased 1995
(in thousands)
City debt: _ _
General obligation bonds $20,908,974 $4,450,308 $2,456,342  $22,902,940 $3,581 666 $1,980,139 $24,504,467
MAC debt:(4)
Second general resolution
bonds .....eenienn 4,957,225 — 158,335 4,798,890 — 173,435 4,625,455
1991 general resolution
bonds .....oeeeeene 506,040 — 229,440 276,600 — 20,080 256,520
5,463,265 — 387,775 5,075,490 — 193,515 4,881,975
SFC debt:
Japanese Yen bonds .. .. 200,000 — — 200,000 _ _ 200,000
Component unit debt: (1)
City University
Construction Fund(2) . 411,040 — 6,371(3) 404,669 — 16,576 388,093
New York City Educational
Construction Fund ... 126,630 137,750 126,630 137,750 — 5,580 132,170
537,670 137,750 133,001 542,419 — 22,156 520,263
Total before treasury
obligations ........--- 27,109,909 4,588,058 2,977,118 28,720,849 3,581,666 2,195,810 30,106,705
Less treasury obligations .. 1,478,915 — 112,876 1,366,039 —_ 122,983 1,243,056
Total summary of

bond transactions . . $25,630,994 $4,588,058 $2,864,242 $27,354,810 $3,581,666 $2,072,827 $28,863,649

—

N —

(1) The debtof CUCF and ECF are reported as bonds outstanding pursuant to their treatment as component units (sec Note A).
(2) Excludes $286,070 in 1994 and $292,272 in 1995 to be provided by the State.

(3) Net adjustment based on allocation of debt between New York State and New York City.

(4) Includes $188,195 of principal debt due July 1, 1995 which MAC reports as redeemed as of June 30, 1995.
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The bonds payable, net of treasury obligations, at June 30, 1995 and 1994 summarized by type of issue are ag follows:

1995 . 1994
General : ) General .
Obligations Revenue Total Obligations " Revenue Total
o (in thousands) :
Bonds payable:
Citydebt.................. $23261411 § — $23,261,411  $21,536,901 $ —  $21,536,901
MACdebt................, 4,881,975 - 4,881,975 5,075,490 — 5,075,490
SFCdebt.................. 200,000 —_- 200,000 200,000 — 200,000
Component unit debt ........ — 520,263 520,263 — 542,419 542:419
Total bonds payable . ... ... $28,343,386  $520,263 $28,863,649  $26,812,391 $542,419 $27,354,810
- The following table summarizes future debt service requirements as of June 30, 1995: - 7
City Debt ,
General
Obligation Interest on Cm(ljl:;:lent
Bonds . Bonds (1) ~ MAC SFC (2) Deb

) (in thousands) ) ‘ Total
Fiscal year ending June 30: ' - : '

1996 ..o, $ 1134475 °$ 1,462,703 518204  $ 14,000 $ 51,528 3,180;
1997 oo 1,193,704 1,383,261 508,385 14,000 - 51,464 ’ 3’158’3%2.
1998 ool Ve 1,138,629 1,315,799 571,263 14,000 51,443 - 3,091"134
1999 .. ... L061,775 1246183 583651 14000 51781 29571390
2000 ..., 1,001,549 1,188,960 601,399 11,200 51,776 2,854’884
Thereafter until 2147 ........ 17,731,279 11,610,154 4,825,232 216,800 647,528 35 ,030’993
23261411 18207,060 7,608,134 284,000 905520 50266125
Less interest component . . . . . . — 18,207,060 2726159 84,000 385257 21400476
Total future debt service . T STl
requirements . . ......... $23,261,411 $ — $4,881,975  $200,000 $520,263  $28.863 649

(1) Includes interest estimated at 4% rate on tax-exempt adjustablé rate bonds and at 6% rate on taxable adjustable rate bonds
(2) Interest estimated at 7% rate. : :

The average (weighted) interest rates for outstanding City genetal obligation bonds as of J une 30, 1995 and 1994, were 6.7%
(range 3.0% to 13.6%) and 6.9% (range 2.5% to 13.6%), respectively, and the interest rates on outstanding MAC bonds as of J.une
30, 1995 and 1994, ranged from 3.5% to 7.75% and 3.1% to 7.75 %, respectively. The last maturity of the outstanding City debt is
in the year 2147. . ]

In fiscal year 1995, the City issued $1.270 billion of general obligation bonds principal to advance refund general obligation
bonds of $1.186 billion aggregate principal amount issued during the City’s fiscal years 1984 through 1993, The net pfoceeds
from the sales of the refunding bonds were irrevocably placed in escrow accounts and invested in United States Govermhent,
securities. As a result of providing for the payment of the principal and interest to maturity, and any redemption premium, the
advance refunded bonds are considered to be defeased and, accordingly, the Liability is not Ieported in the General Long-t’erm
Obligations Account Group. The refunding transactions will decrease the City’s aggregate debt service Payments by $24 million
and provide an economic gain of $41 million. At June 30, 1995, $5.463 billion of the City’s outstanding general obligation bonds
were considered defeased. »

MAC issued no bonds for refunding purposes in fiscal year 1995, At J une 30, 1995, $115.0 mils;
outstanding which had been advance refunded were considered defeased, . _ ¥ : 5.0 miltion of MAC bonds

The City utilizes derivative financial instruments in connection with certain bond issues in order to reduce debt service COosts.
The City minimizes the interest rate risk of these instruments through hedging transactions and minimizes counterparty credit risk.
by dealing with high-quality counterparties. ‘ ,

The City has entered into a number of interest rate swap agreements to facilitate the issuance and sale of certajn variable rate
bonds by providing protection to the City against variable rate risk. The agreements effectively change the City's imcrest rate
exposure on its obligation to pay fluctuating amounts of interest on floating rate debt instruments to fixed rate interest payments

Debt instruments subject to interest rate swap agreements were: $325 million Short RITES bonds, $43.8 million ;
inverse floaters, $14.6 million inverse floating rate notes, and $22.5 million LIBOR notes. Hlion indexed
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The State Constitution requires the City to pledge its full faith and credit for the payment of the principal and interest on City
term and serial bonds and guaranteed debt. The general debt-incurring power of the City is limited by the Constitution to 10% of
the average of five years’ full valuations of taxable real estate. Additional debt may be incurred for housing purposes and is limited
to 2% of the average of five years’ assessed valuations. Excluded from these debt limitations is certain indebtedness incurred for
water supply, certain obligations for transit, sewage, and other specific obligations which exclusions are based on arelationship of
debt service to net revenue.

As of June 30, 1995, the 10% general and 2% additional limitations were approximately $35 1027 billion and $1.555 billion,

respectively, of which the remaining debt-incurring amounts within such limits were $8.379 billion and $1.433 billion,
respectively. See Note C for information related to MAC debt authorization and issuance limitations.

Pursuant to State legislation on January 1, 1979, the City established a General Debt Service Fund administered and
maintained by the State Comptroller into which payments of real estate taxes and other revenues are deposited in advance of debt
service payment dates. Debt service on all City notes and bonds is paid from this Fund.

Subsequent to June 30, 1995, the City completed the following long-term financing:

City Debt: On August 2, 1995, the City sold in the public credit market $1,230 million of general obligation bonds for
which $755 million was for refunding purposes and $475 million was for various municipal capital purposes. On October 19,
1995, the City offered to the public credit market $1,205 million of general obligation bonds for which $405 million will be for
refunding purposes and $800 million will be for various municipal capital purposes. The sale of these bonds is expected to close on
November 3,1995.1n addition, to satisfy its seasonal financing needs for fiscal year 1996, on August 2, 1995, the City sold general
obligation Tax Anticipation Notes of $800 million and Revenue Anticipation Notes of $700 million, and on October 5, 1995, sold
general obligation Revenue Anticipation Notes of $900 million.

MAC Debt:  OnOctober 19, 1995, MAC sold its Series D bonds of $280 million, issued pursuant to the 1991 General Bond
Resolution, for refunding purposes.

Judgments and Claims

The City is a defendant in lawsuits pertaining to material matters, including claims asserted which are incidental to
performing routine govemmental and other functions. This litigation includes but is not limited to, actions commenced and claims
asserted against the City arising out of alleged torts, alleged breaches of contracts, alleged violations of law and condemnation
proceedings. As of June 30, 1995 and 1994, claims in excess of $311 billion and $286 billion, respectively, were outstanding

against the City for which the City estimates its potential future liability to be $2.5 billion and $2.6 billion, respectively.

As explained in Note A, the estimate of the liability for unsettled claims has been reported in the General Long-term
Obligations Account Group. The liability was estimated by categorizing the various claims and applying a historical average
percentage, based primarily on actual settlements by type of claim during the preceding ten fiscal years, and supplemented by
:nformation provided by the New York City Law Department with respect o certain large individual claims and proceedings. The
recorded liability is the City’s best estimate based on available information and application of the foregoing procedures.

The City jsalsoapartytoa proceeding initiated by a union representing sleep-in home attendants asserting that its attendants
were covered by minimum wage law. Hearings based on the number of hours actually worked by its attendants during the first
several months of 1981 were completed in September, 1991 and post-hearing briefs were filed in February, 1992. In May, 1984,
the union commenced a separate but related action in the Supreme Court, New York County on behalf of a number of sleep-in
attendants claiming, inter alia, thatsince 1981, the attendants were entitled to compensation for a 24-hour day atarate inexcess of
the minimum wage- That action has been stayed pendir}g a proc-eeding before the New York State Industrial Board of Appeals.
While the potential cost 10 the City of advcrse.detenmna‘tnons in the two proceedings cannot be determined at this time, such
findings could resultin substantial costs to the City depending on the number of hours deemed worked by particular attendants, the
extent of Stateand Federal reimbursements, the number of attendants actually covered by a final determination, and the rate of pay
to be applied.

In addition to the above claims and proceedings, NUMErOUs real estate tax certiorari proceedings are presently pending
against the City on grounds of alleged OVcrvalua'tion, inequality, anfi illegality of assessment. In response to these actions, in
December, 1981, State legislation was enacted which, among other things, authorizes the City to assess real property according to
fourclasses and makes certain evidentiary changesin real estate tax certiorari proceedings. Based on historical settlement activity,
the City estimates its potential liability for outstanding certiorari proceedings to be $314 million as reported in the General
Long-term Obligations Account Group.
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Wage Deferral

In fiscal year 1991, the Board of Education entered into an agreement whereby teachers would defer a portion of their fiscal
1991 salary. The City will repay the deferred wages of $46.7 million in two installments: (i) one-half to be repaid on
September 1, 1995; and (ii) the second half plus interest at 9% per annum on the unpaid balance from September 1, 1995 to be
repaid on September 1, 1996. ,

Landffill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

The City’s only active landfill available for waste disposal is the Fresh Kills landfill, A portion of the total eStimatcd current
cost of the closure and postclosure care is to be recognized as an expense and as a liability in each period the landfill accepts solid

Upon the landfill becoming inactive, the City is required by Federal and State law to close the landfill, including final cover,
stormwater management and landfill gas control, and to provide postclosure care for a period of 30 years following closure. The
City is also required under Consent Order with the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation to conductcertain

. The liability for these activities as of June 30, 1995 is $233.0 million based on the cumulative landfill capacity used to date.
The total estimated current cost is $435.8 million; therefore, the costs remaining to be recognized are $202.8 million. The
cumulative landfill capacity used to date is approximately 58%. The remaining life of the landfill is projected to be 22 years. Cost
estimates are based on current data including. contracts awarded by the City, contract bids, and engineering studies. These
estimates are subject to adjustment for inflation and to account for any changes in landfil] conditions, regulatory requirements,
technologies, or cost estimates.

Financial assurance requirements of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act Subtitle D Part 258 become effective
April, 1997. These requirements provide several alternative mechanisms by which the City can provide financia assurance for

closure, postclosure, and corrective measure costs. The City is in the process of evaluating alternative financial assurance
mechanisms for use prior to that time.

The City has five inactive hazardous waste sites not covered by the EPA rule. The City has included the long-term portion of
these postclosure care costs in the General Long-term Obligations Account Group.

The following represents the City’s total landfill and hazardous waste sites liability which is recorded in the General
Long-term Obligations Account Group:
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Landfill

Total landfill and hazardous waste sites liability

Changes In Certain Long-term Obligations

........................................

Hazardous waste SIteS . ... vvnr e ernivrnneennennn i

Amount
(in thousands)

$232,989
226,679
$459,668

In fiscal years 1994 and 1995, the changes in long-term obligations other than for bonds were as follows:

Balance Balance Balance
June 30, June 30, June 30,
1993 Additions Deletions 1994 Additions Deletions 1995
(in thousands) .
Capital lease obligations .. $ 514,497 $ 427,387 § 23,684 § 918,200 $ 66,508 $ 17,763 $ 966,945
Real estate tax refunds ... . 267,764 86,319 57,701 296,882 87,694 70,226 314,350
Judgments and claims .... 2,198,349 704,700 270916 2,632,133 143,142 251,247 2,524,028
Deferred wages ......... 46,696 — — 46,696 — — 46,696
Vacation and sick leave (1) 1,389,022 — 138,828 1,250,194 201,344 —_ 1,451,538
Pension liability ......... 2,562,532 — 19,573 2,542,959 28,492 — 2,571,451
Landfill closure and post-
closure care costs ...... — 464,984 — 464,984 — 5,316 459,668
Total changes in certain
long-term obligations . . $6,978,860 $1,683,890  $510,702 $8,152,048 $527,180 $344,552 $8,334,676

(1) The amount of additions and deletions is not available, thus the net amounts are presented.
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L INTERFUND/DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE BALANCES

At June 30, 1995 and 1994, individual fund and discretely presented component umt 1nterfund/d1screte1y presented
component unit receivable and payable balances were as follows:

1995 1994
Receivable Payable Receivable Payable
(in thousands)
General Fund:
Capital Projects Fund .. ... c...ooivniiiiieeeenn $1,331,157- § 894,217 $1,173,294 $ 729,148
5 15 O R R RREE 188,524 — 185,310 —
Debt Service Funds ......ccovviiiiiriieiiiiai 28,056 65,595 20,167 68,690
(67 1 - NP 623 — 442 —
WaterBoard ...........cout e ieenaneanes — 2,757 — 5,487
TotalGeneral Fund . .........viiiiieiiiaanns 1,548,360 962,569 1,379,213 803,325
Capital Projects Fund: i
Water AUthOTItY ..o voviiinvenn i 222,330 — 196,443 —
General Fund .. ....vvvverinrieiiaaarreaerennsnn 894,217 1,331,157 729,148 1,173,204
Total Capital Projects Fund .............cooven 1,116,547 1,331,157 925,591 1,173,294
Debt Service Funds:
General Fund . .......ccvnriniirrernenneienanaann - 65,595 28,056 68,690 20,167
1215 SIS SRR 6,297 — 8,834 _
Total Debt Service Funds .. ..ot 71,892 28,056 71,524 20,167
Pension and Similar Trust Funds: .
NYCERS . .'tievrerencesoanaannsssstessannannne — 586,658 — _
POLICE & o oveeseeanresacecasnsansonssassenanannes 586,108 290,000 - » _
) 551 ¢ RPN e — 90,000 — -
POVSE .ot tttirerenenansraasessnnnnannsaonas 140,000 — — .
PSOVSE .o teeeiientenanetsaannsaaanennes 150,000 — — .
FEVSE . vvteiennecanriansssosaansenasnnanes 50,000 — _ _
L0V A) PP PPR R PR 40,000 — _ _
TPOVSE « o v oettvenmtieannsaenssonsennarecaasas 130 — _ .
TPSOVSE .ovtiieeiinenaanssnnnesanneneans 290 — . o
12120 M4 LI LR 90 — _ .
HPSOVSE . vtvanainintnnneeanenanannneeans 40 - _ _
Total Pension and Similar Trast Fands ........... 966,658 966,658 — _
Dlscretcly Presented Componcnt Units: ;
OTB .......................................... —_— 623 . _ 442
Water Board ... ..cvvrrenerreneaernaneneecnns 2,757 — 5,487 .
Water AUtHOTILY « v v vvvrneonrnrsnsncensananaaaees — 222330 . 196,443
110 o A AARERRERE —_ 194,821 —_ 194,144
Total Discretely Presented Component Units ... .. 2,757 417,774 5,487 391,029
Total interfund/discretely presented component unit : ]
receivable and payable balances ................ $3,706,214 $3,706,214 $2,387,815 $2,387,815
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J. SEGMENT INFORMATION FOR DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

Due to their nonhomegeneous nature, the City has presented separate columns for HHC, OTB, the Housing and Economic
Development Entities, and the Water and Sewer System in the Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in
Equity and the Combining Statement of Cash Flows. The following segment information is provided for the assets, liabilities, and
fund equity for HHC, OTB, the Housing and Economic Development Entities, and the Water and Sewer System at June 30, 1995

and 1994:

Assets:
CUIrent ....oovvvvnnennneneunns P
Mortgage and interest receivable ... ...
Land ...
Buildings and leasehold improvements .
Equipment
Less accumulated depreciation
Other

Total assets .. ....ccvverareennsn

Liabilities:
CUTent . ......ovoveeeeeennrneeenns
Long-term

Assets:
Cutrent . .....ovveviianrn e
Mortgage and interest receivable . . . ...
Land ....ovieiieie i
Buildings and leasehold improvements .
Equipment
Less accumulated depreciation
Other

Total assets ..o oo veveeronnnnsonns

Liabilities:
CULTENL « ot o ovvianarnransssonanas
Long-term

Total liabilities . .......-coeeerea-
17510115 AV R
Total liabilities and equity

1995
Housing and Water
Health and Off-Track Economic and
Hospitals Betting Development Sewer
Corporation Corporation Entities System Total
(in thousands)
$ 819,936 $ 13,180 $1291,785 $ 492,694 § 2,617,595
—_ — 2,073,528 —_ 2,073,528
37,462 — 744,137 — 781,599
1,139,875 21,031 4,684,572 . — 5,845,478
2,022,034 10,380 297,695 13,145,064 15,475,173
(1,858,688) (10,884) (2,581,190) (3,084,337) (7,535,099)
308,982 5,259 179,273 885,171 1,378,685
$2,469,601 $ 38,966 $6,689,800  $11,438,592  $20,636,959
$ 756,113 $ 23,577 $1,699,339  $§ 827,932 $ 3,306,961
846,624 7,223 4,049,200 5,161,714 10,064,761
1,602,737 30,800 5,748,539 5,989,646 13,371,722
866,864 8,166 941,261 5,448,946 7,265,237
$2,469,601 $ 38,966 $6,689,800  $11,438,592 $20,636,959
1994
Housing and Water
Health and Off-Track Economic and
Hospitals Betting Development Sewer
Corporation Corporation Entities System Total
(in thousands)
$ 701,815 $ 13,469 $1,166,124  $ 423518 $ 2,304,926
— —_ 1,997,845 — 1,997,845
37,314 — 738,548 — 775,862
1,037,427 19,736 4,477,970 — 5,535,133
1,973,079 10,326 293,013 12,463,280 14,739,698
(1,724,765) (9523)  (2444336)  (2,817,882)  (6,996,506)
388,282 2,251 160,410 1,067,375 1,618,318
$2413,152  $ 36259  $6389,574  $11,136291 $19.975.276
$ 758,246 $ 22,865 $1,780820 $ 686,794 $ 3,248,725
645,418 7,300 4,411,929 4,912,923 9,977,570
1,403,664 30,165 6,192,749 5,599,717 13,226,295
1,009,488 6,094 196,825 5,536,574 6,748,981
$2,413,152  $ 36259  $6389,574 $11,136291  $19,975.276
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K. New YORK Crry HEALTH AND HOSPITALS CORPORATION (HHC)

General ,

HHC,a pl.lblic benefit corporation, assumed responsibility for the operation of the City’s municipal hospital system in 1970.
HHC’s. financial statements include the accounts of HHC and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, HHC Nurse Referrals, Inc
Outpatient Pharmacies, Inc. (dissolved during fiscal year 1995), and HHC Capital Corporation. All significant intcrcor;npang
accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

The City provides funds to HHC for care given to uninsured indigent patients, members of the uniformed services and
prisoners, and for other costs not covered by other payors. The City’s Annual Expense Budget determines the support to HHC ona
cash—flow basis. In addition, the City has paid HHC’s costs for settlements of claims for medical malpractice, negligence, and
other miscellaneous torts and contracts, as well as other HHC costs including utilities expense infiscal year 1995, City debt w,hich
funded HHC capital acquisitions, and New York State Housing Finance Agency (HFA) debt on HHC assets a;cquircd through
lease purchase agreements. HHC reimburses the City for these debt payments. HHC records both a revenue and an expense in gn
amount equal to expenditures made on its behalf by the City.

Revenues

Patient service accounts receivable and revenues are reported at estimated collectible amounts. Substantially all direct
patient service revenue is derived from third-party payors. Generally, revenues from these sources are based upon cost
reimbursement principles and are subject to routine audit by applicable payors. HHC records adjustments resulting from audits
and from appeals when the amount is reasonably determinable. Included in other revenues are transfers from donor restricted
funds of $117 million and $60 million in fiscal years 1995 and 1994, respectively. . ©

Fund Accounting
HHC maintains separate accounts in its financial records to assure compliance with specific restrictions imposed by the Cit
and other grantors or contributors. ' y

Plant and Equipment
All facilities and equipment are leased from the City at $1 per year. In addition, HHC operaf i liti i
financed by HFA and leased to the City on behalf of HHC. HHC records as revenue and as ‘egpent:es t(;f:iari:;f::tﬂ;g:tsi;h:fztsl ar;
lease purchase obligations paid by the City. Because HHC is responsible for the control and maintenance of all plant ucd
equipment, and because depreciation is a significant cost of operations, HHC capitalizes plant and equipment at cost or (I:)stim:tzd
cost based on appraisals. Depreciation is computed for financial statement purposes using the straight-line method Based u
estimated useful lives. As aresult ofmoderniz_ing programs and changes in service requirements, HHChas closed certain facililt)ion
and portions of facilities during the past several years. It is the policy of HHC to reflect the financial effect of the closin, e;
facilities or portions thereof in the financial statements when a decision has been made as to the disposition of such assets HgHOC
records the cost of construction that it controls as costs are incurred. Costs associated with facilities constructed b Hi?A
recorded when the facilities are placed in service. Y are

Donor Restricted Assets
Contributions which are restricted as to use are recorded as donor restricted funds.

Pensions

Substantially all HHC employees are eligible to participate in NYCERS (see Note R). The isi :
o - . provisions fo
actuarially determined and amounted to $43 million and $41 million for fiscal years 1995 and 1994 reSpecﬁ:tfl;n;}ﬁ:sZ(;srt; (:a:rlel;e
’ . nts

were fully funded.

Affiliated Institution Expenses

Affiliated institution expenses represent contractual expenses incurred by affiliated institutions and charged to HHC fi
participation in patient service programs at HHC’s facilities. or

Debt Service
In fiscal year 1993, HHC issued Series A revenue bonds in the amount of $550 million. The bonds were i
’ 1y . . . edt »
capital program and to refund $19 million of fiscal year 1985 Series A revenue bonds. The loss based upon th: the;:af:;doThS S
se

bonds was $1 million.
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The following table summarizes future debt service requirements as of June 30, 1995:

Principal Interest Total
(in thousands)
Fiscal year ending June 30:

1996 $ — $ 30,745 $ 30,745
1007 9,145 30,745 39,890
1998 e 9,530 30,356 39,886
1999 e 9,960 29,927 39,887
2000 ... e e e e 10,420 29,467 39,887
Thereafteruntil 2023 ............................ 492,830 424,189 917,019

Total future debt service requirements ............. $531,885 $575,429° $1,107,314

The interest rates on the bonds as of June 30, 1995 range from 4.25% to 6.30%.
The following is a summary of revenue bond transactions for HHC for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1994 and 1995:

Balance ! Balance Balance
June 30, June 30, - June 30,
1993 Issued Retired 1994 Issued Retired 1995
(in thousands)
Revenuebonds ....................... $550,000 $ — - $8,590 $541410 $ — $9,525 $531,885

Installment Note Payable

HHC issued a secured 8-year installment note payable with an 8% rate of interest. The following table summarizes future
debt service requirements as of June 30, 1995:

Principal Interest Total
(in thousands) T
Fiscal year ending June 30:

1006 ... e e -$ 283 $193 $ 476
1997 o e e e i e 307 169 476
DL 332 144 476
1999 L.t i e 358 118 476
2000 ...t i e it et it e e, 389 87 476
Thereafteruntil 2002 ........... .. i, 874 75 949

Total future debt service requirements ............. $2,543 $786 $3,329

Capital Lease Obligations

HHC entered into a long-term agreement which involve§ the construction of a parking garage at Elmhurst Hospital Center,
The future minimum lease payments under the capitalized lease are as follows:

Amount
Fiscal year ending June 30: (in?ouEIs)

d906 .ot e e e e e e e $ 991
1997 i e e e 99]
1998 @t e e e e 991
1999 Lttt e e 989
2000 - i e e e e 987
Thereafteruntil 2013 . ........ ... ... . ... 14,509
Future minimum lease payments . .................... 19,458

| T 1105 (= S 6,803
Present value of future minimum lease payments . . ... ... $12,655
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Changes in Fund Equity

Presented below are the changes in fund equity for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1994 and 1995:

Contributed
Unreserved Capital Plant Reserve Total
Retained and for Donor Fund
Earnings Equipment Restrictions Equity
. (in thousands) -
Balance, June 30,1993 ....... ... $413,938 $719,018.  $ 10,494 $1,143,450
Excess Of eXpenses OVEr reVenUEeSs . ..o .vvrererreeeeeasy, (142,574) - —_ — (142,574)
Decrease in bonds payable ......... e e ey (8,408) - 8,408 — —
* Additions to plant and equipment funded by:
Donations ......c.veeeeeneneens PR . — 758 — 758
The Cityof New York .........coovvveneennn.. e N - 8,207 - 8,207
2 1 & (A (190,141) 190,141 — —
Donor restricted fund activity: '
Grants and otherincreases .............covviiiiiinnan, — — 359,987 59,987
Transfers to statement of revenues and expenses to
support related activities ..o — - — (60,340) (60,340)
Depreciation charged to plant and equipment leased ......... 154,685 (154,685) - .
Balance, June 30,1994 ........ ...l 227,500 771,847 10,141 1,009,488
Excess of expenses over revenues .. ... e iaaieas oo (147,025) —_ — (147,025)
Decreiise in bonds payable . . . .......o.vein.il e ol (9,343) 9343 . . T
Increase inotherdebt, net ........c.ovviiiiiiiiniiiiiianny 2,428 (2,428) _ _
Additions to plant and equipment funded by:
DONAtioNS . ... vcvviiianin ettt —_ 1,183 _ 1.183
The City of New York .........covvevviiiiiinnn. Ceee —_ 3,021 _ 3:021
HHC ...........o0ln. e P ~ (189,335) 189,335 — _
Donor restricted fund activity: 7 ' o
Grants and other increases ......... wereeae e, PR , — —_ 117,365 117.365
Transfers to statement of revenues and expenses to : , ’
support related activities .......... .. . i — L — (117,168) (117,168)
Depreciation charged to plant and equipment leased ......... 156,194 . (156,194) — _
Abandoned project . ........... e ieeaieia s, 19,717 (19,717) — —
Balance, June 30,1995 . ......oirriiiiiiiiii i $ 60,136 $796,390  $ 10,338 $ 866,864

L. New YORK City OFF-TRACK BETTING CorpPORATION (OTB)

General

OTB was established in 1970 as a public benefit corporation to operate a system of off-track betting in the City. OTB eams-'(i)
revenues on its betting operations ranging between 17% and 25% of wagers handled, depending on the type of wager; (ii) a .5%
surcharge and surcharge breakage on pari-mutuel winnings; (iii) a 1% surcharge on multiple, exotic, and super exotic,wa erin
pools; and (iv) breakage, the revenue resulting from the roundiing down of winning payoffs. Pursuant to State law, gOTBg-
(i) distributes various portions of the surcharge and surcharge breakage to other localities in the State; (ii) allocates \’Iario :
percentages of wagers handled to the racing industry; (iii) allocates various percentages of wagers handled and breaka eto thus
with all uncashed pari-muttiel tickets to the State; and (iv) allocatesithe 1% surcharge on exoti¢ wagering pools for the ﬁgn ancge e§
capital acquisitions. All remaining net revenue is distributable to the City. In addition, OTB acts as a collection agent for th;néo
with respect to surcharge and surcharge breakage due from other community off-track betting corporations. ity

_ OTB has cumulative deficits of $8.5 million and $8.5 million after providing for man datory transfers i fiscal S
1994, ICSpecﬁvely. MR ' \ ; -
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Ner Revenue Retained for Capital Acquisitions

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 1995 and 1994, the changes in net revenue retained for capital acquisition were as follows:

1995 1994
(in thousands)
Balance, June30 ........... e $14,574 $12471
Capital acquisition surcharge ... ................. 3,978 3,775
Depreciation of assets purchased with funds restricted
for capital acquisition ........... ..ot (1,906) (1,672)
Balance,June30 ..........ccoviiiiiiiinnniai $16,646 $14,574

Since inception of the capital acquisition surcharge at J uly 21, 1990, surcharges of approximately $21.2 million have been
collected and approximately $17.0 million has been used o finance leasehold improvements and the acquisition of property and
equipment through June 30, 1995. :

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the'straig’ht-line method based
upon estimated useful lives ranging from three to fifteen years. Leasehold improvements are amortized principally over the term
of the lease. . '
Rental expense for leased property for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1995 and 1994 was approximately $11.9 million and
$12.3 million, respectively. As of June 30, 1995, OTB had future minimum rental obligations on noncancelable operating leases '
as follows:

Amount
Fiscal year ending June 30: (in thousands)

1006 ... es ettt e i e $10,516
30217 2P PP 9,828
BOOB ottt e i s e 9,557
1900 Lottt e e 6,646
70 0 DR P 6,055
Thereafter until 2009 .. ...covvii e 13,538

Total future minimum rental obligations ............... $56,140

Pensions
Substantially all full-time employees of OTB are members of NYCERS (see Note R). The provisions for pension costs were
actuarially determined and amounted to $2.3 million and $2.4 million for fiscal years 1995 and 1994, respectively. These amounts
were fully funded.

M. HOUSING AND EconomiC DEVELOPMENT ENTITIES

General

The Housing and Ecopomic Development Entities are comprised of the New York City Housing Development Corporation
(HDC), the New York City Housing Auihority (HA), the pr York C-it)f Industrial Development Agency (IDA), the New York
City Economic Development Corporation (EDC), the Business Relp_catnon Assistance Corporation (BRAC), and the Brooklyn
Navy Yard Development Corporation (BNYDC), the largest of which are HDC and HA. .

HDC
HDC was established in 1971 to encourage private housing development by providing low interest mortgage loans. The
combined financial statementsinclude the accounts of HDC and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Housing Assistance Corporation,
and Housing New York Corporation. HDC finances multiple dwelling mortgages substantially through issuance of HDC bonds
and notes, and also acts as an intermediary for the sale and refinancing of certain City multiple dwelling mortgages. HDC has a
fiscal year ending October 31.
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HDC is authorized to issue bonds and notes for any corporate purpose in a principal amount outstanding, exclusive of
refunding bonds and notes, not to exceed $2.8 billion and certain other limitations. -

HDC is supported by service fees, investment income, and interest charged to inortgagors and hias been self-sustaining.
Mortgage loans are catried at cost. Mortgage loan interest income, fees, charges, and interest expense are recognized on the:
accrual basis. HDC maintains separate funds in its financial records to assure compliance with specific restrictions of its various
bond and note resolutions. .

Substantiaily all HDC employees are eligible to participate in NYCERS (see Note R). The provisions for pension costs were
actuarially computed, determined, and funded by HDC. :

The future debt service requircrhents on HDC bonds and notes payable at October 31, 1994, its most recent.fiscal year-end,
were as follows:

Princlpal Interest Total
o (in thousands) -
Fiscal year ending October 31:
1995 i $ 20,086 $ 111,195 $ 131,281
1996 . o oviie i iiianns 23,305 - 110,256 133,561
1997 ... ... A T 26,797 108,771 135,568
1998 .o e 29,010 107,098 . 136,108
1999 .. et 26,531 108,248 134,779
Thereafter until 2036 ........... ' 1,848,610 - 1,577,007 3,425,617
Total future debt

service requirements ....... $1,974,339 $2,122,575 $4,096,914

The bonds and notes will be repaid from assets and future earnings of the assets. The interest rates on the bonds and notes as of
October 31, 1994 range from 0.9% to 9.875%.

HDC had $230.1 million and $262.8 million, respectively, of general obligation bonds and notes outstanding at October 31,
1994 and 1993 for which HDC is required to maintain a capital reserve fund equal to one year’s debt service. State law in effect
provides that the City shall make up any deficiency in such fund. Therc have not been any capital reserve fund deficiencies.

The following is a summary of bond transactions of HDC for the fiscal years ended October 31, 1993 and 1994:

Balance Balance

. Balance
October 31, October 31,
1992 Issued  Refired 1993 Issued  Retired °°'i’5’§§ 3
(in thousands)
General obligation ....... e $ 264870 § — $ 2095 $ 262775 $ — $ 32,000 $ 2306
REVENUE . .. veveeeennenenennns L617,875 367,245 436834 1,548286 504255 308887 $1,743:6§451
Total summary of . ,
bond {ransactions . ... ........ $1,882,745 $367,245 $438.929 $1811061 $504,255 $340,977 $1.974330

HA
7 HA, created in 1934, is a public benefit corpor?tion char.te.red under. the New York State Public Housing Law. HA develops
constructs, manages, and maintains low cost housing for eligible low income families in the boroﬁghs of New York'City. At,:

December 31, 1994, HA maintained 336 developments encompassing ap[‘)roximately 181,000 units. HA also maintains 2 leased
housing program which provides housing assistance payments to approximately 70,000 families,

Substantial operating deficits (the difference between operating revenues and expenses) result from the essential services
that HA provides, and such operating deficits will continue in the foreseeable future. To meet the funding requirements of these
operating deficits, HA receives subsidies from: (a) the Federal government (primarily the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development “HUD”) in the form of annual grants for operating assistance, debt service payments, contributions for capital and
reimbursement of expenditures incurred for certain Federal hpusmg programs; (b) New York State in the form of operating
assistance, reimbursement of certain expenses, and debt service payments; and (c) New York City in the form of operatin
assistance, reimbursement of certain housing police costs, and debt service payments. Subsidies are established [:hrougﬁ
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budgetary procedures which establish amounts to be funded by the grantor agencies. Projected operating surplus or deficit
amounts are budgeted on an annual basis and approved by the grantor agency. Expected variances from budgeted amounts are
communicated to the agency during periodic budget revisions, as any revisions to previously approved budgets must be agreed to
by the grantor. Capital project budgets are submitied at various times during the year. HA has a calendar year-end.

Revenue

Rents are received from tenants on the first day of each month. As a result, receivable balances primarily consist of rents past
due and vacated tenants. An allowance for doubtful accounts is established to provide for all accounts which may notbe collected
in the future for any reason. At December 31, 1994 and 1993, tenant accounts receivable approximated $30.4 million and $30.2
million, respectively, with related allowances of $26.5 million and $26.2 million, respectively. '

HA receives Federal financial assistance from HUD in the form of annual contributions for debt service and operating
subsidies for public housing projects, as well as rent subsidies for the Section 8 Housing Assistance Payments Program (HAP). In
addition, assistance is also received under HUD’s Public Housing Development Programs, Comprehensive Improvem;:nt
Assistance Program and other programs. '

HA also receives financial assistance from the Department of Housing Preservation and Development (HPD), a City of New
York agency. HPD receives these funds from HUD based on certain criteria (e.g., population, poverty, and extent of overcrowded
housing in the area applying for funds).

HA receives assistance from New York State and The City of New York in the form of operating subsidies for public housing
projects and annual contributions for debt service and capital.

HA receives Federal assistance from the U.S. Department of Agriculture for child care feeding and summer food service
programs and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services for special programs for the aging.

Land, Structures, and Equipment

Land, structures, and equipment are recorded at cost which is comprised of initial project development costs, property
betterments and additions, and modernization program costs. HA depreciates these assets over their estimated useful lives
(buildings—40 years, capital improvements—10 to 30 years, and equipment—S35 to 15 years) using the straight-line method of
depreciation. Land, structures, and equipment, including modernization costs, are generally funded through 'grant awards (for
Federal, State, and City programs). A summary of costs at December-31, 1994 and 1993 is as follows:

1994 1993
(in thousands)
LANG +vvrreeeannaenes U $ 744,137 $ 738,494
BUIIGNES + oo veeeeeeseenne e 3,095,448 3,078,949
Capital iMPrOVEMENLS . . .« ocvvveneeeeeeeaness 1,573,475 1,383,479
EQUIPMEDE .« vv v eenmeensseennes e 295,053 290,696
5,708,113 5,491,618
Accumulated depreciation ...l (2,574,955) (2,438,316)
Land, structures, and equipment—net ......... $ 3,133,158 $ 3,053,302

Interest costs related to debt reflected on the books of HA of $161 thousand and $631 thousand were capitalized as part of
development costs in calendar years 1994 and 1993, respectively. ,
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Debt Service
The future debt service requirements on HA bonds and notes at December 31, 1994, its most recent calendar year-end, were
as follows:

Principal Interest Total
(in thousands)
Calendar year ending December 31:
1995 it e $ 61,282 $ 33,341 $ 94,623
1996 .. iiiii i 60,812 31,126 91,938
1997 it it 60,016 28,898 88,914
1998 vttt i 57,989 26,689 84,678
1999 ... i i 55,305 24,493 79,798
Thereafter until 2028 ....... e 517,298 157,777 675,075
Total future debt service
requirements ................ $812,702 $302,324 $1,115,026

Interest rates on outstanding bonds and notes as of December 31, 1994 and 1993 range from 1% to 8.875%. During calendar
years 1994 and 1993, principal repayments totaled $61.8 million and $61.4 million, respectively. '

Advance Notes—HUD
Advance Notes—HUD at December 31, 1994 and 1993 consist of the following:

1994 1993
(in thousands)
Unsubsidized improvement notes . .. ............ $ 50,885 $ 60,285
Modernization and development notes . ... . ....... . 1,263,140 1,673,785
Total advance notes—HUD ................. $1,314,025 $1,734,070

“Through 1985, HA funded development projects by issuing Advance Notes which generally matured in less than one year
and were refinanced at market rates upon maturity. Principal and interest payments were financed by funds provided by HUD
through accruing annual contributions.

In 1985, the U.S. Treasury purchased all then-outstanding Advance Notes. Subsequently, additional Advance Notes were
issued by HUD to fund development and modernization projects. '

In April, 1986, HUD ceased funding the debt service on all Advance Notes, therefore, principal and interest have not been
paid since that date. Subsequently, HUD issued notice PIH 87-12 which covered the forgiveness of Advance Notes held by the
Treasury. Three months after issuance of PIH 87-12, HUD temporarily suspended this notice. HA did not file the appropriate
paperwork before the suspension of the notice. This notice, if complied with by HA before suspension of the notice, would have
allowed HA to remove this debt and accrued interest payable from its balance sheet and reflect these amounts as’ contributed
equity.

HA has continued to accrue interest for a portion of the Advance Notes at the contractual rates in accordance with HUD
guidelines. Through December 31, 1994, HUD has given HA permission to discontinue accruing interest on a total of $718.2
million of notes. Interest expense of $43.4 million and $50.2 million are included in the statements of operations for the calend.
years ended December 31, 1994 and 1993, respectively, but no subsidies are reflected since HUD does not fund and HA has al;
been required to pay the interest on the Advance Notes. Accrued interest relating to these notes at December 31, 1994 and 198;
was $510.4 million and $616.7 million, respectively. Interest rates on Advance Notes issued range from 3.4 % t(; 10.9 % for b th
calendar years 1994 and 1993. . . or bo

Accrued interest includes interest of $1.1 million and $.8 million relating to Unsubsidized Imy

- . provement Notes at
31, 1994 and 1993, respectively. The notes which are currently held by HUD, were used to finance capital imp‘:zzenDlz:t::l be;
rehabilitations at various projects and are being repaid from commercial rents and State maximum subsidy funds. Related int an
expense of $3.8 million and $3.7 million was included in the statements of operations for the calendar years endéd Decembeir?? ;t

1994 and 1993, respectively.
Pensions
HA employees are members of NYCERS (see Note R) The-calendar years 1994 and 1993 pension costs kported in the
financial statements amounted to $16.7 million and $20.6 million, respectively, each net of $8.7 million reimbursable by the Cit
for its share of the Housing Police pension costs. ity
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Changes in Fund Equity

Presented below are the changes in fund equity for the calendar years ended December 31, 1993 and 1994:

Unreserved Cumulative
(Deficit) Contributions Total
(in thousands)

Balance, December 31,1992 . ... ... . il i $(1,962,413) $1,649,649 $(312,764)
NetdefiCit . . oot ee et ettt e e et e (283,286) _— (283,286)
Allocation of depreciation to cumulative contributions .......... 161,926 (161,926)
Contributions for paymentofdebt . .................... . 0. — 72,132 72,132
Contributions for payment of capital ......................... — 267,659 267,659
Balance, December 31,1993 ... ... i (2,083,773) 1,827,514 (256,259)
Nt AEfICIt .« v e vt et e e e et ee e e e e e s (235,096) — (235,096)
Allocation of depreciation to cumulative contributions .......... 152,799 (152,799) —
Contributions for paymentofdebt .. ...... ... ... .ol — 644,492 644,492
Contributions for payment of capital .............. ... .. oot — 252,260 252,260
Balance, December 31,1994 ... ... ..o $(2,166,070) $2,571,467 $ 405,397

Unreserved (Deficit)

The balance in this account represents the cumulative operating deficit for the Federal program, up to the amount of the
operating subsidy and the interest on the debt service.

Cumulative Contributions

This account represents the cumulative amount of subsidies received to fund annual operating deficits and interest expense,
and contributions made available to HA for capital expenditures associated with modernization and improvements of public
housing and the payment of the debt.

Commitments

HA rents office space under operating leases which expire at various dates. Future minimum lease commitments under these
leases as of December 31, 1994 are as follows:

Amount
(in thousands)
Calendar year ending December 31:

1995 vttt e $13,085
1996 oottt it 12,990
5L i N 13,251
1998 ittt it e 13,713
1999 .ottt et 13,995
Thereafter until 2003 . ................. 13,749

Total future minimum lease commitments . $80,783

Rental expense approximated $12.2 million and $10.0 million for the calendar years ended December 31, 1994 and 1993,
respectively.

Subsequent Event

Effective May 1, 1995, HA Police Department merged.with the New York City Police Department. According to the terms of
the agreement between HA and the City, all HA Police Offlcers.were t.ransferred to the New York City Police Department and a
Housing Police Bureau was established within the New York City Police Department to oversee, direct, and command Housing
Police services in HA’s public housing facilities. The agreement also states that the City will provide special police services for HA
and will be compensated by HA for these services with Federgl operating subsidies. Additionally, the City has assumed the
liability for substantially all future costs associated with operating the Housing Police.
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N. WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM

General

The Water and Sewer System, consisting of two legally separate and independent entities, the New York City Water Board
(Water Board) and the New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority (Water Authority), was established on July 1, 1985. The
Water and Sewer System provides for water supply and distribution, and sewage collection, treatment, and disposal fer the bity
The Water Authority was established to issue debt to finance the cost of capital improvements to the water distribution and sewage
collection system. The Water Board was established to lease the water distribution and sewage collection system from the Cit)}end
to establish and collect fees, rates, rents, and other service charges for services furnished by the system to produce cash sufﬁeieht
to pay debt service on the Water Authority’s bonds and to place the Water and Sewer System on a self-sustaining basis. “

Under the terms of the Water and Sewer System General Revenue Bond Resolution, which covers all outstanding bonds of
the Water Authox:ity, operatiops are required to be balanced on a cash basis. At June 30, 1995 and 1994, the Water Authority has a
cumulative deficit of $1,573 million and $1,302 million, respectively, which is more than offset by a surplus in the Water Board

Financing Agreement

As of July 1, 1985, the City, the Water Board, and the Water Authority entered into a Financing Agreement. The Agreement
as amended, provides that the Water Authority will issue bonds to finance the cost of capital investment in the water distributim; :
and sewage collection system serving the City. It also sets forth the funding of the debt service costs of the Water Authorit
operating costs of the water distribution and sewage collection system, and the rental payment to the City. ¥

Lease Agreement

As of July 1, 1985, the City entered into a long-term lease with the Water Board which transferred all the water and sewer -
related real and personal property valued at historical cost, net of depreciation and all work-in-progress, at cost, to the Water Board
for the term of the lease. The City administers, operates, and maintains the water distribution and sewage collection system. Th
lease provides for payments to the City to cover the City’s cost for operation and maintenance, capital costs not oth .
reimbursed, rent, and for other services provided. erwise

The City’s Capital Budget for fiscal year 1996, includes a plan for the Water Board to acquire title to the fixed assets of th
water distribution and sewage collection system for apprommately $2.3 biltion. y

Contributed Capital

City financed additions for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1995 and 1994 amounted to $25.4 milli
respectively, and are recorded by the Water Board as contributed capital. million and $37.7 million,

Utility Plant—in-Service

All additions to utility plant-in-service are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed on all utility pl
ant-1n- :
straight-line method based upon estimated useful lives as follows: y plant-in-service using the

Years
Buildings . ... viivrreaiiiiiiiiiin e e e i, . 40-50
Water supply and wastewater treatmentsystem ................ ... . ...l 15-50
Water distribution and sewage collectionsystem ......................... e . 13-50
EQUIPIIENL . o v v e v v ee e nte e ne s ea e een it 5-3‘5‘

Depreciation on contributed utility plant-in-service is allocated to contributed capital affer the computation of net incom
ome,
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Debt Service

The following table summarizes future debt service requirements as of June 30, 1995:

Principal Interest Total
(in thousands)
Fiscal year ending June 30:

1996 ..vvvviiiiineaann T $ 503,898 $ 295,300 $ 799,198
1997 oo ierii e e et 106,595 287,302 393,897
L L < 113,287 281,315 394,602
0 Lo P 112,800 275,006 387,806
D000 © sttt e i 127,565 269,012 396,577
Thereafter until 2025 ... .ot iie it it ittt e 5,086,309 3,526,175 8,612,484

Total future debt service reqUIFEmMENts . . .. .oovverveevvnennnn ... $6,050,454 $4,934,110 $10,984,564

The interest rates on the outstanding bonds, notes, and commercial paper as of June 30, 1995 and 1994 range from 2.78% to
8.9%.

_The following is a summary of bond, note, and commercial paper transactions of the Water Authority for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 1994 and 1995:

Balance Balance Balance
June 30, June 30, June 30,
1993 Issued Retired 1994 Issued Retired 1995
(in thousands)
Revenuebonds ............ $4,662,951 $2,157,230 $1,409,228 $5,410,953 $335,080 $ 95,579 $5,650,454
Bond anticipation notes . . ... 375,000 255,676 375,000 255,676 — 255,676 _
Commercial paper ......... — — — 600,000 200,000 400,000
Total summary of bond, : . i
notes, and commercial
paper transactions . .. ... $5,037,951 $2,412,906 $1,784,228 $5,666,629 $935,080 $551,255 $6,050,454

' On May 22, 1995, the Water Authority issued fiscal year 1995 Series A revenue bonds to pay the costs of issuance and to
refund commercial paper of $200 million aggregate principal amount.

During fiscal year 1994, the Water Authority used part of the proceeds from the sale of its fiscal year 1994 Series A, B, D, E, F,
& G Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds in the amount of $1.3 billion to advance refund a portion of certain outstanding
principal amounts of the Water Authority’s Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds. '

Although the advance refunding resulted in the recognition of an accounting loss of $143.9 million for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 1994, the Water Authority reduced its aggregate debt service payments by approximately $76.9 mitlion and obtained an
economic gain of $47.5 million over the next 27 years. This loss will be amortized using the straight-line method through 2019.
For fiscal years 1995 and 1994, amortization expense of $11.3 million and $5.3 million, respectively, was incurred.

During prior fiscal years, the Water Authority defeased in substance $1.3 billion of revenue bonds.
As of June 30, 1995, $199.4 million of the defeased bonds have been retired from the assets of the escrow accounts.

On August 10, 1995, the Water Authority sold fiscal year 1996 Series A Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of $485.4 million to: advance refund revenue bonds and commercial paper, finance a portion of the
capital renovation and improvement program, pay certain costs of issuance, and fund certain reserves.

In prior years, the Water Authority has issued obligations involving the concurrent issuance of long-term variable rate
securities that are matched with long-term floating rate securities. These obligations when taken together as a whole, yield a fixed
rate of interest at all times. These securities have been issued to achieve a lower prevailing fixed rate of interest in relation to

traditional fixed rate bonds.

Restricted Assets

Proceeds from the issuance of debt and funds set aside for the oPeration and maintenance of the water distribution and sewage
collection system are classified as restricted assets since their use is limited by applicable bond indentures.
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Changes in Contributed Capital
Changes in contributed capital for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1995 and 1994 are as follows:

1995 1994
L (in thm_lsands)
Balance,June30 ........... ...l . $5,150,160 $5,204,599
Plant and equipment contributed ....... PN 25,420 37,734
. Allocation of depreciation to contributed capital ...’ (145,224) (92,173)
Balance, June 30 .........cciiiiiiiiiiniana, $5,030,356 $5,150,160

Operating Revenues

Revenues from metered customers, who represent 72% of water customers, are based on billings at rates imposed by thé
Water Board that are applied to customers’ consumption of water and include accruals based upon estimated usage not billed

during the fiscal year.
‘Commitments and Contingenciés
- Construction 7
The Water and Sewer System has commitments of approximately $1.9 billion at June 30, 1995, for water and sewer projects.
Legal ’ : .

The City is a defendant in a number of lawsuits pertaining to the Water and Sewer System. As of June 30, 1995, the City
estimates its potential future liability for these claims to be $44 million. This amount is included in the City’s General L;)ng-tenn

Obligations-Account Group.

O. Acency Funps
Deferred Compensation Plan For Employees of The City of New York and Related Agencies and Instrumentalities ( DCP)

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457
DCPis available to certain employees of The City of New York andrelated agencies and instrumentalities. It permits them to defc1:
a portion of their salary until future years. The compensation deferted is not available to employees until termination, retirement
death, or unforeseen emergency (as defined by the Internal Revenue Service). ’ ’

All amounts of compensation deferred, all property and rights purchased with those amounts, and all income attributable to
those amounts, are (until paid or made available to the employee or beneficiary) solely the property and rights of the City (without
being restricted to the provisions of benefits under DCP), subject to the claims of the City’s general creditors. Participants’ rights
under DCP are equal to the fair market value of the deferred account for each participant.

Itis the opinion of the City’s legal counsel that the City has no liability for losses under DCP but does have the duty of due care
that would be required of an ordinary prudent investor. The City believes that it is unlikely that it will use the assets to satisfy the
claims of general creditors in the future. c ] y

Investments are managed by DCP’s trustee under one of four investment options or a combination thereof. The choices of the
investment options are made by the participants. ' -

The following is a summary of the increases and decreases of the fund for the calendar years ended December 31, 1994 and

1993:
1994 1993
(in thousands)
Fund assets, December31 ... $ 965,972 $751,743
Deferrals of compensation . ........co.ceveauu.. 205,253 182,430
Earnings and adjustment to market value .....:.. 42,888 60,542
Payments to eligible participants and beneficiaries . (40,514) (26:429)
Administrative €Xpenses . . ... ..ovviiie e (2,763) (2,314)
Fund assets, December31 ............... 0., $1,170,836 $965,972
Other Agency Funds i

Other Agency Funds account for miscellaneous assets held by the City for other funds, governmental units a.nd indiﬁduals
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P. VOLUNTARY SEVERANCE INCENTIVE PROGRAM

The severance incentive program originally implemented during the second half of FY’94 as Severance 1, was again, after
the City concluded agreements with the affected municipal unions, thrice offered during FY’95 as Severance 2, 2B, and 2C, to
full-time, nonuniformed employees in active pay status in most titles in mayoral agencies, except for the Mayoralty, and in the
Board of Education in specified nonpedagogical titles for both part-time and full-time employees, as part of its
Workforce—Reduction Program. The severance incentive program was financed during FY*95, with an additional $30 million to
increase to $230 million in surplus funds of the Municipal Assistance Corporation For The City of New York (MAC) and $27
million in Federal and State funding, and $7 million in a City appropriation, to facilitate the permanent reduction in the City’s
workforce. The FY’95 severance benefits included a cash payment of between $3,150 and $13,500, depending on length of
service. Approximately 7,800 employees participated in the severance incentive programs during FY”95 bringing total employee
participation in the severance incentive programs to about 14,000 employees with cumulative severance elemental costs expected
to total $264 million for all of the severance incentive programs. A liability is recorded as of June 30, 1995 for $40 million.

MAC funding is to be used solely for direct expenditures incurred for separation of service of employees on the City-funded
payroll during the period April 1, 1994 through July 31, 1995 limited to the following expenditure categories: severance
payments, health insurance premiums, terminal leave, and mandatory unemployment insurance. The City is required to account
for its severance incentive program expenditures by October 31, 1995 and submit to MAC a statement of the number of
City-funded employees on the payroll at June 30, 1995. If actual expenditures are less than $230 million or if the targeted number
(15,000 employees) for workforce reduction is not attained, MAC will increase its certifications to the State Comptroller and the
Mayor per the Public Authorities Law for the unexpended monies plus ‘adjusted’ expenditure amounts relating to the excess
employee headcount on June 30, 1995.

Q. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

In accordance with collective bargaining agreements, the City provides Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) which
include basic medical and hospitalization (health care) benefits to eligible retirees and dependents at no cost to 88.7% of the
participants. Basic health care premium costs which are partially paid by the remaining participants vary according to the terms of
their elected plans. To qualify, retirees must: (i) have worked for the City with atleast five years of credited service as a member of
an approved pension system (requirement does not apply if retirement is as a result of accidental disability); (ii) have been
employed by the City or a City related agency prior to retirement; (iii) bave worked regularly for at least twenty hours a week prior
to retirement; and (iv) be receiving a pension check froma retirement system maintained by the City or another system approved
by the City. The City’s OPEB expense is recorded on a pay-as-you-go basis.

The amounts expended for health care benefits for fiscal years 1995 and 1994 are as follows:

1995 1994
Active Retired Active Retired
Number of employees . . ....oonveeuroeens 334,941 167,338 339,288 164,319
Cost of health care (in thousands) ........... $1,115,154 $386,919  $1,059,697 $346,599

In addition, the City sponsors a supplemental (Superimposed Major Medical) benefit plan for City managerial employees to
refund medical and hospital bills that are not reimbursed by the regular health insurance carriers.

The amounts expended for supplemental benefits for fiscal years 1995 and 1994 are as follows:

1995 - 1994
Active Retired Active Retired
Number of Claims ... .ovvvevumeraeae i, 15,507 4,976 16,098 4,645
Cost of Superimposed Major Medical (in thousands) ... $ 2,668 $ 687 $2938 $ 519

R. PENSION AND SIMILAR Trust FUNDS

Pension Systems
Plan Descriptions

The City sponsors Or participates in pension systems providing ber_leﬁts to its employees. The pension systems function in
accordance with existing State statutes and City laws. Each system combines features of a defined benefit pension plan with those
of a defined contribution pension plan. Contributions are made by the employers and the employees.
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The majority of City employees are members of one of the following five major actuarial pension systems:

1. New York City Employees’ Retirement System (NYCERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee
retirement system, for employees of the City not covered by one of the other pension systems and employees of certain
component units of the City and certain other government units.

2. New York City Teachers’ Retirement System-Qualified Pension Plan (TRS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer public
employee retirement system for teachers in the public schools of the City and certain other specified school and college
employees. '

3. New York City Board of Education Retirement System-Qualified Pension Plan (BERS), a cost-sharing
multiple-employer public employee retirement system, for nonpedagogical employees of the Board of Education and
certain employees of the School Construction Authority.

4. New York Police Department, Subchapter Two Pension Fund (POLICE), a smgle-employer pubhc employee
retirement system, for full-time uniformed employees of the Police Department.

5. New York Fire Department, Subchapter Two Pension Fund (FIRE), a smgle—employer public employee retirement
system, for full-time uniformed émployees of the Fire Department.

The actuarial pension systems pr0v1dc pension benefits to retired employees based on salary and length of service. In
addition, the actuarial pension systems provide cost-of-living and other supplemental pension benefits to certain retirees and
beneficiaries. In the event of disability during employment, participants may receive retirement allowances based on satisfaction
of certain service requirements and other provisions. The actuarial pension systems also provide death benefits.

Subject to certain conditions, members become fully vested as to benefits upon the completion of 10 or 15 years of service.
Permanent full-time employees are generally required to become members of the actuarial pension systems upon-employinent
with the exception of NYCERS. Permanent full-time employees who are eligible to participate in NYCERS are required to
become members within six months of their permanent employment status but may elect to become members earlier, Other
employees who are eligible to participate in NYCERS may become members at their option. Upon termination of employment
before retirement, certain members are entitled to refunds of their own contributions including accumulated interest less any loans

outstanding.

Funding Policy

The City’s funding policy for periodic employer contributions to the actuarial pension systems is to provide for
actuarially-determined rates that, expressed as percentages of annualized covered payroll, are designed to accumulate sufficient
assets to pay benefits when due.

Member contributions are established by law and vary by Plan.

Employer contributions are accrued by the actuarial pension systems and are funded by the employers on .;317 current basis.

Annual Pension Costs

For fiscal year 1995, the City’s annual pension costs of approximately $1.4 billion was equal to the Clty s required and actual
contributions. Annual pension costs for the actuarial pension systems were equal to the amounts computed by the systems’
Actuary. The required contributions were determined as part of the June 30, 1994, actuarial valuations using the frozen entry age

actuarial cost method.
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The City’s pension costs, including those computed by the Actuary for the actuarial pension systems, for the fiscal years

ended June 30, 1995, 1994, and 1993 were as follows:

City Contributions
(in millions)
1995 1994 1993
NYCERS™ ..ottt et et et ceaeans $ 2714 $ 2770 $ 316.6
TRS™ sttt ee e e e 356.1 370.4 389.7
133 212 L R 38.9 33.1 31.7
10) 0 () AR 419.0 418.1 462.1
1514 AP 199.2 204.1 2372
OTHER* .. .o\ttt iaaaeiaaneiaannss 94.5 91.6 97.1
Total PENSiON COSES « ..« vvvvrerrnrunaerannns - $1,379.1 $1,394.3 $1,534.4

#*NYCERS, TRS, and BERS are cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee retirement systems. The City’s total
actuarially-determined contributions as a percentage of contributions for all employers to NYCERS, TRS, and BERS were:

...................

.......................

1995 1994 1993
60.64% 61.25% 61.42%
96.31 96.40 96.02
9742 97.90 97.79

**Qther pension expenditures represent contributions to other actuarial and pay-as-you-go pension systems for certain
employees, retirees, and beneficiaries not covered by any of the five major actuarial pension systems. The City also
contributes per diem amounts into certain union-administered annuity funds.

The following is the Three-Year Trend Information for the City’s actuarially-funded single employer pension plans:

Three-Year Trend Information

......................

The more significant actuarial

Fiscal Annual Percentage Net
Year Pension of APC Pension
Ending Cost (APC) _ Contributed _ Obligation

(in millions) ..
6/30/95 $419.0 100% $ —
6/30/94 418.1 100 —
6/30/93 462.1 100 —
6/30/95 199.2 100 —
6/30/94 204.1 100 —
6/30/93 237.2 100 —

assumptions used in the calculations of employer contributions to the actuarial pension

systems for the fiscal years ending June 30, 1995, 1994, and 1993 are as follows: ,

Assumed rate of return on investments

Post-retirement mortality
Active service withdrawal, death and disability

Retirement

In particular,

9.0% for NYCERS, TRS, and BERS (4.0% per annum for benefits

payable under the variable annuity programs of TRS and BERS)
and 8.5% for POLICE and FIRE.

Tables based on experience.
Tables based on experience.

Tables based on experience, varies from earliest age a member is
eligible to retire until age at end of tables.

Merit and Promotion Increases plus assumed General Wage
Increases of 5.5% per year.

the investment return assumptions used for determining employer contributions to the actuarial pension

systems are enacted by the New York State Legislature upon the recommendations of the Boards of Trustees and the Actuary. The

o ——————— S S
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rates shown are currently in use for determining employer contributions to those actuarial pension systems which have been in
effect for fiscal years 1991 through 1995. : :

All actvarial assumptions ‘used to determine employer contributions to the actuarial _pension systems, including the
investment return and general wage increase assumptions, are scheduled for periodic review dufin’g fiscal year 1995. The Actuary
prepared Draft Reports for the Board of Trustees during fiscal year 1995. Final Reports have recently been issued and the Boards
of Trustees and New York State Legislature are anticipated to take action during fiscal year 1996.

Asof June 30, 1994, Unfunded Actuarial Liabilities (UAL), including the Balance Sheet Liabilities (BSL) component of the
UAL, were being amortized over 16 years from that date, where the amount of each annual payment after the first equals 103% of
the preceding annual payment. The BSL represents pension related debt for amortization of the tw. -year payment lag reported in
the General Long-Term Obligations Account Group as accrued pension liability. oo

Similar Trust Funds

Fund Descriptions
Per enabling State legislation, certain retirees of POLICE, FIRE, and NYCERS are eligible to receive fixed supplemental
benefits from certain Variable Supplements Funds (VSFs). - ‘

The City includes all VSFs with Pension and Similar Trust Funds for financial reporﬁng purposes only.

Under current law, VSFs are not to be construed as constituting pension or retirement system funds. Instead, they provide
defined supplemental payments, other than pension or retirement system allowances, in accordance with applicable statutory
provisions. While these payments are guaranteed by the City, the Legislature has reserved to itself and the State of New York the
right and power to amend, modify or repeal the VSFs and the payments they provide.

The New York City Police Department maintains the Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (POVSF) and the Police
Superior Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (PSOVSF). These funds operate pursuant to the provisions of Title 13, Chapter 2 of
the Administrative Code of The City of New York.

1. POVSFprovides supplemental benefits to retirees who retired for service with 20 or more years as police officers of the
New York City Police Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter 2, and who retired on or after October 1
1968. : ’

2. PSOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees who retired for service with 20 or more yeax;s holding the rank of
sergeantor higher, or detective, of the New York City Police Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter?2
and who retired on or after October 1, 1968. »

The New York City Fire Department maintains the Firefighters’ Variable Supplements Fund (FFVSF) and the Fire Officers’
Variable Supplements Fund (FOVSF). These funds operate pursuant to the provisions of Title 13, Chapter 3 of the Administrative

Code of The City of New York.

3.  FEVSFprovides supplemental benefits to retirees who retire for service with 20 or more years as ﬁrefigﬁters of the New
York City Fire Department Pension Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter 2, and who retired on or after Qctober 1, 1968,

4. FOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees who retire for service with 20 or more years holding the rank of
lieutenant or higher and all pilots and marine engineers (uniformed) of the New York City Fire Department Pension
Fund—Subchapter 1 or Subchapter 2, and who retired on or after October 1, 1968,

The New York City Employees’ Retirement System (NYCERS) maintains the Transit Police Officers’ Variable
Supplements Fund (TPOVSF), the Transit Police Superior Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (TPSOVSF), the Housing Polic
Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund (HPOVSF), and the Housing Police Superior Officers’ Variable Supplememgs Fung
(HPSOVSF). These funds operate pursuant to the provisions of Title 13, Chapter 1 of the Administrative Code of The City of New
York.

5. TPOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees who retire for service with 20 or more ; -

Officers on or after July 1, 1987. Prior to calendar year 2007, when this plan provides for gl}l,;rarals;t:('ir :21223:1,: llc;
defined supplemental benefits, total supplemental benefit payments cannot exceed the assets of the fund unless the é.O
guarantee becomes effective. As of December, 1993, the City guarantee became effective, ity

6. TPSOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees who retire for service with 20 or more years as Transit Polj
Superior Officers on or after July 1, 1987. Prior to calendar year 2007, when this plan provides fo)r, guaratslt eznss;ltl :;ﬁc‘?
of defined supplemental benefits, total supplemental benefit payments cannot exceed the assets of the fund ®

B-49



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

7. HPOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees who retire for service with 20 or more years as Housing Police
Officers on or after July 1, 1987. Prior to calendar year 2007, when this plan provides for guaranteed schedules of
defined supplemental benefits, total supplemental benefits cannot exceed the assets of the fund. Chapter 719 of the
Laws of 1994 amended the defined schedule of benefits for certain Housing Police Officers and guaranteed the

~ schedules of defined supplemental benefits.

8. HPSOVSF provides supplemental benefits to retirees who retire for service with 20 or more years as Housing Police
Superior Officers on or after J uly 1, 1987. Prior to calendar year 2007, when this plan provides for guaranteed schedules
of defined supplemental benefits, total supplemental benefits cannot exceed the assets of the fund.

Fund Policy and Contributions

The Administrative Code of The City of New York provides that POLICE, FIRE, and NYCERS pay to the respective VSFs
amounts equal to certain excess earnings on equity investments, generally limited to the unfunded ABO for each VSFE. The excess
earnings are defined as the amount by which earnings on equity investments exceed what the earnings would have been had such
funds been invested at a yield comparable to that available from fixed income securities, less any cumulative deficiencies.

For fiscal year 1995, there is approximately $380 million in excess earnings on equity investments which is estimated to be
transferable to the VSFs. The actual amounts transferred will be based on final calculations. The estimated excess earnings
payable from POLICE, FIRE, and NYCERS to their respective VSFs as of June 30, 1995 are as follows:

Estimated excess

earnings
payable as of
Variable Supplements Fund _June 30,1995
(in millions)
POVSE o otriite et $140
PSOVSE v v eeeeeeeene e e e 150
FEVSFE o\ o ieeeaeinan et aeasae s 50
FOVSE o v e eeeaeeee e eae et 40
TPOVSE . iveteeniarr s aen s ses *
TPSOVSE .t eveenrrinan s *
HPOVSFE . ovovenianmansnnan s *
HPSOVSE . tiveeivaanaenmse i aas s esaan e *
Total excess earnings payable .........oooorreeeenrs $380

* Total of these VSFs is estimated at less than $1 million.

Required Supplementary Information
The following schedule of funding progress is presented as required supplementary information for the five major actuarial
pension systems as of June 30, 1994

Actuarial
Accrued UAAL
Liability AsA
Actuarial (AAL)— Unfunded Percentage
Value of Frozen AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Assets* Entry Age** (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
@ _ oy G (a/b) (© (b-a)lc
(in millions)
NYCERS ....cccvvenveeces $22,087.2 $24,015.6 $1,928.4 92.0% $6,547.4 29.5%
TRS . iivvarmmmnreneses 17,981.8 19,2759 1,294.1 93.3 3,305.7 39.1
BERS ...ovvvvmvrrennsrens 859.5 9394 799 91.5 472.8 169
POLICE . ..veovrrennees 81374 95315 14001 853 14785 947
FIRE .ooveerramnmnemses 3,355.6 4,596.1 1,240.5 73.0 606.3 204.6

# [ncludes member contributions and is based on a five year moving average of market values, except for variable annuity funds
of TRS and BERS which are valued at market value.
#% [pcludes member contributions.
For fiscal year 1994, there were nO excess earnings on equity investments transferable to the VSFs.
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S. COMMITMENTS

At June 30, 1995, the outstanding commitments relating to projects of the Capital Projects Fund amounted to approximately
$7.3 billion.

To address the need for significant infrastructure and public facility capital investments, the City has prepared a ten-year
capital spending program which contemplates expenditures of $40.6 billion over fiscal years 1996 through 2005. To help meet its
capital spending program, the City borrowed $2.2 billion in the public credit market in fiscal year 1995, The City plans to borrow
$2.3 billion in the public credit market in fiscal year 1996.
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APPENDIX C

BONDS TO BE REFUNDED

The City expects to refund City bonds through issuance by the City of its Fiscal 1996 Series H and I
Bonds by providing for the payment of the principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such
bonds to the extent and to the payment date set forth below, The refunding is contingent upon delivery of the

Series H and I Bonds. :

The bonds to be refunded are being refunded in whole or in part as indicated in the notes.

Tax-Exempt Amount
Maturities Being Being

Series Dated Date Refunded Payment Date Refunded
1984B December 1, 1983 June 1, 1996 June 1, 1996 $ 865,000(2)
1986D June 15, 1986 August 1, 1996 August 1, 1996 1,465,000(2)
1986D June 15, 1986 August 1, 1997 August 1, 1996 3,945,000(2)
1987A August 1, 1986 August 1, 1999 August 1, 1996 1,180,000(1)
1987B August 15, 1986 August 15, 2000 August 15, 1996 2,105,000(2)
1987B August 15, 1986 August 15, 2001 August 15, 1996 6,420,000(1)
1987B August 15, 1986 August 15, 2002 August 15, 1996 7,915,000(2)
1987B August 15, 1986 August 15, 2003 August 15, 1996 11,870,000(1)
1987B August 15, 1986 August 15, 2004 August 15, 1996 3,885,000(2)
1987B August 15, 1986 August 15, 2005 August 15, 1996 2,890,000(1)
1987B August 15, 1986 August 15, 2006 August 15, 1996 2,585,000(1)
1988A November 12, 1987 November 1, 1996 November 1, 1996 7,630,000(2)
1989C February 28, 1989 August 15, 2003 August 15, 1997 6,145,000(2)
1989C February 28, 1989 August 15, 2005 August 15, 1997 1,810,000(1)
1989C February 28, 1989 August 15, 2006 August 15, 1997 310,000(1)
1989D February 28, 1989 August 15, 2005 August 15, 1997 4,945,000(2)
1989D February 28, 1989 August 15, 2006. August 15, 1997 3,695,000(2)
1989D February 28, 1989 August 15, 2007 August 15, 1997 3,545,000(2)
1990A ° August 1, 1989 August 1, 2005 . August 1, 1997 12,850,000(2)
1990B QOctober 5, 1989 October 1, 1996 October 1, 1996 5,535,000(2)
19908 October 5, 1989 October 1, 2007 October 1, 1999 - 1,975,000(2)
1990B October 5, 1989 October 1, 2008 October 1, 1999 965,000(2)
1990B October 5, 1989 October 1, 2012 October 1, 1999 16,880,000(2)
1990B QOctober 5, 1989 October 1, 2013 October 1, 1999 14,550,000(2)
1990C November 14, 1989 August 1, 2004 August 1, 1999 5,530,000(2)
1990F February 23, 1990 August 1, 2013 August 1, 1998 3,205,000(2)
1991A September 26, 1990 March 15, 2003 March 15, 2000 11,385,000(2
1991A September 26, 1990 March 15, 2008 : March 15, 2000 16,730,00022;
1991A September 26, 1990 - March 15, 2009 : March 15, 2000 18,165,000(2)
1991A September 26, 1990 March 15, 2010 - March 15, 2000 - 9,985,000(2)
1991B December 20, 1990 June 1, 1999 June 1, 1999 16,215,000 2
1991B December 20, 1990 June 1, 2002 June 1, 2001 13,310,000%2%
1991D February 1, 1991 August 1, 2011 August 1, 2001 22,715,000(2
1991D February 1, 1991 August 1, 2012 August 1, 2001 960,000&;
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Tax-Exempt Amount

Maturities Being Being

Series Dated Date Refunded Payment Date Refunded
1991F May 15, 1991 November 15, 1997 November 15, 1997 $11,760,000(2)
1991F May 15, 1991 November 15, 2004 November 15, 2001 11,465,000(2)
1992A August 15, 1991 August 15, 2010 August 15, 2001 2,190,000(2)
1992A August 15, 1991 August 15, 2014 August 15, 2001 26,740,000(2)
1992A August 15, 1991 August 15, 2015 August 15, 2001 28,155,000(2)
1992A August 15, 1991 August 15, 2016 August 15, 2001 16,540,000(2)
1992A August 15, 1991 August 15, 2017 August 15, 2001 17,875,000(2)
1992D February 1, 1992 February 1, 2011 February 1, 2002 7,020,000(2)
1992D February 1, 1992 February 1, 2014 February 1, 2002 1,850,000(2)
1992D February 1, 1992 February 1, 2015 February 1, 2002 945,000(2)
1992E February 1, 1992 February 1, 2020 February 1, 2002 140,000(2)
1992E February 1, 1992 February 1, 2021 February 1, 2002 475,000(2)
1992E February 1, 1992 February 1, 2022 February 1, 2002 475,000(2)
1992G February 1, 1992 February 1, 2004 February 1, 2002 1,310,000(2)
1992G February 1, 1992 February 1, 2011 February 1, 2002 875,000(2)
1992G February 1, 1992 February 1, 2022 February 1, 2002 780,000(2)
1993E2 May 27, 1993 May 15, 1996 March 14, 1996 25,400,000(3)
1993F May 27, 1993 May 15, 1996 May 15, 1996 380,000(1)
1994C Octaber 14, 1993 October 1, 1998 October 1, 1998 120,000(2)
1994C October 14, 1993 October 1, 1999 October 1, 1999 16,900,000(3)
1994C October 14, 1993 October 1, 2000 October 1, 2000 16,900,000(3)
1995B1 November 16, 1994 August 15, 2010 August 15, 2004 10,930,000(2)

Taxable Amount
Maturities Being Being

Series Dated Date Refunded Payment Date Refunded
1989C February 28, 1989 August 15, 2011 August 15, 1999 $14,560,000(2)
1989C February 28, 1989 August 15, 2012 August 15, 1999 8,945,000(1)
1989C February 28, 1989 August 15, 2013 August 15, 1999 2,450,000(1)
1991B - December 20, 1990 June 1, 2007 June 1, 2001 16,950,000(2)
1991B December 20, 1990 June 1, 2008 June 1, 2001 3,515,000(2)
1991B December 20, 1990 June 1, 2009 June 1, 2001 8,505,000(3)
1991B December 20, 1990 June 1, 2010 June 1, 2001 19,940,000(3)
1991B December 20, 1990 June 1, 2011 June 1, 2001 12,240,000(1)
1991F May 15, 1991 November 15, 2012 November 15, 2001 13,980,000(1)
1991F ) May 15, 1991 November 15, 2013 November 15, 2001 11,650,000(1)
1991F May 15, 1991 November 15, 2014 November 15, 2001 9,070,000(1)
1992G February 1, 1992 February 1, 2019 February 1, 2002 1,410,000(3)
1992G February 1, 1992 February 1, 2020 February 1, 2002 1,410,000(3)
1992G February 1, 1992 February 1, 2021 February 1, 2002 1,085,000(3)

(1) Al of the bonds of this description are being refunded, except those bonds that have previously been
refunded.
(2) A portion of the bonds of this description is being refunded.

(3) All of the bonds of this description are being refunded.



APPENDIX D

BROWN & WooOD

ONE WORLD TRADE CENTER
NEw YORK,N.Y. 10048-0B557

TELEPHONE: 212; 639 - 5300
FACSIMILE: 2124 839 - 5609
‘

March , 1996

HONORABLE ALAN G. HEVESI
Comptroller

The City of New York
Municipal Building :
New York, New York 10007

Dear Comptroller Hevesi:

_ We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance on this date by The City of New York
(the “City”), a municipal corporation of the State of New York (the “State”), of $ General
Obligation Bonds, Fiscal 1996 Series (the “Bonds”). The City purposes for which some of the Tax-
Exempt Bonds identified below are issued are to be dccomplished through voluntary organizations (the
“Organizations”) that are described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Code™), selected by the City and engaged in providing housing facilities (the “Projects”).

- The Bonds are issued pursuant to the provisions of the Constitution of the State, the Local Finance Law
of the State, and the Charter of the City, and in accordance with a certificate of the Deputy Comptroller for
Finance and related proceedings (the “Certificate™).

Based on our examination of existi;ig law, such legzil proceedings and such other documents as we deem
necessary to render this opinion, we are of the opinion that: ) ’

1. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and issued in accordance with the Constitution
and statutes of the State and the Charter of the City and constitute valid and legally binding obligations
of the City for the payment of which the City has validly pledged its faith and credit, and all real property
within the City subject to taxation by the City is subject to the levy by the City of ad valorem taxes,
without limit as to rate or amount, for payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds.

2. Interest on the Bonds is exempt from personal income taxes imposed by the State or any
political subdivision thereof, including the City, - '

3. Except as provided in the following sentence, interest on the Bonds that are identified below
(the “Tax-Exempt Bonds”) is not includable in the gross income of the owners of the Tax-Exempt Bonds
for purposes of Federal income taxation under existing law. Interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds will be
includable in the gross income of the owners thereof retroactive to the date of issue of the Tax-Exempt
Bonds (a) in the event of a failure by the City or any of the Organizations to comply with the applicable
requirements of the Code, and the covenants regarding use, expenditure and investment of bond
proceeds and the timely payment of. certain investment earnings to the United States Treasury or
(b) with respect to each Organization, in the cvent that the $1§0,000,000 limitation imposed by the Code
on outstanding tax-exempt nonhospital bonds is exceeded within three years of the later of the date a
Project is placed in service or the date of issue of the related Bonds; and we render no opinion as to the
exclusion from gross income of interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds for Federal income tax purposes on
or after the date on which any action is taken under the Certificate upon the approval of counse] other
than ourselves. The Organizations have covenanted, among other things, not to take any action that
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would cause interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds to be includable in the gross income of the owners
thereof. In rendering this opinion, we have relied upon the representations made by the Organizations
with respect to material facts within the knowledge of the Organizations and upon the accompanying
opinions of their counsel and we have made no independent investigation thereof.

The Series I Bonds maturing in 1999, 2000, 2001, 2003 and 2004 and bearing interest at 4.60%,
4.85%, 5.10%, 5.40% and 6%, respectively, and the Series H and Series I Bonds maturing after 2004 are
Tax-Exempt Bonds.

The Subseries J-1 Bonds are Tax-Exempt Bonds.

4. Tnterest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the Federal
individual or corporate alternative minimum tax. The Code contains other provisions that could result
in tax consequences, upon which we render no opinion, as a result of ownership of such Tax-Exempt
Bonds or the inclusion in certain computations (including without limitation those related to the
corporate alternative minimum tax and environmental tax) of interest that is excluded from gross
income.

5. The difference between the amount payable at maturity of any maturity of Tax-Exempt Bonds
and the initial offering price of such Bonds to the public at which price a substantial amount of such
maturity is sold represents original issue discount which is excluded from gross income for Federal
income tax purposes to the same extent as interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds. The Code further
provides that such original issue discount excluded as interest accrues in accordance with a constant
interest method based on the compounding of interest, and that a holder’s adjusted basis for purposes
of determining a holder’s gain or loss on disposition of Tax-Exempt Bonds with original issue discount
will be increased by the amount of such accrued interest.

The rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof may be subject to bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or
hereafter enacted, to the extent constitutionally applicable, and the enforcement of related contractual and
statutory covenants of the City and the State may also be subject to the exercise of the State’s police powers
and of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.

The opinions expressed herein are based on an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court
decisions. Such opinions may be adversely affected by actions taken or events occurring, including a change
in law, regulation or ruling (or in the application or official interpretation of any law, regulation or ruling)
after the date hereof. We have not undertaken to determine, or to inform any person, whether such actions
are taken or such events occur and we have no obligation to update this opinion in light of such actions or

events.

Very truly yours,
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M BIA APPENDIX E

FINANCIAL GUARANTY INSURANCE POLICY

MBIA Insurance Corporation
Armonk, New York 10504

[NUMBER]

MBIA Insurance Corporation (the “Insurer”), in consideration of the payment of the premium and subject to the terms -of this policy, hereby
unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to any owner, as hereinafter defined, of the following described obligations, the full and complete payment
required to be made by or on behalf of the Issuer to the corporate trust-office of United States Trust Company of New York, New York, New York or
itts successor (the "Paying Agent") of an amount equal to (i) the principal of (either at the stated maturity or by any advancement of maturity pursuant to
a mandatory sinking fund payment) and interest on, the Obligations (as that term is defined below) as such payments shall become due but shall not be
sopajd(w(cq)tmatinﬂxeeventofanyaocelaaﬁmofﬂneducdaﬁeofsudipmcipalbymsmofmandatorymoptimalredemptimoraooeleraﬁon
resulting from default or otherwise, other than any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed
hereby shall be made in such amounts and at such times as such payments of principal would have been due had there not been any such acceleration);
and (ii) the reimbursement of any such payment which is subsequently recovered from any owner pursuant to a final judgment by a court of competent
jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable preference to such owner within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law. The amounts
referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) of the preceding sentence shall be referred to herein collectively as the “Insured Amounts." "Obligations" shall mean:

[PAR]
[LEGAL NAME OF ISSUE]

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by registered or certified mail, or upon receipt of written
notice by registered or certified mail, by the Insurer from the Paying Agent or any owner of an Obligation the payment of an Insured Amount for which
is then due, that such required payment has not been made, the Insurer on the due date of such payment or within one business day after receipt of notice
of such nonpayment, whichever is later, will make a deposit of funds, in an account with State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., in New York,
New York, or its successor, sufficient for the payment of any such Insured Amounts which are then due. Upon presentment and surrender of such
Obligations or presentment of such other proof of ownership of the Obligations, together with any appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence
the assignment of the Insured Amounts due on the Obligations as are paid by the Insurer, and appropriate instruments to effect the appointment of the
Insurer as agent for such owners of the Obligations in any legal proceeding related to payment of Insured Amounts on the Obligations, such instruments
being in a form satisfactory to State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A. shall disburse to such owners,
or the Paying Agent payment of the Insured Amounts due on such Obligations, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the payment of such
Insured Amounts and legally available therefor. This policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment premium which may at any time be payable
with respect to any Obligation.

As used herein, the term “owner” shall mean the registered owner of any Obligation as indicated in the books maintained by the Paying Agent, the
Issuer, or any designee of the Issuer for such purpose. The term owner shall not include the Issuer or any party whose agreement with the Issuer

constitutes the underlying security for the Obligations.

Any service of process on the Insurer may be made to the Insurer at its offices located at 113 King Street, Armonk, New York 10504 and such service
of process shall be valid and binding.

This policy is non-cancellable for any reason. The premium on this policy is not refundable for any reason including the payment prior to maturity of
the Obligations.

This policy is not covered by the Property/Casualty Insurance Security Fund specified in Article 76 of the New York Insurance Law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Insurer has caused this policy to be executed in facsimile on its behalf by its duly authorized officers, this day of

February, 1994.
MBIA Insurance Corporation

SPEG

Assistant Secretary

Attest:
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MSREB 3420

DO NOT STAPLE THIS FORM

FORM G-36(0S) - FOR OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

1. NAME OF ISSUER(S): (1) The City of New York

2. DESCRIPTION OF ISSUES(S): (1) General Obligation Bonds Fiscal 1996 Series H, I and J (Subseries J-1) $901,750,000 Fixed Rate
Tax-Exempt Bonds $159.870.000 Fixed Rate Taxable Bonds

3. STATE(S): New York
4. DATED DATES(S): (1) March 14, 1996 and February 15, 1996 @
5. DATE OF FINAL MATURITY OF OFFERING: February 15, 2026

6. DATE OF SALE: March 6, 1996

7. PAR VALUE OF OFFERING: $1,061,620,000

8. PAR AMOUNT UNDERWRITTEN (if there is no underwriting syndicate): $1,061,620,000

-
9. IS THIS AN AMENDED OR STICKERED OFFICIAL STATEMENT? D:YES ' mqo

-

10. CHECK ALL THAT APPLY:

[0 a. At the option of the holder thereof, all securities in this offering may be tendered to the issuer of such securities or its designated agent for
redemption or purchase at par value or more at least as frequently as every nine months until maturity, earlier redemption, or purchase by
the issuer or its designated agent.

[J b. At the option of the holder thereof, all securities in this offering may be tendered to the issuer of such securities or its designated agent for
redemption or purchase at par value or more at least as frequently as every two years until maturity, earlier redemption, or purchase by the
issuer or its designated agent.

[ c. This offering is exempt from SEC rule 15¢2-12 under section (c)(1) of that rule. Section (c)(1) of SEC rule 15c2-12 states that an offering
is exempt from the requirements of the rule if the securities offered have authorized denominations of $100,000 or more and are sold to no
more than 35 persons each of whom the participating underwriter believes: (1) has the knowledge and expertise necessary to evaluate the merits
and risks of the investment; and (2) is not purchasing for more than one account, with a view toward distributing the securities.

11. MANAGING UNDERWRITER: }.P. Morgan & Co.



MATURITY DATE

CUSIP NUMBER

MATURITY DATE

CUSIP NUMBER

1. 3/15/2005 649664 WZ8 30. 2/15/1999 649664 YDs5
2. 3/15/2006 649664 XA2 31. 2/15/2000 649664 YE3
3. 3/15/2007 649664 XBO 32. 2/15/2001 649664 YFO
4. 3/15/2008 649664 XC8 33. 2/15/2002 649664 YGS
5. 3/15/2009 649664 XD6 34. 2/15/2003 649664 YH6
6. 3/15/2010 649664 XE4 35. 2/15/2004 649664 Y12
7. 3/15/2011 649664 XF1 36. 2/15/2005 649664 YK9
8. 3/15/2012 649664 XG9 37. 2/15/2006 649664 YL7
9. 3/15/2013 649664 XH7 38. 2/15/2007 649664 YMS5
10. 3/15/2014 649664 XI3 39. 2/15/2008 649664 YN3
11. 3/15/2015 649664 XKO 40. 2/15/2019 649664 YPS8
12. 3/15/1999 649664 XM6 41. 2/15/2024 649664 YQ6
13. 3/15/2000 649664 WX3 2/15/2026 649664 YR4
14. 3/15/2001 64 5/15/1996 649664 ZD4
15. 3/15/2003 649%64 115/1997 649664 ZE2
16. 3/15/2004 649 /15/1998 649664 ZF9
17. 3/15/2005 6496%4 X @7 15/1999 649664 ZG7
18. 3/15/2006 649664 XRS . 3/15/2000 649664 ZH5
19. 3/15/2007 649664 XS3 48. 3/15/2001 649664 ZJ1
20. 3/15/2008 649664 XT1 49. 3/15/2002 649664 ZK8
21. 3/15/2009 649664 XUS 50. 3/15/2003 649664 ZL6
22. 3/15/2010 649664 XV6 '51. 3/15/2004 649664 ZM4
23. 3/15/2011 649664 XW4 52. 3/15/1997 - 649664 ZN2
24. 3/15/2012 649664 XX2 53. 3/15/1998 649664 ZP7
25. 3/15/2013 649664 XYO 54. 3/15/1999 649664 ZQ5
26. 3/15/2014 649664 XZ7 55. 3/15/2000 649664 ZR3
27. 3/15/2018 649664 YAL 56. 3/15/2001 649664 ZS1
28. 3/15/2022 649664 YB9 57. 3/15/2002 649664 ZT9
29. 2/15/1998 649664 YC7 58. 3/15/2003 649664 ZU6
59. 3/15/2004 649664 ZV4

17. MSRB rule G-34 requires that CUSIP numbers be assigned to each new issue of municipal securities unless the issue is ineligible for

CUSIP number assignment under the eligibility of the CUSIP Service Bureau.

O Check here if the issue is ineligible for CUSIP number assignment. State reason:

Submit two copies of the completed form along with two copies of the official statement to Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board,
1818 N Street, NW, Suite 800, Washington, DC 20036-2491.
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